

Exploring The Role of Interhemispheric Inhibition in Musculoskeletal Pain

by

Ghufran Alhassani

Bachelor of Medical Science (Honours)

A thesis submitted in fulfilment of the requirements for the degree of

Doctor of Philosophy

Western Sydney University School of Health Sciences 2022 I dedicate this thesis to my mum

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS



In The Name of God, The Most Gracious, The Most Merciful

A few years ago, I embarked on a journey with little knowledge of what I was in for. Armed with a love for science and a willingness to learn I began the greatest learning journey of my life thus far. Over the last few years I have endured some of the most challenging experiences, yet through these experiences I have learnt many great lessons. Not only have I grown academically, but on a personal level too, taking with me lessons in resilience, persistence, patience, and discipline. This PhD has shifted my worldview and opened my mind to a world of possibilities for which I am grateful. There are so many people who made this thesis possible that I would like to thank. To my peers, colleagues, family, and friends, I express my sincerest gratitude for your encouragement and support.

Foremost, I acknowledge and thank my supervisors Professor Siobhan Schabrun, Dr Matthew Liston, and Dr Peter Clothier. Thank you for your supervision and guidance throughout my PhD. Siobhan, your dedication to research is admirable and I thank you for sharing your invaluable knowledge with me and pushing me to aim for the best quality of work. Matt, thank you for your support and input to this work, for being a sounding board, for your perspectives and knowledge on all things research and academia, for the tea runs and for your motivational words that pushed me to 'keep on, keeping on'. Pete, thank you for being a great mentor and

supervisor, and for your valuable contribution to this work. Most of all, thank you for always being available to chat, for your unwavering support and encouragement when things got difficult (I won't forget the Mark Manson quotes), and for believing in me.

I extend a very special thanks to my peers Dan, Rocco, Simon, Maxine, Thapa, Jane, Wei, Valentina, Luke, and Tom. The friendly and supportive work environment you all created made coming into work every day an absolute pleasure. I am so fortunate to have had the best research family and friends to work alongside. Thank you for your support in and out of the lab, for the enlightening conversations and discussions, the laughs, the banter, and the many, many tea runs. Your unwavering support has made this thesis possible. Thank you again. I also extend sincere thanks to my peers at Neuroscience Research Australia for their support.

To my colleagues in the Physiotherapy department at Western Sydney University, I thank you for enriching my learning experience through your support, mentorship and advice over the years. I acknowledge and thank Western Sydney University for supporting my research, and all the staff who provided their expertise, advice and feedback on my research. Thank you to all my research participants for their time and contribution in making this thesis possible.

To my family and friends, thank you for the love, encouragement and support throughout my candidature. You listened and supported me during stressful and difficult times and celebrated the highs and my achievements, and for this I am grateful and appreciate you all.

Finally, whilst many people have made this thesis possible, there is one person whom this thesis would have not been possible without. To my mum, my pillar of support and strength, words cannot do justice in expressing how eternally grateful I am for the support you have shown me and the sacrifices you have made for me over the years. Thank you for being a guiding light, and a constant source of encouragement and motivation. I hope you are proud. I love you.

iv

STATEMENT OF AUTHENTICATION

The work presented in this thesis is, to the best of my knowledge and belief, original except as acknowledged in text. I hereby declare that I have not submitted this material, either in full report or in part, for a degree at this or any other institution.



Ghufran Alhassani

TABLE OF CONTENTS

LIST OF FIGURES	X
LIST OF TABLES	xii
PUBLICATIONS, PRESENTATIONS, AND AWARDS	xiii
LIST OF ABBREVIATIONS	XV
ABSTRACT	xvii
CHAPTER 1	1
INTRODUCTION AND LITERATURE REVIEW	1
INTRODUCTION	1
1.1 Statement of the problem	1
LITERATURE REVIEW	5
1.2 Musculoskeletal pain disorders	6
1.2.1 Treatments for musculoskeletal pain	7
1.2.2 Central nervous system involvement in musculoskeletal pain:	8
1.2.3 Tendinopathies	17
1.2.4 Lateral epicondylalgia (LE)	20
1.2.5 Pathophysiology of LE	22
1.3 Interhemispheric inhibition (IHI)	43
1.3.1 The role of the corpus callosum in IHI	43
1.3.2 Animal research investigating IHI via the corpus callosum	46
1.3.3 Human studies investigating IHI via the corpus callosum	49
1.3.4 The physiological origins of SIHI and LIHI	53
1.4 Assessment of IHI in Humans	55
1.4.1 Assessing IHI between primary motor cortices (M1)	55
1.4.2 Assessment of IHI between primary sensory cortices	67
1.5 The functional role of interhemispheric inhibition in humans	74
1.5.1 Primary motor cortex	75
1.5.2 The primary sensory cortex	84
1.6 Interhemispheric inhibition in pathological conditions	91
1.6.1. M1 IHI in pathological conditions	91
1.6.2. S1 IHI in pathological populations	97
1.7 Interhemispheric inhibition and musculoskeletal pain	99
1.7.1 Altered IHI between M1s during sustained musculoskeletal pain	99

1.8 Summary of literature review	100
1.9 Thesis aims and study rationales	102
1.9.1 Study one	102
1.9.2 Study two	103
1.9.3 Study three	103
CHAPTER 2	105
IHI BETWEEN PRIMARY MOTOR CORTICES IN RESPONSE TO ACUTE	
MUSCLE PAIN	105
2.1 Abstract	106
2.2 Introduction	107
2.3 Methods	109
2.3.1 Experimental protocol	109
2.3.2 Pressure pain thresholds	110
2.3.3 Electromyography	111
2.3.4 Transcranial magnetic stimulation	111
2.3.5 Experimental muscle pain	113
2.3.6 Statistical Analysis	113
2.4 Results	114
2.4.1 Pain characteristics	114
2.4.2 Neurophysiological measures	114
2.4.3 Pressure pain sensitivity	114
2.4.4 Corticomotor excitability	116
2.4.5 Interhemispheric inhibition	116
2.5 Discussion	118
2.6 Conclusion	122
CHAPTER 3	124
IHI BETWEEN PRIMARY SENSORY CORTICES IN RESPONSE TO ACUTE	
MUSCLE PAIN	124
3.1 Abstract	125
3.2 Introduction	126
3.3 Method	128
3.3.1 Participants	128
3.3.2 General experimental protocol	129
3.3.3 Assessment of IHI	130

3.3.4 Experimental muscle pain	
3.3.5 Pressure pain thresholds	134
3.3.6 Statistical Analysis	
3.4 Results	136
3.4.1 Pain characteristics	136
3.4.2 Presence of interhemispheric inhibition at baseline	136
3.4.3 Interhemispheric inhibition in response to acute muscle pain	
3.4.4 Pressure pain sensitivity	
3.5 Discussion	140
3.6 Conclusion	144
CHAPTER 4	
IHI BETWEEN PRIMARY MOTOR CORTICES IN INDIVIDUALS WITH	
LATERAL EPICONDYLALGIA	
4.1 Abstract	147
4.2 Introduction	148
4.3 Methods	
4.3.1 Participants	
4.3.2 Experimental protocol	151
4.3.3 Self-reported outcomes of pain and disability	
4.3.4 Tests of sensorimotor function	
4.3.5 Neurophysiological measures	
4.3.6 Statistical analysis	
4.4 Results	
4.4.1 Self-reported outcomes of pain and disability	
4.4.2 Tests of sensorimotor function	
4.4.3 Neurophysiological measures	
4.5 Discussion	
4.6 Conclusion:	
CHAPTER 5	
DISCUSSION AND CONCLUSION	
5.1 Contribution of the thesis to the body of knowledge	171
5.2 Altered IHI between M1s but not S1s in response to acute muscle pain	
5.2.1 S1 and M1 IHI circuits act independently in response to pain	
5.2.2 M1 and S1 IHI circuits are reciprocally connected	

5.2.3 IHI changes in response to acute muscle pain occur between S2s	
5.3 The influence of chronic musculoskeletal pain on IHI in M1	
5.4 Research implications	
5.5 Future directions	187
5.6 Limitations	
5.7 Conclusion	
REFERENCES	
APPENDIX A	
APPENDIX B	

LIST OF FIGURES

Figure 1.1. Schematic representation of the thesis structure4
Figure 1.2. A pathophysiological model of LE with three interrelated components
Figure 1.3. Contributing mechanisms of central sensitisation
Figure 1.4. The three interrelated components of LE42
Figure 1.5. Diffusor tract imaging of the corpus callosum in a human brain with the seven
major divisions of the corpus callosum labelled44
Figure 1.6. Schematic diagram of IHI45
Figure 1.7. A schematic representation of transcranial magnetic stimulation
Figure 1.8. Image of a motor evoked potential following transcranial magnetic stimulation.57
Figure 1.9. Pictorial representation of the double-pulse IHI paradigm
Figure 1.10. Pictorial representation of the ipsilateral silent period paradigm63
Figure 1.11. The primary sensorimotor cortex
Figure 1.12. An example image of a sensory evoked potential (SEP)
Figure 1.13. The motor homunculus76
Figure 2.1: Experimental protocol110
Figure 2.2. Group data (mean \pm SD, N=20) for PPTs at right (A) and left FDI (B) at each time
point (baseline and follow-up)
Figure 2.3. Group data (mean \pm SD) of corticomotor excitability recorded from the left (A)
and right (B) M1, before and after the resolution of pain116
Figure 2.4. Group data (mean \pm standard deviation) for the unconditioned (test) response
(A), short interhemispheric inhibition (SIHI; B) and long interhemispheric
inhibition (LIHI; C) obtained at each time point

Figure 3.1.	Experimental protocol
Figure 3.2.	Interhemispheric inhibition was assessed by recording somatosensory evoked potentials (SEPs) from the left primary sensory cortex (S1) to the right S1 in response to three median nerve electrical stimulation protocols
Figure 3.3.	An example 0 ms ISI raw SEP trace from a single participant
Figure 3.4.	Group data (mean ± standard deviation) peak-to-peak raw amplitudes for each somatosensory evoked potential (SEP) component for the 0 ms ISI and 25 ms ISI conditions at baseline
Figure. 3.5.	Group data (mean \pm standard deviation) for each SEP component (25 ms ISI condition expressed as a proportion of the 0 ms ISI control condition) at baseline, immediately after pain resolution and 30-min follow-up
Figure 3.6.	Group data (mean \pm standard deviation) for pressure pain thresholds in the right (A) and left (B) APB muscles at baseline and 30-min follow-up139
Figure 4.1.	Experimental protocol151
Figure 4.2.	Group data (mean \pm standard deviation) for corticomotor excitability for the LE (black bars) and healthy control (grey bars) groups recorded for the affected and unaffected M1 (or the matched hemispheres for healthy controls)
Figure 4.3.	Group data (mean \pm standard deviation) for IHI from the affected to the unaffected M1 for the LE group (black bars; n = 20) and the matched hemispheres of healthy controls (grey bars; n = 20)161
Figure 5.1.	Schematic representation of the main findings from Studies $1 - 3$. IHI, interhemispheric inhibition; $\downarrow =$ decreased; $\uparrow =$ increased

LIST OF TABLES

Table 1.1. Experimental pain models used to induce muscle pain in humans
Table 1.2. Altered S1 cortical organisation and function in chronic pain
Table 1.3. Bilateral sensorimotor dysfunction in unilateral tendinopathies 19
Table 1.4. Studies demonstrating grip strength deficits in unilateral LE
Table 1.5. Studies demonstrating bilateral sensory dysfunction in unilateral LE
Table 1.6. Studies investigating the role of the corpus callosum in animal species
Table 1.7. Studies investigating the role of the corpus callosum in humans
Table 1.8. A summary of studies examining IHI between M1s in response to motor movement in healthy individuals.
Table 1.9. A summary of investigations and findings from examination of IHI between M1s in pathological conditions.
Table 2.10. Group data (mean ± SD, N=20) for corticomotor excitability, interhemispheric inhibition and pressure pain threshold measures at baseline, immediately after pain and at 30 minutes follow-up.
Table 3.1. Group data (mean ± SD, N = 21) for peak-to-peak amplitudes (raw values) for each SEP component at baseline, immediately after pain and at 30-min follow-up.
Table 4.1 Demographic and clinical characteristics for individuals with lateral epicondylalgia $(n = 20)$
Table 4.2. Healthy control and LE group data for peak-to-peak amplitudes for corticomotor excitability (raw values) and interhemispheric inhibition (ratios). 163
Table 4.3. Sensorimotor outcomes for LE $(n = 20)$ and healthy controls $(n = 20)$ 164

PUBLICATIONS, PRESENTATIONS, AND AWARDS

Journal publications

Alhassani G, Liston MB, Schabrun SM. Interhemispheric Inhibition Is Reduced in Response to Acute Muscle Pain: A Cross-Sectional Study Using Transcranial Magnetic Stimulation. The Journal of Pain. 2019;20(9):1091-1099 (Q1, Impact Factor = 5.383)

https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jpain.2022.01.007

Alhassani G, Liston MB, Clothier PJ, Schabrun SM. Interhemispheric Inhibition Between Primary Sensory Cortices is not Influenced by Acute Muscle Pain. The Journal of Pain. 2022; 23(7):1177-1186 (Q1, Impact Factor = 5.383) <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jpain.2022.01.005</u>

Papers from this thesis currently under review

Alhassani G, Clothier PJ, Liston MB, Schabrun SM. Interhemispheric inhibition between primary motor cortices is not altered in individuals with chronic lateral epicondylalgia. Submitted and under review in The Journal of Pain.

Other related publications

Chang WJ, O'Connell NE, Beckenkamp PR, **Alhassani G**, Liston MB, Schabrun SM. Altered Primary Motor Cortex Structure, Organization, and Function in Chronic Pain: A Systematic Review and Meta-Analysis. The Journal of Pain. 2018;19(4):341-59 (Q1, Impact Factor = 5.383). <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jpain.2017.10.007</u>

Peer-reviewed Conference presentations

Alhassani G, Clothier PJ, Liston MB, Schabrun SM. 2022. Individuals with chronic lateral epicondylalgia display normal interhemispheric inhibition, *International Association for the Study of Pain world congress on Pain*, Toronto, Canada, 19- 23 September.

Alhassani G, Liston MB, Clothier PJ, Schabrun SM. 2021. The effect of acute muscle pain on interhemispheric inhibition between primary sensory cortices and sensorimotor function. *Virtual Australian Pain Society 41st Annual Scientific meeting*, 19-20 April.

Alhassani G, Liston MB, Clothier PJ, Schabrun SM. 2021. Interhemispheric Inhibition between Primary Sensory Cortices is not Influenced by Acute Muscle Pain. *International Association for the Study of Pain virtual world congress on Pain*, 9-11 and 16-18 June.

Alhassani G, Liston MB, Schabrun SM. 2019. Bilateral symptom development in unilateral musculoskeletal conditions. *World Confederation of Physical Therapy Congress*, Geneva, Switzerland, 10-13 May.

Alhassani G, Liston MB, Schabrun SM. 2018. Reduced interhemispheric inhibition in the primary motor cortex in response to acute muscle pain. *Australian Pain Society 38th and New Zealand Pain Society Conjoint Annual Scientific Meeting*, Sydney, Australia, 8-11 April.

Grants and awards arising from this thesis

2022 *Awarded 'Highly Commended' and 3rd place winner* at the Western Sydney University School of Health Sciences 3-Minute Thesis competition: Understanding how the brain communicates in the spread of pain.

2022 <u>IASP Financial Aid Task Force award</u> to attend the 2022 IASP World Congress on Pain. 2020 <u>IASP Financial Aid Task Force award</u> to attend the 2020 IASP World Congress on Pain. 2016 Australian Post Graduate scholarship

LIST OF ABBREVIATIONS

AMT	Active motor threshold
BOLD	Blood-oxygen-level-dependent
CBF	Cerebral blood flow
cm	Centimetre
CNS	Central nervous system
СРМ	Conditioned pain modulation
CRPS	Complex regional pain syndrome
CS	Conditioning Stimulus
ECRB	Extensor carpi radialis brevis
EEG	Electroencephalography
EMG	Electromyography
FDI	First dorsal interosseous
FHD	Focal hand dystonia
fMRI	Functional magnetic resonance imaging
GABA	Gamma-aminobutyric acid
IASP	International Association for the Study of Pain
ICI	Intracortical inhibition
ICF	Intracortical facilitation
IHI	Interhemispheric inhibition
ISI	Interstimulus interval
iSP	Ipsilateral silent period
LBP	Low back pain
LE	Lateral epicondylalgia

LICI	Long-interval intracortical inhibition
LIHI	Long-latency interhemispheric inhibition
M1	Primary motor cortex
MEP	Motor evoked potential
MRI	Magnetic resonance imaging
MVC	Maximum voluntary contraction
ms	Millisecond
n	Sample size
р	P-value
PET	Positron emission tomography
PMNSEP	Paired median nerve somatosensory evoked potential
PPT	Pressure pain threshold
QST	Quantitative sensory testing
RMT	Resting motor threshold
rTMS	Repetitive transcranial magnetic stimulation
S1	Sensory motor cortex
SD	Standard deviation
SEP	Sensory evoked potential
SICI	Short-interval intracortical inhibition
SIHI	Short-latency interhemispheric inhibition
SMD	Standardised mean difference
tDCS	Transcranial direct current stimulation
TMS	Transcranial magnetic stimulation
TS	Test stimulus

ABSTRACT

Musculoskeletal conditions are a leading contributor to disability worldwide. Pain and sensorimotor dysfunction are common symptoms of musculoskeletal conditions that affect an individuals' quality of life and contribute to the associated psychological and economic burden. In some unilateral musculoskeletal conditions, sensorimotor dysfunction such as increased sensitivity to heat and mechanical stimulation, and reduced grip force, present at the unaffected side despite an absence of evidence of any peripheral pathology on this side (Heales et al., 2014). While bilateral sensorimotor dysfunction has been identified in some unilateral musculoskeletal conditions, the mechanism underlying this phenomenon has yet to be elucidated. One mechanism that could underpin this phenomenon is altered interhemispheric inhibition (IHI).

Interhemispheric inhibition allows one hemisphere of the brain to inhibit the opposite hemisphere via a transcallosal pathway. This mechanism can be measured using transcranial magnetic stimulation by applying a conditioning stimulus to one hemisphere which inhibits the contralateral hemisphere (Daskalakis et al., 2002). Normal modulation of IHI allows for unilateral processing, inhibiting the transfer of motor or sensory information to the opposite cortical hemisphere, thus preventing mirroring effects of the contralateral limb. Research investigating IHI has been conducted in neurological conditions such as stroke (Duque et al., 2005; Liepert et al., 2000; Murase et al., 2004) and focal hand dystonia (Beck et al., 2009; Nelson et al., 2010; Sattler et al., 2014). These studies provide preliminary evidence that impaired IHI is associated with sensorimotor deficits. For example, in some individuals with stroke, increased IHI from the unaffected primary motor cortex (M1) to the stroke affected M1 interferes with adaptive recovery of the lesioned area and of the paretic limb. In focal hand dystonia, decrease is

associated with mirror movements of the unaffected limb. Musculoskeletal conditions demonstrate similar clinical features to those with neurological conditions such as ongoing pain, altered sensorimotor function, and the development of sensorimotor dysfunction at the unaffected limb. Based on the evidence from neurological conditions, a relationship between altered IHI and bilateral sensorimotor dysfunction during acute and chronic unilateral musculoskeletal pain is plausible.

Only one previous study has investigated IHI in musculoskeletal pain. Schabrun et al. (2016) demonstrated altered IHI between the primary motor cortices (M1s) in response to experimentally induced unilateral sustained elbow pain. That study showed a reduction in IHI from the affected (corresponding to the painful muscle) to the unaffected M1 that was associated with the development of bilateral sensorimotor dysfunction. Whilst the findings from Schabrun et al. (2016) suggest altered IHI may be a mechanism underpinning the development of bilateral sensorimotor dysfunction to sustained pain, no published studies have investigated IHI when musculoskeletal pain is acute (lasting minutes to hours) or when pain is chronic (lasting > 3 months). Therefore, the broad aim of this thesis was to: i) investigate whether IHI is altered in response to acute and chronic unilateral musculoskeletal pain; and ii) determine whether a relationship exists between altered IHI (if present) and the development of bilateral symptoms.

Assessment of IHI between primary motor and sensory cortices in the acute stage of musculoskeletal pain would provide insight into whether IHI is altered in response to shortlasting muscle pain and whether there is an association between IHI and bilateral sensorimotor dysfunction soon after pain onset. However, obtaining data in clinical populations soon after pain onset is challenging due to delays in individuals receiving medical attention or diagnosis and in identifying individuals for research studies. An alternate solution is to use experimental pain models that allow for the collection of data before, during, and after the induction of pain. Thus, Studies 1 and 2 in this thesis used an experimental pain model (intramuscular injection of hypertonic saline) to investigate IHI in the acute stage of pain. Study 3 used a clinical lateral epicondylalgia population to investigate IHI in the chronic stage of pain.

In Study 1 (Chapter 2), short and long-latency IHI from the affected M1 (corresponding to the painful muscle) to the unaffected M1 was examined in response to experimentally induced unilateral acute muscle pain in 20 healthy individuals, before, immediately after the resolution of pain, and 30 minutes following the resolution of pain. This study also assessed pressure pain thresholds at the affected and unaffected limb to investigate the presence of bilateral changes in sensorimotor function. Findings demonstrated a reduction in short and long latency IHI from the affected to the unaffected M1 immediately after the resolution of pain that persisted for 30 minutes. Increased sensitivity to pressure at the affected and notably, at the unaffected limb was observed despite the absence of pain on the unaffected M1 may have relevance for the development of sensorimotor dysfunction in the unaffected hand.

Study 2 (Chapter 3) investigated IHI from the affected primary sensory cortex (S1) (corresponding to the painful muscle) to the unaffected S1 in response to experimentally induced unilateral acute muscle pain. In 21 healthy individuals, IHI was examined before, immediately after the resolution of pain, and 30 minutes following the resolution of pain. Pressure pain thresholds were assessed at the affected and unaffected limbs. Contrary to our hypothesis, IHI between S1s was unaltered in response to unilateral acute muscle pain at any time point. However, decreased pressure pain thresholds were observed at the affected and unaffected limbs 30 minutes following the resolution of pain. These findings suggest that altered IHI between S1s may not be associated with the development of bilateral sensorimotor dysfunction in acute muscle pain.

Study 3 (Chapter 4) investigated short and long-latency IHI from the affected M1 (corresponding to the painful side) to the unaffected M1 in 20 individuals with chronic lateral epicondylalgia (LE) compared to 20 healthy controls. Sensorimotor function including pressure pain thresholds, grip strength, two-point discrimination and temporal summation was assessed bilaterally. The mean pain intensity in the LE group on the day of testing was 3 ± 1.8 out of 10 points on the numerical rating scale. Findings demonstrated no difference in short and long-latency IHI from the affected to unaffected M1 between individuals with LE and healthy controls. No differences in sensorimotor function (for either the affected or unaffected side) were observed between groups. These findings suggest that IHI between M1s is not altered in a group of individuals with chronic LE who did not display significant sensorimotor dysfunction when compared with healthy controls.

In summary, the body of work in this thesis provides an original contribution to the field of musculoskeletal pain that deepens our understanding of IHI, and its potential association with changes in sensorimotor function in the unaffected limb, in unilateral conditions. Study 1 demonstrated a reduction in IHI from the affected to unaffected M1 but no change in IHI from the affected to unaffected S1 was observed in Study 2. In both studies, increased sensitivity to pressure was observed on the affected and unaffected sides. No change in IHI between M1s, and no differences in sensorimotor function were observed between individuals with chronic LE and healthy controls in Study 3.

Taken together, the findings presented in this thesis suggest that IHI between M1s is reduced in response to acute muscle pain and altered IHI could contribute to the development of bilateral sensorimotor symptoms soon after pain onset. Conversely, IHI between S1s is preserved in response to acute muscle pain. In a clinical chronic musculoskeletal pain population, IHI is also preserved. However, further research is needed to determine whether the degree of change in IHI is related to various features of clinical pain such as pain severity, or the severity of bilateral sensorimotor dysfunction.

The studies in this thesis are amongst the first to investigate: i) IHI in response to musculoskeletal pain of varying durations; and ii) the relationship between altered IHI and the development of bilateral sensorimotor dysfunction. Longitudinal studies that follow individuals from an initial episode of acute musculoskeletal pain to recovery, or to the development of chronic musculoskeletal pain, are required to further explore the relationship between IHI and the development of bilateral sensorimotor of bilateral sensorimotor symptoms in unilateral musculoskeletal pain conditions.

CHAPTER 1 Introduction and Literature review

IHI between primary motor cortices in response to acute muscle pain
IHI between primary sensory cortices in response to acute muscle pain
IHI between primary motor cortices in individuals with lateral epicondylalgia
Discussion and Conclusion

CHAPTER 1

INTRODUCTION AND LITERATURE REVIEW

INTRODUCTION

1.1 Statement of the problem

Musculoskeletal disorders affect approximately 1.71 billion people worldwide and are the leading contributor to disability (Cieza et al., 2021). In Australia, musculoskeletal conditions are the most common chronic condition, affecting 29% of the population (Health & Welfare, 2020a). Pain is a common symptom of musculoskeletal conditions presenting on the affected side of the body (i.e., unilateral) that can be of short or long-term duration. Musculoskeletal pain disorders impact an individuals' quality of life, which affects their ability to work, potentially contributing to psychological disorders such as anxiety and depression, and in turn add to the psychosocial burden of musculoskeletal pain (Beck et al., 2011). In addition, musculoskeletal disorders are one of the costliest health problems worldwide, with an economic burden second only to cancer (Beck et al., 2011; Holden et al., 2011; Sharma et al., 2016). For example, the total cost of chronic musculoskeletal pain disorders, including direct health care costs, loss of productivity and reduced quality of life, exceeds AUD \$55 billion annually in Australia alone (Arthritis and Osteoporosis Victoria, 2013).

Some individuals with musculoskeletal pain disorders experience sensorimotor dysfunction, such as increased sensitivity to heat and mechanical stimulation, altered force production, and altered movement patterns and postures (Hodges & Falla, 2015; Lund et al., 1991; Sterling et

al., 2001; Tsao et al., 2008). Indeed, some individuals with unilateral musculoskeletal pain conditions develop bilateral sensorimotor dysfunction in the absence of the condition on the unaffected side (Heales et al., 2014). One such example is lateral epicondylalgia (LE), commonly known as tennis elbow, which is a musculoskeletal condition of the upper limb affecting 1 to 3% of the population (Shiri et al., 2006). Individuals with LE exhibit reduced grip strength, increased upper limb reaction times, reduced speed of movement and decreased pressure and thermal pain thresholds at the affected side (Coombes et al., 2012b; Pienimäki et al., 2002; Chourasia et al., 2012; Bisset et al., 2006b). In some individuals with LE, these symptoms will develop at the unaffected side (Bisset et al., 2006b; Heales et al., 2014; Pienimaki et al., 1997). Despite research identifying these bilateral deficits, it is unknown how sensorimotor symptoms develop on the unaffected side in LE and other musculoskeletal conditions. The observations of bilateral sensorimotor symptoms alone, suggesting it may be mediated at the level of the central nervous system.

One potential mechanism that may underpin bilateral sensorimotor development is altered interhemispheric inhibition. Interhemispheric inhibition (IHI) is a neurophysiological mechanism that is mediated by transcallosal fibres of the corpus callosum where one hemisphere inhibits activity in the opposite hemisphere (Reis et al., 2008). Normal modulation of IHI allows for unilateral processing preventing unwanted mirror movements of the opposite side. Only one previously published study has investigated the relationship between IHI and sensorimotor dysfunction of the unaffected side in an induced pain model (Schabrun et al., 2016). The authors demonstrated that IHI was decreased from the affected primary motor cortex (M1) (corresponding to the painful side) to the unaffected M1 (corresponding to the non-painful side) four days following repeated intramuscular injection of nerve growth factor into the extensor carpi radialis brevis muscle to induce progressively developing sustained

muscle pain. The decrease in IHI was associated with sensorimotor dysfunction of increased sensitivity to pressure pain thresholds observed in the unaffected limb. This finding suggests a relationship between altered IHI and sensorimotor dysfunction on the unaffected side in musculoskeletal pain. However, it remains unknown how soon after pain onset IHI is altered or how IHI is altered in chronic musculoskeletal pain and whether this is related to sensorimotor changes of the unaffected side. No data are yet available on the impact of acute pain on IHI in the M1, nor on the primary sensory cortex. In addition, no data are currently available on the impact of chronic musculoskeletal pain on IHI.

Thus, it remains unclear what the temporal profile of IHI is in response to musculoskeletal pain and how this relates to the development of bilateral sensorimotor symptoms. Therefore, this thesis sought to answer the following questions:

- 1. Is IHI between M1s altered in response to acute muscle pain and is this associated with changes in sensorimotor function of the unaffected side?
- 2. Is IHI between primary sensory cortices altered in response to acute muscle pain and is this associated with changes in sensorimotor function of the unaffected side?
- 3. Do individuals with chronic LE exhibit altered IHI between M1s when compared to healthy controls?

This thesis is comprised of five chapters, beginning with an introduction (Chapter 1) that presents a review of the literature pertaining to the research questions. This is followed by three studies (Chapters 2 - 4) and a discussion (Chapter 5) that evaluates the findings, presents the research implications, makes recommendations for future research, and acknowledges the limitations of the work in this thesis. An outline of the thesis chapters and studies conducted is provided in Figure 1.1.

Thesis Aim: Exploring the role of interhemispheric inhibition in musculoskeletal pain



Chapter 1: Introduction and literature review

Chapter 5: Discussion and Conclusion

Figure 1.1. Schematic representation of the thesis structure. The flow of thesis chapters and experimental studies forming the thesis.

LITERATURE REVIEW

This section of the chapter provides an overview of the literature on musculoskeletal pain and the concept of IHI, a neurophysiological mechanism hypothesised to underpin bilateral symptom development in unilateral musculoskeletal pain conditions, such as LE. First, musculoskeletal pain is introduced and discussed, followed by a discussion of the pathophysiology of LE. A review of the literature on IHI is then presented with a review of the methods to assess IHI. This is followed by a review that details IHI in the healthy nervous system, its pathology, and presentation within musculoskeletal conditions. Finally, the chapter ends with a rationale and aim for each study included in the thesis.

1.2 Musculoskeletal pain disorders

Musculoskeletal disorders have been defined as injuries of the muscles, ligaments, and related soft tissue (Kulin & Reaston, 2011; Perrot et al., 2019). Worldwide, musculoskeletal disorders are an increasing public health problem affecting approximately 1.7 billion people (Cieza et al., 2021) and were the highest contributor to disability in 2017 (Hay et al., 2017). In Australia, musculoskeletal disorders, such as back pain, arthritis and osteoporosis, are the most common chronic conditions with 29% of the population reporting at least one musculoskeletal disorder in 2017-2018 (Health & Welfare, 2020a).

A primary symptom of most musculoskeletal disorders is pain. Pain has been defined by the International Association for the Study of Pain (IASP) as "an experience typically caused by, or resembling that caused by, actual or potential tissue injury" (Raja et al., 2020). Pain is typically described in terms of duration, and is classified as either acute, subacute, or chronic. 'Acute pain' is defined as a short-lasting physiological response to a noxious stimulus that is actually or potentially damaging to tissues (Kent et al., 2017; Schug, 2011), and of a duration lasting less than six weeks (Carlson & Carlson, 2011; Islam & Frey, 2020). Acute pain acts as a protective mechanism against further pain, injury, or both (Hodges & Tucker, 2011; Kent et al., 2017). Subacute pain is classified as the presence of pain beyond the duration of acute pain, lasting greater than six weeks but not extending past three months (Carlson & Carlson, 2011; Mariano et al., 2018). Pain that lasts beyond expected tissue healing times (> 3 months duration) is defined as 'chronic pain' (Treede et al., 2015).

Musculoskeletal pain impacts quality of life with lasting physical, psychological, social, and financial impacts on individuals, communities, and the healthcare system (Briggs et al., 2016; Health & Welfare, 2019, 2020b). In 2018-19, the estimated expenditure associated with musculoskeletal pain was \$14 billion accounting for 10.3% of disease related expenditure in

Australia (Health & Welfare 2019). However, this figure does not include direct costs from outside the healthcare sector or indirect costs due to illness. This is evidenced in a 2012 report that when accounted for the estimated total cost of chronic musculoskeletal pain disorders, including direct health care costs, loss of productivity and reduced quality of life, equalled AUD \$55.1 billion annually in Australia alone (Arthritis and Osteoporosis Victoria, 2013). The cost of productivity loss further increases when individuals with musculoskeletal pain experience poor mental health such as depression, anxiety, and psychological distress (Beck et al., 2011; Sharma et al., 2016). This has a greater impact on work-related absences (absenteeism) and decreased productivity while at work (presenteeism) (Holden et al., 2011), with even minor levels of depression associated with decrements in work function (Beck et al., 2011).

1.2.1 Treatments for musculoskeletal pain

Although musculoskeletal pain is a major health issue with lasting physical, psychological, social, and financial impacts, there are few effective treatment strategies. For example, pharmacological treatments such as non-steroidal anti-inflammatory drugs and opioid-based medications are discouraged or prescribed with caution, and are found to have no added benefit to the treatment of low back pain, the most common chronic musculoskeletal condition (Lin et al., 2020). Pharmacological treatments are also associated with negative side effects such as gastrointestinal (Sostres et al., 2010) and cardiovascular complications (Antman et al., 2007), as well as the risk of medication abuse or addiction (Cicero et al., 2005). Consequently, non-pharmacological treatments are considered to minimise the use of pharmacological treatments.

Non-pharmacological treatment strategies have been recommended for the management of musculoskeletal pain. These include treatment strategies such as patient education, acupuncture, ultrasound, transcranial electrical nerve stimulation and exercise amongst others

(El-Tallawy et al., 2021). However, numerous non-pharmacological strategies have demonstrated limited effectiveness in the management of musculoskeletal pain. For example, clinical practice guidelines recommend exercise-based therapy as the most promising strategy to treat musculoskeletal conditions such as chronic low back pain, knee osteoarthritis and neck pain, yet at best, the effect sizes are moderate (Geneen et al., 2017; Puljak & Arienti, 2019) with compliance to exercise complex and multifactorial (Campbell et al., 2001).

The limited effectiveness of current treatments shows the complexity of musculoskeletal pain. One area that has received increased attention in recent years in clinical practice and research is the evidence surrounding physiological mechanisms driving musculoskeletal pain. Understanding the neurophysiological mechanisms underpinning musculoskeletal pain can help us identify individuals who may transition from acute to chronic pain development following a musculoskeletal injury. Evidence suggests that altered primary motor and sensory cortical mechanisms play a role in acute and chronic musculoskeletal pain. Thus, the following section discusses evidence of primary motor and sensory system changes in musculoskeletal pain.

1.2.2 Central nervous system involvement in musculoskeletal pain:

Over the past 20-30 years there has been a plethora of neurophysiological research dedicated to explaining and understanding musculoskeletal pain (Arendt-Nielsen et al., 2011; Chang et al., 2018; Flor et al., 1997; Kuner & Flor, 2016; Schaible, 2007; Tsao et al., 2011; Wright, 1999). The vast array of evidence has led to the widely accepted conclusion that maladaptive central nervous system changes occur in the presence of musculoskeletal pain conditions (Snodgrass et al., 2014). The ability of the central nervous system (CNS) to undergo structural and functional changes is a process termed neuroplasticity (Passmore et al., 2014). However, maladaptive plasticity is suggested to contribute to the symptoms of pain and sensorimotor dysfunction in musculoskeletal conditions (Burns et al., 2016); Chang et al., 2018; Di Pietro

et al., 2013; Flor et al., 1997; Kuner & Flor, 2016; Schabrun et al., 2016; Vartiainen et al., 2009). The body of research investigating the structural and functional changes of the brain has identified maladaptive cortical changes within regions of the brain, such as the primary motor (M1) and sensory cortices (S1) at both the acute and chronic stages of musculoskeletal pain (Treede et al., 2015). To investigate cortical reorganisation in musculoskeletal pain, both experimental pain models and clinical pain populations can be used.

Experimental pain models

The use of experimental pain models to induce muscle pain allows for the investigation of pain mechanisms (Reddy et al., 2012). Such experimental pain research allows for a controlled pain stimulus of varying duration to assess the nociceptive system before, during, and after episodes of pain, while assessing biopsychosocial factors via qualitative methods (Arendt-Nielsen & Yarnitsky, 2009). The use of acute muscle pain models to isolate muscle pain mechanisms without the confounding factors of clinical pain (e.g. psychological factors and medication use), minimises participant heterogeneity (Svensson & Arendt-Nielsen, 1995). Bridging the gap between the science of pain and clinical application is therefore possible.

Acute experimental pain

Endogenous and exogenous methods of experimental muscle pain induction in humans are commonly used by researchers. Endogenous methods induce pain by natural methods such as ischemia and exercise, while exogenous methods induce pain using external interventions such as electrical, mechanical, chemical, and thermal stimulation as presented in Table 1.1 (Graven-Nielsen & Arendt-Nielsen, 2003; Reddy et al., 2012). However, these methods are not without limitations. Limitations include the non-specificity to muscles with potential activation of skin, joints and other tissues with pain models such as ischemia, mechanical and thermal stimulation, and the concurrent activation of muscle twitching by use of electrical stimulation (GravenNielsen & Arendt-Nielsen, 2003; Reddy et al., 2012). Therefore, non-limiting experimental pain that mimics acute musculoskeletal pain is required to better examine and understand the development of musculoskeletal pain. One such experimental pain model is the chemical induction of muscle pain via hypertonic saline.

Experimental pain model	Description
Ischemia	Tonic pain induced via application of torniquet → induced widespread pain
Exercise	Induced via eccentric muscle work \rightarrow induced delayed onset muscle soreness with peak soreness after 24 to 48 hours
Mechanical	Induced via application of pressure algometry \rightarrow induces pain in skin and muscle
Chemical	Intramuscular injections of algesic substances to induce muscle pain → induces muscle hyperalgesia via activation of C fibres
Electrical	Induced via intramuscular electrical stimulation \rightarrow induces muscle pain via activation of muscle nociceptor afferents
Thermal	Induced via heat or cold through isotonic saline at different temperatures → activates nociceptors in deeper structures targeting muscle; Induced via contact heat or cold stimulation → induces muscle pain by activation of A-delta and C fibres.

Table 1.1. Experimental pain models used to induce muscle pain in humans

Injection of hypertonic saline to induce acute muscle pain

Hypertonic saline is a type of chemical stimulation that is used to induce muscle pain and is comparable to clinical acute muscle pain (Gibson et al., 2006; Slater et al., 2003). Injection of hypertonic saline is deemed safe as minimal side effects have been reported and it does not cause muscle toxicity (Svendsen et al., 2005). This model produces short-lasting, high pain intensity with pain qualities described as aching, drilling, and taut as well as producing referred pain, cutaneous, muscular and sensory changes comparable to clinical acute muscle pain (Graven-Nielsen et al., 1997). The saline solution is commonly administered as a bolus injection producing pain that rises rapidly, lasts approximately 10 minutes and then pain

completely resolves (Jensen & Norup, 1992). The mechanism of action of hypertonic saline is thought to occur by activation of groups III and IV nociceptive afferents (Kumazawa & Mizumura, 1977) and the release of glutamate (Gibson et al., 2009), which contributes to nociception and hyperalgesia.

Hypertonic saline provides a clinically relevant model and nociceptive method of pain induction, while also having the same effects of pain on motor performance (Hodges et al., 2003; Stohler & Kowalski, 1999) and exhibiting local and referred pain patterns (Arendt-Nielsen & Graven-Nielsen, 2008; Kellgran, 1938). In referred pain areas following injection, somatosensory modulations have been observed such as decreased sensitivity to light touch and thermal hypoesthesia (Leffler et al., 2000b), consistent with acute clinical muscle pain. Hypertonic saline injection has demonstrated reproducible intra-individual scores for pain intensity, quality, and distribution, with cutaneous changes also demonstrated (Graven-Nielsen et al., 1997).

Whilst hypertonic saline provides a suitable model to investigate acute muscle pain, some potential limitations do exist. The main limitations are controlling parameters such as pain intensity, duration, and rate of administration with a bolus injection. To counteract this, infusion of hypertonic saline by mechanical infusion pumps, whereby the rate of infusion is controlled, allows for standardisation of these parameters (Graven-Nielsen et al., 1997). Another limitation is that hypertonic saline is associated with interindividual variability (Reddy et al., 2012), possibly due to the distribution of pain and individually perceived pain intensity. However, hypertonic saline demonstrates good intra-individual reproducibility with reproducible scores of pain intensity, quality, distribution and cutaneous changes over time (Graven-Nielsen et al., 1997). A further limitation is injection of surrounding tissues besides the intended muscle, such as fascia. This may be mitigated by performing ultrasound guided injection (Tsao et al., 2010).

Despite the limitations identified above, hypertonic saline has gained the most acceptance as an experimental pain model to induce acute muscle pain due to its short-lasting nature and quality to mimic clinical acute musculoskeletal pain (Graven-Nielsen et al., 1997). The qualities of hypertonic saline provide a realistic model to investigate the onset and resolution of muscle pain while allowing for baseline data to be collected prior to pain onset and controlling for confounders that compromise data quality.

Cortical reorganisation in response to acute experimental muscle pain

Experimental pain models have been used extensively to explore corticomotor reorganisation in response to acute pain. In acute pain, data from transcranial magnetic stimulation (TMS) and electroencephalography (EEG) studies have shown reduced S1 and corticomotor excitability during and following the resolution of acute experimental muscle pain (Burns et al., 2016b). A systematic review of acute experimental pain models (pain lasting minutes to hours) acquired data from 25 studies on 257 participants that used TMS, EEG and functional magnetic resonance imaging (fMRI) (Burns et al., 2016b). The most common method of inducing experimental pain was hypertonic saline (n = 17 studies). The findings of the review by Burns et al. (2016b) demonstrated reduced S1 and M1 excitability contralateral to the painful and pain-free muscles in the same body segment during and post-pain resolution compared to baseline. The reductions in excitability were hypothesised to reflect a defensive adaptive response to protect the injured body part from the threat of further pain and / or injury. Evidence for reduced corticomotor excitability is further supported by a recent systematic review by Chowdhury et al. (2022) of 49 studies that showed corticomotor excitability is reduced in response to acute experimental pain (minutes to hours) and this was associated with lower pain severity, hypothesised to be a beneficial short-term strategy required for muscle adaptation (Chowdhury et al., 2022).

Limited evidence is available from the review by Burns et al. (2016b) for the effect of acute pain on the ipsilateral hemisphere derived from fMRI studies only. The findings provided evidence of a bilateral reduction in regional cerebral blood flow (rCBF) at S1, which negatively correlated with pain ratings (Owen et al., 2010), and increased blood-oxygen-level-dependent (BOLD) contrast bilaterally at S1 (Nash et al., 2010a; Nash et al., 2010b; Niddam et al., 2002) and bilateral deactivation of S1/M1 activity (Loggia et al., 2012). However, findings from this systematic review need to be interpreted carefully. Due to inconclusive findings of synthesis of fMRI data and the lack of studies investigating excitability of ipsilateral M1/S1, insufficient evidence is available to draw a definitive conclusion regarding the effect of acute experimental pain on the ipsilateral hemisphere in M1 and S1.

Cortical reorganisation in clinical chronic musculoskeletal pain

Organisational, structural, and functional changes of M1 in chronic musculoskeletal pain have been explored. A systematic review by Chang et al. (2018) identified studies in musculoskeletal pain that used TMS to measure corticomotor excitability by eliciting motor evoked potentials (MEPs). The conditions evaluated included fibromyalgia, low back pain (LBP), knee pain, shoulder pain, LE, neck pain, osteoarthritis, rheumatoid arthritis and myofascial pain. Data demonstrated no difference in corticomotor excitability between individuals with and without chronic pain (resting motor threshold: SMD 0.01 [95% CI -0.29 to 0.31]). There was no further difference observed during subgroup analysis for any of the musculoskeletal conditions included. These findings are consistent with an earlier review of chronic pain that also showed no significant difference in corticomotor excitability between those with and without chronic pain (Parker et al., 2016). Such findings contrast with those observed in acute pain and suggest corticomotor excitability is intact in chronic musculoskeletal pain populations. Whilst no changes in corticomotor excitability have been shown, maladaptive corticomotor reorganisation has been demonstrated in chronic musculoskeletal pain. For example, in chronic unilateral LE, increased cortical excitability of muscle representations, larger overlapping of the centre of gravity (the amplitude-weighted centre of a M1 representation) of muscle representations, and a reduced number of discrete peaks (representing the areas of greatest excitability) of the muscle representations are demonstrated. Further, these changes are positively associated with pain severity (Schabrun et al., 2015a). Similarly, fewer discrete peaks are demonstrated in low back pain (Schabrun et al., 2017a) and in patellofemoral joint pain (Te et al., 2017). However, conflicting evidence exists for map volume (the total excitability of an entire representation). Increased map volume is demonstrated in the transverse abdominis muscles in low back pain (Tsao et al., 2008) and the wrist extensors in LE (Schabrun et al., 2015a). In contrast, reduced map volume in of deep multifidus and longissimus erector spinae muscles in LBP (Tsao et al., 2011) and quadriceps in patellofemoral pain (Te et al., 2017) have also been demonstrated. These differences are suggested to be due to sample sizes and methodology including coil size, electromyography electrodes and grid size used to measure the map. Despite this, it is hypothesized that overlap of muscle representations and reductions in discrete peaks are associated with the severity of pain and the degree of movement deficits, such as postural control deficits in LBP (Tsao et al., 2008). Whilst this is beneficial in the short-term as a protective mechanism, in the long term this may contribute to the maintenance of maladaptive motor strategies and movement dysfunction in musculoskeletal pain.

Primary sensory cortex structural and organisational changes have been demonstrated in chronic musculoskeletal pain (Table 1.2). For example, the S1 representation of the back in chronic LBP is shifted more than 2.5 cm medially towards the leg representation with a significant relationship between the degree of S1 reorganisation and duration of pain (average
duration of pain 12.8 years) (Flor et al., 1997). Enhanced S1 excitability characterised by a larger sensory evoked potential (SEP) component 80 milliseconds after stimulation in chronic LBP has been observed and this was positively correlated with increased sensitisation to painful stimuli (Diers et al., 2007). In complex regional pain syndrome (CRPS), it is widely accepted that S1 reorganisation characterised by shrinkage of representation contralateral to the CRPS affected side occurs (Di Pietro et al., 2013; Maihöfner et al., 2003). However, a systematic review reported that although the CRPS affected hand representation is smaller compared to the unaffected hand in the CRPS group, the S1 representation of the unaffected hand in CRPS is enlarged compared to the hand representations of healthy controls (Di Pietro et al., 2015), with individuals experiencing high pain levels presenting with the most distinctive representational differences between sides (Maihöfner et al., 2003; Pleger et al., 2004). These findings suggest that there is a possible link between cortical reorganisation changes and pain characteristics (pain duration and severity) that contributes to the experience of chronic musculoskeletal pain.

Author (year)	N	Pain Duration (mean ± SD months)	Diagnosis	Outcome Measure	Finding
Flor et al. (1997)	10*	153.6 ± 44.4	CLBP	SEF	S1 representation shifted 2.5cm medially
Diers et al. (2007)	14*	224.4 ± 173.9	CLBP	SEP	↑ SEP response 80 ms after stimulation
Maihöfner et al. (2003)	12	3.4 ± 2.4	CRPS	SEF	↓ affected cortical hand representation and shifted to lip representation
Pleger et al. (2004)	7*	5.7 (NR)	CRPS	SEP mapping	↓ affected cortical hand representation
Di Pietro et al. (2015)	17*	56.7 ± 78.7	CRPS	Hand spatial representation	↑ representation of healthy hand compared to HC

Table 1.2. Altered S1 cortical organisation and function in chronic pain

Note: *, age and gender matched healthy controls; N = pain group sample size; CLBP = chronic low back pain; CRPS = complex regional pain syndrome; field; SEP = somatosensory evoked potential; SEF, somatosensory evoked field; (↓), represents reduced; (↑) represents increased; NR, not reported; HC, healthy control

Intracortical mechanisms

Intracortical mechanisms are also reported to be altered in musculoskeletal conditions. Intracortical inhibition (ICI) and facilitation (ICF) are thought to maintain M1 reorganisation. Short (SICI) and long (LICI) interval intracortical inhibition can be probed using TMS and are thought to reflect gamma-aminobutyric acid type A (GABA_A) and gamma-aminobutyric acid type B (GABA_B) receptor systems respectively (McDonnell et al., 2006; Werhahn et al., 1999), whilst ICF is thought to reflect the glutamatergic system (Ziemann et al., 1998). The systematic review and meta-analysis by Chang et al. (2018) investigated changes in M1 function and found evidence for an increase in LICI in the M1 of people with chronic pain conditions including LE, fibromyalgia and arthritis (3 studies, 102 participants SMD = 0.78 [95% CI 0.37 to 1.19]). Sub-group analysis demonstrated a moderate reduction of SICI in CRPS (4 studies, 100

participants, SMD = -0.77 [95% CI = -1.21 to -0.34]), and reduced ICF in people with nonneuropathic pain (6 studies, 151 participants, SMD = -0.53 [95% CI = -0.94 to -0.13]). This increased GABA_B and GABA_A receptor systems, reflected in increased LICI and decreased SICI respectively, are hypothesised to contribute to motor dysfunction (Burns et al., 2016a).

Structural and functional changes of the cortical hemisphere corresponding to the injured body part are commonly investigated., However, research is increasingly demonstrating the transfer of sensorimotor symptoms such as sensitivity and weakness of muscles to the opposite uninjured side. Specifically, individuals with unilateral tendinopathies have demonstrated development of bilateral sensorimotor dysfunction on the unaffected side. This suggests the cortical hemispheres are integrated and interact between each other and may be involved in the transfer of symptoms to the uninjured side (Bloom & Hynd, 2005; Borich et al., 2015; Carson, 2005; Vecchio et al., 2014). The following sections introduce tendinopathies and discuss the literature pertaining to the development of bilateral sensorimotor dysfunction in tendinopathy.

1.2.3 Tendinopathies

Types of musculoskeletal pain disorders are related to muscle, bone, joint and tendon/ligaments. Within these disorders are tendinopathies, a clinical condition associated with pain and disability that is increasing in prevalence (Abat et al., 2017). Characterised by degenerative changes in tendon structure, changes at the tendon-bone junction i.e., enthesopathy, and inflammation (Cardoso et al., 2019; Cook et al., 2016), tendinopathies are commonly observed in working populations. They account for approximately 30% of musculoskeletal pain consultations in general practice and 30 - 50% of sporting injuries (Lipman et al., 2018; Shiri et al., 2006). Tendinopathies commonly present in the upper and lower extremities of the body within the elbow, knee, shoulder, and ankle. Major types of

regional tendinopathies include lateral epicondylalgia, patella tendinopathy, rotator cuff tendinopathy and Achilles tendinopathy (Hopkins et al., 2016).

Tendon pathology can exist without pain. Further, the evidence between tendon pain and tissue pathology is variable (Rio et al., 2014). As pain is the key feature of tendinopathy, it is suggested that tendon pathology alone cannot explain the source of pain and is likely driven by a spinal, peripheral, or central nervous system mechanism (Rio et al., 2016). Tendon pain can also manifest in the opposite healthy limb with the development of sensorimotor symptoms in some tendinopathies, further supporting a central mechanism of pain (Heales et al., 2014; Rio et al., 2016; Rio et al., 2014). The following section briefly discusses the development of bilateral sensorimotor dysfunction in unilateral tendinopathies.

Bilateral sensorimotor dysfunction in unilateral tendinopathies

Sensorimotor changes of the affected arm in musculoskeletal conditions are well documented. However, research has demonstrated significant differences in sensorimotor function of the healthy uninjured limb in individuals with musculoskeletal pain compared to healthy controls. A systematic review conducted by Heales et al. (2014) confirms findings of bilateral sensorimotor dysfunction in unilateral tendinopathies. Twenty studies were investigated including studies in LE (n = 17 studies), patella tendinopathy (n = 1 study), Achilles tendinopathy (n = 1 study), and rotator cuff tendinopathy (n = 1 study). Meta-analysis of the LE studies provided evidence of bilateral sensorimotor dysfunction including lower pressure and thermal pain thresholds, slower simple and two-choice reaction time, and slower speed of movement. These findings were also shown to align with findings of bilateral symptom development from studies of other tendinopathies, such as chronic wrist pain as summarised in Table 1.3 (Smeulders et al., 2002; Alburquerque-sendin et al., 2013)

Author (year)	Ν	Pain Duration (mean ± SD months)	Diagnosis	Outcome Measure	Finding
Smeulders et al. (2002)	18*	NR	Chronic wrist pain	Motor control	↓ fine motor control at unaffected side
Alburquerque- Sendin et al. (2013)	27*	44.3 ± 54.0	SIS	Trigger points, PPT	Bilateral trigger points. ↓ PPT Bilaterally
Coronado et al. (2014)	58*	17.2 ± 18.8	Shoulder pain	PPT	↓ PPT bilaterally
Hidalgo-Lozano et al. (2010)	12*	8.5 (NR)	SIS	PPT	↓ PPT at local and referred areas
Note: *, age and gender matched healthy controls; N = pain group sample size; SIS, shoulder impingement syndrome: PPT_pressure pain threshold:					

Table 1.3. Bilateral sensorimotor dysfunction in unilateral tendinopathies

NR, not reported

As the development of bilateral sensorimotor dysfunction is prevalent in unilateral LE, and the musculoskeletal disorder being investigated in this thesis is LE, the remainder of this section is focused on that condition.

Lateral epicondylalgia is a highly prevalent musculoskeletal disorder of the upper limb that may be compounded by the development of sensorimotor dysfunction at the unaffected limb in individuals with unilateral LE (Heales et al., 2014). As with other musculoskeletal conditions, LE impacts quality of life with lasting physical, psychological, social, and wideranging individual, community, and healthcare system financial impacts (Aben et al., 2018; Bisset & Vicenzino, 2015; Coombes et al., 2015; Walker-Bone et al., 2012). Hence, prioritising research to enhance our understanding and the treatment of LE will help lessen the burden and potentially assist in the management of other tendinopathies. The sections below describe the key features of LE including its aetiology, prevalence, and pathophysiology using a model that describes the three interrelated components of LE.

1.2.4 Lateral epicondylalgia (LE)

Lateral epicondylalgia, commonly termed 'tennis elbow', is a musculoskeletal disorder described as an overuse injury that affects 1 - 3% of the general population (Shiri et al., 2006; Walker-Bone et al., 2012). The disorder was first described by Runge in 1873 as a painful condition affecting the attachment of the wrist extensors at the lateral epicondyle of the humerus (Runge, 1873), with the extensor carpi radialis brevis (ECRB) muscle suggested to be the most commonly affected (Vicenzino, 2003). Lateral epicondylalgia is prevalent in individuals over 35 years of age who perform repetitive forceful movements (Sanders et al., 2016; Shiri et al., 2006). The prevalence of LE does not differ between males and females (Shiri et al., 2006; Vaquero-Picado et al., 2016), but the incidence increases with age and the amount of exposure to forceful repetitive movement (Shiri et al., 2006). In a survey of the general population in Minnesota (USA) between 2000 and 2012, the annual incidence of LE was 3.4 per 1000 people with rates slightly lower in males than females and a recurrence rate within two years of 8.5% (Sanders et al., 2016).

Recreational sports and instrument playing are known causes of LE (Gruchow & Pelletier, 1979; Lee et al., 2013). However, only 5% of individuals with LE are tennis players. In contrast, LE affects between 2 and 23% of the working population, particularly where the work includes forceful, repetitive actions of the upper limb such as office and administration jobs, construction jobs, factory work and work in the meat and fish processing industries (Chiang et al., 1993; Kurppa et al., 1991; Linaker et al., 1999; McCormack Jr et al., 1990; Ranney et al., 1995; Shiri et al., 2006). In addition to exposure to forceful and repetitive activities, other risk factors for developing LE include age, smoking, and obesity (Herquelot et al., 2013; Shiri et al., 2006).

Worker productivity is reduced in individuals with LE due to physical restrictions associated with pain and disability (Shiri & Viikari-Juntura, 2011; Shiri et al., 2006). Absenteeism in individuals diagnosed with LE has been reported up to 5%, estimated to be an absence of 29 days in a year (Walker-Bone et al., 2012). In Queensland, Australia, LE accounted for 18% of WorkCover-related insurance claims from 2009 to 2013 (Workcover Queensland, 2013) with high healthcare costs related to the treatment and therapy of LE including doctor's visits, physiotherapy visits, and outpatient care (Bisset & Vicenzino, 2015; Coombes et al., 2015; Struijs et al., 2006).

A hallmark symptom of unilateral LE is the development of bilateral sensorimotor dysfunction. Signs of sensorimotor dysfunction in the local area on the unaffected side have been identified including reduced grip force, increased upper limb reaction time, reduced speed of movement and a wrist posture that is 11 degrees less extended bilaterally than healthy controls (Bisset et al., 2006b; Heales et al., 2014; Pienimaki et al., 1997). Clinical implications associated with bilateral sensorimotor dysfunction include increased disability of individuals with musculoskeletal pain (Coombes et al., 2012b). Hence, the development of bilateral sensorimotor dysfunction influences the treatment of LE, requiring consideration of the unaffected side when developing a treatment plan. The personal and broader community impacts of LE have been clearly established. To explore LE in greater depth, the pathophysiological changes associated with LE, including bilateral deficits, are discussed below.

1.2.5 Pathophysiology of LE

Historically, LE has been considered to result from local inflammation of the ECRB tendon following repetitive overuse of the forearm (Vicenzino & Wright, 1996; Waugh, 2005). However, a new pathophysiological model suggests LE comprises three interrelated components: i) local tendon pathology; ii) impairment in the motor system; and iii) central changes in the pain system (Coombes et al., 2009b), with different proportions of these mechanisms explaining the heterogeneous clinical presentation of LE (Figure 1.2). Understanding the proportional contributions of these three components in an individual's LE clinical presentation may help develop effective management strategies and techniques.



Figure 1.2. A pathophysiological model of LE with three interrelated components, i) tendon pathology; ii) motor impairments; and iii) pain system changes. Source: Adapted from Coombes et al. (2009b).

Evidence for local tendon pathology

There is strong evidence of local tendon pathology changes identified in LE. Histological examination of tissue biopsies obtained from individuals undergoing surgery for LE reveal four key changes in tendon structure: i) an increased number of tenocytes and increased ground substance; ii) the presence of vascular hyperplasia; iii) increased concentration of neurotransmitters such as substance P and glutamate; and iv) a pattern of disorganised and immature collagen (Abate et al., 2009; Bass, 2012; Heales et al., 2014; Kraushaar & Nirschl, 1999). Further, imaging by magnetic resonance imaging (MRI) and ultrasound show loss of collagen, tendon thickening and thinness, partial tears, neovascularisation, and mucoid degeneration (Heales et al., 2014; Jaén-Díaz et al., 2010; Steinborn et al., 1999; Vaquero-Picado et al., 2016). Collectively, these changes are termed angiofibroblastic hyperplasia and are thought to result due to a 'degenerative' process of the tendon, also described as repeated cycles of 'dysfunctional, immature healing' (Nirschl, 1992; Tosti et al., 2013; Vicenzino, 2003; Waugh, 2005), rather than from local inflammation.

The precise mechanism driving chronic tendon degeneration is unclear but is thought to be related to mechanical load. Increased loading that exceeds the mechanical strength of the tendon is shown to induce histopathological changes in tendon structure (Maganaris et al., 2004; Rees et al., 2009). This leads to ingrowth of blood vessels and nerves that may occur in the tendon with a partial or complete tear, rendering a dysfunctional repair response of the tendon that can manifest through pain (Fredberg & Stengaard-Pedersen, 2008; Maffulli et al., 2010; Nirschl, 1992). While excessive mechanical stress is a predominant clinical focus, the absence of or lower than usual mechanical stimulus termed 'stress shielding' could similarly compromise tendon structure and thus contribute to pathology (Ahmad et al., 2013; Maganaris et al., 2004). Ultimately, stress-shielding predisposes the tendon to structural weakening, increasing susceptibility to overload and injury. It is plausible that stress shielding occurs due

to fear-avoidance of pain, i.e., pain related inhibition, contributing to modified biomechanics, altered motor control, and subsequent structural weakening of the tendon (Leeuw et al., 2007; Vlaeyen & Linton, 2000). However, pathological changes noted by ultrasound and MRI do not correlate with measures of self-reported pain and function assessed by the pain-rated tennis elbow evaluation (PRTEE) (Chourasia et al., 2012; Levin et al., 2005; Potter et al., 1995). As tendon pathology does not correlate with pain and function, this reflects the complex nature of tendon pain and the requirement for further comprehensive clinical assessment to determine the relationship between tendon pathology and, pain and function.

In addition to structural and pathological changes of the tendon, similar maladaptation of the tendon enthesis i.e., the insertion site on bone, termed enthesopathy or insertional tendinopathy have been identified (Milz et al., 2004). Pathological changes demonstrated at the ECRB enthesis in LE include fibrovascular proliferation, focal calcification, and mucoid degeneration (Apostolakos et al., 2014; Milz et al., 2004). The ECRB enthesis is responsible for transferring mechanical load from tendon to bone, contributing to the dissipation of stress from a small point across a large area (Weinreb et al., 2014). As the shear, tensile and compressive forces transported across the enthesis are suggested to determine the fibrocartilaginous composition of the ECRB enthesis (Wang, 2006), the total mechanical stress placed upon it likely contributes to pathology.

Evidence for motor system impairment

Motor system impairments in LE encompass deficits in grip strength, motor control, muscle strength and muscle morphological changes. These motor deficits have been demonstrated locally (Alizadehkhaiyat et al., 2007; Heales et al., 2016) and bilaterally (Bisset et al., 2006b; Heales et al., 2021; Slater et al., 2005) and contribute to the pathophysiology of LE. The following discussion represents a review of common motor system impairments found in LE.

Deficits in grip strength

Pain over the lateral epicondyle during gripping is the most common symptom of LE affecting grip strength (Chourasia et al., 2012; Pienimäki et al., 2002; Tosti et al., 2013; Wyn Lim, 2013). The grip strength test is used to objectively assess the amount of force generated as an indicator of grip strength. Grip strength is measured using a dynamometer and is commonly performed with the patient seated, their elbow flexed to 90 degrees and the forearm and wrist in neutral positions. Pain-free grip strength is measured as the amount of force generated prior to the onset of lateral epicondylar pain until the patient feels discomfort (Vicenzino et al., 2003; Wyn Lim, 2013). Maximal grip strength is measured as the maximum force generated regardless of pain. Pain-free grip strength is considered a more sensitive measure for detecting changes in grip strength compared to maximal grip strength testing (Stratford, 1987; Stratford & Balsor, 1994) and has been demonstrated to be reliable and valid (Stratford & Balsor, 1994).

In individuals with unilateral LE, clinical tests display diminished pain-free grip strength of the affected and unaffected limb with a flexed wrist posture (i.e., reduced wrist angle) when compared to healthy controls (Bisset et al., 2018; Chourasia et al., 2012; Bisset et al., 2006b) (Table 1.4). Reduced maximal and pain-free grip strength are demonstrated on the LE affected side when compared to the contralateral unaffected arm and healthy individuals (Alizadehkhaiyat et al., 2007; Coombes et al., 2012b; Ucurum et al., 2019). Interestingly, three studies demonstrate lower pain-free and maximal grip strength (Bisset et al., 2018; Slater et al., 2005) with longer electromechanical delay and rate of force development (Chourasia et al., 2012) during gripping on the unaffected side of patients with unilateral LE compared to the corresponding side of healthy controls. In addition, wrist position during gripping in LE is demonstrated to be 11 degrees more flexed than controls bilaterally, likely affecting maximal grip force output (Bisset et al., 2006b). In contrast, Bisset et al. (2006b) demonstrated greater grip strength on the contralateral side of patients with unilateral LE

25

compared to the corresponding side of healthy controls. There are several possible explanations for this finding including: i) a compensatory strategy of the contralateral unaffected limb so as to protect the injured arm; and ii) the LE group was stronger than the control group in grip strength prior to developing LE (Bisset et al., 2006b; Heales et al., 2014). Nonetheless, the majority of studies demonstrate reduced grip force production suggested to be driven by alterations in the CNS that affect muscle activity and consequently affect grip strength (Manickaraj et al., 2018). This ultimately contributes to altered motor function and motor system organisation in individuals with LE.

Muscle strength deficits

In addition to local and bilateral deficits in grip strength, widespread bilateral strength deficits in unilateral LE have been demonstrated. Flexion and extension strength deficits of the elbow and wrist joints are observed in LE compared to healthy controls (Coombes et al., 2012a). Both wrist extension and flexion strength are reported to be approximately 30% weaker in the LE affected limb compared to controls (Alizadehkhaiyat et al., 2007; Lucado et al., 2012; Slater et al., 2005). Weaker wrist extensor strength is further demonstrated bilaterally in LE when compared to the corresponding arm of controls, suggesting the involvement of the peripheral and central nervous systems (Slater et al., 2005). Widespread strength deficits have also been demonstrated in LE. Shoulder movements are reported as 25 - 35% weaker and metacarpophalangeal flexion strength 36% weaker than controls (Alizadehkhaiyat et al., 2007). Strength deficits in the upper trapezius and serratus anterior muscles have been demonstrated in the affected limb with reduced strength of the lower trapezius demonstrated at the unaffected limb relative to the control group (Heales et al., 2021). These findings indicate the extent of these deficits beyond the local site of injury with widespread and global upper limb muscle weakness. However, strength deficits have not been demonstrated during metacarpophalangeal joint extension suggesting that they may compensate for the weakness of the wrist extensors

(Alizadehkhaiyat et al., 2007). These changes may be explained by peripheral mechanisms in the muscles and mechanisms within the CNS. One such peripheral change is local morphological changes of the muscles.

Morphological changes of muscle

Morphological changes of muscle fibres have been identified in the ECRB muscle of LE patients. Examination of the ECRB tendon revealed changes including moth-eaten fibres with 80% found in LE patients compared to 11% in controls, degenerated and regenerated muscle fibres (muscle fibre necrosis), increase distribution in oxidative fibre types and loss of fast twitch fibres (Ljung et al., 1999). These changes are thought to contribute to motor system dysfunction affecting motor performance and muscle strength, thus contributing to the impairment of the motor system.

	LE			C	ontrols		
Author (year)	N	Age Mean ± SD	Symptom duration (mean ± SD months)	N	Age Mean ± SD	Protocol	Results
Slater et al. (2005)	20	48.25 (NR)	6.5 ± 1.1	20	47.45 (NR)	MG	↓ MG and wrist extension in LE affected arm compared to contralateral arm and compared to both arms for healthy controls. Unaffected arm was weaker than matched arm of controls
Bisset et al. (2006b)	40	49.5 (NR)	7.7 ± 10	40	48.4 (NR)	PFG + MG	↓ PFG on LE affected side; 11° less extended wrist posture bilaterally during gripping; ↑ MG on unaffected side compared to controls
Alizadehkhaiyat et al. (2007)	16	49 (NR)	NR	16	40 (NR)	MG	↓ MG of the LE affected side compared to controls
Coombes et al. (2012b)	164	49.6 ± 9.0	5.7 ± 7.1	62	49.6 ± 8.7	PFG	↓ PFG of the LE affected arm compared to controls
Chourasia et al. (2012)	28 (13 unilateral ; 15 bilateral)	48.2 ± 8.4	24 (NR)	13	44.6 ± 8.1	PFG	 ↓ PFG of LE side compared to unaffected side ↓ Rate of force and electromechanical delay bilaterally compared to controls
Bisset et al. (2018)	25	50.4 ± 8.7	3 (NR)	15	49.3 ± 6.5	PFG	↓ PFG bilaterally compared to control group
Ucurum et al. (2019)	51	44.88 ± 9.66	12 (NR)	51	42.71 ± 9.72	MG	↓ MG of the LE affected side compared to the contralateral unaffected side and compared to controls

Table 1.4. Studies demonstrating grip strength deficits in unilateral LE

Note: MG, maximum grip strength; PFG, pain-free grip strength; NR, not reported; ↓, indicates decreased; ↑, indicates increased

Motor control deficits

In unilateral LE, the development of bilateral motor control deficits has been identified compared to healthy controls. Increased reaction times of the upper limb and reduced speed of movement have been demonstrated in the affected limb in individuals with unilateral LE and the contralateral unaffected side (Bisset et al., 2006b; Chourasia et al., 2012; Kauranen & Vanharanta, 1996). In the contralateral side, weighted pooled mean differences demonstrated reaction time to be 37.8 ms slower, the two-choice reaction time 36 ms slower and speed of movement 20 cm/s slower when compared to the corresponding side of controls (Bisset et al., 2006b; Heales et al., 2014; Pienimaki et al., 1997). This finding could be due to poor proprioception which can affect motor activity (Juul-Kristensen et al., 2008). Proprioception is the perception of movement and position of the body in relation to each other without the aid of vision (Proske & Gandevia, 2012). Proprioception is poorer in the elbows of LE patients than in controls, with LE patients showing greater errors in threshold detection of passive movement, and greater error in detecting joint position sense (Juul-Kristensen et al., 2008). Poor proprioception can be influenced centrally, indicating potential involvement of the CNS. Additionally, local mechanisms can contribute such as altered muscle activity, leading to altered motor function (Juul-Kristensen et al., 2008; Rissén et al., 2000).

In addition to motor control deficits, deficits in forearm muscle activity have been observed in LE compared to pain-free controls. The literature demonstrates that neuromuscular control and coordination of forearm muscles measured by electromyography (EMG) differs between LE and healthy control groups (Heales et al., 2016). These changes in motor activity include: i) altered amplitude and duration properties of motor unit action potentials during resisted wrist extension (Calder et al., 2008; Heales et al., 2016); ii) a delay in time from the onset of muscle EMG to grip force development (Chourasia et al., 2012; Heales et al., 2016); iii) increased EMG amplitude of forearm muscles during single-handed backhand tennis strokes (Bauer &

Murray, 1999; Kelley et al., 1994); and iv) motor cortex reorganisation including overlapping cortical representations of ECRB muscles and greater peak-to-peak amplitudes indicating increased cortical excitability (Schabrun et al., 2015a). One explanation for altered forearm muscle activity is that increased tension in the forearm flexors occurs to compensate for reduced activity of extensor muscles (Alizadehkhaiyat et al., 2007; Edgerton et al., 1996). This results in an imbalance of forearm muscle activity as some muscles are overactive and others underactive, which subsequently alters movement patterns (Alizadehkhaiyat et al., 2007; Edgerton et al., 1996). Another explanation is thought to be due to the experience of pain during gripping (Heales et al., 2016). Increased contribution of EMG of the extensor digitorum communis muscle relative to the total amount of muscle activity was associated with increased pain and disability and reduced pain free grip force (Manickaraj et al., 2018). Further, the level of maximum voluntary contraction alters the magnitude of muscle activity whereby at 15% maximum voluntary contraction there was lesser contribution of ECRB and greater contribution of the extensor carpi ulnaris in individuals with LE compared to healthy controls (Mackinaraj et al., 2018). Alternatively, as neuromuscular control is a measure of the output of the processes in the CNS, impairments in muscle activity may provide evidence of altered CNS function which are consequently affecting the motor system.

In summary, strong evidence suggests that individuals with LE display impaired motor function bilaterally. Changes include grip strength deficits, altered muscle activity, deficits in extensor and flexor muscle strength of the wrist and upper arm, and morphological muscle changes. The presence of motor function control and impairment bilaterally further suggests that a CNS component is involved. However, additional research into specific central processing mechanisms that contribute to motor system changes is needed to further our understanding of the development of bilateral dysfunction in unilateral musculoskeletal pain conditions, including LE.

Evidence for pain system changes

There is growing evidence that supports pain system changes in LE. Musculoskeletal pain, in particular chronic pain, involves changes in the peripheral nervous system (PNS) and CNS. This encompasses changes in nociceptive and non-nociceptive sensory afferents, the release of chemical mediators, and alterations of CNS processing such as the sensitisation of neurons causing local and widespread hypersensitivity (Gangadharan & Kuner, 2013). Collectively, these alterations are referred to as "pain system changes" (Coombes et al., 2009b). In LE, demonstrated pain system changes include neurochemical imbalances at the ECRB tendon (Alfredson et al., 2000; Ljung et al., 2004; Ljung et al., 1999), central sensitisation of pain (Nijs et al., 2021) and alterations in sensory function (Coombes et al., 2012b; Fernández-Carnero et al., 2009a; Fernández-Carnero et al., 2009b; Jespersen et al., 2013; Ruiz-Ruiz et al., 2011). These changes in the nervous system have clinical implications for the assessment and treatment of LE.

Peripheral sensitisation

Altered pain processing by the peripheral nervous system, commonly referred to as peripheral sensitisation, is a mechanism believed to contribute to chronic LE. Peripheral sensitisation is defined by the IASP as "increased responsiveness and reduced threshold of nociceptive neurons in the periphery to the stimulation of their receptive fields" (International Association for the Study of Pain, 2011). Neurochemical imbalance of the ECRB tendon in the absence of inflammation in individuals with chronic LE is linked to the pathophysiology of chronic LE (Coombes et al., 2012b). The neurotransmitter glutamate, and neuropeptides substance P and calcitonin gene-related peptide (CRGP) are released into the tendon contributing to nociception (the neural process of encoding noxious stimuli) (International Association for the Study of Pain, 2011) and mediating pain (Jensen & Olesen, 1991). For example, significantly higher concentrations of glutamate at the ECRB tendon of people with LE of at least six months

duration have been detected compared to healthy controls, with no difference in the concentration of prostaglandin (a substance involved in inflammatory reactions) detected between the groups (Alfredson et al., 2000). As glutamate is known to mediate pain, these findings suggest that glutamate mediates pain in LE and confirms no signs of inflammation are evident at a chronic stage of LE (Alfredson et al., 2000).

Similarly, neuropeptides substance P and CRGP, and their receptor neurokinin-1 have shown to be distributed amongst small blood vessels and nerve bundles at the proximal ECRB tendon of individuals with LE (Ljung et al., 2004; Ljung et al., 1999). Mechanical stress due to high levels of tension in eccentric contraction at the ECRB muscle stimulate the release of substance P and CGRP and consequently the sensitisation and excitation of nociceptors. Therefore, the release of these neuropeptides results in increased sensitisation of the fibres they are found in and contribute to the pathophysiology of LE. These findings are in line with several other studies that confirm that substance P and CGRP are associated with pain modulation and hyperalgesia (Gibson et al., 2009). In LE, the presence of substance P and CGRP are believed to be involved in mediating pain (Fedorczyk, 2006) associated with a process of inflammation, that results from nociceptor activation, causing the release of neuropeptides known as neurogenic inflammation (Haker et al., 1998; Jensen & Olesen, 1991; Littlejohn & Guymer, 2018; Ljung et al., 2004; Ljung et al., 1999; Matsuda et al., 2019; Waugh, 2005) and greater tendon degeneration (Han et al., 2021). Collectively, the current research indicates LE is characterised by the presence of neurochemicals within the ECRB tendon implicating peripheral sensitisation mechanisms that mediate pain in LE, thus contributing to alterations of the pain system.

Central sensitisation

In addition to altered neurochemical levels at the periphery, altered pain processing of the central nervous system known as central sensitisation is observed in LE. Central sensitisation is a process that occurs due to altered pain system processing in the CNS (Simons et.al 1999). Central sensitisation is defined by the IASP as "an increased responsiveness of nociceptive neurons in the central nervous system to their normal or subthreshold afferent input" (International Association for the Study of Pain, 2011). This may include increased responsiveness due to the dysfunction of endogenous pain control systems. Changes in function occur in central neurons despite normal functioning of peripheral neurons (International Association for the Study of Pain, 2011).

Central sensitisation is characterised by the presence of hyperalgesia and allodynia. Hyperalgesia is an enhanced or prolonged pain response to a noxious stimulus that normally provokes pain. Where this occurs locally at the site of musculoskeletal pain it is referred to as primary hyperalgesia; beyond the site of injury, it is known as secondary hyperalgesia (Pavlaković & Petzke, 2010). Allodynia is increased sensitivity to normally non-noxious stimuli. Several proposed mechanisms of central sensitisation have been suggested and are explored below.

Mechanisms of central sensitisation

Mechanisms of central sensitisation involve altered pain processing in supraspinal centres and the spinal cord (Figure 1.3). One such mechanism suggests that peripheral noxious input initiates central sensitisation, but at a chronic stage of pain this can be sustained in the absence of peripheral noxious input (Fernández-de-las-Peñas et al., 2009). Following this initiation, excitation and sensitisation of nociceptors results in sensitisation of the spinal dorsal horns, which alter the somatosensory system (Graven-Nielsen & Arendt-Nielsen, 2010; Woolf, 2011; Wright, 1999). When this occurs, neuronal function in the CNS is altered and any pain generated occurs in response to sensory input rather than the presence, intensity, or duration of peripheral noxious stimuli (Latremoliere & Woolf, 2009).



Figure 1.3. Contributing mechanisms of central sensitisation.

Poor functioning of the endogenous analgesic system, referred to as descending inhibitory pain control, is another proposed mechanism of central sensitisation. In LE, endogenous pain inhibition is impaired, and this impedes the ability to suppress pain (Lim et al., 2017). Assessed using a conditioned pain modulation (CPM) paradigm, also described as the 'pain inhibits pain' method, CPM provides information on the net balance between endogenous facilitatory and inhibitory mechanisms (Arendt-Nielsen et al., 2018). A painful stimulus such as cold or heat pain applied to a remote area of the body (conditioning stimulus) inhibits pain sensation, i.e., reduces pain perception, of another noxious stimulus (test stimulus) applied to another part of the body (Arendt-Nielsen & Yarnitsky, 2009; van Wijk & Veldhuijzen, 2010). When this occurs, ascending projections to supraspinal structures trigger descending inhibitory projections to the dorsal horn (Cruz-Almeida & Fillingim, 2014). Unlike pain-free individuals, in chronic pain, altered endogenous pain modulation results in an imbalance between descending facilitation and inhibition where inhibition is reduced, or facilitation is enhanced (Arendt-Nielsen et al., 2018; Arendt-Nielsen et al., 2015).

Increased glial activity also contributes to the mechanism of central sensitisation. Glia are nonneuronal cells within the CNS supporting neuronal function. Activated glia leads to production of proinflammatory cytokines and chemokines that mediate neuroinflammation (Matsuda et al., 2019). This increased glial activation is associated with hyperalgesia and allodynia and drives central sensitisation, contributing to the pathophysiology of chronic pain conditions (Matsuda et al., 2019; Nijs et al., 2019). As the presence of neurochemicals has been established in the pathophysiology of LE, increased glial activity is a highly likely mechanism of pain mediation in LE.

Several other mechanisms within the CNS may also contribute to central sensitisation. These include the convergence of noxious and non-noxious input on wide dynamic range neurons that increases their excitability (Woolf, 1989) and receptive field size (Cook et al., 1987), and changes in somatic withdrawal reflexes (Wall & Woolf, 1984). This subsequently increases sensitivity to painful or non-painful stimuli. Reduced withdrawal reflex thresholds have been demonstrated in LE, strengthening the evidence of central sensitisation and more specifically, spinal cord hyperexcitability in LE (Lim et al., 2012). Further evidence suggests sensitisation of myelinated afferents contribute to altered central processing and mechanical hyperalgesia (Wright et al., 1994), which is also demonstrated in LE (Smith & Wright, 1993). The

mechanisms of central sensitisation can be evaluated using quantitative sensory testing and will be discussed in the following section.

Quantitative sensory testing

Central sensitisation can be reflected in altered somatosensory function and may be evaluated by quantitative sensory testing (QST). Quantitative sensory testing is a psychophysical method of assessing and quantifying somatosensory pathways (Backonja et al., 2013; Uddin & MacDermid, 2016). The QST methods provide insight into the functional status of the entire sensory neuroaxis, from peripheral receptors by assessing small (A-delta, C) and large (A-beta) afferent nerve fibre function, to the cerebral cortex by assessing their pathways in the central nervous system (Arendt-Nielsen & Yarnitsky, 2009; Gruener & Dyck, 1994; Yarnitsky & Granot, 2006; Zaslansky & Yarnitsky, 1998). Quantitative sensory testing involves a battery of tests that can include the following methods: detection threshold (the minimum amount of stimulus required to perceive a stimulus), tolerance threshold (the maximum amount of stimulus a person can tolerate) or a rating (a rating of the intensity or magnitude of a standardised stimulus) (Curatolo et al., 2000; Uddin & MacDermid, 2016). When performed, QST can identify sensory gain (e.g., allodynia, hyperalgesia) or sensory loss (e.g., hypoesthesia, hypoalgesia) in response to stimuli.

For LE and other pain conditions, QST provides an understanding of the underlying pain processing mechanisms occurring at the central and peripheral nervous systems that contribute to the development of musculoskeletal pain conditions (Uddin & MacDermid, 2016). An understanding of potentially altered mechanisms may facilitate the application of treatments specific to the mechanism of action to improve pain and sensorimotor function outcomes. Types of QST assessed in LE include pressure pain thresholds, thermal pain and detection thresholds, vibratory detection thresholds and temporal summation. Although QST is widely used and is deemed reliable and valid, it is influenced by individual characteristics such as age, sex, ethnic or racial status and body site of measurement (Nijs et al., 2021; Rolke et al., 2006). These factors influence central sensitisation and should be controlled for to allow reduced variability in responses to stimuli. Further, because these tests involve a psychological component, QST can be affected by participant concentration, attention, and disposition (Cruz-Almeida & Fillingim, 2014). Thus, using standardised protocols is important in reducing variability of responses. In LE, QST has been widely used to evaluate somatosensory function to better understand pain processing mechanisms. The following paragraphs examine altered somatosensory function in LE via QST methods.

Altered bilateral pain processing in LE

Altered QST has been demonstrated in the LE affected side of individuals, with increasing evidence demonstrating altered QST at the contralateral unaffected side as summarised in Table 1.5. Individuals with unilateral LE have demonstrated decreased pressure pain thresholds (PPTs) over the ECRB muscle belly (Ruiz-Ruiz et al., 2011; Wright et al., 1992) and the lateral epicondyle (Coombes et al., 2012b; Fernández-Carnero et al., 2009a Pienimäki et al., 2002; Sran et al., 2001) of the affected and unaffected side (Heales et al., 2014), when compared to the corresponding sides of healthy controls. These bilateral deficits demonstrate mechanical secondary hyperalgesia, a manifestation of central sensitisation. Evidence demonstrates similar findings at the affected and unaffected sides for thermal pain thresholds in LE with cold hyperalgesia (Coombes et al., 2012b; Ruiz-Ruiz et al., 2011; Wright et al., 1992). Findings of bilateral cold pain hyperalgesia support the involvement of a central pain mechanism, mainly central sensitisation that implies alterations of the spinothalamic pathways of the CNS. However, evidence of altered sensitivity to heat stimuli in LE is inconsistent. Reduced heat pain thresholds in LE have been demonstrated unilaterally (Coombes et al., 2012b; Fernández-Carnero et al., 2009b), bilaterally (Ruiz-Ruiz et al., 2011) and in the area of pain referral

(Leffler et al., 2000a). In contrast, some studies report no difference in heat pain thresholds between the LE affected and unaffected sides (Fernández-Carnero et al., 2009b; Wright et al., 1994). These inconsistencies may be due to the heterogeneity of study design, such as the duration of LE and sample size. These contrasts in findings support the need for robust methodologies and consistent study designs to determine the reproducibility of results so that clear conclusions about heat pain thresholds in LE can be made. Heat hyperalgesia has been associated with peripheral sensitisation (Coombes et al., 2012b; Woolf, 2011), thus implicating local physiological mechanisms. However, as cold pain threshold results are consistent and suggestive of central pain mechanism involvement, this provides further evidence for the hypothesis that altered central pain processing mechanisms are involved in the development of bilateral tendinopathy.

Author (Year)	Ν	Current Pain Intensity at rest (mean ± SD)	Pain duration (mean ± SD Mo)	Outcome Measure	Finding
Slater et al. (2005)	20*	3.2 ± 0.4	6.5 ± 1.1	PPT	↓ bilaterally
Fernández- Carnero et al. (2009b)	12*	4.4	25 ± 16	PPT, CPT, HPT, VDT	↓ PPT bilaterally ND for CPT, HPT, VDT between sides
Fernández- Carnero et al. (2009a)	26*	1.0 (NR)	20.3 (NR)	PPT	↓ PPT bilaterally
Fernández-de- las-Peñas et al. (2010)	16*	1.1 ± 1.0	21.6 ± 14.4	PPT	↓ PPT bilaterally
Ruiz-Ruiz et al. (2011)	16*	1.6 ± 0.6	19.2 ± 95	PPT, CPT, HPT	↓ PPT, HPT and ↑ CPT bilaterally
Coombes et al. (2012b)	164*	1.1 ± 1.41	5.7 ± 6.9	PPT, CPT, HPT	↓ CPT and PPT bilaterally ↓HPT affected side only
Bisset et al. (2018)	25*	3.9 ± 1.7	3.0 ± 1.4	PPT, CPT	↓ PPT bilaterally, ↓CPT affected side only

Table 1.5. Studies demonstrating bilateral sensory dysfunction in unilateral LE

Note: *, age and gender matched healthy controls; N = pain group sample size; NR, not reported; PPT, pressure pain threshold; CPT, cold pain threshold; HPT, heat pain threshold; VDT, vibration detection threshold; ND, no difference; Mo, months; (\downarrow), represents reduced; (\uparrow), represents increased

In addition to the above QST methods, facilitated temporal summation of pain is demonstrated in the affected side of individuals with LE compared to controls, and at the lower leg in LE compared to controls suggesting generalised hyperalgesia in LE (Bisset et al., 2018; Jespersen et al., 2013). However, neither of these studies compared temporal summation between the affected and unaffected sides between LE and control groups. Similarly, while few studies have examined vibration detection threshold in LE, two studies have shown elevated vibration detection threshold (i.e., poorer detection) on the affected side in LE patients (Fernández-Carnero et al., 2009b; Palaniswamy et al., 2018). Although, the findings from Fernández-Carnero et al. (2009b) were not statistically significant, likely due to the small sample size. Taken together, there is insufficient data to conclude whether vibration detection threshold is impaired in LE.

When combined, the findings of sensory dysfunction in the affected and unaffected limbs of individuals with unilateral LE suggest that altered central pain processing is a feature of chronic LE. The contribution of central pain processes to pain is important for understanding the underlying mechanism of the diagnosis and treatment of LE. However, the mechanism underlying bilateral sensory dysfunction in musculoskeletal pain has not been investigated and remains unclear.

Maladaptive cortical reorganisation in LE

Sensorimotor cortical adaptations have also been reported in chronic lateral epicondylalgia. Evidence of increased excitability of wrist extensor muscles ECRB and extensor digitorum (i.e., increased map volume), with smudging of M1 representations of affected muscles was associated with higher pain severity scores at rest and in the preceding 6 months (Schabrun et al., 2015a). Altered intracortical networks including reduced SICI, ICF and LICI have been demonstrated in the M1 contralateral to the LE affected side, however, no changes were found for the M1 contralateral to the unaffected side in the LE group (Burns et al., 2016a).

Interestingly, corticomotor excitability of the affected and unaffected M1 remain unaltered (Burns et al., 2016a; Dessureault, 2008). Whilst the data on cortical reorganisation in LE is limited, it suggests altered cortical reorganisation of the M1 contralateral to the affected side in chronic LE is associated with high pain severity (Schabrun et al., 2015a). However, as these studies investigate cortical hemispheres individually, we are unable to discern the interaction between cortical hemispheres and how this may influence the development of bilateral sensorimotor dysfunction.

Evidence of bilateral sensorimotor dysfunction in unilateral musculoskeletal pain has prompted further investigation into interhemispheric communication as a possible mechanism. Interhemispheric communication via cross-education is one mechanism proposed to explain bilateral sensorimotor deficits (Heales et al., 2014). Cross-education is when unilateral reduction in activity is transferred to the contralateral unaffected side causing bilateral deficits. Cross-education is thought to involve cortical interhemispheric interactions where ipsilateral corticospinal fibres project to the contralateral muscles during unilateral movement (Camus et al., 2009; Perez et al., 2007). Therefore, interhemispheric interactions present as an alternate mechanism of the central nervous system to central sensitisation that may underpin bilateral symptom development.

Taken together, strong evidence suggests altered peripheral and central nervous system function contributes to the pathophysiology of LE. Such changes to the pain system include the detection and imbalance of neurochemicals, somatosensory changes including mechanical and thermal hyperalgesia, impaired vibration detection thresholds and facilitated temporal summation, and altered cortical reorganisation. Further, the presence of bilateral dysfunction in unilateral LE suggests maladaptive central pain processing such as central sensitisation. At present, research surrounding interhemispheric interactions in response to pain is limited. Therefore, further investigation into the role of this mechanism from an acute to chronic stage of pain could provide further insights into the development of bilateral sensorimotor dysfunction in unilateral pain conditions such as LE.

Summary of the pathophysiological model of LE

The pathophysiological model of LE suggests that three interrelated components (local tendon pathology, motor system and pain system) are involved in LE. The extent of involvement of each component varies and may differ depending on the severity of the condition. Treatment strategies used to manage clinical symptoms due to these three components include: pharmacotherapy to manage sensitisation processes and motor impairment e.g. corticosteroid injections and non-steroidal anti-inflammatory drugs (Bisset et al., 2006a; Coombes et al., 2009b); physiotherapy to target local tendon pathology e.g. manual therapy (Bisset et al., 2005; Vicenzino, 2003); exercise to target tendon pathology and motor system impairments (Kjaer, 2004; Langberg et al., 2007; Pienimäki et al., 1996); and a multimodal management approach e.g. combining exercise with electrophysical therapy (Bisset et al., 2006a; Smidt et al., 2002). However, the development of sensorimotor dysfunction on the unaffected side suggests that the pathophysiology is more complex and likely involves changes of the central nervous system and cortical reorganisation (Figure 1.4).

As mentioned earlier, some studies suggest the underlying mechanism may be due to cortical interhemispheric interactions where activity in one hemisphere projects onto and influences the opposite hemisphere. A neurophysiological mechanism that may be relevant to the development of bilateral sensorimotor dysfunction in unilateral musculoskeletal pain conditions is interhemispheric inhibition. The following section describes the anatomical and physiological components of the interhemispheric inhibition mechanism.

41

Tendon pathology

- Angiofibroblastic hyperplasia
- Mechanical stress
- Stress-shielding

Motor system impairment

- Reduced grip strength
- Muscle control deficits
- Muscle strength deficits
- Morphological changes of muscle

Lateral Epicondylalgia

Pain system changes

- Peripheral sensitisation
- Central sensitisation
- Cortical reorganisation

? Interhemisphericinhibition mediatingbilateral sensorimotorsymptom development

Figure 1.4. The three interrelated components of LE. The mechanism mediating bilateral sensorimotor symptoms in unilateral LE remains to be understood. Interhemispheric inhibition is a neurophysiological mechanism suggested to underpin this phenomenon. Adapted from Coombes et al. (2009b).

1.3 Interhemispheric inhibition (IHI)

Most individuals who suffer from musculoskeletal conditions experience common symptoms of pain and sensorimotor dysfunction that are restricted to one side of the body (i.e., they are unilateral). However, some individuals develop sensorimotor dysfunction bilaterally despite the absence of the condition on the contralateral side (Heales et al., 2014; Pelletier et al., 2017). The pathophysiological mechanism that underpins bilateral symptom development is not well understood. A neurophysiological mechanism, known as interhemispheric inhibition (IHI), has been postulated to contribute to the development of bilateral sensorimotor dysfunction. This section discusses the research that has characterised the anatomical and physiological components of IHI.

1.3.1 The role of the corpus callosum in IHI

There has been extensive investigation into the anatomy of interhemispheric connections and interactions. Interhemispheric interactions are proposed to occur via transcallosal fibres of the corpus callosum, the largest white matter structure in the brain (Cook, 1984; Kinsbourne, 1975). The transcallosal fibres connect homologous cortical areas of the right and left cerebral hemispheres to allow communication between the two hemispheres (Bloom & Hynd, 2005). The corpus callosum is divided into the rostrum, genu, truncus or midbody, isthmus and splenium (Figure 1.5). Specifically, the posterior midbody connects the primary and secondary somatosensory and motor areas (van der Knaap & van der Ham, 2011).



Figure 1.5. Diffusor tract imaging of the corpus callosum in a human brain with the seven major divisions of the corpus callosum labelled. Presented is an axial (A) and sagittal section (B) of the corpus callosum. (1) rostrum; (2) genu; (3) rostral body; (4) anterior midbody; (5) posterior midbody; (6) isthmus; (7) splenium.

Adapted from https://bmcpsychiatry.biomedcentral.com/articles/10.1186/s12888-019-2079-6

Comparisons between human and animal species of the structure of the corpus callosum suggest increases in brain size reflects hemispheric lateralisation processes (Ringo et al., 1994). The corpus callosum contributes to the lateralisation of brain function and is responsible for the exchange of information between the hemispheres of the brain, playing a crucial role in interhemispheric interactions (Takeuchi & Izumi, 2012).

There are two types of interhemispheric interactions: inhibition and facilitation. Interhemispheric inhibition is the neurophysiological mechanism that allows one hemisphere to inhibit the opposite hemisphere. This allows for the processing of unilateral information and the execution of unilateral movements without coactivation of contralateral muscles (Ni et al., 2009). In IHI, excitatory neurons from one hemisphere synapse on inhibitory neurons in the opposite hemisphere, causing a decrease in the firing rate of the neurons (Figure 1.6a). Conversely, interhemispheric facilitation (i.e., excitation) supports the performance of bilateral movements and the exchange of bilateral information. In interhemispheric facilitation, an increase in the firing rate of a neuron from one hemisphere causes the neuron on which it synapses in the opposite hemisphere to increase in firing (Figure 1.6b) (Bloom & Hynd, 2005).



Figure 1.6. Schematic diagram of IHI (A) and IHF (B). The white circle represents excitation, and the black circle represents inhibitory interactions. The arrows denote the flow of the interaction. TS, test stimulus; IHI, interhemispheric inhibition; IHF, interhemispheric facilitation.

Interhemispheric sensorimotor transmission times between cortical areas in humans has been determined by Poffenberger (1912). Through a series of reaction time experiments, the time required for the transfer of information from one hemisphere to the opposite hemisphere was evaluated. Stimuli were presented to the left or right visual hemifield contralateral or ipsilateral to the responding hand, and participants were required to press a button as fast as possible after the stimuli were presented. The study findings demonstrated faster reaction times when the visual stimuli were presented ipsilateral to the responding hand due to intrahemispheric processing of sensory input and motor execution i.e., sensorimotor information being processed

within the same hemisphere. Reaction times were slower when the visual stimuli were presented contralateral to the responding hand, suggested to be due to the interhemispheric transfer of the sensory information via the corpus callosum to the hemisphere that controls the motor response, thus, leading to longer reaction times. The interhemispheric transfer time of sensorimotor information across the corpus callosum was proposed to be between 2 - 6 ms (Aboitiz et al., 1992; Poffenberger, 1912; Tamè & Longo, 2015). Subsequent research demonstrated IHI in humans occurs at short latencies of 6 - 15 ms and long latencies of 40 - 50 ms (Chen et al., 2003; Ferbert et al., 1992; Ni et al., 2009). Short and long latency IHI is discussed later in this section.

Studies investigating the functions of the corpus callosum in both animals and humans extended the findings of Poffenberger (1912) and informed a more detailed understanding of interhemispheric interactions, specifically IHI. These studies are reviewed in the following section.

1.3.2 Animal research investigating IHI via the corpus callosum

The majority of investigations studying the corpus callosum and IHI in animal models have examined visual functioning and simple tasks that provided foundational knowledge. Animal studies have investigated the role of the corpus callosum in the transfer of information between hemispheres using a process called callosotomy (Gavalas & Sperry, 1969; Gazzaniga, 1966; Myers & Sperry, 1953; Pearce, 2019; Sperry, 1961; Stamm & Sperry, 1957). Callosotomy is a procedure that involves partial or complete sectioning of the corpus callosum. Table 1.6 summarises the findings of several studies that have investigated callosotomy in animals.

Author (Year)	N	Population	Method	Outcome Measure	Finding		
Myers and Sperry (1953)	NR	Sectioning of the corpus callosum in cats	Visual discrimination task	Correct responses for pattern discrimination	Interhemispheric transfer of sensory information between hemispheres was blocked. The corpus callosum is required for transfer of sensory information between hemispheres.		
Myers (1956)	6	Cats with optic chiasm and corpus callosum sectioned	Visual discrimination task	Number of correct responses	Interocular transfer of visual information from the trained eye to the untrained eye failed when the corpus callosum was sectioned but not when the optic chiasm was sectioned. The corpus callosum is important in integrating interhemispheric information.		
Myers and Sperry (1958)	14	Cats with optic chiasm and cortical removal	Visual discrimination tasks	Number of correct responses	Cats with sectioned corpus callosum failed to transfer the complex visual pattern learnt with the trained eye to the opposite untrained eye		
Gazzaniga (1966a)	10	Macaca nemestrina monkeys with sectioning of the corpus callosum, ant and hippocampal commissures and optic chiasm	Visual discrimination task	90% correct responses in consecutive visual discrimination task trials	Interhemispheric transfer of visual discrimination patterns did not occur immediately.		
Gazzaniga (1966b)	5	Macaca nemestrina monkeys with sectioning of the corpus callosum, ant and hippocampal commissures and optic chiasm	Visual discrimination task	90% correct responses in consecutive visual discrimination task trials	One hemisphere of split-brain monkeys was distracted by stimuli presented to the opposite hemisphere if exposure was prolonged. If stimuli presented was brief the opposite hemisphere was unaffected. Thought to be affected by subcortical mechanisms or intracortical mechanisms.		
Gavalas and Sperry (1969)	4	Macaca nemestrina monkeys with sectioning of the optic chiasm and corpus callosum	Visual pattern task	Number of correct trials	Integration of visual patterns projected separately to right and left sides was achieved but not interocular transfer of visual pattern training i.e. training in one eye was not transferred to the other eye due to corpus callosum sectioning		
Trevarthen (1962)	2	Monkeys with optic chiasm, corpus callosum, and anterior and hippocampal learning	Contradictory pattern discrimination tasks	Number of correct trials	Simultaneous learning of contradictory pattern discriminations occurred in split-brain monkeys		
Glickstein and Sperry (1960)	7	Three normal rhesus monkeys and four monkeys with anterior, hippocampal and corpus callosum sectioning	Somesthetic discrimination tasks	Number and percentage of correct trials	Collosum-sectioned monkeys failed to transfer learning of somesthetic tasks from the trained hand to untrained hand.		
Note: N, sample size; NR, not reported.							

Table 1.6. Studies investigating the role of the corpus callosum in animal species

Callosotomy studies in cats have found the transfer of visual information from one hemisphere to another is inhibited (Myers, 1956; Myers & Sperry, 1953, 1958). Myers (1956) investigated interocular transfer of visual information in cats to better understand the role of the corpus callosum by presenting a visual discrimination task to one eye. Myers (1956) demonstrated that cats that had undergone callosotomy were unable to transfer the visual pattern information from the trained eye to the untrained eye. In contrast, the control cats with an intact corpus callosum could perform the pattern taught to the first eye with the second eye. This is due to interhemispheric transfer of visual information from the hemisphere of the trained eye to the hemisphere of the untrained eye via the corpus callosum fibres. Interestingly, when the corpus callosum in the control cats was cut following training of the first eye, they could still perform the pattern with the second eye. This finding demonstrated that the corpus callosum is important in providing interhemispheric facilitation of visual information to be duplicated in the opposite hemisphere.

In monkeys, callosotomy studies show visual information is processed independently by each hemisphere as interhemispheric transfer of information is abolished (Gavalas & Sperry, 1969; Gazzaniga, 1966a, 1966b; Glickstein & Sperry, 1960; Trevarthen, 1962). Studies with callosotomised monkeys demonstrate that sensory information presented to the divided hemispheres can be separately controlled (Glickstein & Sperry, 1960; Sperry, 1960; Sperry, 1961; Trevarthen, 1960). Trevarthen (1960) studied callosotomised monkeys to understand if the hemispheres operate one at a time or have two separate processes operating simultaneously. Using a visual discrimination exercise, they presented patterns to one eye and the same pattern in reverse to the other eye. Trevarthen (1960) found that the different patterns could be processed with each eye independently (i.e., one hemisphere would process a pattern and the opposite hemisphere would process the pattern in reverse simultaneously). Furthermore, when

the monkeys were made to process complex-coloured patterns, the eye contralateral to the responding hand learned the pattern better than the opposite eye.

These animal studies demonstrate lateralisation of the brain as each hemisphere processed visual information independently. The findings show that without the corpus callosum, interhemispheric integration of information is absent and interhemispheric inhibition of visual information that allows strictly unilateral performance is also deficient. These animal studies highlight the importance of the corpus callosum in the interhemispheric transfer of information, where interhemispheric facilitation would allow for the integration of information to the opposite side and allow both hemispheres to work in unity on one task in normal circumstances. Conversely, IHI would increase to allow unilateral processing of one hemisphere while the opposite hemisphere remains aware of the task being performed. While these findings are significant, their applicability to humans, who can perform more complex tasks and exhibit higher cognitive function, is limited. A review of studies in humans investigating the corpus callosum to understand IHI is presented below.

1.3.3 Human studies investigating IHI via the corpus callosum

In humans, the transcallosal response across the corpus callosum was first measured by Cracco et al. (1989). They applied a unilateral magnetic coil over the right hemisphere and recording electrodes over the left hemisphere. The results showed that following the stimulation of the right hemisphere, evoked transcallosal responses had a minimum onset of 8 - 12 ms, a duration of 7 - 15 ms and an amplitude of 20 μ V with high focal specificity. These findings suggested a direct transcallosal connection between homologous areas of the hemispheres. Interhemispheric interactions between M1s were further characterised by Ferbert (1992) (detailed in section 1.4).

However, theories and understandings of IHI in humans were developed from studies of splitbrain individuals that had undergone callosotomy. Callosotomy was often performed in individuals with intractable epilepsy to prevent epileptic seizures from spreading to the opposite hemisphere. Callosotomies have allowed researchers to investigate cerebral lateralisation in humans more effectively with key studies conducted by Sperry and Gazzinga. Their research demonstrated split-brain patients independently processed information presented to each hemisphere such as visual, perceptual, and sensory information (Gazzaniga, 1967; Gazzaniga & Sperry, 1967; Sperry & Gazzaniga, 1967; Sperry et al., 1969). For example, a visual discrimination task was presented to patients that required them to identify patterns of light presented to one eye only or to each individual eye simultaneously. The patients showed they could process visual information to each eye simultaneously in the same amount of time as it took to process information in one eye. This indicated the hemispheres separately processed the information due to the lack of interhemispheric transfer and integration of information (Gazzaniga & Sperry, 1966). In another study, Gazzaniga et al. (1963) showed sensory input was more impaired when presented to the contralateral hemisphere compared to the minimal impairment when sensory input was presented to the ipsilateral hemisphere. Further, results showed tactile stimulation of the left side could be pointed to by the left hand but not the right hand, whilst temperature and pain discrimination could not be discerned correctly between the right and left sides of the body due to the abolished interhemispheric integration of sensory information. These studies showed how callosotomy affected the transfer of visual, sensory, and attentional information from one hemisphere to the other. They also demonstrated lateralisation of the hemispheres and the importance of the corpus callosum in interhemispheric transfer of information. Table 1.7 summarises studies that have investigated interhemispheric communication in split-brain patients.
Author (Year)	Ν	Population	Method	Outcome Measure	Finding
Gazzaniga et al. (1963)	1	Patient with seizures undergone surgical sectioning of the cerebral commissures	Somatosensory tests	Correct responses to somatosensory tests	Somatosensory tests revealed separation of the right and left extremities and right and left sides of the trunk. Severe impairment during right-left cross integration
Gazzaniga and Sperry (1966)	4	Individuals with epilepsy undergone callosotomy	Visual discrimination tasks	Time taken to respond to stimuli a single or double discrimination task in the visual field	Callosotomy patients completed the double discrimination task as fast as they did for the single discrimination task. Healthy subjects took 40% longer to complete the double discrimination task than the single task
Meyer et al. (1995)	10	Individuals with abnormalities of the corpus callosum	Transcranial magnetic stimulation	Silent period (ms)	EMG activity was not suppressed, with delayed onset latency in individuals with abnormalities of the anterior section of the corpus callosum compared to healthy controls
Eliassen et al. (1999)	1	Individuals with callosotomy	Completion of drawing presented	Total response time, directional variability and movement initiation synchrony	Following posterior callosotomy mirror image drawings become less symmetrical. The posterior corpus callosum plays an important role in meditating hand coordination during bimanual movements
Roland et al. (2017)	22	Individuals with epilepsy undergone partial or complete surgical sectioning of the corpus callosum	Resting state-fMRI	BOLD – functional connectivity	Interhemispheric functional connectivity was reduced showing callosal connections are required in interhemispheric functional connectivity

Note: N, sample size; fMRI, functional Magnetic Resonance Imaging; Bold, Blood-Oxygen-Level-Dependent; ms, millisecond; EMG, electromyography

Research on humans has also confirmed direct evidence of the cortical origin of IHI. Di Lazzaro et al. (1999) measured from the epidural space of the cervical spinal cord in healthy humans, descending corticospinal volleys (I-waves) produced by transcranial stimulation in one hemisphere and measured how MEPs were affected by a preceding magnetic stimulus over the opposite hemisphere. Their findings showed that the conditioning stimulus had a significant inhibitory effect on the later (I3) descending volleys, which originates from the indirect activation of pyramidal tract neurons of the cerebral cortex. Whereas, for the earlier volleys, I2 was less inhibited and I1 was not inhibited. Thus, IHI is thought to originate predominately at a cortical level (Boroojerdi et al., 1996; Ferbert et al., 1992; Meyer et al., 1995).

Investigations of IHI on spinal excitability demonstrating no inhibition of the H-reflex further confirms IHI is of cortical origin (Ferbert et al., 1992; Gerloff et al., 1998; Harris-Love et al., 2007; Ni et al., 2009). H-reflex is a measure of spinal α -motoneuron excitability. It assesses the modulation of monosynaptic reflex activity in the spinal cord (Palmieri et al., 2004). Several studies have demonstrated magnetic stimulation has no effect on the peak-to-peak amplitude of H-reflexes in proximal and distal arm muscles, confirming that spinal inhibitory mechanisms do not contribute to IHI and that it occurs at a cortical level (Ferbert et al., 1992; Gerloff et al., 1998; Harris-Love et al., 2007; Ni et al., 2009).

The fibres of the corpus callosum that mediate IHI are predominantly made up of excitatory neurons that synapse onto inhibitory neurons in the opposite hemisphere. This occurs at two phases of IHI i.e., short and long latency IHI that are mediated by different cortical inhibitory neurons. The following section describes the physiological origins of short and long latency IHI pathways.

1.3.4 The physiological origins of SIHI and LIHI

In humans, there are two distinct phases of IHI, short and long latency IHI. Short latency IHI (SIHI) occurs between 6 - 15 ms and long latency IHI (LIHI) occurs between 40 - 50 ms (Chen et al., 2003; Ni et al., 2009; Reis et al., 2008). Theories of neurotransmitter systems mediating IHI developed from animal studies that suggested GABA_A neurons mediate SIHI and GABA_B neurons mediate LIHI (Chowdhury et al., 1996a; Chowdhury et al., 1996b; Kawaguchi & Kubota, 1997). Palmer et al. (2012) comprehensively described the microcircuitry underlying IHI by studying the rat somatosensory cortex. Their findings showed GABA_B receptors mediate LIHI. The authors further demonstrated that callosal input activates cortical layer 1 and projects to cortical layer 5 where pyramidal neurons were inhibited for hundreds of milliseconds when ipsilateral stimulation was applied to the somatosensory cortex after contralateral stimulation. They concluded that LIHI is mediated predominately through direct postsynaptic mechanisms in the apical dendritic shafts of pyramidal neurons (Palmer et al., 2013; Palmer et al., 2012). The findings that GABA_B mediated LIHI were further replicated in mice studies of the primary visual cortex (He et al., 2015) and motor area (Spalletti et al., 2017).

In humans, Irlbacher et al. (2007) sought to characterise the neurotransmitter system mediating SIHI and LIHI. They examined the effects of GABA_B and GABA_A agonist medication on LIHI and SIHI, respectively. Their findings demonstrated that GABA_B agonist medication did not significantly enhance SIHI, but significantly strengthened LIHI. However, GABA_A was not shown to influence SIHI. They concluded that LIHI is mediated by post-synaptic GABA_B receptors similar to previous animal studies, however the results remained inconclusive regarding receptors mediating SIHI. This demonstrates a gap in the literature as the SIHI pathway is not yet fully understood.

Various methodological techniques have been used to assess IHI in humans. In earlier studies, transcranial magnetic stimulation (TMS) was used to assess IHI and has since remained a popular method of IHI assessment with two paradigms being used to assess IHI between primary motor cortices. Further, electroencephalography (EEG) is becoming increasingly popular in measuring IHI between primary sensory cortices. The following section discusses the methods of TMS and EEG used to measure IHI.

1.4 Assessment of IHI in Humans

1.4.1 Assessing IHI between primary motor cortices (M1)

The following section outlines the different methods of assessing IHI between primary motor cortices using TMS. An overview of TMS is presented first followed by a discussion of paired-pulse stimulation and the ipsilateral silent period (iSP) that are the common paradigms used to assess M1 IHI. The advantages and limitations of each paradigm are then discussed.

Transcranial magnetic stimulation (TMS)

Non-invasive brain stimulation techniques can be used to assess IHI in humans. One such noninvasive brain stimulation technique is TMS. Transcranial magnetic stimulation is a safe, painless neurophysiological technique that is commonly used to assess human brain activity in healthy and patient populations (Klomjai et al., 2015).

Transcranial magnetic stimulation is based on Faraday's law of electromagnetic induction. A magnetic stimulator produces a current that is transmitted through the TMS coil which induces a magnetic field. A figure-of-eight shaped coil is most used, which produces a more focal magnetic field. The TMS coil is placed over the scalp and the magnetic field from the coil penetrates the scalp and skull generating an electrical current within the underlying brain tissue. In response to this trigger stimulus, corticospinal neurons are depolarised, thus activating a series of waves referred to as descending corticospinal volleys. These volleys are activated either directly (D waves) as a result of direct activation of pyramidal neurons, or indirectly (I waves) as a result of indirect activation of pyramidal neurons and travel down the corticospinal tract to the target muscle and elicit a muscle response (Figure 1.7) (Barker et al., 1985; Di Lazzaro et al., 2001; Di Lazzaro et al., 2018). The muscle response is recorded as a MEP using surface or intramuscular EMG.



Figure 1.7. A schematic representation of transcranial magnetic stimulation. A figure of 8 coil is applied to the primary motor cortex. Corticospinal volleys are generated and travel down the corticospinal tract through the spinal cord to the target muscle. A resulting motor-evoked potential is produced recorded by electromyography.

Motor evoked potentials (MEP)

The MEP is the most common TMS measure used to assess the excitability of the corticospinal motor system providing information on the reactivity and response of stimulated neurons (Hallett et al., 2017). The MEP is expressed as the peak-to-peak amplitude which is a measure of the number of pyramidal tract neurons activated along the corticospinal tract (Figure 1.8) (Kobayashi & Pascual-Leone, 2003). The MEP amplitude consists of cortical and spinal contributions resulting from direct and indirect activation of descending corticospinal volleys. Hence, the MEP provides a measure of corticomotor excitability, also known as corticomotor output.



Figure 1.8. Image of a motor evoked potential following transcranial magnetic stimulation (extracted and edited from Chapter 2, Study 1).

There is evidence suggesting MEPs are variable and can be influenced by methodological factors such as stimulation intensity, coil position and EMG background activity (Rossini et al., 2015; van der Kamp et al., 1996). Despite this, when these factors are accounted for, the MEP amplitude is a measure that provides a specific indication of the integrity and excitability of the corticospinal tract and local cortical circuits in individuals with disease or following an intervention (Barker et al., 1987; Barker et al., 1985; Reis et al., 2008; Rossini et al., 2015).

Transcranial magnetic stimulation can be delivered as a single pulse (termed single-pulse TMS), which can assess cortical output of a single cortical region (Rossini et al., 2015). Transcranial magnetic stimulation can also be delivered in pairs of stimuli separated by an interval (interstimulus interval) and is termed paired-pulse TMS. Paired-pulse TMS can be used to assess a single cortical region by delivering two pulses, a subthreshold pulse and a suprathreshold pulse, through the same coil. Paired-pulse TMS can also assess two different cortical regions by delivering a suprathreshold pulse through one TMS coil and a second

suprathreshold pulse through a second TMS coil. The former paired-pulse method allows for the investigation of intracortical circuits of facilitation and inhibition, and the latter pairedpulse paradigm measures interhemispheric circuits of inhibition and facilitation (Ferbert et al., 1992; Reis et al., 2008; Valls-Solé et al., 1992; Wassermann et al., 1996).

1.4.1.1 Using TMS to measure IHI

The following section is focused on the application of TMS to assess IHI between cortical regions of the two hemispheres. To assess IHI, two main paradigms using TMS are used: paired-pulse TMS and the ipsilateral silent period.

1.4.1.2 Paired-pulse paradigm

The paired-pulse paradigm assesses IHI by delivering two suprathreshold pulses via two separate TMS coils. Ferbert et al. (1992) conducted a seminal study whereby IHI in a healthy cohort of participants was measured using the application of the paired-pulse paradigm. This paradigm involves applying a suprathreshold pulse called the conditioning stimulus (CS) delivered over a cortical region of one hemisphere that precedes and is inhibited by a second suprathreshold pulse, the test stimulus (TS), delivered over the homotopic site in the opposite hemisphere (Daskalakis et al., 2002; Ferbert et al., 1992) (Figure 1.9). In the study by Ferbert et al. and since confirmed by other authors, inhibition of the test MEP at conditioning-test intervals is demonstrated between 6 - 50 ms when muscles are at rest or active, consistent with transcallosal conduction times of the corpus callosum (Chen et al., 2003; Di Lazzaro et al., 1999; Ferbert et al., 1992). Interhemispheric inhibition can be assessed between the left and right hemispheres in either direction. However, from the left to right hemisphere is reported to be the dominant IHI direction for individuals with dominant right-hand function and visa-versa (Bäumer et al., 2007; Netz et al., 1995).



IHI double-pulse paradigm

Figure 1.9. Pictorial representation of the double-pulse IHI paradigm. The conditioning stimulus (CS) over the left hemisphere activates excitatory neurons (white circle) resulting in an unconditioned MEP response. This unconditioned response is inhibited by a test stimulus (TS) that activates inhibitory neurons (black circle) resulting in an inhibited MEP (IHI).

Factors affecting the paired-pulse paradigm

There are several known factors that are important in the assessment of IHI when using the paired-pulse paradigm. These include interstimulus intervals (ISIs), the current direction induced by TMS coil orientation and the conditioning stimulus intensity (Chen et al., 2003; Ni et al., 2009).

The effect of ISI on IHI

Interstimulus intervals ranging from 8 - 50 ms are demonstrated to affect the level of IHI. As explained earlier, there are two distinct phases of IHI, short and long latency IHI. Short latency IHI occurs between 6 - 15 ms ISIs and has been predominantly found to occur at 10 ms, whereas LIHI occurs between 40 - 50 ms ISIs (Chen et al., 2003; Ferbert et al., 1992; Ni et al., 2009). Interestingly, the range of ISIs that can be investigated between M1s negates findings

of animal studies that suggested limited callosal connections exist between motor areas (Perez & Cohen, 2009). Nonetheless, these two phases are distinct as they demonstrate the deepest level of inhibition i.e., the maximum amount of IHI identified, at the given ISI's (Ferbert et al., 1992; Gerloff et al., 1998). For example, when eliciting IHI in upper limb muscles, the maximum amount of IHI is demonstrated at 10 ms ISI (Harris-Love et al., 2007). This is due to the different neuronal populations or physiological origins of SIHI and LIHI. This has been demonstrated by Chen et al. (2003) by examining the differences in IHI between 8 and 40 ms ISI's. They showed IHI at 8 ms was reduced with target muscle activation but 40 ms showed little change. Moreover, IHI at 40 ms was correlated to the ipsilateral silent period duration (another measure of inhibition that will be detailed below in section 1.4.1.3), whereas 8 ms was not. This suggests similar mechanisms may mediate IHI at 40 ms and the ipsilateral silent period. Taken together, SIHI and LIHI have different physiological origins mediated by different mechanisms and both affect the amount of IHI.

The effect of current direction on IHI

A key study by Chen et al. (2003) was one of the first to investigate the effect of current direction of the CS coil on IHI. This was conducted in 10 healthy participants during two conditions: i) at rest while muscles in both hands were relaxed; and ii) during an active condition requiring voluntary contraction of a right-hand muscle. The induced current directions tested in the right M1 were anterior medial (AM), posterior medial (PM), posterior lateral (PL) and anterior lateral (AL). The authors demonstrated the effect of current direction of the current in the brain did not affect the depth of IHI at 8 or 40 ms ISI when at rest and during the active condition. Similarly, Ni et al. (2009) demonstrated that CS current direction does not affect IHI at short or long latencies. Interestingly, this is in contrast to single-pulse TMS studies of ipsilateral or contralateral MEPs which show that the population of cortical neurons

activated by TMS depends on the induced current direction (Di Lazzaro et al., 2001; Di Lazzaro et al., 1999; Sakai et al., 1997; Werhahn et al., 1994; Wilson et al., 1996). For example, singlepulse TMS that induces current in a medial and lateral direction produces shorter latency MEPs or earlier latency responses in the contralateral hand muscles compared with anterior or posterior directed current (Sakai et al., 1997; Werhahn et al., 1994). A likely explanation is that corticomotor excitability (i.e., single-pulse TMS) and IHI reflect different neuronal populations (Boroojerdi et al., 1996; Le Pera et al., 2001; Svensson et al., 2003). Hence, the effect of TMS on corticospinal excitability does not necessarily result in a change in the IHI pathway due to the separate cortical neuron populations mediating each pathway. Thus, it is possible that the neuronal population mediating corticospinal activity of the corticospinal tract has lower thresholds than the neuronal population mediating IHI, making them more sensitive to current direction.

The effect of conditioning stimulus intensity on IHI

The effect of conditioning stimulus intensity has been demonstrated to be important in eliciting IHI. Chen et al. (2003) investigated conditioning stimulus intensities of 45 to 90% of stimulator output at rest and during muscle activation for SIHI and LIHI at 8 and 40 ms ISI, respectively. Interhemispheric inhibition increased at both rest and active conditions with stimulus intensities from 45% to 75% of stimulator output but showed no significant difference between 75% and 90% stimulator output. That is, stimulus intensity of the CS affects the depth of inhibition, with increasing stimulus intensity resulting in increasing inhibition. Ni et al. (2009) also demonstrated the effects of different CS intensities on SIHI and LIHI between M1s. Eight conditioning stimulus intensities from 60 - 200% of active motor threshold (AMT) were tested in increments of 20% at 10 and 50 ms ISI. The findings demonstrated inhibition increased with higher CS intensities for both SIHI and LIHI. However, LIHI showed inhibition over a wider range of CS intensities (120 - 200% of AMT) compared to SIHI, which required higher CS

intensities (from 160 - 200% of AMT). The findings further demonstrated for SIHI, CS location i.e., the cortical area chosen, is important regarding the effect produced by CS intensity. This suggests that for SIHI the effect of CS intensity depends on the CS location. However, this effect is not observed for LIHI. The differences in the intensities required to elicit SIHI and LIHI and that the CS location impacts each latency differently, suggests that SIHI and LIHI are mediated by different neuronal populations (Section 1.3.4). Specifically, LIHI is mediated by neurons with a lower firing threshold compared to SIHI.

1.4.1.3 Ipsilateral silent period technique (iSP)

The second method of IHI assessment investigated by Ferbert et al. (1992) is the ipsilateral silent period (iSP). This method involves the application of a single suprathreshold TMS pulse to the hemisphere ipsilateral to a voluntary contraction, which suppresses voluntary EMG activity giving an ipsilateral silent period (Figure 1.10) (Ferbert et al., 1992; Meyer et al., 1995; Triggs et al., 1993). Ferbert et al. (1992) demonstrated inhibition occurred 30 - 35 ms after the CS and lasted approximately 35 ms. The iSP uses onset latency, depth, and duration to assess IHI. The iSP measures the inhibition of volitional motor activity, making it a technique more suited than paired-pulse IHI to examine the control of voluntary movement (Beaule et al., 2012).



Figure 1.10. Pictorial representation of the ipsilateral silent period paradigm. A TMS coil is applied ipsilateral to the hand sustaining a contraction causing an interruption of EMG activity i.e., an ipsilateral silent period.

Similar to the paired-pulse paradigm, the iSP outcome can also be influenced by methodological factors. The duration of the iSP can be modulated by the intensity of the CS stimulation. As the CS intensity increases, the duration of the silent period increases (Chin et al., 2012). In addition, the current direction influences iSP and has been shown to increase iSP duration (Chen et al., 2003).

The reliability of the iSP measure has also been investigated. Intersession reliability of the iSP latency, duration, and depth was investigated by Fleming and Newham (2017) in young and older adults for the left and right first dorsal interosseous (FDI) muscles. Participants were instructed to activate the FDI muscle at approximately 75% of their maximum voluntary contraction (MVC). Their findings demonstrated moderate to good reliability for iSP duration for both groups (All ICC values > 0.6). Moderate to good reliability was demonstrated for iSP latency for the younger group but only for the left FDI of the older group (ICC, 0.69-0.91). In contrast, iSP depth was less reliable indicating poor reproducibility (ICC, < 0.4). However, the results also demonstrated inter-individual variation in some participants, but no pattern in the

variability was observed. This suggests the variability observed, which may affect the reproducibility of iSP, could be due to: i) inconsistent amount of voluntary muscle activity between sessions; ii) variation in TMS coil placement and orientation, as the orientation of coil placement and hence current direction has been shown to influence the iSP and, iii) the stimulation intensity used. Fleming and Newham (2017) used a fixed stimulation of 80% of stimulator output which could result in a variable amount of stimulation received and thus, variability in outcome if resting motor threshold (RMT) is variable across participants. Whereas, stimulating at a percentage of RMT ensures consistency in stimulation across participants (Groppa et al., 2012). It can be concluded that iSP duration is a reliable marker of IHI, but that a large change in iSP duration is required to be clinically meaningful. However, this is contrary to a review by Perez and Cohen (2009) that demonstrated inter-individual variability of the iSP in proximal arm muscles is higher when measured by iSP than with the paired-pulse protocol, which presents a disadvantage for this method.

The iSP reflects inhibition at the cortical level. The mechanism of iSP involves activation of GABA_B receptors exciting inhibitory neurons and thus, decreasing corticospinal neuron firing and representing a measure of corticomotor disinhibition (Chin et al., 2012; Cracco et al., 1989). Studies investigating neurological patients have provided evidence that the iSP is mediated by fibres of the corpus callosum. For example, in patients with agenesis or cortical lesions of the corpus callosum, a delayed or absent iSP was demonstrated (Meyer et al., 1995; Meyer et al., 1998). However, no effect on iSP was observed where subcortical lesions affected the corticospinal tract and not the corpus callosum (Boroojerdi et al., 1996). Further, in children where complete myelination of the corpus callosum was yet to develop, iSP was either not detectable or significantly shorter than in adults (Heinen et al., 1998). It has also been suggested the neural mechanism underlying iSP may be similar to LIHI as both are mediated by GABA_B receptors, while it differs from SIHI (Chen et al., 2003). Nonetheless, the iSP has proven to be

a good tool to investigate voluntary cortical motor output. Motor output to the contralateral hand is restricted, increasing IHI and inhibiting mirror movements (Beaule et al., 2012). This suggests that the mechanism underlying the iSP has an important role in supressing unwanted mirror movements.

1.4.1.4 Strengths and limitations of the paired-pulse and iSP paradigms

The current literature presents advantages and disadvantages for both the paired-pulse and iSP paradigms. It is well established that CS intensity influences the time course of IHI (Chen et al., 2003; Ni et al., 2009). When the CS intensity is increased for the paired-pulse technique the duration of inhibition increases, whereas it remains stable for the iSP. Though, the pairedpulse method is not affected by different current directions (Chen et al., 2003). Thus, when applying the TMS coil to deliver the CS, it can be positioned in any direction, usually 90 degrees to the vertex/midline to avoid overlapping. Coil overlap is recognised as a limitation of the paired-pulse technique, although it is commonly overcome by using a coil of smaller diameter to deliver the CS (Harris-Love et al., 2007; Hinder et al., 2010; Singer et al., 2013; Vercauteren et al., 2008). An undesirable consequence of this, however, is that the stimulation delivered to the brain is more focal than when using larger coils and may compromise the detection of the motor hotspot. Coil overlap is not an issue for iSP as only one coil is required for this technique. The magnitude of voluntary contraction for the iSP method has been employed over a wide variety of levels from 15 to 100% of MVC. It has been demonstrated that the amount of IHI does not differ across muscle contraction levels of 30%, 50% and 100% of MVC for iSP duration or normalised iSP but iSP area produces large variability (Kuo et al., 2017). However, this is not an issue for the paired-pulse method as MVC is not employed in this method.

Moderate to good reliability has been demonstrated for iSP duration in healthy individuals (Fleming & Newham, 2017). A single study has demonstrated significant test-retest reliability of paired-pulse IHI measurements at 12 ms for the left hemisphere and 10 ms for the right hemisphere at a group level in healthy individuals (De Gennaro et al., 2003). Due to high within and between-subject variability the findings did not support high reproducibility of the paired-pulse paradigm. However, for proximal arm muscles, inter-individual variability in IHI is higher with the iSP technique than the paired-pulse protocol (Perez & Cohen, 2009). In stroke patients, paired-pulse IHI has demonstrated moderate to excellent reliability from the contralateral to ipsilateral hemisphere (Cassidy et al., 2016).

In summary, there are advantages and disadvantages for both the paired-pulse and iSP techniques for measuring IHI. The current literature suggests that iSP or paired-pulse technique selection is best governed by the intended participant population, muscle tested, muscles relaxed or in voluntary contraction, the number of sessions, ISI tested and current direction. However, it has been suggested that iSP technique provides complementary but not identical information on IHI compared to the paired-pulse method (Perez & Cohen, 2009). Therefore, taking the latter information into consideration, for the purpose of this thesis it was deemed appropriate to use the paired-pulse method at short and long latencies to investigate IHI. Nonetheless, further studies that compare paired-pulse and iSP protocols to determine their reliability and reproducibility appear warranted.

1.4.2 Assessment of IHI between primary sensory cortices

1.4.2.1 The primary sensory cortex

The primary sensory cortex (S1) is part of the somatosensory cortex and is located in the postcentral gyrus of the cerebral cortex of each hemisphere. It comprises four cytoarchitectonic sub-divisions labelled Broadman's areas 1, 2, 3A and 3B (Figure 1.11). The role of the somatosensory system is to process sensory information. This includes tactile sensation such as pressure and vibration, proprioception i.e., head and body position and movement, and modalities of sensation such as pain and temperature (Jacobs, 2011). The sensory distribution of each body part is mapped on the sensory homunculus. Certain areas of the body have larger representations due to greater sensory innervation density. For example, the hand representation within S1 is much larger in comparison to other body parts (Penfield & Boldrey, 1937).



Figure 1.11. The primary sensorimotor cortex. (A) Image of the primary sensory cortex and primary motor cortex in the brain. Source: https://www.pinterest.com.au/pin/375909900120380546/ (B): Cytoarchitectonic sub-divisions of the primary sensory cortex. Area 3a, 3b 1, and 2 make up the primary sensory cortex. Modified from "The neural basis of haptic object processing" by James et al., 2007, Canadian Journal of Experimental Psychology, 61(3), p.220.

1.4.2.2 Sensory Evoked Amplitude

To investigate somatosensory cortex activity, sensory evoked potentials (SEPs) are recorded. The SEP measures presynaptic and postsynaptic electrical activity of the somatosensory cortex in response to sensory input such as peripheral or cutaneous stimulation at the skin surface, targeting the receptive area of a pre-selected nerve. In many research studies, the median and ulnar nerves in the upper limb are commonly stimulated as they produce large and reliable SEPs (Allison et al., 1991; Bergamaschi et al., 1993; Cruccu et al., 2008; Mauguière et al., 1999; Salerno et al., 1999). The radial nerve has also been assessed in studies of induced muscle pain (De Martino et al., 2018). However, radial nerve stimulation is studied less frequently as it is thought that the median nerve is sufficient in representing the whole body (Treede & Kunde, 1995). In the lower limb, the tibial nerve is a common stimulation site (Cruccu et al., 2008; Mauguière et al., 1999).

Sensory evoked potentials reflect cerebral action potentials of the hemisphere contralateral to noxious or non-noxious peripheral nerve stimulation, recorded over the scalp via EEG (Dawson, 1947; Passmore et al., 2014). The electrical activity recorded generates positive and negative deflections, resulting in a waveform. Multiple waveforms are recorded then averaged for analysis. The waveform is analysed for the different components identified by peaks and troughs (Figure 1.12). The latency of SEP components following the initial stimulation and the peak to peak amplitude can be used to interpret changes in neural activity and excitability of the cortex (Diers et al., 2007; Mauguiere, 2005; Passmore et al., 2014; Schabrun et al., 2015b; Schabrun et al., 2013). For example, suppressed SEP peak-to-peak amplitudes reflect inhibition whereas increased SEP amplitudes reflect facilitation, while prolonged latency can indicate slowing down of conduction of the peripheral nerve pathway due to disease, injury, or other factors such as age. Neural activity and excitability are typically measured in contralateral S1 but can also be measured between S1s to investigate interactions between the cortical regions.



Figure 1.12. An example image of a sensory evoked potential (SEP). SEPs are recorded in response to non-noxious electrical stimuli at the median nerve in a healthy participant with different SEP components extracted. The components presented are the P14, N20, P25, N30, P40, N60 which represent the latency of the SEP component following the initial stimulation and whether the peak SEP component is a negative (N) or positive (P) peak or trough. Image extracted from Chapter 3, Study 2.

1.4.2.3 Techniques used to record S1 IHI

To measure IHI, SEPs are recorded in response to bilateral peripheral nerve stimulation at varying interstimulus intervals. These SEPs are typically recorded via EEG (Mauguiere, 2005; Passmore et al., 2014). Electroencephalography records electrical currents measured from the scalp surface allowing for the recording of activity across multiple brain regions and can be performed using widely available neuroscience recording equipment (Gevins & Smith, 2006). Hence, EEG is the predominant neurophysiological technique used in S1 IHI studies. A variety of techniques can be used to measure SEPs via EEG. This includes a whole-head EEG system or a single gold-cup electrode.

Whole-head EEG involves placing a cap on the participants head with electrodes spaced around the scalp comprising as few as 35 and up to 64 channels to record electrical activity from the brain. This configuration of electrodes also allows for the monitoring of signal artefacts and streamlining filtering and data analysis (Lau et al., 2012; Tong & Thakor, 2009). Advantages of whole-head EEG include reliability of EEG to record brain activity, ability to place more recording electrodes on the scalp, high temporal resolution, and is tolerable by participants. However, disadvantages of whole-head EEG include increased sensitivity of the signal-to-noise ratio from eye and scalp movement, low spatial resolution, and lengthy set-up time as electrodes need to be precisely placed on the scalp (Reis et al., 2014; Srinivasan, 1999).

Gold-cup EEG involves placing a silver/silver chloride electrode on the scalp at the desired cortical region for assessment and a reference electrode (OSET, 1999; Toleikis, 2005). Advantages of this method include that it is established as a reliable method to record brain activity (Rossini et al., 1990), uses significantly less recording electrodes and thus, has less setup time, is tolerable by participants, and is a cost-effective and functionally feasible method. Disadvantages of gold-cup EEG include the recording of movement artefacts (e.g. from the eyes or scalp) that will be observed in the EEG signal (Tallgren et al., 2005) and reduced accuracy and reliability due to inconsistent electrode placement. Consistency in the placement of EEG recording electrodes is required to produce reliable findings (Teplan, 2002; Toleikis, 2005). To improve consistency in electrode placement, standard placement protocols exist. Electrodes should be placed on the scalp according to the International 10 - 20 system, which is an internationally recognised method that allows for the standardised placement of EEG electrodes (Homan et al., 1987; Jasper, 1958).

1.4.2.4 Paired median nerve somatosensory evoked potential (PMNSEP) protocol

To measure interhemispheric interactions between somatosensory cortices, a paired median nerve somatosensory evoked potential (PMNSEP) protocol is employed (Brodie et al., 2014; Ragert et al., 2011). A conditioning stimulus at a suprathreshold intensity is delivered to the target nerve, such as the median or ulnar nerve over the wrist, prior to a suprathreshold test stimulus delivered to the target nerve in the opposite wrist at ISIs ranging from 5 - 35 ms (Brodie et al., 2014; Ragert et al., 2011; Hoffken et al., 2013). To our knowledge, this protocol has not been performed over the radial nerves. The range of ISIs from 5-35 ms allows for the investigation of the time window that interhemispheric interactions occur between S1s. For example, to measure IHI from the left to the right S1, a conditioning stimulus would be delivered to the right median nerve preceding a test stimulus to the left median nerve at a chosen ISI. A control condition is also applied whereby a single-pulse test stimulus is delivered to the target nerve over one wrist. However, a limitation of the single-pulse test stimulus is directed attention to the hand being stimulated which has shown to alter sensory processes and influence SEP amplitudes (Garcia-Larrea et al., 1999). To address this, a synchronous stimulation condition where electrical stimulation is applied to the right and left nerve simultaneously (i.e., 0 ms ISI) can be used to control for directed attention by equally dividing attention between the two hands (Brodie et al., 2014). It has been demonstrated that no differences in SEP component amplitudes exist when the single-pulse test stimulus is used as the control condition compared to the synchronous 0 ms ISI condition (Brodie et al., 2014). Therefore, it appears appropriate to consider using a paired 0 ms ISI as a control condition as previous studies do suggest attention to electrical stimulation and not the task administered could influence SEP results (Eimer & Forster, 2003; García-Larrea et al., 1995; Rossi et al., 1998; Schubert et al., 2008).

1.4.2.5 SEP components

In response to peripheral stimulation, SEP waveforms are produced that originate from cortical and subcortical origins. The peak-to-peak amplitudes and latencies of the SEP response following stimulus onset are analysed as a proportion of the control condition (conditioned SEP / unconditioned SEP) for each SEP component. The ratio score is then interpreted to determine whether there is interhemispheric inhibition or facilitation between the S1's (Ferbert et al., 1992; Ragert et al., 2011). A ratio score < 1 denotes interhemispheric inhibition and a ratio score > 1 denotes interhemispheric facilitation i.e., disinhibition (Ferbert et al., 1992; Nelson et al., 2009; Sattler et al., 2012).

In humans, five SEP components have been analysed in response to IHI between somatosensory cortices. These are P_{14}/N_{20} , N_{20}/P_{25} , P_{25}/N_{30} , N_{30}/P_{40} , P_{40}/N_{60} . The P_{14}/N_{20} component comprises a subcortical and cortical component (Desmedt, 1985; Lee & Seyal, 1998; Noël et al., 1996; Passmore et al., 2014). The P_{14} component is a subcortical component that is generated at the caudal medial lemniscus at the level of the medulla of the brainstem (Desmedt, 1985; Lee & Seyal, 1998; Noël et al., 1996). The N_{20} component reflects cortical activity, representing area 3b of the primary sensory cortex (Passmore et al., 2014). The N_{20} / P_{25} SEP component is generated in areas 3b, 1 and 2 of the somatosensory cortex (Namiki et al., 1996). The N_{30}/P_{40} reflects the parietal cortex of the somatosensory area (P_{40}) and the pre-

central cortical region that is the site of M1 (N_{30}) (Passmore et al., 2014). However, it is also thought that the origin of the N_{30} involves a more complex cortical and subcortical connection linking the basal ganglia, thalamus, pre-motor areas and M1 (Kanovsky et al., 2003). The N60 component is thought to reflect activation in area 1 of the somatosensory cortex (Allison et al., 1992).

It can be noted from the origins of the SEP components above that communication between S1s can be mediated by other regions of the brain, such as the M1 and subcortical regions, which show the interconnectedness of the brain. Therefore, assessment of SEPs generated in S1 will provide important information regarding the specific areas in S1 or mediating regions that contribute to IHI between S1s.

The previous sections introduced IHI and reviewed the literature that suggests IHI is of cortical origin. The methods used to investigate IHI in M1 and S1 of humans were then reviewed. This included the paired-pulse and iSP paradigms that investigate IHI between M1s and the paired median nerve stimulation paradigm that investigates IHI between S1s. The following section reviews the literature that has investigated IHI in the healthy nervous system. This includes a review of unilateral and bilateral movement coordination in M1 and S1.

1.5 The functional role of interhemispheric inhibition in humans

Interhemispheric inhibition has a significant functional role in voluntary motor control and movement in humans. Interhemispheric inhibition has been implicated in unilateral and bilateral coordination, playing a crucial role in suppressing unwanted mirror movements (Beaule et al., 2012; Reis et al., 2008). Mirror movements occur when voluntary movements of one side of the body are mirrored involuntarily by the opposite side of the body due to excitatory information crossing the corpus callosum (Beaule et al., 2012).

Maturation of the corpus callosum and pathological circumstances affect the effectiveness of IHI in the control of unwanted mirror movements. Diffusor tensor imaging (DTI), a type of MRI technique, and TMS studies reveal mirror movements occur in young children under 10 years of age. This occurs due to the incomplete myelination of the corpus callosum rendering the IHI mechanism weak or absent. However, as the corpus callosum and IHI mechanism develop and mature with ageing, mirror movements decrease (Heinen et al., 1998; Koerte et al., 2009; Kwon et al., 2014; Müller et al., 1997). In adults, mirror movements are deemed a pathological phenomenon such as in conditions of stroke and writer's cramp (Duque et al., 2005; Merello et al., 2006; Murase et al., 2004). However, in some circumstances, normally developing children and older adults may develop mirror movements to various degrees when a motor task is fatiguing, demanding and cognitive distractions occur (Beaule et al., 2012).

The amount of IHI is shown to be increased or decreased depending on the task. An increase in IHI is associated with greater inhibition of motor activity of the opposite hemisphere and suppressed mirror movements. For example, an individual writing or performing a sport with their right hand requires increased IHI, whereby the excitatory neurons from the corresponding left hemisphere travel via the transcallosal fibres of the corpus callosum and synapse on inhibitory neurons on the homotopic area of the right hemisphere (Berlucchi, 1990; Daskalakis et al., 2002; Ferbert et al., 1992; Perez & Cohen, 2008; Somogyi et al., 1998). Thus, the corpus callosum increases lateralisation of the left hemisphere, restricting motor output and suppressing mirror movements of the left hand. Conversely, decreased IHI may be required for a bimanual task such as playing a musical instrument requiring precise control of both hands. Table 1.8 summarises studies that have investigated IHI in unimanual and bimanual tasks.

In humans, IHI between M1s is involved in both the control of unimanual and bimanual coordination. The primary motor cortex is commonly investigated in IHI studies, and the functional role of IHI between M1s is discussed below.

1.5.1 Primary motor cortex

The primary motor cortex is located in the precentral gyrus within the frontal lobe and is involved in the planning, control, and execution of motor functions (Donoghue & Sanes, 1994). Initial research investigating the M1 hypothesised a somatotopic organisation of body parts including the face, arms, and legs, so that distinct regions of M1 control particular parts of the body. This somatotopic organisation was presented as the motor homunculus (Figure 1.13). However, research has increasingly shown that M1 representations of body parts overlap each other extensively (Donoghue & Sanes, 1994; Penfield & Boldrey, 1937). The ability of M1 to change structure, function and organisation is referred to as 'neuroplasticity' (Sanes & Donoghue, 2000). This is a lifelong process that can be adaptive or maladaptive. Investigations into M1 plasticity further clarify the role of IHI between M1s in unilateral and bilateral motor function.



Figure 1.13. The motor homunculus. Source https://brainmapper.org/science/

IHI in M1 during unilateral movement coordination

Interhemispheric inhibition plays an important role in the execution of skilled motor functions, particularly in unilateral movement where it is involved in suppressing unwanted mirror movements (Beaule et al., 2012). During a unilateral muscle contraction, IHI is shown to be increased from the active M1 (corresponding to the active muscle) to the M1 at rest (Ferbert et al., 1992; Hinder et al., 2010; Morishita et al., 2012; Perez & Cohen, 2008; K. Uehara et al., 2013; Vercauteren et al., 2008). For example, Perez and Cohen (2008) investigated the influence of unimanual force on IHI in 10 healthy right-handed participants. They demonstrated that contraction of the right forearm muscles at 10% and 70% maximal wrist extension force resulted in increased IHI from the M1 contralateral to the active forearm to the ipsilateral M1 contralateral to the limb at rest. However, when the size of the conditioned MEP was matched across conditions, although there was IHI, the magnitude of IHI decreased from

contralateral to ipsilateral M1 with increasing force levels. This finding is consistent with those of other studies where readjusting the conditioned MEP resulted in decreased IHI from contralateral to ipsilateral M1 in response to a unimanual contraction (Chen et al., 2003; Chiou et al., 2013; Perez & Cohen, 2008; Vercauteren et al., 2008). Interestingly, these findings may conflict with our understanding that IHI would increase during a unimanual task.

There are several reasons why a decrease in IHI may be observed during a unimanual contraction or other unimanual tasks. First, a decrease in IHI to ipsilateral M1 during a forceful isometric contraction may occur to partially support the corticomotor output of the contralateral M1 (Perez & Cohen, 2008). Second, decreased IHI may suggest that the unimanual task is complex or fatiguing, resulting in increased motor output to compensate and may consequently result in unwanted mirror movements in the hand at rest (Beaule et al., 2012). Last, intracortical mechanisms such as SICI and LICI interact with IHI. Investigations have found that IHI influences the magnitude of SICI and SICI is decreased in response to a unilateral muscle contraction of the upper limb, thought to be due to changes in IHI (Chiou et al., 2013; Perez & Cohen, 2008). Further, it has been shown that both SICI and LICI reduced short and long latency IHI (Lee et al., 2007). Taken together, these findings suggest that there is a more complex mechanism involving multiple circuits in unilateral movement that should be considered. Many of these studies investigate the effect of unilateral contractions on short latency IHI at 10 ms ISI only. It remains to be understood how adjustments of the CS may affect LIHI during a unimanual contraction and whether the behaviour of LIHI would differ to SIHI.

Performing a complex unimanual motor task elicits different responses in SIHI and LIHI. Increased SIHI has been demonstrated from the active to the resting M1 during a complex unimanual task (Morishita et al., 2012) and during a simple unimanual task (Ferbert et al., 1992; Hinder et al., 2010; Perez & Cohen, 2008; K. Uehara et al., 2013; Vercauteren et al., 2008). Morishita et al. (2014) explored the differences between SIHI and LIHI from the active to resting M1 during a complex unimanual task and confirmed an increase in SIHI, but demonstrated decreased LIHI. Similarly, Nelson et al. (2009) reported findings demonstrating decreased LIHI in response to isometric contraction of the index finger. This suggests the two phases of IHI could differ functionally and be elicited depending on the task complexity. Indeed, SIHI has been postulated to increase with increased muscle force output of limb movement (Perez & Cohen, 2008; K Uehara et al., 2013), whereas there is less evidence to suggest LIHI is related to unilateral task performance. While it seems that LIHI and SIHI have different functional roles and processes, further research is needed to provide a greater understanding of the functional differences of LIHI and SIHI during tasks with different complexities.

Whilst IHI is modulated during the execution of a unilateral task, the inconsistent findings of IHI in response to a unilateral movement task may be explained by the following methodological factors. First, the amount of IHI exerted between homologous areas of muscles may differ. For example, in animal studies, callosal connections are stronger in the midline and for proximal muscle representations than distal muscle representations (Iwamura, 2000; Iwamura et al., 2001). In humans, it has also been shown that the degree of IHI differs in representations of intrinsic hand muscles, thought to be due to a proximal-distal gradient (Sohn et al., 2003). In contrast, however, some studies suggest it is due to the role of the muscles in a functional movement synergy (Harris-Love et al., 2007). Second, task complexity such as complex vs simple tasks, or weak vs strong muscle contractions, could influence the degree of IHI. For example, studies demonstrate IHI was decreased bi-directionally (from active to resting M1 and vice versa) during muscle contraction of the hand muscle at 20% maximum voluntary contraction (MVC) (Nelson et al., 2009) compared to 5% of MVC, where an increase in IHI was demonstrated from active to resting M1 (Vercauteren et al., 2008).

Further, a complex unilateral motor task where participants completed a fine motor manipulation task found IHI markedly increased from the active to resting M1 (Morishita et al., 2014; Morishita et al., 2012), compared to unilateral simple motor tasks where IHI was slightly increased (Ferbert et al., 1992; Morishita et al., 2012), or decreased (Perez & Cohen, 2008). Last, the CS intensity setting, that is with or without adjusting CS intensity, may influence IHI. Readjusting CS intensity to the MEP amplitude when the muscle is at rest normalises the MEP amplitude to the increased corticospinal output caused by voluntary contraction. This results in smaller MEPs and maximum inhibition (Perez & Cohen, 2008; Sattler et al., 2012). The alternate method, where CS intensity is not adjusted, could result in larger MEP amplitudes due to voluntary contraction. However, it is argued that not adjusting CS intensity is a more accurate reflection of the amount of IHI from the contralateral to ipsilateral hemisphere (Perez & Cohen, 2008). Due to these methodological factors and reasons, the evidence to date remains inconclusive regarding findings of IHI in response to a unilateral movement task.

Investigations of IHI in movement execution demonstrate the role of IHI during different stages of movement. Prior to movement onset, increased IHI from the M1 contralateral to the hand in movement preparation is produced. As movement onset approaches, the amount of IHI decreases and turns into facilitation to allow movement to occur. In the opposite direction, the maximum amount of IHI contralateral to the hand at rest remains throughout the movement preparation phase to prevent unwanted mirror movements (Duque et al., 2005; Murase et al., 2004). Duque et al. (2007) investigated unilateral voluntary index finger movement in response to a GO signal of a reaction time paradigm in healthy individuals. This work revealed that IHI was exhibited at rest in both directions (from active to inactive M1 and vice versa), but during the finger movement task, IHI shifted predominately towards the ipsilateral M1 corresponding to the hand at rest. Meanwhile, IHI from the inactive to active M1 corresponding to the moving finger was increased closer to movement onset and changed to facilitation with movement onset. The modulation of IHI during movement and the coordination between hands suggests the importance of IHI for the accurate control of unilateral and bimanual movement coordination (Duque et al., 2007; Murase et al., 2004).

IHI between M1s during bimanual movement coordination

Interhemispheric inhibition also plays an important role in bimanual movement coordination. Despite numerous studies investigating IHI between M1s in unilateral tasks, the functional relevance of IHI in bimanual movement necessitates further examination. In bimanual movement coordination studies, two types of movements are investigated: i) in-phase, where bilateral homologous muscles activate synchronously e.g. clapping hands; and ii) anti-phase, where bilateral homologous muscle groups contract in an alternating fashion e.g. playing the piano (Liuzzi et al., 2011). It has been demonstrated that decreased IHI between M1s promotes simple bimanual movements that allow synchronous control of both hands (Liuzzi et al., 2011; Wahl et al., 2016), whereas increased IHI is related to poorer performance on a bimanual force production task (Fling et al., 2013). In older adults, the execution of bimanual tasks becomes slower and less accurate, believed to be related to the integrity of the fibres in the corpus callosum and increased IHI (Fling et al., 2013; Gooijers & Swinnen, 2014). A recent study by Morishita et al. (2022) investigated the role of IHI in an anti-phase bimanual movement task in healthy young and older adults. Interestingly, they found no differences in IHI between the groups, but the performance of bimanual movement and mirror movements differed between the groups. Notably, they demonstrated the behavioural relevance of SIHI on bimanual movement. Greater SIHI was associated with less amount of mirror activity in young adults and better performance of the anti-phase task, contributing to efficient bimanual movement coordination. Based on previous studies, bimanual coordination is dependent on IHI and disinhibition, and changes depending on the type of movement coordination e.g., in-phase and anti-phase.

The functional role of IHI between M1s is demonstrated to be important in the precision of unilateral tasks, to suppress unwanted mirror movements, and for bimanual control. However, there exist other cortical regions that are important in the transmission of IHI. One such region is the primary sensory cortex.

Author (year)	Ν	IHI Protocol	Task Protocol	Outcome Measure	Findings
Nelson et al. (2009)	15	Paired-pulse paradigm at 6, 8, 10, 12, 30, 40, 50 ms ISI from contralateral to ipsilateral M1 and vice versa	Unimanual isometric contraction of FDI muscle	MEP amplitude	Reduced IHI at all ISIs bi-directionally during isometric contraction
Vercauteren et al. (2008)	13	Paired-pulse paradigm at 10 ms ISI	Unilateral voluntary contraction of forearm muscles at 5% MVC	MEP amplitude	Increased IHI from active to resting M1 during muscle activation (decreased IHI when CS intensity matched)
Duque et al. (2007)	13	Paired-pulse paradigm at 10 ms ISI	Index finger movements in response to a RT paradigm	MEP amplitude	Increased IHI at movement preparation; Decreased IHI closer to movement onset
Perez and Cohen (2008)	10	Paired-pulse paradigm at 10 ms ISI	Wrist flexion at 10, 30, 70% force	MEP amplitude	IHI decreased at 30% and 70% force in the active hand; IHI increased in the rest hand
Chiou et al. (2013)	15	Paired-pulse paradigm at 10 ms ISI	Unilateral isometric contraction of the target muscle at 75% of MVC	MEP amplitude	Decreased IHI during the task ipsilateral to the moving limb compared to rest
Morishita et al. (2014)	13	Paired-pulse paradigm at 10 and 50 ms ISI from contralateral to ipsilateral M1	Fine-motor manipulation task and complex task	MEP amplitude	Increased SIHI and decreased LIHI during fine motor task

Table 1.8. A summary of studies examining IHI between M1s in response to motor movement in healthy individuals.

Gueugneau et al. (2013)	12	iSP paradigm from the left to right M1	Unilateral actual or mental actions with increasing complexity with the right hand	iSP duration; iSP area;	IHI increased with increasing complexity; iSP duration and area increased during actual and mental movements
Gerloff and Andres (2002)	18	Electroencephalography	Bimanual and unimanual finger tapping tasks	Task related relative coherence (TRCoh)	Interhemispheric TRCoh increased at early-stage bimanual coordination learning and decreased after 100% performance level was reached
Perez et al. (2014)	22	iSP paradigm from dominant to non- dominant M1	Unilateral and bilateral isometric voluntary contractions of biceps and triceps muscles	iSP onset, duration, depth, area	iSP depth and area increased during bilateral contractions of homologous agonist muscles but decreased with bilateral contraction of non- homologous muscles
Tazoe et al. (2013)	11	iSP paradigm of left M1 on muscle activity of the ipsilateral hand	Bimanual or unimanual force task of thumb abduction	Latency, duration, MEP amplitude, baseline EMG	IHI was unchanged with unimanual force compared to bimanual force

Note: N, sample size; CS, Conditioning Stimulus; FDI, First Dorsal Interosseous; MVC, Maximum Voluntary Contraction; MEP, Motor Evoked Potential; ISI, Interstimulus Interval; iSP, Ipsilateral Silent Period; IHI, Interhemispheric Inhibition; RT, Reaction Time; SIHI, Short Interhemispheric Inhibition; LIHI, Long Interhemispheric Inhibition; EMG, Electromyography; M1, Primary Motor Cortex; ms, millisecond.

1.5.2 The primary sensory cortex

The primary sensory cortex is part of the somatosensory system located in the parietal lobe that receives information such as pressure, vibration, movement, temperature, and the sensory-discriminative aspect of pain (Raju & Tadi, 2021; Schnitzler & Ploner, 2000). This information is projected to the opposite S1 via transcallosal connections allowing for interhemispheric interactions between cortices (Hlushchuk & Hari, 2006; Lipton et al., 2006).

Callosal connections between S1s were first demonstrated in animal studies of primates. Early studies showed that S1 callosal connections were limited to the representation of the midline including the trunk, face and head (Manzoni et al., 1980; Manzoni et al., 1989). Studies extending these findings showed that callosal connections are not restricted to the midline and include the extremities. Activation of bilateral receptive fields of the finger, forearm, foot and leg regions in the caudal end of S1 in monkeys confirmed this (Iwamura, 2000; Iwamura et al., 2001).

The density of callosal connections between cytoarchitectonic regions of S1 varies and determines the strength of connection between S1 regions (Killackey et al., 1983). In monkeys, area 2 of S1 has the densest connections compared to area 1, which has less connections, and area 3b has the least callosal connections (Killackey et al., 1983). It has also been demonstrated that callosal connections for representations of body regions differ. For example, the face and trunk representations have denser callosal connections than the hand and foot (Iwamura, 2000; Iwamura et al., 2001; Killackey et al., 1983). This information is of importance when trying to understand the transfer and integration of information from body regions and in understanding unimanual and bimanual coordination. Despite this valuable information, these findings are derived from research based on 4 - 6 monkeys only, which pose limitation issues such as reproducibility and skewing of the results. Although the translation of animal study findings to

humans can be limited, the findings provide a platform for exploring concepts in human studies. Several human studies support the findings from primate studies that demonstrate bilateral connectivity between S1s.

Interhemispheric inhibition between S1s

Interhemispheric inhibition in humans occurs between area 3b of S1 via transcallosal fibres (Brodie et al., 2014; Fling et al., 2013; Ragert et al., 2011). Despite research suggesting that transcallosal connections from area 3b of S1 are few, they are effective in the IHI mechanism (Iwamura et al., 2001). Studies investigating the involvement of interneurons in the S1 IHI pathway suggest the involvement of GABA_B receptors. Palmer et al. (2012) demonstrated in rats the application of the GABA_B receptor agonist to the S1 decreased IHI following electrical stimulation from the ipsilateral to the contralateral hind paw. The effect of the GABA_B agonist strongly suggests IHI is mediated by GABA_B receptors. Similarly, Kokinovic and Medini (2018) also demonstrated GABA_B mediated IHI in a stroke model in mice. Under normal conditions, one S1 inhibited the opposite S1 via activation of GABA_B receptors. However, following stroke in S1, GABA_B mediated IHI was not detectable. Taken together, these studies suggest IHI between S1s is mediated by GABA_B receptors. More recently, EEG studies in healthy humans have aimed to characterise interhemispheric interactions between S1s in response to a paired median nerve sensory evoked potential paradigm (Brodie et al., 2014; Ragert et al., 2011). These studies demonstrate IHI between S1s and are discussed below.

Interhemispheric inhibition between S1s using the PMNSEP protocol

Interhemispheric inhibitory interactions between S1s have been investigated in healthy humans. Two pioneering studies in this field were published by Ragert et al. (2011) and Brodie et al. (2014) that investigated whether interhemispheric interactions between S1s were inhibitory or excitatory. These studies also aimed to determine the time window of the transfer

of sensory information between S1s. Using the PMNSEP protocol in healthy participants while at rest, Ragert et al. (2011) investigated interhemispheric interactions from the right to the left S1 at ISIs of 5 - 30 ms and compared the ISIs to a test stimulus (TS) alone control condition. Their findings showed that interhemispheric interactions between S1s are inhibitory. Further, they demonstrated that when a conditioning stimulus (CS) is applied to the median nerve 20 -25 ms preceding a test stimulus, the N₂₀ component is inhibited relative to a test stimulus alone control condition. As the N₂₀ component is of cortical origin and reflects early processing in S1, this shows that IHI occurs at an early stage of cortical processing in S1. These findings demonstrate that in a healthy cohort, IHI occurs from the right to left S1 at 20 - 25 ms ISIs.

Brodie et al. (2014) extended the research of Ragert et al. (2011) on IHI between S1s. They sought to confirm the robustness of the PMNSEP protocol by examining IHI in the opposite direction i.e., from the left to the right S1, in healthy participants at rest. Their findings demonstrated that a CS applied to the right median nerve preceding the TS at the left median nerve inhibited the P_{14}/N_{20} component at shorter ISIs (15, 20 ms) and inhibited the N_{20}/P_{25} component at both long and short ISI intervals (15, 20, 25, 30, 35 ms). No changes were found at longer latency SEP components. These results demonstrate that IHI occurring from the left to right S1 occurs at a cortical origin but may also be mediated by the thalamus, as indicated by inhibition of the P_{14} component.

Brodie et al. (2014) confirmed the PMNSEP protocol is a robust method to investigate interhemispheric interactions between S1s. Their findings extended that of Ragert et al. (2011) by demonstrating IHI between S1s in the opposite direction (from left to right S1) while also finding inhibition of the N_{20}/P_{25} component between 15 - 35 ms ISIs. This extension of findings may be attributed to slight methodology differences between studies. First, despite both studies using the PMNSEP protocol, Brodie et al. (2014) used a 0 ms ISI control condition whereby electrical stimuli were applied to the right and left median nerves simultaneously, as
opposed to using a TS alone condition. This condition was included to control for differences in directed attention to electrical stimulation, which has been shown to alter sensory processing by equally dividing attention between the two hands (García-Larrea et al., 1991). Additionally, both studies increased electrical stimulation to produce a thumb twitch, however Brodie et al. (2014) controlled this twitch by increasing the intensity to $\sim 1 \text{ mV}$ and adjusted the intensity throughout the experiment to maintain muscle twitch. As individuals may habituate to the stimulus during the experiment, this method ensures that a muscle twitch is present, and the intensity of electrical stimulation is adjusted to account for habituation. A further difference between studies is the range of ISIs investigated. Ragert et al. (2011) included earlier ISIs of 5 and 10 ms, whereas Brodie et al. (2014) included a later ISI of 35 ms in which the P_{14}/N_{20} component was inhibited. If longer ISIs were included in both studies, inhibition of longlatency SEPs may have been observed. Finally, both studies investigated IHI between S1s in different directions. Research shows that IHI is stronger from the dominant to non-dominant hemisphere (Netz et al., 1995). As Brodie et al. (2014) investigated IHI from dominant to nondominant S1, this may further explain why they demonstrated inhibition of two SEP components as opposed to one by Ragert et al. (2011). In summary, the PMNSEP protocol provides an avenue to assess IHI between S1s via EEG in healthy individuals (Brodie et al., 2014; Ragert et al., 2011). These interhemispheric connections are important in processing sensory input for efficient motor processes.

S1 IHI in unilateral and bilateral motor execution

Unimanual and bimanual hand coordination is a skill that involves the functional coupling between sensorimotor areas. Neuroimaging and electrophysiological studies in monkeys (Lipton et al., 2006) and in humans (Brodie et al., 2014; Hlushchuk & Hari, 2006; Ragert et al., 2011) demonstrate, similarly to the M1 system, that unilateral peripheral hand stimulation (tactile, electrical) increases activation in contralateral S1 and suppresses ipsilateral S1,

characterised by decreased cortical activation or inhibited SEPs. For example, Hlushchuk and Hari (2006) demonstrated in healthy human participants that the contralateral as well as ipsilateral S1 was activated in response to unilateral tactile stimulation. Specifically, the ipsilateral S1 were deactivated to allow for better processing of sensory information such as texture and touch recognition. The mechanism underlying the transfer of sensory information is suggested to be IHI (Brodie et al., 2014; Ragert et al., 2011). This suppression of ipsilateral S1 has been demonstrated to correlate with an increased threshold of stimulus perception of the opposite unstimulated hand, reflecting functionally effective inhibition (Kastrup et al., 2008).

Interhemispheric interactions between S1s have been implicated in the precise timing and execution of bimanual movements. Andres et al. (1999) investigated functional coupling of S1s in asynchronous bimanual coordinated movements via EEG in healthy subjects. The authors demonstrated increased interhemispheric coherence between sensorimotor areas in the early phase of bimanual learning, but this reduced when bimanual performance stabilised. This is thought to be important in the early phase of bimanual integration and learning a new bimanual task. When learning new bimanual tasks or skills, the role of IHI suppresses mirror movements and pre-existing bimanual coordination tendencies to allow for the development of new bimanual coordination tasks. Once the new bimanual task is established, the level of IHI decreases while still maintaining bimanual coordination. It is evident that transcallosal signals not only convey motor information, but also sensory information to control asynchronous bimanual movements, as well as for simple unimanual movements (Geffen et al., 1994).

The role of ipsilateral S1 in sensory gating

For smooth execution of motor tasks in humans, the somatosensory system inhibits or reduces sensory input from the contralateral side of the body through a process called 'sensory gating'. This is a dynamic process between sensory input and motor output that requires inhibitory processes at the level of the somatosensory system (Borich et al., 2015). Sensory gating involves regulating the amount of sensory input to the brain by filtering irrelevant sensory signals or information that are not contributing to the task at hand (Freedman et al., 1987). First, sensory information activates sensory pathways in the peripheral nervous system (Seki & Fetz, 2012). The sensory information is then gated in the afferent pathway before it reaches the somatosensory cortex. When the filtered sensory information is sent to the somatosensory system, the motor output or execution of a movement task will be performed smoothly as only relevant information to the task at hand is processed (Borich et al., 2015; Perruchoud et al., 2014; Seki & Fetz, 2012).

Research suggests that sensory gating occurs in the hemisphere contralateral to the side of the body executing the movement (Borich et al., 2015). However, more recent research identifies that the ipsilateral S1 also has an important role in gating somatosensory information and that IHI mediates the process of gating (Borich et al., 2015; Lei & Perez, 2017; Perez & Cohen, 2008; Ragert et al., 2011). For example, Lei and Perez (2017) demonstrated during a unilateral voluntary activity performed by the right hand in healthy participants, the P_{25}/N_{33} component decreased from the left to right S1 (i.e., inhibition in ipsilateral S1) compared to the resting condition. The authors suggested that dense callosal connections mediated inhibition between S1s with IHI likely playing a key role. This highlights the importance of both somatosensory cortices in executing a motor task, whereby the ipsilateral S1 inhibits somatosensory information to the opposite limb, suppressing mirror movements of the hand at rest.

Methodological considerations in the functional role of S1 IHI

The functional role of S1 IHI described above provides valuable insight into the importance of IHI and ipsilateral S1 suppression in bimanual and unimanual movement, and sensory gating. However, several methodological limitations impact the integrity of the findings of these studies. First, many of the studies investigating S1 IHI have small sample sizes with no a priori power calculations of the primary hypothesis provided (Andres et al., 1999; Hlushchuk & Hari, 2006; Lei & Perez, 2017). Sample size calculations determine the smallest scientifically and meaningful effect size (Jones et al., 2003). Studies that do not provide sample size calculations may not be powered to detect differences in outcomes or in contrast may detect differences that are not present (type 1 error), thus affecting the validity of reported significance (Bacchetti, 2010; Button et al., 2013). Further, the motor tasks employed in these studies differ in difficulty, which may produce differential activation of cortical regions and activation of different sets of sensory fibres, making comparisons between findings difficult. For example, difficult cognitive-motor tasks require increased neural effort, demonstrated by increased activation and networking in motor planning and sensory areas (Rietschel et al., 2012), compared to relatively easier tasks. In other studies, long latency IHI is decreased during a complex unimanual task compared to a simple unimanual task (Morishita et al., 2014; Nelson et al., 2009). Despite these limitations, the combined findings provide important information of the functional role of IHI in normal sensorimotor control in healthy participants.

In summary, this section has reviewed the literature on the functional role of IHI in primary motor and sensory cortices. The functional role of IHI in unimanual and bimanual motor tasks in healthy humans has been identified. However, comparatively there is relatively little known about IHI between the M1s and S1s in individuals with pathology and those experiencing pain. The following section synthesises and reviews the literature on IHI in individuals with pathology.

1.6 Interhemispheric inhibition in pathological conditions

The previous section highlighted a multitude of studies exploring IHI in the healthy human brain. Fewer, though an important number of studies have investigated IHI between M1s in pathological conditions. These studies have examined participants with a range of conditions including focal hand dystonia, stroke and CRPS. Findings suggest impaired IHI may be implicated in the pathophysiology of these conditions and contribute to bilateral sensorimotor impairment. The following sections explore M1 and S1 IHI in pathological conditions.

1.6.1. M1 IHI in pathological conditions

Mirror dystonia is a clinical phenomenon that occurs in some individuals with focal hand dystonia (FHD), a condition characterised by excessive, involuntary muscle contractions in the fingers, hand, forearm, and sometimes shoulder. Mirror dystonia is a movement disorder that impairs control of the homologous muscles of the affected hand during specific tasks performed by the unaffected hand such as writing (Albanese et al., 2013; Fahn et al., 1998; Sitburana & Jankovic, 2008). Research suggests that the M1 contralateral to the dystonia affected hand exhibits reduced cortical inhibition and that GABA concentrations in the sensorimotor cortex are reduced (Berardelli et al., 1998; Levy & Hallett, 2002; Niehaus et al., 2001). However, IHI has also been suggested to play a role in the pathophysiology of FHD (Baumer et al., 2016; Beck et al., 2009; Nelson et al., 2010; Niehaus et al., 2001; Sattler et al., 2014).

Several investigations have examined M1 IHI in dystonia and elicited varying findings. A summary of these studies and findings are presented in Table 1.9. Beck et al. (2009) investigated IHI using the paired-pulse paradigm at a 10 ms ISI from the unaffected to affected M1 in 13 individuals with FHD (mean \pm SD history of FHD 13 \pm 10 years). The participant sample comprised 7 individuals with mirror dystonia and 6 individuals without mirror dystonia who were assessed while performing a motor task of the right index finger. The findings

showed in those individuals with FHD that have mirror dystonia, IHI was reduced from the unaffected to affected hemisphere, contralateral to the homologous muscles of the right index finger, in the pre-motor phase 50 ms before EMG onset. The authors concluded that IHI is impaired in individuals with FHD that have mirror dystonia, but IHI may not play a major role in the general pathophysiology of FHD as abnormal IHI was not found in FHD individuals without mirror dystonia.

Impaired IHI in FHD has also been demonstrated in the opposite direction i.e., from the affected to unaffected hemisphere. Sattler et al. (2014) investigated SIHI and LIHI at 10 and 40 ms respectively in individuals with FHD that had and did not have mirror dystonia (mean \pm SD, history of symptoms 18 ± 16 years) and compared them to healthy controls. Interhemispheric inhibition was measured in both directions (from the hemisphere contralateral to the affected hand to the opposite hemisphere and vice versa). Their findings demonstrated that SIHI and LIHI were reduced in both directions when at rest, and during isometric muscle contraction, in individuals with FHD that had mirror dystonia. In contrast, no change in IHI was observed in individuals with FHD without mirror dystonia and healthy controls. This finding has also been demonstrated in individuals with writer's cramp when IHI was investigated using the iSP method. The duration of the iSP for the uninvolved muscles was found to be prolonged, suggesting decreased inhibition (Niehaus et al., 2001). These findings contrast with Nelson et al. (2010) who demonstrated no change in IHI in the unaffected hand, while demonstrating reduced SIHI and LIHI in the dystonia affected hand (from right to left M1) at rest, but not while holding a pen at 20% maximum voluntary contraction. This contrast in findings of IHI from the affected to unaffected M1 could be largely due to whether participants displayed mirror dystonia. Thus, the differences observed in results are likely due to differences in the populations examined. Sattler et al. (2014) recruited individuals with FHD that did and did not demonstrate mirror dystonia and demonstrated differences in IHI only in individuals that had

mirror dystonia, whereas Nelson et al. (2010) recruited individuals with FHD that did not have mirror dystonia. Other methodological discrepancies such as a larger sample size, longer symptom duration in years, higher symptom severity on the Writer's Cramp Rating Scale in the Sattler et al. (2014) study and different muscles assessed compared to Nelson et al. (2010) likely contribute to the contrasting findings between these studies.

Interestingly, Baumer et al. (2016) investigated whether a family history of dystonia could be a genetic marker for developing dystonia and if it is associated with reduced IHI. Among other factors, they found that a family history of dystonia significantly affected the degree of IHI, but dystonia per se did not influence IHI. This may be because the individuals with dystonia in this study did not have mirror movements, whereas in the previous studies mentioned above, IHI was altered in individuals who had FHD with mirror movements. Further, a case study of writer's cramp by Merello et al. (2006) demonstrated bilateral activation of motor areas contralateral to the hand with mirror movements, also suggesting that mirror movements are mediated by altered IHI. When combined, these findings support the theory that impaired IHI plays a role in the pathophysiology of focal hand dystonia when accompanied with mirror movements. In summary, both SIHI and LIHI have been found to be decreased in both directions from the affected hemisphere to the unaffected hemisphere, and vice versa. Reduced IHI at the unaffected side of the body in patients with mirror dystonia could suggest that IHI mediates the development of bilateral sensorimotor dysfunction.

Study (year)	Ν	Diagnosis	Test protocol	Outcome	Finding
				measure	
Butefisch et al. (2003)	13†	Stroke	Paired-pulse TMS from the stroke affected to the non-affected hemisphere	MEP amplitude	\downarrow IHI, facilitation of the non-affected M1
Murase et al. (2004)	9*	Stroke	Paired-pulse IHI from the healthy hemisphere to the stroke affected hemisphere at rest and preceding unilateral finger movement	MEP amplitude	↓ IHI preceding finger movement
Duque et al. (2005)	8†	Stroke	Paired-pulse IHI from the healthy to stroke affected hemisphere and vice versa	MEP amplitude	Abnormally ↑ IHI from healthy to stroke affected hemisphere pre-movement of finger task. IHI in the opposite direction was comparable to healthy controls.
Takechi et al. (2014)	24†	Stroke	Ipsilateral silent period induced by TMS from the un-affected to stroke affected hemisphere and vice versa	Silent period EMG duration	Abnormally ↑ IHI from unaffected to stroke affected hemisphere; inconclusive IHI result from in the opposite direction
Beck et al. (2009)	7;6†	FHD +; FHD -	Paired-pulse TMS from the non-affected to the dystonia affected hemisphere	MEP amplitude	\downarrow IHI in the premotor phase in FDI and APB muscles
Sattler et al. (2014)	9; 7†	FHD +; FHD -	Paired-pulse TMS, SIHI and LIHI from the dystonia affected hemisphere to non-affected hemisphere at rest and holding a pen	MEP amplitude	↓ SIHI and LIHI in both directions at rest and during holding a pen
Nelson et al. (2010)	7†	FHD -	Paired-pulse TMS, SIHI and LIHI in both directions at rest and holding a pen	MEP amplitude	↓ IHI was reduced in the dystonia affected hand (IHI from the right to the left) at SIHI and LIHI compared to the unaffected hand.
Baumer et al. (2016)	21; 15 *	Musicians Hand Dystonia; Sporadic WC	Paired-pulse paradigm from right to left M1 and vice versa at 6, 7, 8, 9, and 10 ms ISI at rest	MEP amplitude	Family history of dystonia is a factor on modulating IHI. IHI significantly differed between sporadic musicians hand dystonia with reduced IHI and healthy first-degree family members
Niehaus et al. (2001)	11;14 *	Simple WC; dystonic WC	iSP with coil over the left hand representation area ipsilateral to the left FDI muscle contraction	Latency (ms)	Latency of transcallosal inhibition was longer compared to healthy controls

Table 1.9. A summary of investigations and findings from examination of IHI between M1s in pathological conditions.

Note: * denotes age and gender matched healthy controls; \dagger denotes age matched; FHD +, focal hand dystonia with mirror movements; FHD -, focal hand dystonia with no mirror movements; WC, writer's cramp; TMS, transcranial magnetic stimulation; IHI, interhemispheric inhibition; SIHI, short-latency interhemispheric inhibition; LIHI, long-latency interhemispheric inhibition; M1, primary motor cortex; MEP, motor evoked amplitude; FDI, first dorsal interosseous; APB, abductor pollicis brevis; ms, millisecond; \downarrow = reduced; \uparrow = increased;

Stroke, including chronic, subcortical, and acute forms is another pathological condition in which IHI has been investigated (Duque et al., 2005; Liepert et al., 2000; Murase et al., 2004; Shimizu et al., 2002; Takechi et al., 2014; Traversa et al., 1998). Stroke occurs when blood supply to part of the brain is disrupted and can lead to long term disability with significant loss of function known as paresis (National Health Service, 2019). Following stroke, cortical reorganisation and plasticity occur in regions immediate and distant to the stroke site in the same and opposite hemisphere (Dancause et al., 2005; Frost et al., 2003). Studies investigating individuals with stroke have shown that movements of the paretic hand involve widespread changes in brain activation in the affected and unaffected hemisphere compared to controls performing the same motor task (Krakauer, 2005). Hence, the presence of increased activity in the healthy hemisphere suggests an imbalance of IHI between the two cortical hemispheres (Liepert et al., 2000; Niehaus et al., 2003; Shimizu et al., 2002).

Consistent findings among studies of IHI in stroke suggest IHI is impaired and negatively affects rehabilitation of the paretic arm (Duque et al., 2005; Murase et al., 2007; Takeuchi et al., 2010). For example, Murase et al. (2004) investigated IHI from the healthy hemisphere to the stroke affected hemisphere in nine participants with chronic stroke (mean \pm SD stroke history 4.8 \pm 3.3 years) and eight age-and gender matched healthy controls. The authors evaluated IHI at 10 ms ISI at the onset of voluntary movement in the paretic hand of patients and the matched hand of controls. The results showed IHI was comparable at rest between the two groups, but where IHI turned to facilitation in the healthy control group, IHI did not change preceding movement in the stroke group. This finding demonstrates excessive IHI from the healthy hemisphere to the stroke affected hemisphere, which correlated with the magnitude of motor deficits of the paretic hand of the stroke group. These deficits included lower performance on the movement task and low scores on a muscle strength scale.

Similar impairments in IHI in chronic stroke were observed by Duque et al. (2005). They studied IHI in movements of the paretic and non-paretic hands in response to a movement task in eight individuals with stroke (mean \pm SD history of stroke 3 \pm 2.1 years) and eight aged matched healthy controls. The results revealed that the paretic hand of the patient group was slower during the movement task compared to the unaffected hand and compared to controls. The authors also reported abnormally increased IHI from the healthy hemisphere to the stroke affected hemisphere in the movement of the paretic hand compared to the healthy hand. When combined, the results of these studies suggest that excessive IHI from the healthy to stroke affected hemisphere contributes to the motor deficits of the paretic hand in individuals with stroke, which is consistent with other studies (Grefkes et al., 2008; Takeuchi et al., 2010).

A meta-analysis by McDonnell and Stinear (2017) suggests that there is no clear evidence in stroke for IHI imbalance and do not support the theory of excessive IHI from the healthy hemisphere to stroke affected hemisphere. However, they deemed only seven studies on IHI in stroke to be eligible for inclusion in the analysis. Despite applying robust inclusion criteria, their study was confounded by heterogeneity issues between studies. This was primarily due to the use of two different techniques in measuring IHI, where four studies measured the iSP duration and three studies used a paired-pulse technique. Further, the stage of stroke investigated differed among studies with both acute or chronic stage of stroke participants investigated, and the mostly small sample sizes were not comparable. To date, a lack of studies and poor heterogeneity of research design limits the undertaking of quality meta-analysis of IHI in pathological conditions. Despite this, the current literature investigating IHI in stroke suggests there may be some modulation in IHI, with further studies required to empirically confirm this.

1.6.2. S1 IHI in pathological populations

Studies investigating IHI in healthy humans is available in M1 and some studies are available in pathological conditions. In contrast, there is less information on IHI between S1s in healthy individuals and relatively little data in people with a pathological condition. A few studies, however, demonstrate bilateral S1 modulation and suggest that IHI may have a role to play in the pathophysiology of these conditions.

Complex regional pain syndrome (CRPS) is associated with autonomic, sensory and perceptual problems, but the main characteristic is pain (Moseley et al., 2012). Studies in CRPS have consistently reported that the S1 representation of the CRPS-affected hand is smaller than the S1 representation of the unaffected hand, as identified in the systematic review by Di Pietro et al. (2013). However, subsequent research by Di Pietro et al. (2015) demonstrated that the S1 representation of the unaffected hand is larger than that of the corresponding S1 hand representation of healthy controls, suggesting that the representation of the CRPS-affected hand is not smaller, but rather, is larger. This suggests that the ipsilateral S1 is involved and modulated in CRPS, similarly to poor recovery in stroke due to maladaptive reorganisation of the unaffected hemisphere mediated by IHI (Murase et al., 2004). Di Pietro et al. (2016) conducted a further study to examine if the enlargement of the S1 representation of the unaffected hand was associated with the severity of functional impairment of the CRPS affected hand and pain duration. Participants completed self-reported questionnaires about use of the CRPS-affected hand and overall function. The authors found no associations between the unaffected hand and interactions between the affected hand and overall function or pain duration. They suggested that rather than the enlargement of S1 of the unaffected hand being a compensatory mechanism, interhemispheric differences may exist before the CRPS condition is developed. However, EMG recordings of the limb contralateral to the CRPS-affected side oppose the theory of disinhibition of muscles of the contralateral limb. Bank et al. (2014)

investigated mirror movements of the limb contralateral to the side with CRPS and demonstrated no disinhibition of contralateral motor activity of homologous muscles during unimanual movement. They suggest that central mechanisms, rather than interhemispheric mechanisms, are involved in CRPS of the affected hand. However, heterogeneity in the research methodologies of the CRPS studies make it difficult to draw a conclusion on S1 IHI in pathological conditions.

Summary

Although there are relatively few studies examining IHI between M1s and S1s in pathological conditions, a number of conclusions can be drawn. Despite small sample sizes and heterogeneity between some studies, there are consistent reports of impaired IHI between M1s in pathological conditions. When combined, the studies discussed above also suggest that impaired IHI could be associated with the development of somatosensory symptoms of the unaffected side of the body. Further, several investigations suggest that bilateral S1 is affected in unilateral chronic pain conditions, and this may be related to impaired IHI. This impairment could be associated with mirror movements of the unaffected hand. Therefore, IHI is a plausible mechanism that may explain bilateral sensorimotor dysfunction in these pathological conditions.

As bilateral sensorimotor symptoms are also observed in LE, it is possible that a similar maladaptive IHI response occurs to that observed in stroke, FHD and CRPS. That is, impaired IHI between M1s and S1s may underpin the development of bilateral sensorimotor dysfunction in unilateral LE and other musculoskeletal conditions. However, this hypothesis is yet to be investigated. A thorough search of the literature has found that to date, no study has examined how IHI may influence the development of bilateral sensorimotor dysfunction in unilateral musculoskeletal conditions.

1.7 Interhemispheric inhibition and musculoskeletal pain

As discussed in section 1.6, IHI may potentially be implicated in the development of bilateral motor control deficits of the pathological conditions discussed. However, it is unclear what role IHI has in the development of bilateral sensorimotor dysfunction in unilateral musculoskeletal pain conditions. It is understood that intracortical neuroplastic changes occur in chronic musculoskeletal conditions such as increased LICI (Chang et al., 2018), so it may be possible that interhemispheric changes also occur. The following section discusses impaired IHI in musculoskeletal pain conditions and explores the potential role of IHI in such conditions.

1.7.1 Altered IHI between M1s during sustained musculoskeletal pain

Following an extensive review of the literature, only one study has explored IHI between M1s in musculoskeletal pain. Schabrun et al. (2016) investigated IHI between M1s in response to experimentally induced sustained pain. The authors injected nerve growth factor into the right ECRB muscle at day 0 and 2 to induce muscle soreness over multiple days. Neurophysiological measures including short and long latency IHI from the left M1 (corresponding to the painful muscle) to the right M1 (corresponding to the non-painful muscle) were assessed. Quantitative sensory and motor testing including pressure pain thresholds over the painful and non-painful muscles were assessed prior to the injection at day 0 and then on days 2, 4, and 14. The findings demonstrated that pressure pain sensitivity increased in the painful muscle at days 2 and 4 compared to day 0, and interestingly, in the non-painful muscle at day 4 compared with day 0. Short and long latency IHI was reduced from the left to the right M1 at day 4. This reduction in IHI was associated with reduced PPTs in the left (non-painful) muscle across all time-points. When IHI was assessed in the opposite direction (from right to left M1), no change in IHI was observed. These findings provide evidence that IHI may be altered in response to musculoskeletal pain and that this may explain the development of bilateral sensorimotor dysfunction in unilateral conditions. The study by Schabrun et al. (2016) provides insight into IHI during sustained pain, however there are no studies investigating IHI in the acute or chronic phases of musculoskeletal pain. It is important that all these stages of pain are assessed to fully understand if and when IHI is modulated, and whether it occurs immediately following an injury or in the transition to sustained pain. Further, due to the absence of empirical investigation, it is currently not known whether IHI continues to change as pain becomes chronic or returns to normal function.

1.8 Summary of literature review

In summary, this literature review presented and discussed musculoskeletal pain and IHI. Musculoskeletal pain was discussed as a pertinent issue in the general population with some individuals that have unilateral musculoskeletal pain presenting with bilateral sensorimotor dysfunction. Lateral epicondylalgia was identified as a type of musculoskeletal condition presenting with this phenomenon and the pathophysiology of three interrelated components associated with LE was discussed. However, this review identified that there is currently little clarity around the underlying mechanism that leads to the development of bilateral sensorimotor dysfunction, but there are preliminary suggestions that the CNS may be involved. It was suggested that investigation of interactions and connectivity between cortical hemispheres may provide an explanation to the development of bilateral sensorimotor dysfunction. Specifically, IHI may be a relevant neurophysiological mechanism that could mediate the development of bilateral sensorimotor dysfunction in unilateral musculoskeletal pain conditions.

Further, the review discussed the anatomical and physiological components of the IHI mechanism and the role of the corpus callosum in IHI by reviewing early studies of animals and humans. It was demonstrated through callosotomy studies, the importance of the corpus callosum in interhemispheric facilitation and inhibition of information to the opposite

hemisphere to allow unilateral and bilateral processing of information. This was followed by a review of more modern methodological techniques of assessing IHI in humans using TMS and EEG. It was determined the paired-pulse paradigm is the more appropriate method of assessment for investigating IHI between the M1s using TMS compared to the iSP method.

The functional role of IHI in M1 and S1 was discussed and identified that IHI is important in the execution of unimanual and bimanual motor tasks as well as suppression of mirror movements. Lastly, the literature review demonstrated IHI is modulated in pathological conditions such as stroke, FHD and CRPS, and this is related to mirror movements and bilateral deficits. However, critical evidence is lacking regarding the effect of IHI in musculoskeletal pain conditions, specifically, why bilateral sensorimotor dysfunction develops in unilateral musculoskeletal conditions. As bilateral symptoms are observed in individuals with chronic musculoskeletal pain such as LE, similar to clinical presentations of pathological conditions, it is possible that IHI is impaired in musculoskeletal pain. Hence, three studies were conducted in this thesis to investigate the knowledge gaps identified in the literature review. The following aims for each study are presented in the next section.

1.9 Thesis aims and study rationales

The overarching aim of this thesis was to investigate the role of IHI in the development of bilateral sensorimotor dysfunction in unilateral musculoskeletal conditions. We aimed to determine whether: i) IHI is altered in response to unilateral musculoskeletal pain; and ii) a relationship exists between altered IHI (if any) and the development of bilateral sensorimotor dysfunction. This was achieved via a series of studies using an experimental pain model to investigate IHI in M1 and S1, and a clinical population with chronic musculoskeletal pain.

1.9.1 Study one

Most studies investigating IHI in M1 have been in healthy individuals (Section 1.5) or in neurological populations (Section 1.6). Only one study has investigated IHI between M1s in response to musculoskeletal pain, with this study using an experimentally induced sustained muscle pain model (Section 1.7). Ideally, studies investigating IHI would assess participants pre-injury and pain to allow post-pain comparison and examination of the effect of injury and pain on IHI. However, because individuals are only identified once injury and pain is experienced, it is difficult to obtain this data in a clinical pain population. Experimental pain models provide a solution to this problem allowing the assessment of pain on cortical measures. Therefore, the aim of Study one (Chapter two) was to: i) investigate whether IHI between M1s is altered in response to experimentally induced unilateral acute muscle pain; and ii) determine the relationship between altered IHI and bilateral sensorimotor development. This was achieved by conducting a cross-sectional study on healthy individuals where hypertonic saline was injected to induce acute muscle pain. IHI was measured from the affected to the unaffected M1 before pain, immediately after pain resolution, and 30 mins following pain resolution. To further explore IHI during acute muscle pain, participants completed a questionnaire on the pain intensity and quality of the pain. Muscle sensitivity was assessed by pressure pain thresholds before pain induction and 30 mins after pain resolution.

1.9.2 Study two

The role of the primary sensory cortex has been explored in pain research. Changes between hemispheres have been recognised in conditions such as CRPS where the S1 cortical representation hemisphere of the unaffected limb is larger than the S1 cortical representation of the CRPS-affected limb with sensory dysfunction present in both the affected and unaffected limb (Di Pietro et al., 2015). However, it remains to be understood how IHI between S1s responds to tactile and sensory information in musculoskeletal pain. Therefore, Study two (Chapter three) aimed to: i) investigate whether IHI between S1s is altered in response to experimentally induced acute unilateral muscle pain in healthy individuals; and ii) investigate the relationship between altered IHI and bilateral sensorimotor dysfunction. This was achieved using EEG to measure sensory evoked potentials in response to acute muscle pain induced by injection of hypertonic saline. Sensory evoked potentials were recorded before pain, immediately after pain resolution, and 30 mins following pain resolution. Pain intensity and mechanical sensitivity were recorded to determine if a relationship existed between altered IHI (if found) and the pain profile of participants.

1.9.3 Study three

Previous research has demonstrated that primary motor cortex structural and functional organisation is altered in chronic musculoskeletal pain. Intracortical mechanisms have been thoroughly investigated demonstrating reduced intracortical inhibition within a single cortical hemisphere. However, inhibitory interactions between hemispheres have not been explored with no study having explored IHI between M1s in chronic musculoskeletal pain. Therefore, Study three (Chapter four) aimed to investigate whether IHI between M1s is altered in individuals with chronic lateral epicondylalgia compared to pain-free healthy controls. A TMS double-pulse paradigm was used to assess IHI at different conditioning intensities in individuals with chronic lateral epicondylalgia and pain free healthy controls.

CHAPTER 1	
-----------	--

Introduction and Literature review

CHAPTER 2

IHI between primary motor cortices

in response to acute muscle pain

CHAPTER 3	IHI between primary sensory cortices in response to acute			
	muscle pain			
CHAPTER 4	IHI between primary motor cortices in individuals with lateral			
	epicondylalgia			
CHAPTER 5	Discussion and Conclusion			

CHAPTER 2

IHI BETWEEN PRIMARY MOTOR CORTICES IN RESPONSE TO ACUTE MUSCLE PAIN

The work presented within this chapter has been published in The Journal of Pain as per the following reference:

Alhassani, G., Liston M.B., Schabrun S.M. (2019). Interhemispheric Inhibition Is Reduced in Response to Acute Muscle Pain: A Cross-Sectional Study Using Transcranial Magnetic Stimulation. *The Journal of Pain*, *20(9)*, 1091-1099.

The final publication is available online at www.jpain.org and www.sciencedirect.com. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jpain.2019.03.007

The full text version of the article presented in the journal's formatting style is presented in Appendix A.

G.A and S.S. conceptualised and designed the study. G.A. collected and analysed the data, interpreted the results and drafted the manuscript with input from M.L., and S.S. All authors discussed the results, commented on the manuscript and approved the final version.

2.1 Abstract

Bilateral deficits in sensorimotor function have been observed in unilateral musculoskeletal pain conditions. Evidence suggests a reduction in interhemispheric inhibition (IHI) from the 'affected' (contralateral to the side of pain) to the 'unaffected' primary motor cortex could contribute. However, the effect of short-lasting acute muscle pain on IHI, and whether any changes are related to early sensorimotor changes in the unaffected limb is unknown. Using a cross-sectional study design, IHI was investigated in 20 healthy individuals before, immediately after the resolution of pain and 30 minutes after the induction of acute muscle pain in the right first dorsal interosseous (FDI) muscle via bolus injection of hypertonic saline. Transcranial magnetic stimulation was used to assess corticomotor excitability and short- and long-latency IHI. Pain intensity and quality were recorded using an 11-point numerical rating scale and the McGill Pain Questionnaire. Pressure pain thresholds (PPTs) were assessed in the affected and unaffected FDI and both Tibialis Anterior muscles. Participants reported an average pain intensity of 4.8 (1.3) points. Compared with baseline, corticomotor excitability was reduced at all time points in the affected but not the unaffected primary motor cortex. IHI was reduced at all time points from the affected to the unaffected primary motor cortex. PPTs were reduced over both FDI muscles at 30 minutes follow-up. These findings suggest a reduction in IHI from the affected to the unaffected primary motor cortex that occurs rapidly following the onset of acute pain and could contribute to the development of bilateral symptoms.

Perspective: The affected primary motor cortex (contralateral to the side of pain) releases inhibition over the unaffected primary motor cortex within minutes following the onset of acute muscle pain. This finding could have relevance for the development of bilateral sensorimotor symptoms in unilateral pain conditions.

2.2 Introduction

Musculoskeletal pain is known to alter sensorimotor function of the affected body part. For example, individuals with chronic lateral elbow pain (chronic lateral epicondylalgia or 'Tennis Elbow') display increased sensitivity to mechanical stimuli (Jespersen et al., 2013), decreased maximal wrist extensor force and reduced grip force (Bisset et al., 2006b; Slater et al., 2005) on the painful side. Interestingly, bilateral deficits in sensorimotor function are also observed in these individuals, despite the presence of pain in only one limb (Bisset et al., 2006b; Coombes et al., 2012b; Fernández-Carnero et al., 2008). For example, a recent systematic review demonstrated flexed wrist postures, increased upper-limb reaction times, reduced speed of movement, and reduced pressure and thermal pain thresholds in the *unaffected* limb of people with chronic lateral elbow pain (Bisset et al., 2006b; Heales et al., 2014; Pienimaki et al., 1997). This observation suggests involvement of the central nervous system in the development of bilateral sensorimotor dysfunction, yet the mechanisms that mediate this effect are unknown.

Interhemispheric inhibition (IHI) is a neurophysiological mechanism where the primary motor cortex (M1) of one hemisphere inhibits the M1 of the opposite hemisphere via projections in the corpus callosum. IHI is involved in the control of skilled movements, as well as in the acquisition and transfer of motor skills (Reis et al., 2008). Normal modulation of IHI enables individuals to perform unimanual tasks without co-activation of contralateral muscles. However, in childhood, pathological conditions such as mirror dystonia and the elderly, mirror movements can be observed in the opposite limb when a task is complex or fatiguing, and this movement overflow is negatively correlated with the degree of IHI exerted over the inactive limb (Beaule et al., 2012). Further, there is evidence of a relationship between altered IHI and impaired motor recovery in stroke survivors. Specifically, the unaffected M1 has been shown to exert 'too much' inhibitory control over the stroke-affected M1, interfering with adaptive

neuroplasticity in the lesioned area and motor recovery of the paretic limb (Alia et al., 2017; Duque et al., 2005; Murase et al., 2004). The relationship between IHI and sensorimotor function observed in previous studies could also be relevant to the development of bilateral sensorimotor dysfunction in unilateral musculoskeletal pain conditions.

Only one study has examined IHI in musculoskeletal pain. That study reported a reduction in IHI from the affected M1 (corresponding to the painful muscle) to the unaffected M1 four days after repeated injection of nerve growth factor into the elbow extensor muscles to induce progressively developing, sustained muscle pain. The reduction in IHI was associated with the development of sensorimotor dysfunction (increased sensitivity to mechanical stimuli) in the unaffected limb (Schabrun et al., 2016). These data suggest a relationship between IHI and the development of bilateral sensorimotor dysfunction after several days of musculoskeletal pain. However, it is unknown how soon after pain onset IHI is altered and whether this is related to early sensorimotor changes in the unaffected limb.

Here we aimed to investigate: i) whether IHI is altered in response to rapid onset, short-lasting acute muscle pain; and ii) the relationship between altered IHI and changes in sensorimotor function in the unaffected limb. Based on previous work (Schabrun et al., 2016), we hypothesized that IHI would be reduced from the affected to the unaffected M1 in response to acute muscle pain and this would be associated with increased sensitivity to mechanical stimuli in the unaffected limb.

2.3 Methods

Twenty healthy individuals (8 males, 12 females; mean \pm standard deviation [SD] age 26 \pm 7 years) participated. Participants were recruited through the University and social media from May 2017 to September 2017. All participants were right handed according to the Edinburgh handedness inventory (Oldfield, 1971) and had no history of upper limb pain or injury, no neurological, respiratory, orthopaedic or circulatory disorders and no contraindications to transcranial magnetic stimulation (Keel et al., 2001). All procedures were approved by the institutional human research ethics committee (H11873). Participants provided written informed consent. The study was performed in accordance with the Declaration of Helsinki.

The sample size calculation was based on effect sizes from the only study to have examined IHI in musculoskeletal pain (Schabrun et al., 2016). Based on these data (difference in means between days 0 and 4 of 0.91 mV, SD of 0.90), a sample size of 10 participants was required to observe a statistically significant difference (80% power, alpha 0.05) should one exist. However, as these effects have not been examined in acute pain and the size of the effect is therefore unclear, we conservatively doubled the sample size, ensuring sufficient power to allow detection of a smaller effect size if needed.

2.3.1 Experimental protocol

Participants were seated with their head and neck supported and both arms resting in a supinated position on a pillow. Pressure pain thresholds were recorded bilaterally from the first dorsal interosseous (FDI) and tibialis anterior muscles at baseline and at 30 minutes follow up. Fifteen motor evoked potentials to single-pulse transcranial magnetic stimulation were elicited from the affected and unaffected M1 (order randomized between participants), followed by assessment of IHI, at 3 time-points: i) before pain; ii) immediately following the resolution of pain (once pain had returned to zero on an 11-point numerical rating scale); and iii) 30 minutes

after the resolution of pain. Muscle pain was induced by intramuscular injection of hypertonic saline into the right FDI muscle. The FDI muscle was chosen as the cortical representation has shown strong overlap with the extensor carpi radialis muscle (Devanne et al., 2006) and no previous studies have assessed IHI in hand muscles. Pain was rated on an 11-point numerical rating scale anchored with 'no pain' at zero and 'worst pain imaginable' at 10, every 30s immediately following hypertonic saline injection until each participant reported a pain score of zero. At the conclusion of the experiment, participants rated the intensity, location and quality of muscle pain using the short-form McGill Pain Questionnaire (Melzack, 1987) and a body chart. The experimental protocol is outlined in Figure 2.1.



Figure 2.1: Experimental protocol. Measures of corticomotor output (MEP) and interhemispheric inhibition (IHI) were made at: i) baseline; ii) immediately after pain; and iii) 30 mins follow up. Pressure pain threshold (PPT) measurements were taken at baseline and at 30 minutes follow up. Pain was induced by injection of hypertonic saline into the right first dorsal interosseous (FDI) muscle and pain intensity monitored every 30 seconds on the numerical rating scale (NRS). The McGill pain questionnaire was completed at the conclusion of the experiment.

2.3.2 Pressure pain thresholds

Pressure pain thresholds were assessed at baseline and at 30 minutes follow up. Participants rested their arms on a steady surface and a hand-held pressure algometer (Wagner Instrument,

Greenwich, USA) was applied perpendicular to the skin at a rate of 1 kg/sec. Participants were instructed to vocalize the moment the sensation of pressure first turned to pain. Pressure pain thresholds were assessed in random order at four sites: 1) affected FDI; 2) unaffected FDI; 3) right Tibialis Anterior; and 4) left Tibialis Anterior. For each site the muscle belly was located and marked to ensure consistent positioning of the algometer over time. Pressure pain thresholds for the first dorsal interosseous muscle have been demonstrated to be reliable when using the average of three trials (Chesterton et al., 2007). The average of the three trials at each site, with 1-minute rest between each trial, was used for statistical analysis.

2.3.3 Electromyography

Electromyographic activity was recorded from the affected and unaffected FDI muscles. Disposable dual silver/silver chloride surface electrodes (Noraxon USA Inc, Arizona, USA) were positioned over each muscle belly. Ground electrodes were positioned over the right and left olecranon's. Data were amplified 1000 x, filtered between 20 to 1000 Hz and sampled at 2000 Hz using Signal software and a Micro 1401 data acquisition system (Cambridge Electronic Design, Cambridge UK).

2.3.4 Transcranial magnetic stimulation

Corticomotor excitability

Single-pulse transcranial magnetic stimulation stimuli were delivered to the M1 hand areas using a figure of 8 coil connected to a Magstim 200 stimulator (Magstim Co. Ltd, Dyfed, UK). Transcranial magnetic stimulation was performed over both the affected and unaffected M1 in all participants. The coil was oriented at a 45° angle to produce a posterior to anterior current flow and positioned over the optimal cortical site to evoke a response in each FDI muscle. The optimal cortical site to elicit motor evoked potentials in the affected and unaffected FDI muscles was determined as the site where the lowest stimulus intensity evoked the largest

response. These sites were marked with a pen to ensure accurate coil placement for the duration of the experiment. Resting motor threshold was defined as the lowest intensity of stimulation required to evoke a motor evoked potential >50 μ V peak-to-peak amplitude in at least three of five consecutive trials (Rossi et al., 2009). Fifteen motor evoked potentials (rate of 1 every 6 s) were recorded from the affected and unaffected FDI at 120% of resting motor threshold. The hemisphere recording order was randomised between participants. The average peak-to-peak motor evoked potential amplitude (mV) was calculated at each time-point for the affected and unaffected M1 and this value used for analysis.

Interhemispheric Inhibition

IHI was probed using a conditioning-test paradigm. A conditioning pulse applied to the affected M1 preceded a test stimulus applied to the unaffected M1. To investigate short and long latency IHI, 10 and 40 ms interstimulus intervals were selected, respectively (Ferbert et al., 1992; Sattler et al., 2014; Sattler et al., 2012). In pseudorandom order, 10 trials were recorded at each interstimulus interval and a further 10 trials were recorded using the test stimulus alone (30 trials in total) with 5 seconds between each trial. Transcranial magnetic stimulation was delivered using two Magstim 200 magnetic stimulators (Magstim Co. Ltd, Dyfed, UK), each connected to a figure-of-eight coil with external wing diameters of 70 mm (unaffected M1) and 50 mm (affected M1). The coil delivering the test stimulus was positioned tangentially over the scalp perpendicular to the midsagittal line with the coil handle pointing backwards at a 45° angle inducing a posterior to anterior current direction. The conditioning stimulus coil was oriented 90 degrees relative to the midsagittal line to avoid overlapping the coils (Chen et al., 2003; Ni et al., 2009). It has been previously reported that the current direction of the conditioning stimulus does not affect the degree of IHI (Chen et al., 2003; Ni et al., 2009). To investigate our hypothesis, IHI was recorded from affected to unaffected M1 The test stimulus intensity was adjusted to produce a peak-to-peak motor evoked potential

amplitude of 1-1.5 mV (Morishita et al., 2014) in relaxed FDI and the conditioning stimulus intensity was set at 120% of resting motor threshold and adjusted if required, to elicit inhibition of ~ 50% at baseline in each participant (Gueugneau et al., 2017; Morishita et al., 2014; Perez & Cohen, 2008). Motor evoked potential responses were measured as peak-to-peak amplitudes and conditioned responses expressed as a proportion of the unconditioned test response for analysis.

2.3.5 Experimental muscle pain

An outcome assessor with experience performing injections performed the procedure. The FDI muscle was located by palpation and a single bolus of 0.5 mL of hypertonic saline (5.8%) was injected into the muscle belly of the right FDI after the skin was cleaned with alcohol. Injections were performed using a 0.5-mL syringe with a disposable needle (31G). There were no adverse effects reported from the injection.

2.3.6 Statistical Analysis

Statistical analysis was conducted in SPSS (version 25). Pressure pain thresholds were compared using a 2-way repeated measures ANOVA with factors 'time' (baseline, 30-min follow-up) and 'side' (affected, unaffected) for the FDI and Tibialis Anterior muscles, respectively. Cohen's d effect sizes were calculated and are presented in the text.

Corticomotor excitability for each hemisphere and short- and long-latency IHI were assessed for normality and sphericity. Corticomotor excitability was compared between time points (baseline, immediately after pain, 30-min follow-up) using a one-way repeated measures ANOVA. To account for any influence of sex on IHI, short- and long-latency IHI were compared between time points (baseline, immediately after pain, 30-min follow-up) and sex (male, female) using a two-way repeated measures ANOVA. Pearson's correlation coefficients were calculated to assess the relationship between the change in short- and long-latency IHI over time (baseline to 30 min follow-up) and peak pain, pain duration and the change in pressure pain thresholds over time from affected and unaffected FDI. Where appropriate, posthoc analyses were performed using Holm-Sidak tests corrected for multiple comparisons. Statistical significance was set at p < 0.05. Data in text are presented as mean \pm standard deviation.

2.4 Results

2.4.1 Pain characteristics

Injection of hypertonic saline produced a peak pain intensity of 7.9 ± 1.8 points on the numerical rating scale and an average pain intensity over time of 4.8 ± 1.3 points. The average pain duration was 9.9 ± 3.4 minutes. The most frequent words used to describe the pain were sharp (90%), aching (85%) and throbbing (80%). Most participants reported pain localised to the injection site on the dorsal surface of the hand. Six participants reported pain that radiated toward the palmar surface of the hand, five participants reported pain that extended into the proximal forearm and one participant reported pain extending into the upper arm.

2.4.2 Neurophysiological measures

Group data (mean \pm standard deviation) for pressure pain sensitivity, corticomotor excitability, short- and long-latency IHI and stimulator output at each time point are presented in Table 2.1.

2.4.3 Pressure pain sensitivity

Relative to baseline, pressure pain thresholds were reduced ($F_{1,19} = 22.56$, p < 0.001) in both the affected (p < 0.001, Cohen's d= 0.57; Figure 2.2A) and unaffected (p = 0.005, Cohen's d = 0.46; Figure 2.2B) FDI muscles 30 minutes after the induction of acute muscle pain. There were no differences between sides ($F_{1,19} = 0.31$ p = 0.86). Pressure pain thresholds recorded from the bilateral Tibialis Anterior muscles were unchanged over time ($F_{1,19} = 0.002$, p = 0.96).



Figure 2.2. Group data (mean \pm SD, N=20) for PPTs at right (A) and left FDI (B) at each time point (baseline and follow-up). The asterisk denotes a significant (P <0.05) difference from baseline. PPTs were reduced at follow-up in the right (injected) FDI and in the left (uninjected) FDI.

Table 2.10. Group data (mean \pm SD, N=20) for corticomotor excitability, interhemispheric inhibition and pressure pain threshold measures at baseline, immediately after pain and at 30 minutes follow-up.

	Baseline	Immediately after pain	30 minutes follow-up
Corticomotor excitability (mV)			
Affected M1	0.93±0.83	0.68±0.86*	0.66±0.64*
Unaffected M1	0.97±0.81	1.04±0.72	1.10±0.72
IHI for Affected to Unaffected M1 (mV)			
Unconditioned test response	1.30±0.37	1.23±0.23	1.24±0.35
IHI 10ms (proportion of test)	0.69±0.22	1.07±0.38*	1.05±0.41*
IHI 40ms (proportion of test)	0.61±0.22	1.03±0.49*	1.06±0.35*
Stimulator output (%)	56±11	56±9	55±12
Pressure pain thresholds (kPa)			
Affected FDI	435±190	-	329±185*
Unaffected FDI	420±181	-	339±162*
Right Tibialis Anterior	878±468	-	857±522
Left Tibialis Anterior	897±656	-	835±553

Note: IHI, interhemispheric inhibition; FDI, first dorsal interosseous; M1, primary motor cortex, *p<0.05 from baseline

2.4.4 Corticomotor excitability

The induction of pain in the right FDI led to suppression of motor evoked potentials from the affected M1 ($F_{2,38} = 6.60$, p = 0.003). Corticomotor excitability was reduced immediately following the resolution of pain (p = 0.007) and at 30-min follow-up (p = 0.01; Figure 2.3A), relative to baseline. Motor evoked potentials from the unaffected M1 were unchanged over time ($F_{2,38} = 0.25$, p = 0.77; Figure 2.3B).



Figure 2.3. Group data (mean \pm SD) of corticomotor excitability recorded from the left (A) and right (B) M1, before and after the resolution of pain. MEP amplitude was reduced at both time-points following the resolution of pain in left M1 (P < 0.05) but was unchanged over time in right M1.

2.4.5 Interhemispheric inhibition

Unconditioned motor evoked potential test amplitudes were stable over time ($F_{2,38} = 0.58$, p = 0.56; Figure 2.4A). The induction of acute muscle pain affected the degree of IHI from the affected to the unaffected M1 at both short ($F_{2,36} = 9.07$, p < 0.001; Figure 2.4B) and long latencies, ($F_{2,36} = 12.83 \text{ p} < 0.001$; Figure 2.4C). Relative to baseline, short- and long-latency IHI were reduced immediately following the resolution of pain (short: t = 3.72, p = 0.002; long: t = 4.48, p < 0.001) and remained reduced at 30-min follow-up (short: t = 3.65, p = 0.002; long:

t = 4.28 p < 0.001). Sex did not influence the IHI response (short: $F_{1,36} = 3.5$, p = 0.078; long: $F_{1,36} = 0.42$, p = 0.52).



Figure 2.4. Group data (mean \pm standard deviation) for the unconditioned (test) response (A), short interhemispheric inhibition (SIHI; B) and long interhemispheric inhibition (LIHI; C) obtained at each time point. There was no difference in the amplitude of the unconditioned MEP over time. SIHI and LIHI were reduced at both time points following the resolution of pain. A reduction in SIHI and LIHI is denoted by an increased proportion of the test response. Asterisks denote a significant (p < 0.05) difference from baseline.

A greater reduction in short- (r = -0.51, p = 0.02) and long-latency (r = -0.60, p = 0.005) IHI at 30-min follow-up was associated with a greater reduction in pressure pain thresholds in the affected FDI. There was no relationship between the change in IHI over time at either short (r = -0.19, p = 0.94) or long (r = 0.06, p = 0.80) latency and pressure pain thresholds in the unaffected FDI. There was no relationship between short- and long-latency IHI and peak pain or pain duration.

2.5 Discussion

This study is the first to investigate interhemispheric inhibition in response to acute onset muscle pain. The key finding was a reduction in IHI from the affected to the unaffected M1 at both short and long latencies that was present immediately after pain resolved and persisted at 30 mins follow-up. A unique observation was an increase in sensitivity to mechanical stimuli in the unaffected hand, despite the absence of pain on that side. These findings suggest a release of IHI over the unaffected M1 that occurs rapidly in response to pain that could relate to the development of sensorimotor symptoms in the unaffected hand.

A large body of evidence has shown reduced corticomotor excitability in the hemisphere contralateral to the painful side in response to acute muscle pain, an effect that persists in the immediate post-pain period and is not influenced by resumption of normal motor activity (Burns et al., 2016b; Schabrun et al., 2017b). The present data support these findings. The effect of pain on the contralateral M1 has been further characterised by studies demonstrating increased intracortical inhibition, reduced intracortical facilitation, and reduced integration of sensory information with motor output in response to acute pain (Burns et al., 2016c; Schabrun & Hodges, 2012). Taken together, these data have been interpreted as evidence of a protective strategy that serves to limit movement of the painful part and reduce the risk of further tissue damage (Hodges & Tucker, 2011). However, despite evidence of changes occurring in the contralateral M1, interaction between the two M1 hand areas in acute pain has not been investigated.

Interhemispheric inhibition can be assessed in humans using paired-pulse transcranial magnetic stimulation with a stimulating coil positioned over each M1, and pulses delivered at interstimulus intervals in the range of 6 - 50 ms (Di Lazzaro et al., 1999; Ferbert et al., 1992; Ni et al., 2009). Application of a conditioning stimulus in one hemisphere activates excitatory

transcallosal projections that synapse with inhibitory interneuronal networks in the opposite hemisphere, altering the excitability of pyramidal output neurons (Di Lazzaro et al., 1999; Ferbert et al., 1992; Hanajima et al., 2001). Indeed, primate studies demonstrate the existence of transcallosal projections between the two M1 hand areas (Jenny, 1979) and further animal and human work has shown these projections convey information between the two motor cortices (Chowdhury & Matsunami, 2002; Hanajima et al., 2001). Evidence from patient studies demonstrates that IHI is mediated via these transcallosal pathways (Boroojerdi et al., 1996; Meyer et al., 1995; Meyer et al., 1998) and both short- and long-latency IHI are thought to be dependent on GABA_B mediated neurotransmission (Daskalakis et al., 2002; Irlbacher et al., 2007; Kukaswadia et al., 2005). These data, in conjunction with previous studies demonstrating no inhibition of the H-reflex during IHI recording, suggest IHI is of cortical origin (Ferbert et al., 1992; Gerloff et al., 1998; Harris-Love et al., 2007).

Only one previous study has examined IHI in musculoskeletal pain. Using a clinically-relevant model of progressively developing sustained muscle pain, that study showed a reduction in IHI from the affected to the unaffected M1 four days after the onset of pain that was associated with an increase in mechanical sensitivity in the unaffected arm (Schabrun et al., 2016). The present data extend these findings and show that IHI is reduced in response to rapid onset, short-lasting pain of high intensity (peak pain intensity of 7.9 ± 1.8 points). Although we were unable to measure IHI during pain due to its short-lasting nature, a reduction in IHI was observed in the immediate post-pain period and this effect persisted for at least 30 mins following pain resolution. Consistent with data from the sustained pain model, and patients with chronic lateral elbow pain, mechanical sensitivity was increased in the unaffected hand (Bisset et al., 2018; Coombes et al., 2012b; Schabrun et al., 2016). However, in contrast to previous studies, we did not find a linear correlation between the degree of IHI and mechanical sensitivity in the unaffected hand. This discrepancy could be explained by the different pain

durations (minutes vs. days), pain intensities or differences in the presence of pain at the time of testing across studies. For instance, in the sustained pain model, IHI was tested when participants were experiencing pain whereas in the current study, IHI was tested only once pain had resolved. Alternatively, a non-linear relationship may exist between these parameters in the acute stage of pain. Longitudinal studies that encompass both the early (pain lasting minutes to hours) and later (pain lasting days to weeks) acute stages of pain are required to further elucidate the temporal profile of altered IHI and how this relates to the development of sensorimotor dysfunction in the unaffected hand.

The precise mechanism through which reduced IHI could influence sensorimotor function on the unaffected side is unknown. In the current study, corticomotor excitability in the ipsilateral M1 was unaltered. However, as corticomotor excitability and IHI are known to reflect different neuronal populations this finding is unsurprising (Boroojerdi et al., 1996; Le Pera et al., 2001; Svensson et al., 2003). One possibility is that a release of inhibition over the unaffected M1 led to reduced inhibition of thalamic neurons that in turn, influenced mechanical sensitivity on the unaffected side. Evidence for this hypothesis is drawn from studies demonstrating a reduction in pain with M1 stimulation. This is thought to be mediated by corticothalamic projections that suppress sensory information being relayed in the spinothalamic tract (Lefaucheur et al., 2006; Lucas et al., 2011). Further, imaging studies suggest effects of M1 stimulation on other painprocessing regions including the anterior cingulate cortex, orbitofrontal cortex, insula, secondary sensory cortex, and periaqueductal gray matter (Garcia-Larrea & Peyron, 2007; Garcia-Larrea et al., 1999; Peyron et al., 2007). A release of IHI over the unaffected M1 could therefore reduce downstream inhibition of thalamic neurons, the periaqueductal gray, and/or other pain-processing regions, increasing sensitivity to pressure stimuli. Alternatively, IHI is known to play a key role in interlimb transfer of motor skills and 'cross-education' of the uninvolved limb following strength training. For example, repeated unimanual practice of a

motor task results in transfer of implicit knowledge, as well as speed and accuracy, to the untrained hand and the degree of transfer is associated with the magnitude of the reduction in IHI from the 'active' to the 'inactive' M1 (Camus et al., 2009; Perez et al., 2007). Similarly, studies have shown interhemispheric 'transfer' of sensory stimuli such that proprioceptive input to a hand muscle reduces corticomotor excitability and increases IHI from the affected to unaffected hemisphere of the contralateral homologous muscle (Swayne et al., 2006). A salient stimulus such as pain could similarly result in information transfer to the unaffected M1. Interestingly, the direction of change in IHI differed in the presence of non-noxious proprioceptive stimuli (increased IHI) compared with the pain stimulus (decreased IHI) provided here. This discrepancy likely reflects the salience and processing of non-noxious vs. noxious stimuli in the cortex. However, further research is needed to compare the effects of different types of sensory, motor and pain stimuli on IHI.

Although altered IHI in the acute stage of pain is likely to be a protective strategy that resolves with time, a disturbance in the inhibitory balance between the affected and the unaffected hemispheres that persists when pain fails to resolve could contribute to the development of bilateral symptoms and provide a target for therapeutic modulation. Indeed, a number of studies have sought to target the imbalance in IHI in stroke patients in order to improve functional recovery (Fregni et al., 2005; Hummel et al., 2005; Vines et al., 2008; Williams et al., 2010). For example, bilateral application of transcranial direct current stimulation has been used to downregulate activity in the unaffected M1, and upregulate activity in the affected M1, and has been shown to improve function in the paretic limb (Morishita & Inoue, 2016). Although studies have applied non-invasive brain stimulation techniques over a single hemisphere in pain conditions (Antal et al., 2010; Fenton et al., 2009; Fregni et al., 2006; Passard et al., 2007), no

Several limitations should be considered. Based on previous studies in pain, IHI was assessed only in one direction, from the affected to the unaffected hemisphere, and it was not possible to assess IHI during pain due to the short-lasting nature of the pain model. Future studies should assess IHI in both directions, consider longer-lasting pain models, such as infusion of hypertonic saline, and use a longer follow-up in the post-pain period, to further elucidate the temporal profile of altered IHI in response to acute pain. An isotonic saline control condition was not utilised in this study. Although our findings argue against temporal effects on our measures (pressure pain thresholds and corticomotor excitability were stable over time in the tibialis muscles and unaffected M1, respectively), future work should seek to determine the reliability of the IHI response within an individual over time in the absence of pain. Outcome assessors in this preliminary study were not blinded. To minimise the risk of bias, future studies in this area should employ stringent blinding procedures. Finally, future studies should include more comprehensive assessment of sensorimotor function to determine which aspects may be related to altered IHI in the presence of pain and investigate IHI in chronic pain conditions.

2.6 Conclusion

This study is the first to demonstrate reduced IHI from the affected to the unaffected hemisphere following acute muscle pain. This information may have relevance for the investigation of bilateral symptoms in unilateral pain conditions and potentially, for the development of therapeutic protocols that aim to restore the inhibitory imbalance in musculoskeletal pain.
CHAPTER 1	Introduction and Literature review
CHAPTER 2	IHI between primary motor cortices in response to acute muscle pain
CHAPTER 3	IHI between primary sensory cortices in response to acute muscle pain
CHAPTER 4	IHI between primary motor cortices in individuals with lateral epicondylalgia



IHI BETWEEN PRIMARY SENSORY CORTICES IN RESPONSE TO ACUTE MUSCLE PAIN

The work presented within this chapter has been published in The Journal of Pain as per the following reference:

Alhassani, G., Liston, M.B., Clothier, P.J., Schabrun, S.M., (2022). Interhemispheric Inhibition Between Primary Sensory Cortices is not Influenced by Acute Muscle Pain. *The Journal of Pain, 23(7),* 1177-1186.

The final publication is available online at www.jpain.org and <u>www.sciencedirect.com</u>. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jpain.2022.01.005</u>

The supplementary material of the article is presented in Appendix B.

G.A and S.S. conceptualised and designed the study. G.A. collected and analysed the data, interpreted the results and drafted the manuscript with input from P.C., M.L., and S.S. All authors discussed the results, commented on the manuscript and approved the final version.

3.1 Abstract

Bilateral deficits in sensorimotor function have been observed in unilateral musculoskeletal pain conditions. Altered interhemispheric inhibition (IHI) between primary sensory cortices (S1s) is one mechanism that could explain this phenomenon. However, IHI between S1s in response to acute muscle pain, and the relationship between IHI and pressure pain sensitivity in the unaffected limb have not been examined. In 21 healthy individuals, IHI was assessed using somatosensory evoked potentials in response to paired median nerve electrical stimulation at: i) baseline; ii) immediately following pain resolution; and iii) at 30-minutes follow-up. Acute muscle pain was induced by injection of hypertonic saline into the right abductor pollicis brevis (APB) muscle. Pressure pain thresholds were assessed at the right and left APB muscles before and 30-minutes after pain resolution. Compared to baseline, IHI from the affected to unaffected S1 was unaltered in response to acute muscle pain immediately follow-up. Pressure pain thresholds were reduced over the right (p = 0.001) and left (p = 0.001) APB muscles at 30-minutes follow-up. These findings suggest IHI between S1s is unaffected by acute, short-lasting muscle pain, despite the development of increased sensitivity to pressure in the unaffected APB muscle.

Perspective: IHI from the affected S1 (contralateral to the side of pain) to unaffected S1 is unaltered following the resolution of acute muscle pain. This finding suggests that IHI between S1s may not be relevant in the development of bilateral sensorimotor symptoms in unilateral pain conditions.

3.2 Introduction

In some individuals with unilateral musculoskeletal pain conditions, sensorimotor function is altered bilaterally (Bisset et al., 2006b; Heales et al., 2014). For example, in acute and chronic complex regional pain syndrome, reduced thermal sensory function and heat hyperalgesia are present in both the affected and unaffected limb (Huge et al., 2008). Similarly, in unilateral carpal tunnel syndrome, thermal hyperalgesia and widespread pressure hypersensitivity have been observed in the unaffected hand and wrist (de la Llave-Rincon et al., 2009; Fernández-de-las-Peñas et al., 2009) Altered interhemispheric inhibition (IHI) is one mechanism that could underpin this phenomenon.

Interhemispheric inhibition is a neurophysiological mechanism where one cortical hemisphere inhibits activity in the opposite hemisphere via transcallosal fibres (Meyer et al., 1995). During unilateral processing, IHI inhibits the transfer of tactile and sensory information to the opposite cortical hemisphere, preventing contralateral mirroring effects (Beaule et al., 2012). For example, unilateral sensory input (i.e., from touch or electrical stimulation) has been shown to increase excitability of the contralateral primary sensory cortex (S1) while decreasing excitability of the ipsilateral S1, an effect thought to be mediated by IHI (Hlushchuk & Hari, 2006; Nihashi et al., 2005).

Previous studies have shown a reduction in IHI between the primary motor cortices (M1s) in response to acute and prolonged musculoskeletal pain. Specifically, IHI was reduced from the affected M1 (corresponding to the painful muscle) to the unaffected M1 when pain lasted minutes (Alhassani et al., 2019) to days (Schabrun et al., 2016). Notably, when pain persisted for several days, the reduction in IHI was associated with increased pressure sensitivity in the unaffected limb (Schabrun et al., 2016). These findings suggest a possible relationship between

IHI and the development of bilateral symptoms in unilateral pain conditions. However, it is unclear whether IHI is altered between S1s in response to acute muscle pain.

This study aimed to examine IHI between S1s in response to short-lasting acute muscle pain and investigate the relationship (if any) between S1 IHI and bilateral deficits in sensorimotor function. Based on previous studies in M1 (Alhassani et al., 2019) (Schabrun et al., 2016), we hypothesized that IHI would be reduced from the affected to the unaffected S1 in response to acute muscle pain and that this would be associated with increased pressure sensitivity in the unaffected limb.

3.3 Method

3.3.1 Participants

Twenty-one healthy individuals (8 males, 13 females, mean \pm SD age 27 \pm 7 years) participated. All participants were right handed according to the Edinburgh Handedness Inventory (Oldfield, 1971). Potential participants were excluded if they: had major neurological, orthopaedic, psychiatric or circulatory disorders, were pregnant, were taking central nervous system acting medication, had a personal or family history of epilepsy, or had other contraindications to transcranial magnetic stimulation (Keel et al., 2001). Participants had no history of upper limb pain, injury or peripheral neuropathy resulting in sensory loss. Data collection occurred between November 2017 and January 2018. Individuals participating in this study were not involved in study 1. All procedures were approved by the institutional human research ethics committee (University of Western Sydney: H11873). Participants provided written informed consent. The study was performed in accordance with the Declaration of Helsinki.

As IHI between S1s has not been previously examined in musculoskeletal pain, the sample size was based on a previous study by Brodie and colleagues (Brodie et al., 2014) of IHI in healthy individuals that used an identical method to that reported here. Using a difference in means between the paired 0 ms interstimulus interval (ISI) condition and the paired 25 ms ISI condition of 1.1 uV (SD = 1.46), a sample size of 16 participants would be required to detect a statistically significant change (80 % power, alpha 0.05) in IHI from baseline to follow-up should one exist. However, as these effects have not been examined in acute muscle pain and the size of the effect is unclear, as well as accounting for the restriction of time, the sample size in the current study was increased to 21 to provide greater statistical power.

3.3.2 General experimental protocol

The experimental protocol is outlined in Figure 3.1. Participants were seated with their head and torso supported and elbows flexed at a 90° angle such that their forearms were resting in a supinated position on a pillow. Consistent with the protocol described by Brodie et al. (2014), IHI was assessed using somatosensory evoked potentials (SEPs) recorded from the right S1 in response to a paired median nerve electrical stimulation protocol with 25 ms ISI. Two control conditions (paired median nerve stimulation with 0 ms ISI, right median nerve stimulation alone) were also included. Two blocks of 300 SEPs were recorded for each condition at: i) baseline; ii) immediately following pain resolution (when pain reached 0/10); and iii) 30-min follow-up. It was not possible to record SEPs during pain due to the short-lasting nature of hypertonic saline-induced pain. Participants were instructed to keep their eyes closed and jaw relaxed during SEP recordings. Muscle pain was induced by intramuscular injection of hypertonic saline into the right abductor pollicis brevis (APB) muscle. Following injection, participants rated their pain every 30 s on an 11-point numerical rating scale anchored with '0' as no pain and '10' as worst pain imaginable from the time of injection until pain had ceased. Pressure pain thresholds were recorded from the right and left APB muscles and the right and left tibialis anterior muscles at baseline and 30-min follow-up. The Tibialis Anterior muscles were included to examine the muscle specificity of any increase in mechanical sensitivity in response to pain. At the conclusion of the experiment, participants rated the intensity, location, and quality of muscle pain using the short-form McGill Pain Questionnaire and a body chart.



Figure 3.1. Experimental protocol. Pressure pain thresholds (PPTs) were assessed at baseline and 30-minutes follow-up. Measures of interhemispheric inhibition (IHI) were made at: i) baseline ii); immediately after pain resolution; and at iii) 30- minutes follow-up. Pain was induced by injection of hypertonic saline into the right abductor pollicis brevis muscle and pain intensity monitored every 30 seconds on a numerical rating scale (NRS) until pain reached 0/10. The Short-form McGill pain questionnaire (SF-MPQ) and body chart were completed at the conclusion of the experiment.

3.3.3 Assessment of IHI

Somatosensory evoked potentials

Using electroencephalography (EEG), SEPs were recorded from the right S1 hand area. Two blocks of 300 SEPs were recorded for each condition (25 ms ISI, 0 ms ISI and CS alone) at each time point with a 1-min rest interval applied between each SEP block. The recording time for one SEP block was 15 minutes with a total recording time of 30 minutes for each time-point. Gold plated cup electrodes were positioned over C4 (3 cm lateral, 2 cm posterior to Cz) and referenced to Fz (Homan et al., 1987). The skin electrode impedance was kept below 5 Ω . EEG signals were amplified 50000 x, bandpass filtered 5 - 500 Hz and sampled at 1000 Hz using Signal software and a Micro 1401 data acquisition system (Cambridge Electronic Design, Cambridge UK).

Electrical stimulation protocols

Disposable silver/silver chloride surface electrodes (3M, Red Dot) were placed over the right and left median nerves aligned with the wrist crease. An additional electrode positioned 2 cm proximal to the wrist crease on each forearm acted as the cathode. Electrical pulses (square wave, monophasic, 0.1 ms duration, rate of 2 Hz) were delivered to the median nerves using two DS7AH constant current stimulators (Digitimer Ltd, UK) triggered by Signal software (Version 5.08, Cambridge Electronic Design Ltd, Cambridge, UK). To check that stimulation intensity was sufficient, electromyography (disposable dual silver/silver chloride surface electrodes [Noraxon USA Inc, Arizona, USA]) were placed on each APB muscle belly and stimulation intensity set to produce a muscle twitch of $\sim 1 \text{ mV}$ peak to peak amplitude (baseline: mean \pm SD = 1.08 \pm 0.13 mV right hand, 1.09 \pm 0.14 mV left hand; immediately after pain: 1.05 ± 0.10 mV right hand, 1.09 ± 0.11 mV left hand; 30-min follow-up: 1.08 ± 0.08 mV right hand, 1.10 ± 0.11 mV left hand). Signals were grounded to the olecranon, amplified 1000 x, filtered 20 to 1000 Hz, and sampled at 1000 Hz. Electromyography activity was visually monitored throughout the experiment to ensure consistent twitch amplitudes. Small adjustments in stimulation intensities ($\pm 1 - 2 \text{ mA}$) were made to maintain consistent twitch amplitudes if needed.

Three electrical stimulation protocols were used for the assessment of IHI: i) paired median nerve stimulation with a 25 ms ISI; ii) paired median nerve stimulation with a 0 ms ISI; and iii) right median nerve stimulation alone (Brodie et al., 2014; Ragert et al., 2011). In the 25 ms ISI condition, a conditioning stimulus (CS) was delivered to the right median nerve 25 ms prior to a test stimulus (TS) delivered to the left median nerve (Figure 3.2). This protocol was selected as it has been shown to elicit IHI between S1s in previous studies (Brodie et al., 2014; Ragert et al., 2011) In the 0 ms ISI condition, electrical stimuli were simultaneously applied to the right and left median nerves. This condition was included to control for differences in

directed attention to electrical stimulation, which has been shown to alter sensory processing by equally dividing attention between the two hands (García-Larrea et al., 1991). Finally, a right median nerve stimulation alone condition was included to eliminate any potential influence of an ipsilateral component generated from the conditioning stimulus (right median nerve stimulation) on the response to the test stimulus (left median nerve stimulation) in the 25 ms ISI condition (Brodie et al., 2014). The order of the three conditions was pseudorandomized during the experiment. No participant reported discomfort or fatigue during the experimental session.



Right median nerve (CS) Left median nerve (TS)

Figure 3.2. Interhemispheric inhibition was assessed by recording somatosensory evoked potentials (SEPs) from the left primary sensory cortex (S1) to the right S1 in response to three median nerve electrical stimulation protocols: i) 25 ms interstimulus interval (ISI) condition - a conditioning stimulus (CS) was delivered to the right median nerve 25 ms prior to a test stimulus (TS) delivered to the left median nerve; ii) 0 ms ISI condition - electrical stimuli were applied to the right and left median nerve simultaneously; and iii) right median nerve stimulation alone condition - a single electrical pulse was delivered to the right median nerve. Median nerve stimulation was set to produce a muscle twitch of 1 mV peak-to-peak in each abductor pollicis brevis (APB) muscle. Stimulating electrodes are denoted by the grey bars and electromyographic recording electrodes by the open circles.

Individual SEP traces were carefully visually inspected. Several criteria were used to identify traces with significant noise or artefact. Traces considered to contain electrical noise (determined by the presence of sinusoidal waves) or a stimulus artefact of a duration sufficient to mask the onset of the SEP were identified and discarded. Traces with biological noise such as muscle artefact (determined by the presence of high frequency activity) were identified and discarded. Less than 5 % of SEP traces were discarded. Following the procedure described by Ragert et al. (2011), the remaining traces from the two blocks of 300 SEPs were averaged for each condition. The average raw ipsilateral SEP response from the right median nerve stimulation alone conditions. Peak to peak amplitudes for five SEP components (P_{14}/N_{20} , N_{20}/P_{25} , P_{25}/N_{30} , N_{30}/P_{40} , P_{40}/N_{60}) were identified and manually extracted from the subtracted data, for each individual, for the 25 ms ISI and 0 ms ISI conditions (Figure 3.3) (Ragert et al., 2011).



Figure 3.3. An example 0 ms ISI raw SEP trace from a single participant. Five components were subtracted and used for analysis $-P_{14}/N_{20}$, N_{20}/P_{25} , P_{25}/N_{30} , N_{30}/P_{40} , P_{40}/N_{60} . The dotted line indicates the conditioning and test stimulus onset for the paired 0 ms ISI condition.

3.3.4 Experimental muscle pain

Prior to injection the skin was cleaned with Nuprep gel and chlorhexidine solution. Sterile solutions of 5.8% hypertonic saline were prepared and a bolus of 0.5 mL was injected into the middle of the right APB muscle belly. Injections were performed using a 0.5 mL syringe with a disposable needle (BD Ultra Fine short needle, 31 G 8mm) (Schabrun et al., 2017b). There were no adverse effects reported from the injection.

3.3.5 Pressure pain thresholds

Pressure pain thresholds were assessed using a hand-held pressure algometer (SOMEDIC electronics, Algometer type II, Solna, Sweden). Pressure was applied perpendicular to the skin at a rate of 30 kpa/s. Participants were instructed to vocalize the moment the sensation of pressure first turned to pain. Pressure pain thresholds were assessed at four sites in pseudorandom order: 1) right APB; 2) left APB; 3) right Tibialis Anterior; and 4) left Tibialis Anterior. Sites 1 and 2 were located slightly medial of the distal 1/4 of the 1st ossa metacarpalia. The tibialis anterior measurement site was identified as one-third of the distance from the inferior border of the patella to the midpoint of the transverse crease of the ankle and 2.5 cm lateral to the tibial tuberosity. Each site was marked to ensure consistent positioning of the algometer over time. The mean of three recordings made at each site, at 1-minute intervals, was used for statistical analysis. A single rater conducted all testing and analysis to ensure consistency.

3.3.6 Statistical Analysis

Statistical analyses were performed with SPSS software (version 25). Data for the five extracted SEP components from the 25 ms ISI and 0 ms ISI conditions were assessed for sphericity using Mauchly's test of sphericity and Greenhouse-Geisser corrections for non-sphericity were applied where appropriate. Two separate analyses were performed to answer

two research questions. First, one-way repeated measures ANOVAs were performed for each SEP component with factor condition (paired 25 ms ISI, paired 0 ms ISI) as the independent variable and SEP component amplitude as the dependent variable using only data from the baseline timepoint. This analysis was conducted to ensure that the median nerve stimulation protocol was capable of inducing IHI between S1s in the absence of pain. Second, the ratio score for each SEP component was compared between time points (baseline, immediately after pain, 30-min follow-up) using a one-way repeated measures ANOVA to determine the effect of pain on IHI. Ratio scores were necessary to allow determination of interhemispheric inhibition or facilitation by expressing the SEP response from the 25 ms ISI condition as a proportion of the SEP response from the 0 ms ISI control condition (25 ms ISI condition / 0 ms ISI condition) for each SEP component. A ratio score < 1 denotes interhemispheric inhibition and a ratio score > 1 denotes interhemispheric facilitation. This approach has been used previously to assess IHI occurring between the left and right S1 (Brodie et al., 2014; Ragert et al., 2011). Holm-Sidak tests were used to correct for multiple comparisons.

Pressure pain thresholds were compared using a two-way repeated measures ANOVA with factors 'time' (baseline, 30-min follow-up) and 'side' (right, left) for the APB and Tibialis anterior muscles respectively. Pearson's correlation coefficients were calculated to assess the relationship between the change in IHI over time (baseline to 30-min follow-up) for each SEP component and the change in pressure pain thresholds over time for right and left APB muscles.

Effect sizes were calculated using Partial eta squared. Partial eta squared is interpreted as 0.01 indicating a small effect size, 0.06 indicating a medium effect size, and 0.14 indicating a large effect size (Cohen, 2013). Data in text is presented as mean \pm standard deviation (SD) unless stated otherwise. Statistical significance was set at p < 0.05.

3.4 Results

3.4.1 Pain characteristics

Injection of hypertonic saline produced on average, a peak pain intensity (i.e., average of the highest pain score reported by each participant) of 7.7 ± 1.6 points out of 10 on the numerical rating scale. The average pain intensity reported over time was 4.3 ± 1.4 points. The average pain duration was 7.3 ± 2.1 min. The most frequent words selected from the short-form McGill pain questionnaire to describe the pain were sharp (81%), aching (67%), throbbing (62%) and tender (62%). The majority of participants reported pain localised to the site of the injection on the palmer surface of the hand. Two participants reported pain that extended into the proximal forearm and two participants reported pain on the posterior side of the hand.

3.4.2 Presence of interhemispheric inhibition at baseline

Prior to the induction of pain, the mean peak-to-peak amplitude of the P_{14}/N_{20} ($F_{1,20} = 8.2$, p = 0.009, $\Pi^2 = 0.29$), N_{20}/P_{25} ($F_{1,20} = 28.6$, p < 0.001, $\Pi^2 = 0.59$) and N_{30}/P_{40} ($F_{1,20} = 10.2$, p = 0.005, $\Pi^2 = 0.34$) SEP components were inhibited relative to the 0 ms ISI condition (Figure 3.4), confirming IHI was elicited by the paired median nerve stimulation protocol for these components. The mean peak-to-peak amplitude of the P_{25}/N_{30} ($F_{1,20} = 1.03$, p = 0.32, $\Pi^2 = 0.05$) and P_{40}/N_{60} ($F_{1,20} = 2.1$, p = 0.16, $\Pi^2 = 0.09$) SEP components were unchanged relative to the 0 ms ISI condition (Table 3.1).



Figure 3.4. Group data (mean \pm standard deviation) peak-to-peak raw amplitudes for each somatosensory evoked potential (SEP) component for the 0 ms ISI and 25 ms ISI conditions at baseline. Relative to the 0 ms ISI control condition, the P₁₄/N₂₀, N₂₀ P₂₅ and N₃₀/P₄₀ SEP components were inhibited in response to the 25 ms ISI condition. *p < 0.05.

Component	Baseline		Immediately after pain		30-min follow-up		
	0 ms	25 ms	0 ms	25 ms	0 ms	25 ms	
P ₁₄ /N ₂₀	1.0 ± 1.1	0.7 ± 0.8	1.4 ± 1.6	$0.8 \pm 0.9^{*}$	1.6 ± 2.0	1.2 ± 1.5	
N_{20}/P_{25}	5.0 ± 2.0	3.4 ± 1.1	5.3 ± 3.0	$3.6\pm1.6^{\ast}$	5.0 ± 2.9	3.1 ± 1.3*	
P ₂₅ /N ₃₀	3.1 ± 2.5	2.7 ± 1.6	3.3 ± 2.6	2.7 ± 1.6	3.4 ± 2.2	3.0 ± 1.7	
N_{30}/P_{40}	2.4 ± 2.5	1.3 ± 1.2	2.7 ± 2.7	$1.5\pm1.6^{\ast}$	2.3 ± 2.0	$1.3\pm1.3^*$	
P ₄₀ /N ₆₀	3.8 ± 2.9	3.1 ± 2.3	4.0 ± 3.1	$3.1 \pm 2.8*$	3.4 ± 2.7	3.0 ± 2.6	
Note: SEP values are in µV. SEP, sensory evoked potential; *p <0.05 inhibited from baseline							

Table 3.1. Group data (mean \pm SD, N = 21) for peak-to-peak amplitudes (raw values) for each SEP component at baseline, immediately after pain and at 30-min follow-up.

3.4.3 Interhemispheric inhibition in response to acute muscle pain

When expressed as a proportion of the 0 ms ISI condition, the SEP response elicited by the 25 ms ISI condition was not altered in response to acute muscle pain for any component P_{14}/N_{20} : $F_{2,40} = 0.27$, p = 0.77, $\Pi^2 = 0.01$; N_{20}/P_{25} : $F_{2,40} = 0.70$, p = 0.47, $\Pi^2 = 0.03$; P_{25}/N_{30} : $F_{2,40} = 0.87$, p = 0.40, $\Pi^2 = 0.04$; N_{30}/P_{40} : $F_{2,40} = 0.13$, p = 0.83, $\Pi^2 = 0.006$; and P_{40}/N_{60} : $F_{2,40} = 2.4$, p = 0.12, $\Pi^2 = 0.11$; Fig. 5; Appendix B, supplementary Figure 1).



Figure. 3.5. Group data (mean \pm standard deviation) for each SEP component (25 ms ISI condition expressed as a proportion of the 0 ms ISI control condition) at baseline, immediately after pain resolution and 30-min follow-up. There was no change for any SEP component over time.

3.4.4 Pressure pain sensitivity

Relative to baseline, pressure pain thresholds were reduced (main effect: $F_{1,20} = 16.1$, p = 0.001, $\Pi^2 = 0.45$) in both the right (p < 0.001; Figure 3.6A) and left (p = < 0.001; Figure 3.6B) APB muscles 30-min after the resolution of muscle pain. There was no difference between sides ($F_{1,20} = 0.44$, p = 0.51, $\Pi^2 = 0.02$) and no interaction between time and side ($F_{1,20} = 0.75$, p = 0.40, $\Pi^2 = 0.04$). Pressure pain thresholds recorded from the Tibialis Anterior muscles were unchanged over time ($F_{1,20} = 0.20$, p = 0.64, $\Pi^2 = 0.01$). There was no relationship between the change in IHI over time and pressure pain thresholds in the right or left APB muscles for any SEP component.



Figure 3.6. Group data (mean \pm standard deviation) for pressure pain thresholds in the right (A) and left (B) APB muscles at baseline and 30-min follow-up. Pressure pain thresholds were reduced at 30-min follow-up in both APB muscles. *p < 0.05.

3.5 Discussion

This study investigated IHI between S1s in response to acute muscle pain. The induction of pain did not influence IHI when assessed from the left S1 (corresponding to the injected hand) to the right S1 (corresponding to the non-injected hand) immediately following pain resolution or at 30-min follow-up. However, an increase in sensitivity to pressure in the non-injected hand was observed at 30-min follow-up, despite the absence of pain on that side. There were no differences in pressure pain sensitivity between sides. This effect is in line with findings of previous literature in chronic unilateral pain and unilateral experimental muscle pain (Alhassani et al., 2019) that demonstrate similar levels of increased sensitivity to pressure on the unaffected as well as the affected side. These findings suggest that IHI between S1s may not contribute to the development of pressure sensitivity in the unaffected hand.

Interhemispheric inhibition between S1s can be assessed in humans using a paired median nerve electrical stimulation protocol. Sensory information from an electrical conditioning stimulus applied to one median nerve is transmitted to the contralateral S1 before traveling across the corpus callosum to synapse with inhibitory interneuronal networks in the ipsilateral S1 (Brodie et al., 2014; Ragert et al., 2011). Using this method, previous studies have shown inhibition of short-latency SEP components in the ipsilateral S1 at interstimulus intervals ranging from 15-30 ms (Brodie et al., 2014; Ragert et al., 2014; Ragert et al., 2011). This finding was replicated in the current study with the P_{14}/N_{20} , and N_{20}/P_{25} SEP components in the ipsilateral S1 displaying inhibition of the N_{30}/P_{40} SEP component which was not observed in previous studies. Although the reason for this discrepancy is unclear, one explanation is that our larger sample size (N=21) provided greater statistical power with which to detect this effect compared to previous studies (N=10 and N=12) (Brodie et al., 2014; Ragert et al., 2011). Regardless, our findings confirm

the paired median nerve stimulation protocol used in the present study is capable of eliciting IHI between S1s for short-latency SEP components.

To our knowledge, this is the first study to investigate IHI between S1s in response to pain. The data demonstrate no influence of acute, experimentally induced muscle pain on IHI between S1s, despite an increase in pressure sensitivity in the unaffected hand. This finding is in contrast to studies investigating IHI between the primary motor cortices where the presence of both acute and sustained pain reduces IHI from the pain-affected to the unaffected primary motor cortex, and the magnitude of the reduction in IHI is associated with the increase in pressure sensitivity (Alhassani et al., 2019; Schabrun et al., 2016). Why acute muscle pain influences interhemispheric interactions between primary motor, but not primary sensory cortices is unclear.

One explanation is that somatosensory IHI does not occur directly between S1s but rather, is transmitted indirectly via well-defined transcallosal M1 connections along an S1-M1-M1-S1 pathway (Brodie et al., 2014; Zapallow et al., 2013). Indeed, studies in non-human primates have identified relatively few direct transcallosal connections between S1s (Killackey et al., 1983; Krubitzer et al., 1998). An alternate possibility is that somatosensory IHI is transmitted between the secondary sensory cortices (S2) or via an indirect S1-S2-S2-S1 pathway (Brodie et al., 2014). Dense transcallosal connections and larger and more complex neuronal receptive fields are reported between homologous S2s when compared with homologous S1s (Fabri et al., 2005; Fabri et al., 2001; Hoechstetter et al., 2001; Iwamura, 2000; Jones & Powell, 1969; Manzoni et al., 1989). Similarly, dense intracortical connections are known to exist between area 3B of S1 and S2 (Kaas, 1993; Manzoni et al., 1986). Further evidence in support of this hypothesis is drawn from studies demonstrating interhemispheric transfer of tactile information between homologous S2s (Frot & Mauguière, 1999; Stancak et al., 2002) that underpins

bilateral activation of S2 in response to unilateral stimulation (Picard et al., 1990) and suppression of the ipsilateral S2 during bimanual tasks (Jung et al., 2012).

Another possibility is that the development of bilateral symptoms in unilateral pain conditions is mediated by other brain regions such as the dorsolateral prefrontal cortex (DLPFC) (Sevel et al., 2016). The DLPFC is implicated in endogenous pain modulation through a range of cognitive and emotional processes and recent studies have shown that interhemispheric DLPFC connectivity influences pain tolerance. For example, one study using dynamic causal modelling for fMRI demonstrated a relationship between individual differences in thermal pain sensitivity and connectivity between the contralateral and ipsilateral DLPFC. Specifically, greater connectivity, consistent with IHI, was associated with lower thermal pain sensitivity (Sevel et al., 2016). Further research is needed to elucidate the pathways underpinning interhemispheric transfer of somatosensory information in the human brain and to determine the role of somatosensory IHI (if any) in the development of bilateral symptoms in unilateral pain conditions.

Finally, spinal mechanisms could explain bilateral increases in pressure sensitivity. The spinothalamic tract, which is probed with PPTs, could mediate bilateral pressure sensitivity via wide dynamic range neurons that exhibit bilateral receptive fields ascending ipsilaterally (Coghill, 2020; Dum et al., 2009; Giesler et al., 1981). Indeed, previous studies have shown increased sensitivity to PPTs at sites adjacent to injury and/or pain in clinical (Arendt-Nielsen et al., 2011; Hidalgo-Lozano et al., 2010), and experimental studies (Gibson et al., 2006), suggesting a potential role for spinal mechanisms. Future studies should investigate PPTs adjacent to the painful area to explore the contribution of spinal mechanisms to bilateral increases in pressure sensitivity.

There are some limitations associated with the current study that should be addressed in future research. First, we used a short-lasting human pain model administered to healthy participants. Whether similar findings exist in sustained pain models or in those with chronic clinical pain conditions is unknown. Further, we were unable to record SEPs during pain due to the shortlasting nature of hypertonic saline induced pain. The use of longer lasting pain models in future studies would allow recording of IHI during pain. Second, bilateral changes in sensorimotor function were examined as pressure pain sensitivity only. Future studies should include a more comprehensive examination of sensorimotor function (including muscle strength, reaction time, thermal pain sensitivity, etc.) at a greater number of timepoints during and after the resolution of pain to more clearly characterise these changes in response to acute muscle pain. Third, the SF-MPQ was administered 60 minutes after the resolution of pain. The time delay between administering the SF-MPQ and the resolution of pain required participants to complete the questionnaire based on recall rather than the actual experience of pain and this may have affected the accuracy of responses recorded by participants. Fourth, the effect of sex on IHI was not assessed in this study. As sex differences have been shown to influence IHI (Davatzikos & Resnick, 1998; De Gennaro et al., 2003; Hausmann et al., 2006; Weis & Hausmann, 2010; Weis et al., 2008), future studies should include investigation of this factor. Finally, investigation of transfer of information between S1 and other brain regions such as S2, M1, and DLPFC, as well as concurrent investigation of S1 and M1 interhemispheric and intracortical mechanisms, are needed to contextualise these results within the distributed brain network that is known to underpin pain processing.

3.6 Conclusion

This study examined the effect of acute muscle pain on IHI between S1s in healthy individuals. The findings suggest IHI from the left to the right S1 is not affected by acute muscle pain, despite increased sensitivity to pressure in the pain free hand. Altered IHI between S1s may not contribute to the development of bilateral sensorimotor changes in acute muscle pain. This finding requires confirmation in studies using longer lasting pain models and clinical populations.

CHAPTER 1	Introduction and Literature review
CHAPTER 2	IHI between primary motor cortices in response to acute muscle pain
CHAPTER 3	IHI between primary sensory cortices in response to acute muscle pain
CHAPTER 4	IHI between primary motor cortices in individuals with lateral epicondylalgia
CHAPTER 5	Discussion and Conclusion



IHI BETWEEN PRIMARY MOTOR CORTICES IN INDIVIDUALS WITH LATERAL EPICONDYLALGIA

The work presented within this chapter has been submitted and is under review in The Journal of Pain with the following title:

Interhemispheric inhibition between primary motor cortices is not altered in individuals with chronic lateral epicondylalgia.

G.A and S.S. conceptualised and designed the study. G.A. collected and analysed the data, interpreted the results and drafted the manuscript with input from P.C., M.L., and S.S. All authors discussed the results, commented on the manuscript and approved the final version.

4.1 Abstract

Lateral epicondylalgia, commonly referred to as tennis elbow, is a musculoskeletal condition characterised by pain and sensorimotor dysfunction. In some individuals with chronic unilateral LE, sensorimotor symptoms develop on the unaffected side despite no evidence of tissue damage. Altered interhemispheric inhibition (IHI) is one mechanism that could underpin this phenomenon. The aim of this cross-sectional study was to examine IHI between the primary motor cortices (M1) in individuals with chronic LE and healthy controls. In 20 individuals with chronic LE and 20 healthy participants, transcranial magnetic stimulation was used to assess: i) short and long latency IHI from the affected (corresponding to the injured side) to the unaffected M1; and ii) corticomotor excitability of the affected and unaffected M1. Sensorimotor function was evaluated bilaterally at the extensor carpi radialis brevis muscle using pressure pain threshold, grip strength, two-point discrimination and temporal summation tests. Short- and long-latency IHI from the affected to the unaffected M1, and corticomotor excitability of the affected and unaffected M1, were not altered in individuals with LE compared with healthy participants. No differences in sensorimotor function were observed for the affected or unaffected ECRB muscles when individuals with LE were compared with healthy participants. IHI is not altered in individuals with chronic LE who did not display significant sensorimotor dysfunction. Further studies are required to determine the mechanisms that underpin the development of bilateral sensorimotor symptoms in unilateral LE.

Perspective: IHI is unaltered from the affected M1 (corresponding to the painful muscle) to unaffected M1 in individuals with LE compared to healthy controls. The absence of bilateral sensorimotor dysfunction and low pain severity in this cohort of individuals with LE may explain this finding.

4.2 Introduction

Lateral epicondylalgia (LE), commonly known as tennis elbow, is a musculoskeletal condition affecting 1-3% of the general population (Shiri et al., 2006). Characterised by structural changes of the extensor carpi radialis brevis (ECRB) tendon (e.g. thickening and tears of the tendon) and pain over the lateral epicondyle (Coombes et al., 2009b; Skinner & Curwin, 2007; Vaquero-Picado et al., 2016), LE is commonly triggered by repetitive forceful contraction of the wrist extensor muscles (Fan et al., 2009; Shiri et al., 2006). In some individuals with unilateral LE, sensorimotor symptoms develop on the unaffected side (Bisset et al., 2006b). These individuals exhibit reductions in grip force, increased upper limb reaction times and reduced speed of movement in both affected and unaffected limbs, and adopt a wrist posture that is 11 degrees less extended bilaterally than healthy controls (Bisset et al., 2006b; Heales et al., 2014; Pienimaki et al., 1997). Studies investigating peripheral mechanisms that may explain sensorimotor symptom development on the unaffected side suggest that the underlying pathophysiology is more complex than can be explained by peripheral mechanisms alone (Coombes et al., 2009b; Heales et al., 2014). This suggests the development of sensorimotor symptoms on the unaffected side may be mediated by the central nervous system, yet the mechanism remains unknown.

Altered interhemispheric inhibition (IHI) between the primary motor cortices (M1's) is one mechanism that could underpin bilateral symptom development in chronic unilateral LE. Interhemispheric inhibition is a neurophysiological mechanism mediated by transcallosal pathways where one hemisphere inhibits activity in the opposite hemisphere (Boroojerdi et al., 1996). This allows individuals to perform unilateral movements while preventing unwanted mirror movements of the opposite side (Beaule et al., 2012). Previous research has suggested a relationship between altered IHI and sensorimotor dysfunction of the unaffected side in unilateral musculoskeletal pain conditions. For example, experimental pain studies have

demonstrated reduced IHI from the affected M1 (corresponding to the painful side) to the unaffected M1 (corresponding to the non-painful side) in otherwise healthy participants (Alhassani et al., 2019; Schabrun et al., 2016). Specifically, in response to acute muscle pain induced by hypertonic saline injection into the ECRB muscle, IHI was reduced immediately after pain resolution and at 30 minutes follow-up (Alhassani et al., 2019). Similarly, following repeated intramuscular injection of nerve growth factor into the ECRB muscle to induce progressively developing sustained muscle pain, IHI was reduced four days after pain onset (Schabrun et al., 2016). In both studies, increased sensitivity to mechanical stimuli was observed in the unaffected (non-injected) muscle. However, a greater reduction in IHI was associated with a greater increase in sensitivity of the non-injected side only in the sustained pain model. This finding could suggest a relationship between IHI and sensorimotor dysfunction of the unaffected side that emerges as pain persists. Although evidence exists examining IHI in response to acute and sustained muscle pain, no study has investigated whether IHI is altered between M1s in chronic musculoskeletal pain conditions, such as LE.

Therefore, this preliminary study aimed to compare IHI between M1s in individuals with chronic LE and healthy controls. Based on previous work (Alhassani et al., 2019; Schabrun et al., 2016), we hypothesised that IHI would be reduced from the 'affected' to the 'unaffected' M1 in individuals with LE.

4.3 Methods

4.3.1 Participants

Twenty individuals (11 males, 9 females, mean \pm SD age 45 \pm 9 years) with LE, and 20 ageand sex-matched healthy controls (age matched \pm 5yrs; 46 \pm 10 years) participated. As IHI is yet to be examined in LE, the sample size was based on a previous study that examined IHI in response to experimental pain induced in the ECRB muscle (Schabrun et al., 2016). Based on these findings, mean difference in IHI between days 0 (baseline) and 4 (follow-up) of 0.73 mV and 1.4 mV respectively, standard deviation 0.64 mV, a sample size of 16 participants in each group was required to observe a statistically significant difference in IHI between groups (80% power, alpha 0.05) should one exist. However, as these effects have not been examined in chronic musculoskeletal pain and the size of the effect is unclear, 20 participants were recruited in each group.

Individuals with LE were included if they had experienced pain over one or both humeral lateral epicondyles for greater than 6 weeks that was aggravated by palpation, gripping, resisted wrist and/or middle finger extension (Linaker et al., 1999). For individuals with pain over both humeral lateral epicondyles, the side that developed first was considered the affected side. Exclusion criteria included: i) the use of oral or topical pain-relief medication 48 hrs prior to the study; ii) concomitant neck or arm pain that prevented participation in usual work or recreational activities; iii) corticosteroid injections in the last 6 months; and iv) evidence of self-reported sensory disturbances associated with neuropathic lesions, history of fractures, elbow surgery, arthritic or inflammatory disorders or pain localized to the radiohumeral joint (Coombes et al., 2009b). Age- and sex-matched healthy participants who had no current pain condition and no history of LE served as the control group. All potential participants completed the transcranial magnetic stimulation safety questionnaire and were excluded if they had major neurological, orthopaedic, psychiatric or circulatory disorders, were pregnant, were taking

central nervous system acting medication or had a personal or family history of epilepsy (Keel et al., 2001). Data collection occurred between October 2018 and June 2019. All procedures were approved by the institutional human research ethics committee (Western Sydney University: H11873) and all participants provided written informed consent. The study was performed in accordance with the Declaration of Helsinki.

4.3.2 Experimental protocol

The experimental protocol is outlined in Figure 4.1. All experimental procedures were completed in a single test session. The protocol was performed in the following order: 1) self-reported outcomes of pain and disability; 2) tests of sensorimotor function; 3) assessment of corticomotor excitability; 4) assessment of IHI at four conditioning stimulus intensities: 120%, 130%, 140% and 150% of resting motor threshold (RMT). Conditioning stimulus intensity order was randomised between participants. Rest intervals of at least two minutes were provided between each IHI conditioning stimulus intensity block.



Figure 4.1. Experimental protocol. Participants attended a single experimental session performed in the following order: At the beginning of the session, self-reported pain and disability outcomes (LE individuals only) were collected followed by tests of sensorimotor function. Neurophysiological measures of corticomotor excitability and IHI were then assessed. PRTEE, pain rated tennis elbow evaluation; BPI, brief pain inventory; NRS, numerical rating scale; PPT, pressure pain threshold; TPD, two-point discrimination; resting motor threshold, RMT.

4.3.3 Self-reported outcomes of pain and disability

The Patient Rated Tennis Elbow Evaluation (PRTEE) questionnaire was used to assess pain and disability for all LE participants for the week preceding testing. Scores for pain (sum of five items out of 50) and function (sum of 10 items, divided by 2, out of 50) were combined to give a total score ranging from '0' (no pain and no functional impairment) to '100' (worst pain imaginable with significant functional impairment). The Brief Pain Inventory short form (BPIsf) was used to assess pain and disability in the 24 hours preceding testing. Pain severity was scored as a mean of the four items relating to severity, and pain interference was scored as a mean of the seven items relating to interference (Cleeland & Ryan, 1994; Tan et al., 2004). Participants completed a modified Likert scale of muscle soreness for the upper limb with '0' indicating a complete absence of soreness and '6' indicating a severe muscle soreness (Slater et al., 2003). Healthy controls verbally confirmed they did not have pain or muscle soreness on the day of testing. Pain intensity at the time of testing was recorded using an 11-point numerical rating scale (NRS) anchored with '0' as no pain and '10' as worst pain imaginable.

4.3.4 Tests of sensorimotor function

Pressure pain thresholds

Pressure pain thresholds were assessed using a hand-held pressure algometer (SOMEDIC electronics, Algometer type II, Solna, Sweden). Pressure was applied perpendicular to the skin at a rate of 30 kpa/s. Participants were instructed to vocalise the moment the sensation of pressure first turned to pain. Pressure pain thresholds were assessed at four sites in pseudorandom order: 1) affected ECRB (or matched ECRB for healthy controls); 2) unaffected ECRB (or matched ECRB for healthy controls); 3) right Tibialis Anterior; and 4) left Tibialis Anterior. Sites 1 and 2 were determined by identifying a position 1 cm lateral to a point that was 5 cm distal to the lateral epicondyle (Bergin et al., 2015). The ECRB muscle belly was chosen as evidence suggests pain and sensitivity radiate from the lateral humeral epicondyle

distally into the forearm affecting muscle tissue of ECRB (Bisset et al., 2015; Bisset et al., 2018). The tibialis anterior measurement sites were identified as one-third of the distance from the inferior border of the patella to the midpoint of the transverse crease of the ankle and 2.5 cm lateral to the tibial tuberosity. The Tibialis Anterior muscles were included to examine the muscle specificity of any increase in mechanical sensitivity in response to pain. Each site was marked to ensure consistent positioning of the algometer over time. The mean of three recordings made at each site, at 1-minute intervals, was used for statistical analysis. A single rater with training in pressure pain threshold assessment conducted all testing and analysis to ensure consistency. Pressure pain thresholds of the extensor carpi radialis muscle has demonstrated moderate to excellent intra and inter-rater reliability in healthy and musculoskeletal populations (Middlebrook et al., 2020).

Pain-free grip strength and maximum grip strength

Pain-free and maximum grip strength were assessed using a hand-held dynamometer (Hydraulic Hand Dynamometer, Saehan Corporation, Korea) based on the protocol by Slater et al., 2005. Participants assumed a seated position and were assisted in placing their arm in 90° flexion, shoulder in a neutral position, forearm pronated, and elbow extended. To measure pain-free grip strength, participants with LE were instructed to squeeze the dynamometer with the hand on their affected side, with increasing force and immediately cease squeezing at the onset of pain. As the presence of existing pain is required for this test, healthy controls did not complete this assessment. To assess maximal grip strength, all participants were instructed to squeeze the dynamometer as hard as possible, regardless of pain (Bisset et al., 2006b). Pain-free, and maximal grip strength (kg) of each arm was determined based on the average of three consecutive trials at a rate of one trial every 30 s.

Two-point discrimination

Two-point discrimination (TPD) was assessed at the belly of the ECRB muscle starting with the unaffected side (matched side in healthy controls) with a stainless steel TPD prong with straight tips (Bailey Instruments Ltd., Manchester, UK). Two-point discrimination was measured according to an established protocol (Luomajoki & Moseley, 2011; Moseley, 2008). Testing commenced with 0 mm between the two points of the prong, gradually increasing the distance by 5 mm increments until the subject was able to perceive two points from one. The participant was instructed to say 'one' when the distance between the probes felt like one point and 'two' when distance between the probes felt like two points. Catch trials were included randomly by using only one point or the widest possible distance to make sure the participants were not guessing according to the pattern of stimuli presented. The distance between points at which the participant reported feeling two points was measured in millimetres. The mean of three recordings taken consecutively at each site, at 1 min intervals, was used for analysis.

Temporal summation

Temporal summation was assessed over both ECRB muscles and the right tibialis anterior muscle according to an established protocol (Hayashi et al., 2013). Using a pressure algometer, 10 sequential pressure stimulations (one second duration), with a two second interval were applied at the previously calculated pressure pain threshold for each site. Each participant scored their pain intensity for each of the 10 stimuli during the sequential stimulation on an 11-point NRS anchored with '0' as no pain and '10' as worst pain imaginable. A total of 10 NRS scores were recorded for each site. For analysis, the 10 NRS scores for each site were first normalised by subtraction of the first stimulus score. The average NRS scores from pressure stimulations 2 - 4 (NRS 1), 5 - 7 (NRS 2) and 8 - 10 (NRS 3) were calculated and used for analysis.

4.3.5 Neurophysiological measures

Electromyography

Prior to electromyographic recording, the skin was shaved and cleaned with Nuprep skin prep gel (Weaver and Company, Aurora, CO, USA) and chlorhexidine solution (Livingstone International, NSW, Australia). Electromyography was recorded from both ECRB muscles using disposable dual silver/silver chloride surface electrodes (Noraxon USA Inc, Arizona, USA). Electrodes were positioned over the muscle belly, determined as 1 cm lateral to a point that was 5 cm distal to the lateral epicondyle (Bergin et al., 2015). Ground electrodes were positioned over the right and left olecranon. Electromyography signals were amplified 1000 x, filtered between 20 to 1000 Hz and sampled at 2000 Hz using Signal software and a Micro 1401 data acquisition system (Cambridge Electronic Design, Cambridge UK).

Corticomotor excitability

Transcranial magnetic stimulation was performed over both M1s in all participants. Singlepulse stimuli were delivered to the M1 representation of the ECRB muscles using a figure-ofeight coil connected to a Magstim 200 stimulator (Magstim Co Ltd., Dyfed, UK). The coil was oriented at a 45° angle to produce a posterior to anterior current flow and positioned over the optimal cortical site to evoke an EMG response in each ECRB muscle. The optimal cortical site to elicit motor evoked potentials in the affected and unaffected ECRB muscles, and the matched sides in healthy controls, was determined as the site where the lowest stimulus intensity evoked the largest response. These sites were marked with a pen to ensure accurate coil placement throughout testing. Resting motor threshold (RMT) was defined as the lowest intensity of stimulation required to evoke a motor evoked potential > 50 μ V peak-to-peak amplitude in at least three of five consecutive trials (Rossi et al., 2009). Fifteen motor evoked potentials (rate of 1 every 6 s) were recorded from each M1 at 120% of resting motor threshold. The hemisphere test order was randomised between participants. The average peak-to-peak motor evoked potential amplitude (mV) was calculated at each time-point for each M1 and this value used for analysis.

Interhemispheric Inhibition

Interhemispheric inhibition was probed using a conditioning-test paradigm. A conditioning pulse applied to the M1 corresponding to the affected side (or matched side for healthy controls) preceded a test stimulus applied to the 'unaffected' M1. Transcranial magnetic stimulation was delivered using two Magstim 200 magnetic stimulators (Magstim Co. Ltd., Dyfed, UK), each connected to a figure-of-eight coil with external wing diameters of 70 mm (M1 corresponding to the unaffected side, matched side in healthy controls) and 50 mm (M1 corresponding to the affected side, matched side in healthy controls). The coil delivering the test stimulus to the affected side was positioned tangentially over the scalp, perpendicular to the midsagittal line, with the coil handle pointing backwards at a 45° angle to induce a posterior to anterior current direction. The conditioning stimulus coil was oriented 90° relative to the midsagittal line to avoid overlapping the coils (Chen et al., 2003; Ni et al., 2009). It has been previously reported that the current direction of the conditioning stimulus does not affect the degree of IHI (Chen et al., 2003; Ni et al., 2009). To investigate short and long latency IHI, 10 and 40 ms interstimulus intervals were selected, respectively. These interstimulus intervals were selected as they demonstrate the maximum amount of inhibition identified (Ferbert et al., 1992; Sattler et al., 2012). Short and long latency IHI were recorded from the affected M1 to the unaffected M1. The test stimulus intensity was adjusted to produce a peak-to-peak motor evoked potential amplitude of 0.3 - 0.4 mV in relaxed ECRB and the conditioning stimulus intensity was set at 120%, 130%, 140% and 150% of RMT. These intensities were selected as they have been shown to elicit reliable levels of IHI in forearm muscles of healthy individuals (Ibey et al., 2015). In pseudorandom order, 10 trials were recorded at each interstimulus interval and a further 10 trials were recorded using the test stimulus alone (30 trials in total) with 5 seconds between each trial for each conditioning intensity. Motor evoked potential responses were measured as peak-to-peak amplitudes and conditioned responses were expressed as a proportion of the unconditioned test response for analysis. A ratio score of <1 denotes interhemispheric inhibition and a ratio score of >1 denotes interhemispheric facilitation.

4.3.6 Statistical analysis

Statistical analyses were performed with SPSS software (version 25, IBM Corp, Armonk, NY, USA). Prior to performing 3-way mixed ANOVA analysis or repeated measures ANOVA analysis, data were assessed using Mauchly's test for sphericity. Greenhouse-Geisser corrections for non-sphericity were applied where appropriate. Prior to performing one-way ANOVA analysis, data were assessed for homogeneity using Levene's test, where this was violated the Welch t test was applied. Where appropriate, Holm-Sidak corrections were applied to account for multiple comparisons. Data in text are presented as mean \pm standard deviation unless otherwise stated. Statistical significance was accepted at p \leq 0.05.

4.3.6.1 Tests of sensorimotor function

Pressure pain thresholds

Pressure pain thresholds were compared using a 3-way mixed ANOVA with a between-subject factor 'group' (LE vs healthy control) and within subject factors 'side' (affected, unaffected) and 'muscle' (ECRB vs tibialis Anterior).

Maximum and pain free grip strength

Maximum grip strength was compared between the LE and healthy control groups for each side using separate one-way ANOVAs. As only individuals with LE completed the test of pain free grip strength, pain-free grip strength at the affected side was compared to maximum grip

strength at the affected side only within the LE group using a one-way repeated measures ANOVA.

Two-point discrimination

Two-point discrimination was compared between LE and healthy control groups for each side using separate one-way ANOVAs.

Temporal summation

Temporal summation was compared between LE and healthy control groups with factor 'NRS score' (NRS 1, NRS 2, NRS 3) for the ECRB of the affected and unaffected (or matched) side and the right tibialis anterior muscle using separate one-way repeated measures ANOVA.

4.3.6.2 Neurophysiological measures

Corticomotor excitability was compared between groups (LE vs healthy control) for each hemisphere using separate one-way ANOVAs. Short and long latency IHI were compared between groups (LE vs healthy controls) for each conditioning intensity (120% 130%, 140% and 150%) using separate one-way ANOVAs.
4.4 Results

4.4.1 Self-reported outcomes of pain and disability

Participant characteristics are summarised in table 4.1. The average duration of LE was 26 ± 52 months. For the PRTEE questionnaire the total score for the week preceding testing (combined pain and function subscale) was 38.5 ± 14.7 out of 100. For the BPI-sf the average score for pain severity and pain interference in the 24 hours preceding testing were 3.2 ± 1.4 and 3.1 ± 2.1 out of 10 respectively. The average current pain intensity in individuals with LE reported on the day of testing was 3 ± 1.8 points out of 10 on the NRS. On the modified muscle soreness Likert scale the average score reported was 3.2 ± 1.2 , equivalent to a light muscle soreness when lifting objects or carrying objects (Slater et al., 2003).

4.4.2 Tests of sensorimotor function

There were no differences in pressure pain thresholds between individuals with LE and healthy controls ($F_{1,38} = 2.39$, p = 0.13, Table 4.3) and no differences between the affected and unaffected (or matched) sides ($F_{1,38} = 0.28$, p = 0.59).

Maximum grip strength was lower on the affected side in individuals with LE compared with the matched side of healthy controls ($F_{1,32.97} = 4.01$, p = 0.05; Table 4.3). No difference in maximum grip strength was observed for the unaffected side in individuals with LE compared with the matched side for healthy controls ($F_{1,38} = 3.22$; p = 0.8). Within the LE group, pain free grip strength was lower than maximum grip strength on the affected side (Max Grip strength 27.3 ± 11.5 kg; Pain free Grip strength 22.5 ± 10.2 kg; $F_{1,19} = 18.44$, p < 0.001).

Two-point discrimination did not differ between individuals with LE and healthy controls for either the affected ($F_{1,38} = 1.39$, p = 0.24) or unaffected ($F_{1,38} = 0.01$, p = 0.89) sides (Table 4.3).

No difference in temporal summation was observed between individuals with LE and healthy controls for the ECRB of the affected side ($F_{2,76} = 0.25$, p = 0.63), unaffected side ($F_{2,76} = 1.53$, p = 0.22) or the right tibialis anterior muscle ($F_{2,76} = 0.03$, p = 0.91).

4.4.3 Neurophysiological measures

There was no difference in corticomotor excitability between individuals with LE and healthy controls for either hemisphere (affected: $F_{1,38} = 0.06$, p = 0.81; unaffected: $F_{1,38} = 0.6$, p = 0.44; Figure 4.2; Table 4.2). The magnitude of short- and long-latency IHI did not differ between individuals with LE and healthy controls at any conditioning intensity (short IHI: p all > 0.15; long IHI: all p > 0.07) (Figure 4.3; Table 4.2).



Figure 4.2. Group data (mean \pm standard deviation) for corticomotor excitability for the LE (black bars) and healthy control (grey bars) groups recorded for the affected and unaffected M1 (or the matched hemispheres for healthy controls). Corticomotor excitability did not differ between groups. M1, primary motor cortex.



Figure 4.3. Group data (mean \pm standard deviation) for IHI from the affected to the unaffected M1 for the LE group (black bars; n = 20) and the matched hemispheres of healthy controls (grey bars; n = 20). Four blocks of 30 trials were recorded at conditioning stimulus (CS) intensities of 120%, 130%, 140% and 150% of resting motor threshold. IHI was determined by expressing the conditioned MEP as a percentage of the unconditioned test MEP (percentage of test MEP). There was no difference in the magnitude of IHI between groups at conditioning stimulus intensities of 120% (A), 130% (B), 140% (C) or 150% (D). IHI, interhemispheric inhibition; LE, lateral epicondylalgia; MEP, motor evoked potential.

Subject	Gender	Age (years)	Dominant arm	Affected arm(s)	Symptom duration (months)	NRS (/10)
1	М	36	R	R	48	2
2	Μ	59	R	R	2	2
3	Μ	55	R	R	240	1
4	F	48	R	R	36	4
5	F	36	R	R	2	0
6	F	40	R	R	2	7
7	F	37	R	R	36	0
8	F	55	R	R	5	3
9	Μ	37	R	R	12	4
10	Μ	39	R	L	2	3
11	М	47	R	R	2	2
12	F	49	L	L	7	3
13	Μ	61	R	R	12	4
14	F	33	R	R & L	6	3
15	F	47	R	R & L	6	3
16	Μ	51	R	R & L	7	5
17	F	45	R	R & L	36	3
18	Μ	33	R	L & R	24	1
19	Μ	62	R	R & L	12	4
20	Μ	41	R	R & L	18	6
Note: NRS, numerical rating scale; M, male; F, female; R, right; L, left						

Table 4.1 Demographic and clinical characteristics for individuals with lateral epicondylalgia (n = 20)

Table 4.2. Healthy control and LE group data for peak-to-peak amplitudes for corticomotor excitability (raw values) and interhemispheric inhibition (ratios).

	LE				Healthy con	trols		
Corticomotor excitability (mV)								
Affected M1	0.66 ± 0.48				0.70 ± 0.35			
Unaffected M1	0.66 ± 0.37				0.75 ± 0.37			
IHI for affected to unaffected M1 (mV)	120% CS	130% CS	140% CS	150% CS	120% CS	130% CS	140% CS	150% CS
Unconditioned test response	0.39 ± 0.05	0.36 ± 0.05	0.40 ± 0.06	0.40 ± 0.06	0.38 ± 0.03	0.38 ± 0.05	0.40 ± 0.05	0.39 ± 0.05
IHI 10 ms (proportion of test)	0.86 ± 0.31	0.84 ± 0.57	0.82 ± 0.49	0.58 ± 0.33	0.79 ± 0.27	0.81 ± 0.34	0.63 ± 0.29	0.62 ± 0.37
IHI 40 ms (proportion of test)	0.72 ± 0.34	0.77 ± 0.34	0.64 ± 0.30	0.71 ± 0.39	0.75 ± 0.27	0.70 ± 0.28	0.69 ± 0.18	0.58 ± 0.22
Values are mean ± standard deviation (LE: n = 20; Healthy controls: n = 20) Note: IHI, interhemispheric inhibition; M1, primary motor cortex; CS, conditioning stimulus								

Table 4.3. Sensorimotor outcomes for LE $(n = 20)$ and healthy controls $(n = 20)$))
--	----

	LE			Healthy controls			
Pressure pain thresholds (kPa)							
Affected ECRB	280.87 ± 135.28			369.59 ± 163.9			
Unaffected ECRB	318.4 ± 133.08			381.81 ± 163.59			
Affected Tibialis anterior	611.50 ± 268.87			751.91 ± 304.11			
Unaffected Tibialis anterior	649.60 ± 285.99			739.72 ± 259.31			
Maximum grip strength (kg)							
Affected ECRB	27.29 ± 11.54			33.49 ± 7.64			
Unaffected ECRB	26.30 ± 11.23			31.93 ± 8.37			
Pain-free grip strength (kg)							
Affected ECRB	22.53 ± 10.19			-			
Two-point discrimination (mm)							
Affected ECRB 37.49 ± 8.99				34.16 ± 8.82			
Unaffected ECRB	34.28 ± 7.77			34.70 ± 11.90			
Temporal summation (NRS)	NRS 1	NRS 2	NRS 3	NRS 1	NRS 2	NRS 3	
Affected ECRB	5.42 ± 6.68	12.94 ± 11.84	17.51 ± 15.68	2.41 ± 5.10	7.86 ± 12.35	12.86 ± 18.48	
Unaffected ECRB	1.85 ± 5.42	10.30 ± 13.07	16.03 ± 19.82	4.55 ± 10.83	8.78 ± 19.26	12.80 ± 23.03	
Right Tibialis Anterior	1.98 ± 5.08	8.53 ± 12.65	11.46 ± 16.61	2.08 ± 4.28	7.84 ± 12.83	11.24 ± 14.21	

Note: ECRB, extensor carpi radialis brevis; kPa, kilopascals; kg, kilogram; mm, millimetres; NRS, numerical rating scale

4.5 Discussion

The aim of this preliminary study was to investigate interhemispheric inhibition between the primary motor cortices in individuals with and without chronic LE. No difference was observed in the magnitude of IHI or in the level of corticomotor excitability between individuals with chronic LE and healthy controls. Contrary to our hypothesis, and previous work in LE, we did not observe impaired sensorimotor function in individuals with LE relative to healthy controls which could explain the lack of neurophysiological findings in this cohort.

Interhemispheric inhibition can be assessed using paired-pulse stimulation at ISI's between 6 - 50 ms (Ferbert et al., 1992). Occurring via transcallosal pathways of the corpus callosum, IHI is mediated by GABAergic neurotransmitters (Irlbacher et al., 2007). To our knowledge, this is the first study to investigate IHI in any clinical musculoskeletal pain condition. Our findings demonstrate no difference between individuals with chronic LE and healthy controls in short or long latency IHI at any conditioning stimulus intensity. In experimental pain studies, decreased IHI from the affected (corresponding to the painful muscle) to unaffected M1 has been demonstrated in response to acute and sustained muscle pain (Alhassani et al., 2019; Schabrun et al., 2016). Specifically, IHI decreased in response to pain lasting minutes (Alhassani et al., 2019) to days (Schabrun et al., 2016). Based on these previous studies, we hypothesised that IHI would be altered in chronic LE. However, our findings did not support this theory.

One explanation for our results is the relatively low pain severity experienced by our LE cohort that may have been insufficient to drive alterations in IHI. The LE participants in this study self-reported mild pain on the numerical rating scale on the day of testing of 3 ± 1.8 out of 10 and low interference of pain with daily function (BPI: 3.1 ± 2.1 out of 10). In addition, the absence of impaired sensorimotor function in our cohort may have explained the lack of change

in IHI. Indeed, studies have shown that individuals with higher pain and worse disability (severe LE; PRTEE score > 54) have significantly impaired sensorimotor function when compared to a healthy control group (Coombes et al., 2012b). Further, within that same study, pressure pain thresholds were lower in the severe LE sub-group compared to the mild LE sub-group. The finding of higher mechanical sensitivity in individuals with severe LE symptoms implies a greater contribution of central nervous system mechanisms including potential central disinhibition of nociceptive pathways (Huge et al., 2008). Thus, it is plausible that low pain severity (NRS score < 4) and preserved sensorimotor function in our LE cohort was associated with normal functioning of IHI. Future studies with sufficient power to examine a range of clinical presentations of LE are needed to definitively determine whether IHI is altered in chronic LE.

The current study does not provide sufficient evidence to associate altered IHI with the development of bilateral sensorimotor symptoms in LE. However, it is noteworthy that a strong body of evidence supports this relationship in neurological conditions such as stroke. For example, increased IHI is exerted from the unaffected to the affected M1 in stroke and this increase in inhibition is associated with impaired motor recovery of the paretic limb (Duque et al., 2005; Murase et al., 2007). More studies are needed to determine whether such an association is also observed in musculoskeletal disorders. Further, future studies should include sufficient power to compare IHI between individuals presenting with unilateral vs. bilateral symptoms and tighten the inclusion criteria for pain duration and current pain scores. Indeed, it is conceivable that IHI is only altered in those presenting with bilateral symptoms.

Finally, the relationship between pain, tissue damage, sensorimotor function and peripheral and/or central mechanisms may not be linear or causal in chronic musculoskeletal conditions such as LE. For example, in musculoskeletal pain conditions it is well documented that

individuals may suffer from severe and/or widespread pain in the absence of tissue pathology (Arendt-Nielsen & Graven-Nielsen, 2011). In LE, individuals report improvements in pain and function despite the presence of on-going sensorimotor deficits, suggesting sensorimotor function may not be closely related to pain and disability (Bisset et al., 2009). Thus, a non-linear relationship between LE severity, altered IHI, corticomotor excitability, and sensorimotor dysfunction may exist, and this could be explored in future studies.

In addition to the limitations discussed above, there are several other limitations associated with the current study that should be acknowledged. First, we did not assess IHI in the opposite direction i.e., from the unaffected to the affected hemisphere. As IHI is bi-directional in nature it is possible that impairments exist in the opposite direction. Future studies should investigate IHI bi-directionally to comprehensively understand the relationship between IHI and bilateral symptom development in chronic LE. Second, handedness may impact IHI, with more inhibition demonstrated from the dominant to non-dominant hemisphere (Bäumer et al., 2007; Netz et al., 1995). Studies involving a larger sample should control for this confounding variable. Third, IHI results may be impacted by analysis of two affected sides of some individuals where ANOVAs evaluated side (affected, unaffected). Care should be taken when interpreting the results. Fourth, although our sample was sufficiently powered to detect a group difference between individuals with LE and healthy controls, a larger sample would have allowed comparison between those with unilateral and bilateral LE and those with LE of varying severity and this should be considered in future. Finally, variability in IHI and corticomotor excitability at the affected side is observed in the data, particularly IHI at the 10 ms ISI. Whilst the degree of variability in IHI is consistent with previous literature (Schabrun et al., 2016; Alhassani et al., 2019; Sattler et al., 2012), future studies may seek to explore individual factors known to influence neuroplasticity and contribute to variability in TMS

measures such as age, caffeine consumption, exercise, time of day and disease specific factors such as symptom severity and duration".

4.6 Conclusion:

This study investigated IHI between the primary motor cortices of individuals with chronic LE and healthy controls. There was no difference in the degree of IHI between those with LE and those without. Future studies are needed to confirm the finding that IHI does not contribute to sensorimotor dysfunction in musculoskeletal disorders such as LE.

CHAPTER 1	Introduction and Literature review
CHAPTER 2	IHI between primary motor cortices in response to acute muscle pain
CHAPTER 3	IHI between primary sensory cortices in response to acute muscle pain
CHAPTER 4	IHI between primary motor cortices in individuals with lateral epicondylalgia
CHAPTER 5	Discussion and Conclusion



DISCUSSION AND CONCLUSION

The overarching aim of this thesis was to determine whether: i) IHI is altered in response to unilateral musculoskeletal pain; and ii) a relationship exists between altered IHI (if any) and the development of bilateral sensorimotor dysfunction. To achieve this, three studies were conducted. These studies provided novel insight into IHI in experimentally induced acute muscle pain and chronic lateral elbow pain. This chapter synthesises the body of work forming this thesis, highlighting how these findings make a valued contribution to the current body of knowledge. Research implications, future research directions, and limitations are also discussed.

5.1 Contribution of the thesis to the body of knowledge

Bilateral sensorimotor deficits have been observed in some people with unilateral musculoskeletal conditions (Heales et al., 2014). One mechanism hypothesised to underpin the development of bilateral symptoms in unilateral musculoskeletal pain conditions is altered IHI. Interhemispheric inhibition has been investigated in neurological conditions such as stroke and focal hand dystonia (Beck et al., 2009; Duque et al., 2005; Murase et al., 2004; Nelson et al., 2010; Sattler et al., 2014; Takechi et al., 2014), but to date, only one study has examined IHI in musculoskeletal pain (Schabrun et al., 2016). Prior to the research undertaken in this thesis, no data were available on the effect of acute or chronic musculoskeletal pain on IHI between M1s and S1s. Obtaining such data is important in providing a better understanding of the relationship between IHI, pain duration and bilateral sensorimotor dysfunction in unilateral musculoskeletal pain conditions. Hence, studies 1 and 2 (Chapters 2 - 3) of this thesis aimed to explore the effect of experimentally induced acute unilateral muscle pain on IHI between M1s and S1s, respectively. The relationship between altered IHI (if any) and changes in sensorimotor function at the unaffected side was examined in both studies. Study 3 (Chapter 4) compared IHI between M1s in individuals with chronic lateral epicondylalgia and healthy controls.

Study 1 (Chapter 2) demonstrated that: i) IHI was reduced from the affected to the unaffected M1 following the resolution of acute unilateral muscle pain in a hand muscle; and ii) increased sensitivity to pressure developed on both the affected and unaffected sides. However, in contrast with previous studies, no linear correlation was found between the reduction in IHI and the increased sensitivity to pressure on the unaffected side. This discrepancy in findings may be explained by methodological differences between Study 1 and previous studies (described in Study 1, Chapter 2) such as the duration and intensity of induced muscle pain. Alternatively, a non-linear relationship may exist between IHI and sensorimotor function.

Regardless, the findings suggest that decreased IHI occurs rapidly in response to acute muscle pain and this mechanism could have a role (albeit non-linear) in the development of sensorimotor dysfunction in the unaffected hand.

Study 2 (Chapter 3) hypothesised that IHI would be altered between S1s in response to experimentally induced acute unilateral muscle pain and would be associated with the development of sensorimotor dysfunction on the unaffected side. Contrary to our hypothesis, Study 2 demonstrated no change in IHI between S1s following induction of acute unilateral muscle pain in a hand muscle. However, increased sensitivity to pressure was identified on both the affected and unaffected sides. This finding suggests that S1 IHI is not affected by acute muscle pain and is not associated with the increased sensitivity to pressure observed in the unaffected hand.

Study 3 (Chapter 4) compared IHI between M1s in individuals with chronic LE, and age and sex matched healthy pain-free individuals. Previous studies in pathological populations such as stroke and focal hand dystonia have shown a relationship between altered IHI and sensorimotor dysfunction. For example, in stroke, increased IHI from the unaffected to the stroke-affected hemisphere inhibits recovery of the lesioned hemisphere as well as motor recovery of the paretic limb. In focal hand dystonia, decreased IHI from the unaffected to affected hemisphere is associated with the development of mirror movements on the unaffected side (Baumer et al., 2016; Beck et al., 2009; Duque et al., 2005; Murase et al., 2004; Murase et al., 2007; Sattler et al., 2014). Based on these previous findings, it was hypothesised that IHI would be reduced from the affected (corresponding to the LE affected side) to the unaffected M1 in individuals with LE. However, the findings from Study 3 demonstrated no difference in IHI between M1s of individuals with LE compared to healthy controls. Furthermore, impaired sensorimotor function was not observed in individuals with chronic LE, relative to healthy

controls. Preserved sensorimotor function and the relatively low pain severity experienced by the recruited LE cohort (3 ± 1.8 out of 10 points on the numerical rating scale on the day of testing) may explain the normal functioning of IHI in this study.

Taken together, these studies provide an original contribution to the body of knowledge on IHI between human M1s and S1s in the presence of musculoskeletal pain. The studies provide novel evidence that: i) IHI is altered between M1s but not S1s in response to acute muscle pain; and ii) IHI between M1s is not altered in individuals with chronic LE when compared to healthy controls (Figure 5.1). The following sections present in depth interpretive discussion of the findings of altered IHI in M1 but not S1 in response to acute muscle pain, followed by a discussion of IHI in chronic musculoskeletal pain.

Thesis Aim: Exploring interhemispheric inhibition in musculoskeletal pain

What is the role of IHI in experimentally induced acute unilateral muscle pain?					
IHI between primary motor cortices	IHI between primary sensory cortices				
Study 1 (Chapter 2): \downarrow IHI + increased bilateral sensitivity to pressure pain.	Study 2 (Chapter 3): No change in IHI + increased bilateral sensitivity to pressure pain.				



What is the role of IHI in chronic musculoskeletal pain?

IHI between primary motor cortices in chronic lateral epicondylalgia

Study 3 (Chapter 4): No change in IHI, and no change in sensorimotor function in the chronic LE group.

Figure 5.1. Schematic representation of the main findings from Studies 1 - 3. IHI, interhemispheric inhibition; $\downarrow =$ decreased; $\uparrow =$ increased.

5.2 Altered IHI between M1s but not S1s in response to acute muscle pain

The role of IHI in response to acute musculoskeletal pain had not been previously investigated. This thesis provides information that enhances our knowledge on the role of IHI between M1s and S1s in response to experimentally induced acute unilateral muscle pain and the possible mechanism underpinning the development of bilateral sensorimotor dysfunction. In support of our hypothesis, Study 1 demonstrated a reduction in IHI from the affected to unaffected M1. However, IHI between S1s was unchanged in Study 2. Bilateral sensorimotor changes characterised by increased sensitivity to pressure pain following the resolution of acute unilateral muscle pain were observed in both Studies 1 and 2. Yet, no relationship was observed between altered M1 IHI and increased sensitivity in the non-injected hand in Study 1. Studies 1 and 2 had separate sets of participants. As such, variability in the participant demographics and characteristics across the two studies may explain the differences in findings. However, a non-linear relationship may exist between IHI and sensorimotor function in Study 1, and it is plausible that decreased IHI between M1s following acute short-lasting pain reflects a protective strategy.

Altered IHI between M1s in response to acute muscle pain may occur to protect the body from further pain and / or injury, or the threat of further pain and / or injury. Adaptations to pain are complex and occur at multiple sites along the CNS pathway including the cortex (i.e., decreased cortical excitability, and increased intracortical inhibition) and the spinal cord (i.e., peripheral noxious input initiating central sensitisation) (Hodges & Tucker, 2011). Altered IHI may be part of this complex adaptation that occurs at the CNS. Whilst an association between reduced IHI and increased sensitivity to pressure was not observed in Study 1, an association between these two variables was observed by Schabrun et al. (2016), in response to sustained muscle pain. This discrepancy in findings may be due to differences in experimental pain models (hypertonic saline vs nerve growth factor) and the pain duration (minutes vs days). It is possible that a longer duration of pain i.e., pain that persists over multiple days and sensitises the system, is required to observe an association between decreased IHI and sensorimotor dysfunction. Further, the observed decreased IHI may reflect a redistribution of activity to the unaffected hand that may serve to decrease pain severity and prevent ongoing sensitisation of the painful hand (Hodges & Tucker, 2011). This may also reflect the motor systems goal to employ alternate motor strategies to protect the painful part. Therefore, when pain is acute, a decrease in IHI between M1s could relate to the development of sensorimotor symptoms in the unaffected hand, thus providing a protective strategy by activating the unaffected muscles to anticipate future threat or pain. Whilst this hypothesis requires confirmation, this protective strategy could provide a beneficial short-term adaptation but lead to potential long-term consequences such as the development of bilateral sensorimotor dysfunction and chronic pain.

Whilst reduced IHI was demonstrated between M1s, this was not demonstrated between S1s in response to acute muscle pain. Possible explanations include: (i) S1 and M1 IHI circuits act independently; (ii) S1 and M1 IHI circuits are reciprocally connected; and (iii) IHI changes in response to acute muscle pain occur between S2s.

5.2.1 S1 and M1 IHI circuits act independently in response to pain

One potential explanation for why acute muscle pain influences IHI between M1s and not S1s is that S1 and M1 circuits receive and process acute muscle pain independent of each other. For example, Schabrun et al. (2013) investigated the sensory-motor interaction of the hemisphere corresponding to the painful muscle before, during and immediately after hypertonic saline induced acute muscle pain and found S1 excitability reduced during and after pain resolution. In contrast, M1 excitability was reduced only after pain resolution changes. Further, there were no correlations between changes in M1 and S1 excitability at any time point. Similarly, we showed in Study 1 that M1 IHI was reduced immediately after, and 30

mins following the resolution of acute muscle pain but IHI between S1s was unchanged at any time point in Study 2. The temporal dispersion of processing of the M1 and S1 IHI circuits suggests that they may be affected by pain independently of each other.

Neuroimaging study findings also suggest independent processing of M1 and S1 in response to pain. As M1 and S1 are in close proximity, it is possible that when one region is stimulated concomitant activation of the other region occurs. Rao et al. (2020) investigated whether continuous theta burst stimulation (cTBS) of S1 to increase pain thresholds is confounded by M1 excitability changes. They demonstrated that cTBS over S1 in healthy individuals increased pain thresholds of a hand muscle to electrical stimulation but did not influence M1 excitability. As cTBS over S1 did not modulate M1 excitability, this suggests independent processing of S1 and M1 in response to pain. Neuroimaging studies using Positron Emission Tomography (PET) however, are inconclusive regarding whether M1 is modulated independently or in conjunction with S1. These studies sought to better characterise cortical processing of noxious stimuli and demonstrated variable findings that show increased (Casey et al., 1996; Coghill et al., 1994; Talbot et al., 1991), decreased (Peyron et al., 1999) or unchanged M1 activity (Jones et al., 1991) in combination with S1 changes in pain. These inconsistent findings are likely attributed to methodological variations between studies such as the method of induced pain, pain intensity, duration, and the temporal resolution limitation of PET, that limit comparisons between studies and drawing conclusions. In Studies 1 and 2, methodologies were similar with pain induced via injection of hypertonic saline in the hand muscles. Further, both studies demonstrated comparable mean peak pain intensities on the day of testing (Study 1: 7.9 ± 1.8 on the NRS; Study 2: 7.7 \pm 1.6 on the NRS), and average pain durations (Study 1: 9.9 \pm 3.4 minutes; Study 2: 7.3 ± 2.1 minutes) yet resulted in contrasting IHI findings (Study 1: reduced IHI between M1s; Study 2: no change in IHI between S1s). It is therefore possible to speculate that independent S1 and M1 IHI processing may occur in response to acute short-lasting pain

with a significant reduction in M1 IHI following pain resolution. Future studies may seek to examine whether S1 IHI is affected in response to pain, and measure M1 IHI concurrently to better understand the interactions and relationship.

5.2.2 M1 and S1 IHI circuits are reciprocally connected

An alternate explanation for the differences in M1 and S1 IHI processing in response to pain is that M1 and S1 are reciprocally connected with a more complex interactive relationship. The primary sensory cortex has the ability to alter IHI between motor cortices contributing to altered motor output (Zapallow et al., 2013). Zapallow et al. (2013) demonstrated application of cTBS over the left S1 increased IHI from the left to right M1 (corresponding to the ipsilateral left hand) 45 - 60 minutes following cTBS. They suggest this occurs as S1 influences ipsilateral M1 excitatory transcallosal connections which strongly excite inhibitory interneurons of the opposite M1, decreasing corticospinal output of that hemisphere and altering motor output. Further, this finding supports the hypothesis that homologous S1 are indirectly connected through a transcallosal pathway from S1-M1-M1-S1 (Brodie et al., 2014; Zapallow et al., 2013). It is suggested that this indirect pathway has longer processing times between 36 - 80 ms (Ragert et al., 2011). Therefore, taking together the indirect transcallosal pathway processing time, and previous studies demonstrating M1 IHI changes 45 - 60 minutes following S1 stimulation, it is possible that in response to short-lasting muscle pain, disinhibition between S1s occurs: i) at an ISI later than 25 ms, reflecting a longer processing time that we did not capture; and / or ii) at a follow up time longer than 30 minutes. Hence, future studies may seek to investigate S1 IHI at ISI's longer than 25 ms and follow-up the effects of pain for longer than 30 minutes to determine whether, and how long after the resolution of acute muscle pain, S1 IHI changes occur.

Further, sequential activations of other cortical regions may be involved in the reduction of IHI in response to pain. It is understood that pain engages a widespread network such as the supplementary motor area, pre-motor area, the anterior cingulate cortex, S2, and the thalamus (Coghill, 2020; Coghill et al., 1999; Coghill et al., 1994; Peyron et al., 2000). A reduction in IHI may occur due to the concomitant activation and input of M1, S1, and other regions of the pain network that contribute to the transcallosal connection of cortical hemispheres. For example, inhibition of the N30 SEP component was observed pre-pain in Study 2. The N30 component represents a complex cortical and subcortical loop linking the basal ganglia, thalamus, pre-motor areas and M1 (Kanovsky et al., 2003; Passmore et al., 2014). Hence, inhibition of the N30 component may suggest activation of other cortical regions altering the neural circuitry that underpins IHI. Alternatively, reorganisation can occur at the spinal level first and project to the cortex (Jones, 2000). The thalamus receives nociceptive input projecting to S1 and M1. A reduction in inhibition of thalamic neurons in response to pain may occur prior to reaching the S1 and M1 regions (Kandić et al., 2021). Once the nociceptive information reaches the M1 and S1 regions, the information is transferred callosally, contributing to sensory components of pain. To this end, future studies may be required to examine the concomitant activation of other cortical regions in the modulation of IHI in response to pain.

In addition to the hypothesis that M1 and S1 IHI circuits are reciprocally connected, integration of sensory and motor information is required to successfully achieve a sensorimotor task, known as sensorimotor integration. Sensory afferent input arrives to S1 before it is conveyed to M1 (Umeda et al., 2019; Zagha et al., 2013) and synaptic inputs are shown to be stronger from S1 to M1 than inputs from M1 to S1 (Rocco-Donovan et al., 2011). Research has shown that sensory afferent input affects the excitability of motor projections to the muscles in the same arm and the excitability of projections to muscles in the opposite arm (Swayne et al., 2006; Werhahn et al., 2002a; Werhahn et al., 2002b). For example, vibrations applied to the

left first dorsal interosseous (FDI) muscle resulted in reduced MEP amplitudes and increased IHI of the right FDI muscle suggesting transcallosal fibres mediating this effect (Swayne et al., 2006). We can hypothesise that a similar mechanism of sensorimotor integration occurred in Studies 1 and 2 whereby the sensory information i.e., painful input, was transferred from the periphery, reached and was processed by the primary sensory cortex and conveyed to the motor cortices decreasing IHI. Furthermore, as S1 conveys information about somatosensation, proprioception and visuomotor changes to M1 (Edwards et al., 2019), and M1 integrates the sensory information provided by S1 to process, plan and predict movement (Avanzino et al., 2015), it is plausible that increased pressure sensitivity at the unaffected hand muscles demonstrated in Studies 1 and 2 occurred as a result of altered sensorimotor information.

5.2.3 IHI changes in response to acute muscle pain occur between S2s

Another possible explanation why reduced IHI occurred between M1s and not S1s is that a reduction in IHI in response to musculoskeletal pain may occur between S2 rather than S1. Indeed, the literature demonstrates interactions between ipsilateral and contralateral inputs to S2 with dense transcallosal connections and large receptive fields reported between homologous S2s compared to S1s (Hoechstetter et al., 2001; Iwamura, 2000; Picard et al., 1990). Bilateral activation of S2 has been demonstrated in response to tactile information that is unilateral, and suppression of ipsilateral S1 is observed in response to bilateral stimulation attributed to interhemispheric transfer of information between S2s (Frot & Mauguière, 1999; Picard et al., 1990; Stancak et al., 2002). Further, S2 is shown to have a role in the sensorydiscriminative dimension of pain (Maihöfner et al., 2006) with bilateral activation of S2 demonstrated in response to pain (Fabri et al., 2005; Fabri et al., 2001; Fabri et al., 1999) and specifically when processing pain of high intensity. For example, using magnetoencephalography, Timmermann et al. (2001) demonstrated strong activation in S2 in response to pain of high intensity above threshold levels but weaker activations in S2 when pain was of a threshold level. While there is some evidence demonstrating S1 activation is related to pain intensity (Antal et al., 2008; Coghill et al., 1994; Grundmann et al., 2011), other investigations do not show this relationship (Jones et al., 1991; Peyron et al., 2000; Schabrun et al., 2015b; Xu et al., 1997). As Study 2 used an acute muscle pain model that induced a sharp intense pain with a rapid decline in intensity (Peak pain: NRS 7.7 \pm 1.6 out of 10), and S2 is known to process pain of high intensity, this could suggest that changes in S2 IHI may have occurred that we were unable to explore in this thesis. Further studies are required to investigate whether IHI between S2s is affected by acute muscle pain and whether a relationship exists with pain intensity.

When combined, the findings from Studies 1 and 2 demonstrate a reduction in IHI between M1s but not between S1s, providing novel insight into IHI at an acute stage of pain and expanding our understanding of the temporal profile of IHI in response to acute experimental muscle pain. As IHI between M1s has been demonstrated in response to acute experimental muscle pain (Study 1) and previously in response to sustained experimental muscle pain (Schabrun et al., 2016), we therefore investigated M1 IHI in chronic musculoskeletal pain to add to the knowledge of the temporal profile of IHI in response to musculoskeletal pain.

5.3 The influence of chronic musculoskeletal pain on IHI in M1

To our knowledge there are no previously published studies that investigate IHI between M1s in a chronic musculoskeletal population. To this end, Study 3 (Chapter 4) aimed to investigate IHI between M1s in individuals with chronic LE. Our findings did not show any change in IHI between M1s in individuals with chronic LE compared to healthy controls, nor were bilateral sensorimotor deficits identified in the LE group. Several possibilities could explain these findings.

One possibility is that low pain severity may not be a driver of altered IHI. In Study 1, IHI was found to be reduced in response to experimentally induced acute pain rated as a mean peak pain intensity of 7.9 ± 1.8 out of 10 on the NRS. However, in Study 3, mean pain intensity on the day of testing was reported as 3 ± 1.8 points out of 10 on the NRS and altered IHI was not observed. A recently published systematic review by Chowdhury et al. (2022) demonstrated that reduced corticomotor excitability is associated with higher pain intensity when pain lasts days to weeks, however, reduced excitability is associated with lower pain intensity when pain lasts minutes to hours. In chronic unilateral LE, cortical reorganisation changes such as increased cortical excitability of muscle representations, large overlapping of centre of gravity and reduced number of discrete peaks of muscle representations were associated with high pain severity (Schabrun et al., 2015a). Further, it is suggested that when pain intensity levels are perceived stable by an individual and no further changes in pain intensity are expected, altered motor cortex excitability returns to baseline (Farina et al., 2001; Nijs et al., 2012). For example, Farina et al. (2001) showed MEP amplitudes were significantly inhibited 20 - 30 minutes following the induction of pain and progressively returned to baseline values after 80 minutes when pain was perceived as stable. As cortical processing of pain is reflected differently along the motor pathway and in response to different pain durations, it is plausible that altered IHI may have progressively returned to normal levels once individuals in our chronic LE sample perceived their pain as stable and were not expecting further increases in pain severity. Further, individual differences in IHI in response to pain may relate to pain severity. For example, individuals that display corticomotor depression experience greater pain than those who display facilitation (Seminowicz et al., 2019). It is possible that a similar relationship occurs with IHI that we were unable to evaluate in this study. To investigate this hypothesis further, future studies may aim to characterise the relationship between individual differences in altered IHI and different levels of pain severity.

Another possibility for preserved IHI between M1s in chronic LE is that the degree of IHI varies for different muscles. In humans, it has been shown that the degree of IHI differs in representations of intrinsic hand muscles compared to proximal muscles such as the biceps brachii muscle, thought to be due to a proximal-distal gradient (Sohn et al., 2003). In contrast, however, some studies suggest it is due to the role of the muscles in a functional movement synergy (Harris-Love et al., 2007). Furthermore, previous work highlights corticomotor responsiveness can differ between muscles and tasks in response to pain with proximal and distal muscles adapting differently to comparable experimental muscle pain (Hodges & Tucker, 2011). It is possible that preserved IHI in the chronic LE group reflects the location and function of the ECRB muscle and its ability to adapt differently to pain. Taken together, we can speculate the response of IHI may vary based on the location and function of a given muscle.

Alternatively, smaller IHI changes of the ECRB muscle may have been detected with a combination of brain imaging techniques as opposed to a single modality. Across Studies 1 - 3 we used TMS and EEG individually. Indeed, these brain imaging techniques have advantages with TMS exhibiting moderate temporal and spatial resolution (Wagner et al., 2007), and EEG directly recording brain activity with high temporal resolution in milliseconds, allowing assessment of the brain's temporal processes such as sensory and motor processes (Schomer & Da Silva, 2012). However, limitations of these techniques also exist. For example, the temporal and spatial resolution of TMS is strongly affected by the thickness and size of the brain (Post & Keck, 2001) and the focality of stimulation is dependent on coil size and shape (Rossi et al., 2021; Rossi et al., 2009). Limitations of EEG include low spatial resolution (Schomer & Da Silva, 2012). TMS-EEG has emerged as a powerful tool that has been used increasingly to assess cortical excitability and connectivity (Tremblay et al., 2019). This combination has allowed for high temporal resolution with the ability to differentiate between inhibitory and

facilitatory cortical activations (Wagner et al., 2007) with a recent study showing combined TMS-EEG benefits from the spatial resolution of TMS (Passera et al., 2022).

Combining TMS-EEG would allow for effective evaluation of interhemispheric connectivity in the following ways. First, TMS-induced MEPs could be compared to the EEG signal to determine whether inhibition between M1s via TMS is correlated to inhibition of the EEG signal and determine if the same mechanisms and cortical areas mediate IHI (Barr et al., 2013). Second, combined TMS-EEG would allow the compartmentalisation of IHI recorded between M1s via TMS into its component frequencies (e.g. delta, theta, beta, alpha) via EEG to further characterise the physiology of IHI. For example, beta band oscillations are associated with motor movement (Pfurtscheller, 1997) and gamma oscillations are associated with the experience of pain (Barr et al., 2013). In chronic stroke, increased beta between hemispheres reflecting abnormal IHI has been demonstrated and associated with motor function impairment (Borich et al., 2016). This approach could be used in musculoskeletal pain as a neurophysiological marker of IHI to better understand the relationship between IHI and bilateral sensorimotor dysfunction. Some technical limitations exist with combining TMS-EEG such as the recording of auditory and visual artifacts (Bestmann et al., 2008; Paus, 2005; Wagner et al., 2007). However, combining brain imaging techniques can allow for higher temporal and spatial resolution that could detect smaller changes in IHI that a single brain stimulation technique used in isolation may not be able to. Therefore, combined TMS-EEG could optimise brain stimulation and provide a more detailed picture of the IHI mechanism in response to musculoskeletal pain than one brain imaging technique alone can provide.

Finally, a lack of bilateral sensorimotor deficits in the chronic LE group when compared to healthy controls may explain why IHI changes were not observed. The lack of bilateral deficits observed contrasts with the literature that identifies bilateral sensorimotor deficits in unilateral LE such as reduced grip force, increased upper limb reaction times and reduced speed of movement (Heales et al., 2014). A larger sample size may have had increased power to detect changes in sensorimotor function in the chronic LE group. As no previous studies have investigated IHI in a chronic musculoskeletal population, we based our sample size on a study that investigated IHI in response to sustained muscle pain of the ECRB muscle (Schabrun et al., 2016). Our sample size of N = 20 reflects similar sample sizes of previous studies in chronic unilateral LE that have demonstrated bilateral sensorimotor dysfunction and as such, we estimated our sample to be sufficient to show an effect (Apaydin et al., 2020; Bisset et al., 2018; Chourasia et al., 2012). Further, studies investigating IHI in pathological conditions such as stroke and focal hand dystonia have recruited small samples (N < 13) and have identified statistically significant changes in IHI in those pathological populations (Beck et al., 2009; Duque et al., 2005; Murase et al., 2004; Nelson et al., 2010). Sample size calculations determine the smallest scientifically and meaningful effect size (Jones et al., 2003). Studies that do not provide sample size calculations may not be powered to detect differences in outcomes or in contrast may detect differences that are not present (type 1 error), thus affecting the validity of reported significance (Bacchetti, 2010; Button et al., 2013). However, in some cases sample size calculations are difficult to calculate where the study is a pilot or exploratory and no previous data is available to determine information including the mean, variability and error required for the calculation (Jones et al., 2003). Hence, some authors argue against sample size calculation (Bacchetti, 2002, 2010). To this end, future studies with larger samples may be needed to demonstrate bilateral sensorimotor symptom development and explore the relationship to IHI in these individuals.

5.4 Research implications

The findings of Studies 1 - 3 provide new insight into the role of IHI in response to musculoskeletal pain and how this may relate to the development of bilateral sensorimotor dysfunction. The findings suggest that IHI is altered between M1s at an acute stage of muscle

pain, and that sensorimotor dysfunction develops at the affected and unaffected side in the FDI muscle. The outcomes of this thesis provide the following implications for future research investigating IHI in musculoskeletal pain.

Findings from studies 1 and 2 demonstrate the development of bilateral sensorimotor dysfunction in response to acute unilateral muscle pain. Our findings demonstrate altered sensory function is mirrored in the non-painful muscle immediately following pain characterised by reduced PPTs. This may have implications for the recovery of the affected limb and risk of developing sensorimotor symptoms bilaterally. It is common that studies compare the painful limb to the unaffected limb (Dorf et al., 2007; Pienimäki et al., 2011; Pienimäki et al., 2002; Smidt et al., 2002). However, the unaffected side should not be used as a control in studies due to crossed effects from the affected to unaffected limb. Further, it is important to note that the development of bilateral symptoms following acute pain resolution may be part of a protective mechanism from further injury and produces altered movement strategies (Hodges & Tucker, 2011). Further research is required to confirm this to understand whether this process is indeed a beneficial short-term strategy.

Bilateral sensitivity to pressure was demonstrated in studies 1 and 2. This supports the notion that transfer of motor or sensory information can cross over from one side of the body to homologous muscles of the opposite side, a phenomenon known as cross-education (Zhou, 2000). The underlying mechanisms of cross-education are poorly understood, but cortical mechanisms via interhemispheric connections such as IHI is one proposed mechanism. Although our findings demonstrated a reduction in IHI, no association was found between reduced IHI and increased sensitivity to pressure bilaterally. This may suggest that a non-linear relationship exists between these two outcomes (as described above in section 5.2) or that a relationship may be observed when pain is sustained (Schabrun et al., 2016). Alternatively, IHI may not be the mechanism mediating the increased sensitivity to pressure and another mechanism may be involved. Spinal mechanisms may instead mediate the transfer of sensory information to the unaffected side. Nociceptive input is transmitted from the spinal cord to the brain through multiple pathways (Coghill, 2020). One potential pathway is the spinothalamic tract. Nociceptive information is projected to the spinothalamic tract and this information is distributed bilaterally through wide dynamic range neurons that have bilateral receptive fields. Thus, nociceptive information ascending ipsilaterally could mediate the sensitivity to pressure of the unaffected hand (Coghill, 2020; Dum et al., 2009; Giesler et al., 1981). Indeed, the spinothalamic tract is assessed with pressure pain thresholds and research has demonstrated increased sensitivity to pressure pain thresholds at sites contralateral to the injury (Arendt-Nielsen et al., 2011; Gibson et al., 2006; Hansson et al., 2007). This hypothesis requires further investigation to determine the underlying mechanism mediating bilateral sensorimotor dysfunction.

5.5 Future directions

This thesis has presented findings that provide insight into the role of IHI in response to unilateral musculoskeletal pain. The discussion in each study chapter and above has highlighted areas of research that require further investigation to extend the findings from this thesis. The directions for future research are summarised below.

• When added to the current literature, the findings from this thesis suggest that in response to acute unilateral muscle pain, IHI between M1s is reduced and sensorimotor dysfunction develops bilaterally despite the absence of pain on the unaffected side. However, further research is required to determine the causal nature of the relationship between IHI and bilateral sensorimotor dysfunction in unilateral musculoskeletal pain. This research may follow up the effects of acute muscle pain for longer than 30 minutes to determine the

duration of the effects, and whether an association between reduced IHI and sensorimotor dysfunction is observed at a later time point following pain resolution.

- To further develop a comprehensive understanding of IHI in response to acute muscle pain, future studies could combine neuroimaging and brain stimulation techniques, such as TMS with EEG. Combining these techniques would allow for higher temporal and spatial resolution in the measurement of IHI between M1s and S1s that may detect smaller changes in IHI compared to a single brain stimulation technique.
- To further understand how IHI is modulated in response to musculoskeletal pain, future studies may consider sub-grouping individuals based on low, mid, or high pain severity. As previous studies show decreased corticomotor excitability is associated with low pain severity (Chowdhury et al., 2022), and increased cortical excitability is associated with higher pain severity (Schabrun et al., 2015a), IHI may be altered differently in response to different pain severities.
- While IHI has been investigated between M1s and S1s in response to pain, existing
 research suggests that S2 has an important role in pain processing. Therefore, further
 research is required to investigate IHI between S2s and determine if a relationship between
 the development of bilateral symptoms and IHI changes exists.

5.6 Limitations

The limitations of each individual study have been discussed in Chapters 2, 3 and 4. Therefore, the following section recognises limitations that may influence the overall interpretation of the findings from this thesis.

First, the work presented in this thesis was limited to investigating IHI in the direction from the affected to unaffected hemisphere. This approach was selected as a previous study by Schabrun et al. (2016) demonstrated that in sustained experimental muscle pain, IHI is unchanged in the opposite direction i.e., from the unaffected to affected hemisphere. However, as IHI is bidirectional it is possible that impairments exist in the opposite direction that we did not examine. Future studies could extend the work presented in this thesis and investigate IHI in the opposite direction to examine the mechanism of IHI more comprehensively.

Second, although we suggest that IHI may underpin the development of bilateral sensorimotor dysfunction in unilateral musculoskeletal conditions, causality cannot be inferred. The studies presented in this thesis are cross-sectional and additional longitudinal studies are warranted. Further Study 3 (Chapter 4) was a proof-of-concept study that did not demonstrate sensorimotor deficits in the LE group compared to healthy participants. To further examine the role of IHI in a chronic musculoskeletal population, a powered sample of participants with confirmed transfer of bilateral sensorimotor dysfunction development.

Third, this thesis explored IHI between M1s and S1s only. Other brain regions within the cortex as well as sub-cortical regions may be involved in the modulation of IHI. For example, the thalamus has been shown to mediate IHI to the sensory cortices (Castro-Alamancos, 2002; Pinault, 2004; Staines et al., 2002). Similarly, IHI between S2s has been demonstrated in animal and human studies, and the role of S2 has been implicated in pain (Fabri et al., 2005; Fabri et al., 2001; Fabri et al., 1999; Hamada et al., 2002; Hoechstetter et al., 2001). It is possible that altered IHI in other brain regions may have influenced the development of bilateral sensorimotor deficits in response to acute muscle pain in studies 1 and 2 (Chapters 2 and 3). Therefore, the role of IHI in other cortical and subcortical regions in response to musculoskeletal pain warrants further exploration.

Fourth, individuals with bilateral LE were included in this thesis. This may influence the interpretation regarding altered IHI in chronic unilateral LE. As such, care should be taken when interpreting these findings.

Finally, the investigator was not blind to data collection or analyses. Investigator blinding reduces the risk of bias and improves internal validity (Guyatt et al., 2011; Higgins et al., 2011). Investigator blinding is not consistently implemented in cross-sectional studies due to feasibility of some studies (Hulley et al., 2013). However, wherever feasible, to reduce bias and improve overall data accuracy, future studies should implement investigator blinding during data collection and analysis

5.7 Conclusion

The three studies in this thesis (Chapters 2 - 4) provide original contributions to our understanding of IHI in response to unilateral musculoskeletal pain when using experimental pain models and a chronic pain population. An observed reduction in IHI between M1s in response to experimentally induced acute unilateral muscle pain suggests that IHI may mediate bilateral sensitivity to pressure during an acute stage of musculoskeletal pain. However, IHI between S1s may be preserved in response to acute muscle pain. This thesis also found no changes in sensorimotor function bilaterally or changes in IHI between M1s in individuals with chronic LE compared to healthy controls. The absence of bilateral sensorimotor dysfunction likely explains why no change in IHI was observed in individuals with chronic LE. Therefore, we were unable to confirm or exclude altered IHI as a mechanism and / or mediator of bilateral symptom development. Further research is required, including longitudinal studies in clinical populations who transition from acute to chronic musculoskeletal pain, to empirically determine if an association exists between alterations in IHI and bilateral symptom development.

REFERENCES

- Abat, F., Alfredson, H., Cucchiarini, M., Madry, H., Marmotti, A., Mouton, C., Oliveira, J.
 M., Pereira, H., Peretti, G. M., Romero-Rodriguez, D., Spang, C., Stephen, J., van
 Bergen, C. J. A., & de Girolamo, L. (2017). Current trends in tendinopathy: consensus
 of the ESSKA basic science committee. Part I: biology, biomechanics, anatomy and
 an exercise-based approach. *Journal of Experimental Orthopaedics*, 4(1), 1-11.
 https://doi.org/10.1186/s40634-017-0092-6
- Abate, M., Gravare Silbernagel, K., Siljeholm, C., Di Iorio, A., De Amicis, D., Salini, V.,
 Werner, S., & Paganelli, R. (2009). Pathogenesis of tendinopathies: inflammation or
 degeneration? *Arthritis Research & Therapy*, *11*(3), 1-15.
 https://doi.org/10.1186/ar2723
- Aben, A., De Wilde, L., Hollevoet, N., Henriquez, C., Vandeweerdt, M., Ponnet, K., & Van Tongel, A. (2018). Tennis elbow: associated psychological factors. *Journal of shoulder and elbow surgery*, 27(3), 387-392. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jse.2017.11.033</u>
- Aboitiz, F., Scheibel, A. B., Fisher, R. S., & Zaidel, E. (1992). Fiber composition of the human corpus callosum. *Brain Research*, 598(1), 143-153. <u>https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/0006-8993(92)90178-C</u>
- Ahmad, Z., Siddiqui, N., Malik, S., Abdus-Samee, M., Tytherleigh-Strong, G., & Rushton, N.
 (2013). Lateral epicondylitis: a review of pathology and management. *The Bone & Joint Journal*, 95(9), 1158-1164.
- Albanese, A., Bhatia, K., Bressman, S. B., DeLong, M. R., Fahn, S., Fung, V. S., Hallett, M., Jankovic, J., Jinnah, H. A., & Klein, C. (2013). Phenomenology and classification of dystonia: a consensus update. *Movement Disorders*, 28(7), 863-873.
- Alburquerque-Sendin, F., Camargo, P. R., Vieira, A., & Salvini, T. F. (2013). Bilateral myofascial trigger points and pressure pain thresholds in the shoulder muscles in

patients with unilateral shoulder impingement syndrome: a blinded, controlled study. *The Clinical journal of pain*, 29(6), 478-486.

https://doi.org/10.1097/AJP.0b013e3182652d65

- Alfredson, H., Ljung, B.-O., Thorsen, K., & Lorentzon, R. (2000). In vivo investigation of ECRB tendons with microdialysis technique--no signs of inflammation but high amounts of glutamate in tennis elbow. *Acta Orthopaedica Scandinavica*, 71(5), 475-479.
- Alhassani, G., Liston, M. B., & Schabrun, S. M. (2019). Interhemispheric Inhibition Is Reduced in Response to Acute Muscle Pain: A Cross-Sectional Study Using Transcranial Magnetic Stimulation. *The Journal of Pain*, 20(9), 1091-1099. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jpain.2019.03.007
- Alia, C., Spalletti, C., Lai, S., Panarese, A., Lamola, G., Bertolucci, F., Vallone, F., Di Garbo,
 A., Chisari, C., Micera, S., & Caleo, M. (2017). Neuroplastic Changes Following
 Brain Ischemia and their Contribution to Stroke Recovery: Novel Approaches in
 Neurorehabilitation [Review]. *Frontiers in Cellular Neuroscience*, *11*, 76.
 https://doi.org/10.3389/fncel.2017.00076
- Alizadehkhaiyat, O., Fisher, A. C., Kemp, G. J., Vishwanathan, K., & Frostick, S. P. (2007).
 Upper limb muscle imbalance in tennis elbow: a functional and electromyographic assessment. *Journal of Orthopaedic Research*, 25(12), 1651-1657.
 https://onlinelibrary.wiley.com/doi/pdfdirect/10.1002/jor.20458?download=true
- Allison, T., McCarthy, G., & Wood, C. C. (1992). The relationship between human longlatency somatosensory evoked potentials recorded from the cortical surface and from the scalp. *Electroencephalography and Clinical Neurophysiology/Evoked Potentials Section*, 84(4), 301-314. <u>https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/0168-5597(92)90082-</u> <u>M</u>

- Allison, T., McCarthy, G., Wood, C. C., & Jones, S. J. (1991). Potentials evoked in human and monkey cerebral cortex by stimulation of the median nerve. A review of scalp and intracranial recordings. *Brain*, *114*(6), 2465-2503.
- Andres, F. G., Mima, T., Schulman, A. E., Dichgans, J., Hallett, M., & Gerloff, C. (1999). Functional coupling of human cortical sensorimotor areas during bimanual skill acquisition. *Brain*, 122(5), 855-870.
- Antal, A., Brepohl, N., Poreisz, C., Boros, K., Csifcsak, G., & Paulus, W. (2008).
 Transcranial direct current stimulation over somatosensory cortex decreases
 experimentally induced acute pain perception. *The clinical journal of pain*, 24(1), 56-63. https://doi.org/10.1097/AJP.0b013e318157233b
- Antal, A., Terney, D., Kühnl, S., & Paulus, W. (2010). Anodal Transcranial Direct Current Stimulation of the Motor Cortex Ameliorates Chronic Pain and Reduces Short Intracortical Inhibition. *Journal of Pain and Symptom Management*, *39*(5), 890-903.
 https://doi.org/http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.jpainsymman.2009.09.023
- Antman, E. M., Bennett, J. S., Daugherty, A., Furberg, C., Roberts, H., & Taubert, K. A. (2007). Use of nonsteroidal antiinflammatory drugs: an update for clinicians: a scientific statement from the American Heart Association. *Circulation*, *115*(12), 1634-1642.
- Apaydin, H., Bazancir, Z., & Altay, Z. (2020). Injection Therapy in Patients with Lateral Epicondylalgia: Hyaluronic Acid or Dextrose Prolotherapy? A Single-Blind, Randomized Clinical Trial. *The Journal of Alternative and Complementary Medicine*, 26(12), 1169-1175. <u>https://doi.org/10.1089/acm.2020.0188</u>
- Apostolakos, J., Durant, T. J., Dwyer, C. R., Russell, R. P., Weinreb, J. H., Alaee, F., Beitzel,
 K., McCarthy, M. B., Cote, M. P., & Mazzocca, A. D. (2014). The enthesis: a review of the tendon-to-bone insertion. *Muscles Ligaments Tendons J*, 4(3), 333-342.

Arendt-Nielsen, L., Fernández-de-Las-Peñas, C., & Graven-Nielsen, T. (2011). Basic aspects of musculoskeletal pain: from acute to chronic pain. *The Journal of manual & manipulative therapy*, 19(4), 186-193.

https://doi.org/10.1179/106698111X13129729551903

Arendt-Nielsen, L., & Graven-Nielsen, T. (2008). Muscle pain: sensory implications and interaction with motor control. *The Clinical Journal of Pain*, 24(4), 291-298.

Arendt-Nielsen, L., & Graven-Nielsen, T. (2011). Translational musculoskeletal pain research. Best practice & research Clinical rheumatology, 25(2), 209-226. <u>https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/j.berh.2010.01.013</u>

- Arendt-Nielsen, L., Morlion, B., Perrot, S., Dahan, A., Dickenson, A., Kress, H. G., Wells, C., Bouhassira, D., & Mohr Drewes, A. (2018). Assessment and manifestation of central sensitisation across different chronic pain conditions. *European Journal of Pain*, 22(2), 216-241. <u>https://doi.org/10.1002/ejp.1140</u>
- Arendt-Nielsen, L., Skou, S. T., Nielsen, T. A., & Petersen, K. K. (2015). Altered Central Sensitization and Pain Modulation in the CNS in Chronic Joint Pain. *Current* Osteoporosis Reports, 13(4), 225-234. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s11914-015-0276-x</u>
- Arendt-Nielsen, L., & Yarnitsky, D. (2009). Experimental and Clinical Applications of Quantitative Sensory Testing Applied to Skin, Muscles and Viscera. *The Journal of Pain*, 10(6), 556-572. <u>https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jpain.2009.02.002</u>
- Arthritis and Osteoporosis Victoria. (2013). A problem worth solving. The rising cost of musculoskeletal conditions in Australia.
- Avanzino, L., Tinazzi, M., Ionta, S., & Fiorio, M. (2015). Sensory-motor integration in focal dystonia. *Neuropsychologia*, *79*, 288-300.
- Bacchetti, P. (2002). Peer review of statistics in medical research: the other problem. *Bmj*, *324*(7348), 1271-1273.
- Bacchetti, P. (2010). Current sample size conventions: flaws, harms, and alternatives. *BMC medicine*, 8(1), 1-7.
- Backonja, M. M., Attal, N., Baron, R., Bouhassira, D., Drangholt, M., Dyck, P. J., Edwards, R. R., Freeman, R., Gracely, R., Haanpaa, M. H., Hansson, P., Hatem, S. M., Krumova, E. K., Jensen, T. S., Maier, C., Mick, G., Rice, A. S., Rolke, R., Treede, R.-D., Serra, J., Toelle, T., Tugnoli, V., Walk, D., Walalce, M. S., Ware, M., Yarnitsky, D., & Ziegler, D. (2013). Value of quantitative sensory testing in neurological and pain disorders: NeuPSIG consensus. *PAIN*®, *154*(9), 1807-1819. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/j.pain.2013.05.047
- Bank, P. J. M., Peper, C. E., Marinus, J., Beek, P. J., & van Hilten, J. J. (2014). Evaluation of mirrored muscle activity in patients with Complex Regional Pain Syndrome. *Clinical Neurophysiology*, 125(10), 2100-2108.

https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/j.clinph.2014.02.019

Barker, A. T., Freeston, I. L., Jalinous, R., & Jarratt, J. A. (1987). Magnetic stimulation of the human brain and peripheral nervous system: an introduction and the results of an initial clinical evaluation. *Neurosurgery*, 20(1), 100-109.

https://doi.org/10.1097/00006123-198701000-00024

- Barker, A. T., Jalinous, R., & Freeston, I. L. (1985). Non-invasive magnetic stimulation of human motor cortex. *Lancet*, 1(8437), 1106-1107. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/s0140-6736(85)92413-4</u>
- Barr, M. S., Farzan, F., Davis, K. D., Fitzgerald, P. B., & Daskalakis, Z. J. (2013). Measuring GABAergic Inhibitory Activity with TMS-EEG and Its Potential Clinical Application for Chronic Pain. *Journal of Neuroimmune Pharmacology*, 8(3), 535-546. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s11481-012-9383-y</u>

Bass, E. (2012). Tendinopathy: why the difference between tendinitis and tendinosis matters. *International journal of therapeutic massage & bodywork*, 5(1), 14-17. <u>https://doi.org/10.3822/ijtmb.v5i1.153</u>

- Bauer, J. A., & Murray, R. D. (1999). Electromyographic patterns of individuals suffering from lateral tennis elbow. *Journal of Electromyography and Kinesiology*, 9(4), 245-252.
- Bäumer, T., Dammann, E., Bock, F., Klöppel, S., Siebner, H. R., & Münchau, A. (2007). Laterality of interhemispheric inhibition depends on handedness. *Experimental brain research*, 180(2), 195-203. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s00221-007-0866-7</u>
- Baumer, T., Schmidt, A., Heldmann, M., Landwehr, M., Simmer, A., Tonniges, D., Munte, T., Lohmann, K., Altenmuller, E., Klein, C., & Munchau, A. (2016). Abnormal interhemispheric inhibition in musician's dystonia Trait or state? *Parkinsonism & related disorders*, 25, 33-38. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.parkreldis.2016.02.018</u>
- Beaule, V., Tremblay, S., & Theoret, H. (2012). Interhemispheric control of unilateral movement. *Neural Plasticity*, 2012, 627816. <u>https://doi.org/10.1155/2012/627816</u>
- Beck, A., Crain, A. L., Solberg, L. I., Unützer, J., Glasgow, R. E., Maciosek, M. V., &
 Whitebird, R. (2011). Severity of Depression and Magnitude of Productivity Loss. *The Annals of Family Medicine*, 9(4), 305-311. <u>https://doi.org/10.1370/afm.1260</u>
- Beck, S., Shamim, E. A., Richardson, S. P., Schubert, M., & Hallett, M. (2009). Interhemispheric inhibition is impaired in mirror dystonia. *European Journal of Neuroscience*, 29(8), 1634-1640. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1460-9568.2009.06710.x</u>
- Berardelli, A., Rothwell, J. C., Hallett, M., Thompson, P. D., Manfredi, M., & Marsden, C.
 D. (1998). The pathophysiology of primary dystonia. *Brain*, *121*(7), 1195-1212.
 https://doi.org/10.1093/brain/121.7.1195

Bergamaschi, R., Romani, A., Versino, M., Callieco, R., Sartori, I., & Cosi, V. (1993).
Somatosensory evoked potentials by median nerve stimulation recorded with cephalic and non-cephalic references. II). Reliability study. *Bollettino della Società italiana di biologia sperimentale*, 69(9), 533-539.

Bergin, M. J., Hirata, R., Mista, C., Christensen, S. W., Tucker, K., Vicenzino, B., Hodges,
P., & Graven-Nielsen, T. (2015). Movement Evoked Pain and Mechanical
Hyperalgesia after Intramuscular Injection of Nerve Growth Factor: A Model of
Sustained Elbow Pain. *Pain medicine*, *16*(11), 2180-2191.
https://doi.org/10.1111/pme.12824

Berlucchi, G. (1990). Commissurotomy studies in animals. SMR, 853, 66.

Bestmann, S., Ruff, C. C., Blankenburg, F., Weiskopf, N., Driver, J., & Rothwell, J. C. (2008). Mapping causal interregional influences with concurrent TMS–fMRI. *Experimental brain research*, 191(4), 383-402.

Bisset, L., Beller, E., Jull, G., Brooks, P., Darnell, R., & Vicenzino, B. (2006a). Mobilisation with movement and exercise, corticosteroid injection, or wait and see for tennis elbow: randomised trial. *Bmj*, *333*(7575), 939.
https://doi.org/10.1136/bmj.38961.584653.AE

Bisset, L., Carty, M., & Smith, A. (2018). Unilateral Lateral Epicondylalgia Demonstrates a Pro-nociceptive Pain Profile: A Case Control Observational Study. *The Clinical Journal of Pain, 34(10), 954-959.* <u>https://doi.org/10.1097/ajp.00000000000615</u>

Bisset, L., Paungmali, A., Vicenzino, B., & Beller, E. (2005). A systematic review and metaanalysis of clinical trials on physical interventions for lateral epicondylalgia. *British Journal of Sports Medicine*, 39(7), 411-422. https://doi.org/10.1136/bjsm.2004.016170

- Bisset, L. M., Coppieters, M. W., & Vicenzino, B. (2009). Sensorimotor Deficits Remain
 Despite Resolution of Symptoms Using Conservative Treatment in Patients With
 Tennis Elbow: A Randomized Controlled Trial. *Archives of physical medicine and rehabilitation*, 90(1), 1-8. <u>https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/j.apmr.2008.06.031</u>
- Bisset, L. M., Russell, T., Bradley, S., Ha, B., & Vicenzino, B. T. (2006b). Bilateral Sensorimotor Abnormalities in Unilateral Lateral Epicondylalgia. *Archives of physical medicine and rehabilitation*, 87(4), 490-495.
 https://doi.org/http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.apmr.2005.11.029
- Bisset, L. M., & Vicenzino, B. (2015). Physiotherapy management of lateral epicondylalgia. *Journal of Physiotherapy*, 61(4), 174-181.

https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jphys.2015.07.015

- Bloom, J. S., & Hynd, G. W. (2005). The role of the corpus callosum in interhemispheric transfer of information: excitation or inhibition? *Neuropsychology Review*, 15(2), 59-71. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11065-005-6252-y
- Borich, M. R., Brodie, S. M., Gray, W. A., Ionta, S., & Boyd, L. A. (2015). Understanding the role of the primary somatosensory cortex: Opportunities for rehabilitation. *Neuropsychologia*, 79(Pt B), 246-255.

https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neuropsychologia.2015.07.007

- Borich, M. R., Wheaton, L. A., Brodie, S. M., Lakhani, B., & Boyd, L. A. (2016). Evaluating interhemispheric cortical responses to transcranial magnetic stimulation in chronic stroke: A TMS-EEG investigation. *Neuroscience Letters*, 618, 25-30. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neulet.2016.02.047
- Boroojerdi, B., Diefenbach, K., & Ferbert, A. (1996). Transcallosal inhibition in cortical and subcortical cerebral vascular lesions. *Journal of the Neurological Sciences*, *144*(1-2), 160-170.

Briggs, A. M., Cross, M. J., Hoy, D. G., Sanchez-Riera, L., Blyth, F. M., Woolf, A. D., & March, L. (2016). Musculoskeletal health conditions represent a global threat to healthy aging: a report for the 2015 World Health Organization world report on ageing and health. *The Gerontologist*, 56(suppl_2), S243-S255.

Brodie, S. M., Villamayor, A., Borich, M. R., & Boyd, L. A. (2014). Exploring the specific time course of interhemispheric inhibition between the human primary sensory cortices. *Journal of Neurophysiology*, *112*(6), 1470-1476.
 https://doi.org/10.1152/jn.00074.2014

- Burns, E., Chipchase, L. S., & Schabrun, S. M. (2016a). Altered function of intracortical networks in chronic lateral epicondylalgia. *European Journal of Pain*, 20(7), 1166-1175. <u>https://doi.org/10.1002/ejp.841</u>
- Burns, E., Chipchase, L. S., & Schabrun, S. M. (2016b). Primary sensory and motor cortex function in response to acute muscle pain: A systematic review and meta-analysis. *European Journal of Pain*, 20(8), 1203-1213. <u>https://doi.org/10.1002/ejp.859</u>
- Burns, E., Chipchase, L. S., & Schabrun, S. M. (2016c). Reduced Short- and Long-Latency Afferent Inhibition Following Acute Muscle Pain: A Potential Role in the Recovery of Motor Output. *Pain Medicine 17(7) 133-1352*. https://doi.org/10.1093/pm/pnv104
- Butefisch, C. M., Netz, J., Wessling, M., Seitz, R. J., & Homberg, V. (2003). Remote changes in cortical excitability after stroke. *Brain*, 126(Pt 2), 470-481. <u>https://doi.org/10.1093/brain/awg044</u>
- Button, K. S., Ioannidis, J. P., Mokrysz, C., Nosek, B. A., Flint, J., Robinson, E. S., & Munafò, M. R. (2013). Power failure: why small sample size undermines the reliability of neuroscience. *Nature reviews neuroscience*, 14(5), 365-376.
- Calder, K. M., Stashuk, D. W., & McLean, L. (2008). Motor unit potential morphology differences in individuals with non-specific arm pain and lateral epicondylitis.

Journal of NeuroEngineering and Rehabilitation, 5(1), 1-11. https://doi.org/10.1186/1743-0003-5-34

- Campbell, R., Evans, M., Tucker, M., Quilty, B., Dieppe, P., & Donovan, J. L. (2001). Qhy don't patients do their exercises? Understanding non-compliance with physiotherapy in patients with osteoartgritis of the knee. *Journal of Epidemiology & Community Health*, 55(2), 132-138.
- Camus, M., Ragert, P., Vandermeeren, Y., & Cohen, L. G. (2009). Mechanisms controlling motor output to a transfer hand after learning a sequential pinch force skill with the opposite hand. *Clinical Neurophysiology*, *120*(10), 1859-1865. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.clinph.2009.08.013
- Cardoso, T. B., Pizzari, T., Kinsella, R., Hope, D., & Cook, J. L. (2019). Current trends in tendinopathy management. *Best practice & research Clinical rheumatology*, 33(1), 122-140. <u>https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/j.berh.2019.02.001</u>
- Carlson, H., & Carlson, N. (2011). An overview of the management of persistent musculoskeletal pain. *Therapeutic advances in musculoskeletal disease*, 3(2), 91-99. <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/1759720X11398742</u>
- Carson, R. (2005). Neural pathways mediating bilateral interactions between the upper limbs. *Brain research reviews*, *49*(3), 641-662.
- Casey, K. L., Minoshima, S., Morrow, T. J., & Koeppe, R. A. (1996). Comparison of human cerebral activation pattern during cutaneous warmth, heat pain, and deep cold pain. *Journal of Neurophysiology*, 76(1), 571-581.
- Cassidy, J. M., Chu, H., Chen, M., Kimberley, T. J., & Carey, J. R. (2016). Interhemispheric inhibition measurement reliability in stroke: A pilot study. *Neuromodulation: Technology at the Neural Interface*, *19*(8), 838-847. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/ner.12459</u>

- Castro-Alamancos, M. A. (2002). Properties of primary sensory (lemniscal) synapses in the ventrobasal thalamus and the relay of high-frequency sensory inputs. *Journal of Neurophysiology*, 87(2), 946-953. <u>https://doi.org/10.1152/jn.00426.2001</u>
- Chang, W. J., O'Connell, N. E., Beckenkamp, P. R., Alhassani, G., Liston, M. B., & Schabrun, S. M. (2018). Altered Primary Motor Cortex Structure, Organization, and Function in Chronic Pain: A Systematic Review and Meta-Analysis. *The Journal of Pain*, 19(4), 341-359. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jpain.2017.10.007
- Chen, R., Yung, D., & Li, J.Y. (2003). Organization of Ipsilateral Excitatory and Inhibitory Pathways in the Human Motor Cortex. *Journal of Neurophysiology*, 89(3), 1256-1264. <u>https://doi.org/10.1152/jn.00950.2002</u>
- Chesterton, L. S., Sim, J., Wright, C. C., & Foster, N. E. (2007). Interrater reliability of algometry in measuring pressure pain thresholds in healthy humans, using multiple raters. The Clinical journal of pain, 23(9), 760-766.
- Chiang, H. C., Ko, Y. C., Chen, S. S., Yu, H. S., Wu, T. N., & Chang, P. Y. (1993). Prevalence of shoulder and upper-limb disorders among workers in the fishprocessing industry. *Scandinavian journal of work, environment & health*, 126-131.
- Chin, O., Cash, R., & Thickbroom, G. (2012). Electromyographic bursting following the cortical silent period induced by transcranial magnetic stimulation. *Brain Research*, 1446, 40-45.
- Chiou, S. Y., Wang, R. Y., Liao, K. K., Wu, Y. T., Lu, C. F., & Yang, Y. R. (2013). Coactivation of primary motor cortex ipsilateral to muscles contracting in a unilateral motor task. *Clinical Neurophysiology*, 124(7), 1353-1363.
- Chourasia, A. O., Buhr, K. A., Rabago, D. P., Kijowski, R., Irwin, C. B., & Sesto, M. E. (2012). Effect of Lateral Epicondylosis on Grip Force Development. *Journal of Hand Therapy*, 25(1), 27-37. <u>https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jht.2011.09.003</u>

Chowdhury, N. S., Chang, W. J., Millard, S. K., Skippen, P., Bilska, K., Seminowicz, D. A., & Schabrun, S. M. (2022). The Effect of Acute and Sustained Pain on Corticomotor Excitability: A Systematic Review and Meta-Analysis of Group and Individual Level Data. *The Journal of Pain, 23(10), 1680-1696*.

https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jpain.2022.04.012

- Chowdhury, S. A., Kawashima, T., Konishi, T., & Matsunami, K. (1996a). GABAergic characteristics of transcallosal activity of cat motor cortical neurons. *Neuroscience research*, *26*(4), 323-333.
- Chowdhury, S. A., Kawashima, T., Konishi, T., Niwa, M., & Matsunami, K. i. (1996b). Study of paired-pulse inhibition of transcallosal response in the pyramidal tract neuron in vivo. *European journal of pharmacology*, *314*(3), 313-317.
- Chowdhury, S. A., & Matsunami, K. I. (2002). GABA-B-related activity in processing of transcallosal response in cat motor cortex. *Journal of Neuroscience Research*, 68(4), 489-495. <u>https://doi.org/doi:10.1002/jnr.10223</u>
- Cicero, T. J., Inciardi, J. A., & Muñoz, A. (2005). Trends in abuse of OxyContin® and other opioid analgesics in the United States: 2002-2004. *The Journal of Pain*, 6(10), 662-672.
- Cieza, A., Causey, K., Kamenov, K., Hanson, S. W., Chatterji, S., & Vos, T. (2021). Global estimates of the need for rehabilitation based on the Global Burden of Disease study 2019: a systematic analysis for the Global Burden of Disease Study 2019. *Lancet*, *396*(10267), 2006-2017. https://doi.org/10.1016/s0140-6736(20)32340-0
- Cleeland, C. S., & Ryan, K. M. (1994). Pain assessment: global use of the Brief Pain Inventory. *Annals Academy of Medicine Singapore*, 23(2), 129-138.

Coghill, R. C. (2020). The Distributed Nociceptive System: A Framework for Understanding Pain. *Trends in neurosciences*, *43*(10), 780-794. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tins.2020.07.004

- Coghill, R. C., Sang, C. N., Maisog, J. M., & Iadarola, M. J. (1999). Pain intensity processing within the human brain: a bilateral, distributed mechanism. *Journal of Neurophysiology*, 82(4), 1934-1943. <u>https://doi.org/10.1152/jn.1999.82.4.1934</u>
- Coghill, R. C., Talbot, J. D., Evans, A. C., Meyer, E., Gjedde, A., Bushnell, M. C., & Duncan, G. H. (1994). Distributed processing of pain and vibration by the human brain. *Journal of Neuroscience*, *14*(7), 4095-4108.
 https://www.jneurosci.org/content/jneuro/14/7/4095.full.pdf
- Cohen, J. (2013). Statistical power analysis for the behavioral sciences. Academic press.
- Cook, A. J., Woolf, C. J., Wall, P. D., & McMahon, S. B. (1987). Dynamic receptive field plasticity in rat spinal cord dorsal horn following C-primary afferent input. *Nature*, 325(6100), 151-153. <u>https://doi.org/10.1038/325151a0</u>
- Cook, J. L., Rio, E., Purdam, C. R., & Docking, S. I. (2016). Revisiting the continuum model of tendon pathology: what is its merit in clinical practice and research? *British journal* of sports medicine, 50(19), 1187-1191. https://doi.org/10.1136/bjsports-2015-095422
- Cook, N. D. (1984). Homotopic callosal inhibition. Brain and language, 23(1), 116-125.
- Coombes, B. K., Bisset, L., Connelly, L. B., Brooks, P., & Vicenzino, B. (2009a). Optimising corticosteroid injection for lateral epicondylalgia with the addition of physiotherapy:
 A protocol for a randomised control trial with placebo comparison. *BMC Musculoskeletal Disorders*, *10*(1), 76. https://doi.org/10.1186/1471-2474-10-76
- Coombes, B. K., Bisset, L., & Vicenzino, B. (2009b). A new integrative model of lateral epicondylalgia. *British journal of sports medicine*, *43*(4), 252-258.

- Coombes, B. K., Bisset, L., & Vicenzino, B. (2012a). Elbow flexor and extensor muscle weakness in lateral epicondylalgia. *British Journal of Sports Medicine*, 46(6), 449-453. <u>https://doi.org/10.1136/bjsm.2011.083949</u>
- Coombes, B. K., Bisset, L., & Vicenzino, B. (2012b). Thermal Hyperalgesia Distinguishes
 Those With Severe Pain and Disability in Unilateral Lateral Epicondylalgia. *The Clinical Journal of Pain*, 28(7), 595-601.

https://doi.org/10.1097/AJP.0b013e31823dd333

- Coombes, B. K., Bisset, L., & Vicenzino, B. (2015). Management of Lateral Elbow
 Tendinopathy: One Size Does Not Fit All. Journal of orthopaedic & sports physical
 therapy, 45(11), 938-949. <u>https://doi.org/10.2519/jospt.2015.5841</u>
- Coronado, R. A., Simon, C. B., Valencia, C., & George, S. Z. (2014). Experimental pain responses support peripheral and central sensitization in patients with unilateral shoulder pain. *The Clinical Journal of Pain*, 30(2), 143-151. https://doi.org/10.1097/AJP.0b013e318287a2a4
- Cracco, R. Q., Amassian, V. E., Maccabee, P. J., & Cracco, J. B. (1989). Comparison of human transcallosal responses evoked by magnetic coil and electrical stimulation. *Electroencephalography anf Clinical Neurophysiology/Evoked Potentials Section*, 74(6), 417-424. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/0168-5597(89)90030-0</u>
- Cruccu, G., Aminoff, M. J., Curio, G., Guerit, J. M., Kakigi, R., Mauguiere, F., Rossini, P.
 M., Treede, R. D., & Garcia-Larrea, L. (2008). Recommendations for the clinical use of somatosensory-evoked potentials. *Clinical Neurophysiology*, *119*(8), 1705-1719. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/j.clinph.2008.03.016
- Cruz-Almeida, Y., & Fillingim, R. B. (2014). Can quantitative sensory testing move us closer to mechanism-based pain management? *Pain medicine*, *15*(1), 61-72.

- Curatolo, M., Petersen-Felix, S., Arendt-Nielsen, L., & Fisher, Dennis M. (2000). Sensory Assessment of Regional Analgesia in Humans: A Review of Methods and Applications. *Anesthesiology*, 93(6), 1517-1530. <u>https://doi.org/10.1097/00000542-</u> 200012000-00025
- Dancause, N., Barbay, S., Frost, S. B., Plautz, E. J., Chen, D., Zoubina, E. V., Stowe, A. M., & Nudo, R. J. (2005). Extensive cortical rewiring after brain injury. *Journal of Neuroscience*, 25(44), 10167-10179.
- Daskalakis, Z. J., Christensen, B. K., Fitzgerald, P. B., Roshan, L., & Chen, R. (2002). The mechanisms of interhemispheric inhibition in the human motor cortex. *The Journal of Physiology*, 543(1), 317-326. <u>https://doi.org/doi:10.1113/jphysiol.2002.017673</u>
- Davatzikos, C., & Resnick, S. M. (1998). Sex differences in anatomic measures of interhemispheric connectivity: correlations with cognition in women but not men. *Cerebral cortex (New York, NY: 1991)*, 8(7), 635-640.
- Dawson, G. D. (1947). Cerebral responses to electrical stimulation of peripheral nerve in man. *Journal of neurology, neurosurgery, and psychiatry*, 10(3), 134-140. https://doi.org/10.1136/jnnp.10.3.134
- De Gennaro, L., Ferrara, M., Bertini, M., Pauri, F., Cristiani, R., Curcio, G., Romei, V., Fratello, F., & Rossini, P. M. (2003). Reproducibility of callosal effects of transcranial magnetic stimulation (TMS) with interhemispheric paired pulses. *Neuroscience Research*, 46(2), 219-227.

https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/S0168-0102(03)00060-9

de la Llave-Rincon, A. I., Fernandez-de-las-Penas, C., Fernandez-Carnero, J., Padua, L., Arendt-Nielsen, L., & Pareja, J. A. (2009). Bilateral hand/wrist heat and cold hyperalgesia, but not hypoesthesia, in unilateral carpal tunnel syndrome. *Experimental Brain Research*, *198*(4), 455-463. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s00221-009-1941-z</u> De Martino, E., Zandalasini, M., Schabrun, S., Petrini, L., & Graven-Nielsen, T. (2018). Experimental muscle hyperalgesia modulates sensorimotor cortical excitability, which is partially altered by unaccustomed exercise. Pain, 159(12), 2493–2502. https://doi.org/10.1097/j.pain.00000000001351

- Desmedt, J. E. (1985). Critical Neuromonitoring at Spinal and Brainstem Levels by Somatosensory Evoked Potentials. *Central Nervous System Trauma*, 2(3), 169-186. <u>https://doi.org/10.1089/cns.1985.2.169</u>
- Dessureault, L. (2008). *Corticomotor excitability and proprioceptive acuity in chronic lateral epicondylalgia* (Doctoral dissertatin, University of Ottawa (Canada)).
- Devanne, H., Cassim, F., Ethier, C., Brizzi, L., Thevenon, A., & Capaday, C. (2006). The comparable size and overlapping nature of upper limb distal and proximal muscle representations in the human motor cortex. *European Journal of Neuroscience*, 23(9), 2467-2476

Di Lazzaro, V., Oliviero, A., Mazzone, P., Insola, A., Pilato, F., Saturno, E., Accurso, A., Tonali, P., & Rothwell, J. C. (2001). Comparison of descending volleys evoked by monophasic and biphasic magnetic stimulation of the motor cortex in conscious humans. *Experimental Brain Research*, *141*(1), 121-127. https://doi.org/10.1007/s002210100863

Di Lazzaro, V., Oliviero, A., Profice, P., Insola, A., Mazzone, P., Tonali, P., & Rothwell, J.
C. (1999). Direct demonstration of interhemispheric inhibition of the human motor cortex produced by transcranial magnetic stimulation. *Experimental Brain Research*, *124*(4), 520-524.

https://link.springer.com/content/pdf/10.1007%2Fs002210050648.pdf

- Di Lazzaro, V., Rothwell, J., & Capogna, M. (2018). Noninvasive Stimulation of the Human Brain: Activation of Multiple Cortical Circuits. *Neuroscientist*, 24(3), 246-260. <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/1073858417717660</u>
- Di Pietro, F., McAuley, J. H., Parkitny, L., Lotze, M., Wand, B. M., Moseley, G. L., & Stanton, T. R. (2013). Primary somatosensory cortex function in complex regional pain syndrome: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *The Journal of pain*, *14*(10), 1001-1018. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jpain.2013.04.001</u>
- Di Pietro, F., Stanton, T. R., Moseley, G. L., Lotze, M., & McAuley, J. H. (2015).
 Interhemispheric somatosensory differences in chronic pain reflect abnormality of the healthy side. *Human Brain Mappinng*, *36*(2), 508-518.
 https://doi.org/10.1002/hbm.22643
- Di Pietro, F., Stanton, T. R., Moseley, G. L., Lotze, M., & McAuley, J. H. (2016). An exploration into the cortical reorganisation of the healthy hand in upper-limb complex regional pain syndrome. *Scandinavian Journal of Pain*, *13*(*1*), 18-24.
 https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/j.sjpain.2016.06.004
- Diers, M., Koeppe, C., Diesch, E., Stolle, A. M., Hölzl, R., Schiltenwolf, M., van Ackern, K., & Flor, H. (2007). Central Processing of Acute Muscle Pain in Chronic Low Back
 Pain Patients: An EEG Mapping Study. *Journal of Clinical Neurophysiology*, *24*(1), 76-83. https://doi.org/10.1097/01.wnp.0000241093.00844.0e
- Donoghue, J. P., & Sanes, J. N. (1994). Motor areas of the cerebral cortex. *Journal of Clinical Neurophysiology*, *11*(4), 382-396.
- Dorf, E. R., Chhabra, A. B., Golish, S. R., McGinty, J. L., & Pannunzio, M. E. (2007). Effect of elbow position on grip strength in the evaluation of lateral epicondylitis. *The Journal of hand surgery*, *32*(6), 882-886.

- Dum, R. P., Levinthal, D. J., & Strick, P. L. (2009). The spinothalamic system targets motor and sensory areas in the cerebral cortex of monkeys. *Journal of Neuroscience*, 29(45), 14223-14235.
- Duque, J., Hummel, F., Celnik, P., Murase, N., Mazzocchio, R., & Cohen, L. G. (2005). Transcallosal inhibition in chronic subcortical stroke. *NeuroImage*, 28(4), 940-946. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neuroimage.2005.06.033</u>
- Duque, J., Murase, N., Celnik, P., Hummel, F., Harris-Love, M., Mazzocchio, R., Olivier, E., & Cohen, L. G. (2007). Intermanual differences in movement-related interhemispheric inhibition. *Journal of Cognitive Neuroscience*, *19*(2), 204-213. <u>https://www.mitpressjournals.org/doi/10.1162/jocn.2007.19.2.204?url_ver=Z39.88-</u> 2003&rfr_id=ori%3Arid%3Acrossref.org&rfr_dat=cr_pub%3Dpubmed&
- Edgerton, V. R., Wolf, S. L., Levendowski, D. J., & Roy, R. R. (1996). Theoretical basis for patterning EMG amplitudes to assess muscle dysfunction. *Medicine and Science in Sports Exercise*, 28(6), 744-751. <u>https://doi.org/10.1097/00005768-199606000-00013</u>
- Edwards, L. L., King, E. M., Buetefisch, C. M., & Borich, M. R. (2019). Putting the
 "Sensory" Into Sensorimotor Control: The Role of Sensorimotor Integration in GoalDirected Hand Movements After Stroke [Review]. *Frontiers in Integrative Neuroscience*, 13, 16. <u>https://doi.org/10.3389/fnint.2019.00016</u>
- Eimer, M., & Forster, B. (2003). Modulations of early somatosensory ERP components by transient and sustained spatial attention. *Experimental brain research*, *151*(1), 24-31.
- El-Tallawy, S. N., Nalamasu, R., Salem, G. I., LeQuang, J. A. K., Pergolizzi, J. V., & Christo, P. J. (2021). Management of Musculoskeletal Pain: An Update with Emphasis on Chronic Musculoskeletal Pain. *Pain and Therapy*, *10*(1), 181-209. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s40122-021-00235-2</u>

- Eliassen, J. C., Baynes, K., & Gazzaniga, M. S. (1999). Direction information coordinated via the posterior third of the corpus callosum during bimanual movements. *Experimental Brain Research*, 128(4), 573-577. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s002210050884</u>
- Fabri, M., Del Pesce, M., Paggi, A., Polonara, G., Bartolini, M., Salvolini, U., & Manzoni, T. (2005). Contribution of posterior corpus callosum to the interhemispheric transfer of tactile information. *Cognitive Brain Research*, 24(1), 73-80.
- Fabri, M., Polonara, G., Pesce, M. D., Quattrini, A., Salvolini, U., & Manzoni, T. (2001).
 Posterior corpus callosum and interhemispheric transfer of somatosensory
 information: an fMRI and neuropsychological study of a partially callosotomized
 patient. *Journal of Cognitive Neuroscience*, *13*(8), 1071-1079.
- Fabri, M., Polonara, G., Quattrini, A., Salvolini, U., Del Pesce, M., & Manzoni, T. (1999).
 Role of the corpus callosum in the somatosensory activation of the ipsilateral cerebral cortex: an fMRI study of callosotomized patients. *European Journal of Neuroscience*, *11*(11), 3983-3994. <u>https://doi.org/10.1046/j.1460-9568.1999.00829.x</u>
- Fahn, S., Bressman, S., & Marsden, C. (1998). Classification of dystonia. Advances in neurology, 78, 1-10.
- Fan, Z. J., Silverstein, B. A., Bao, S., Bonauto, D. K., Howard, N. L., Spielholz, P. O., Smith, C. K., Polissar, N. L., & Viikari-Juntura, E. (2009). Quantitative exposure-response relations between physical workload and prevalence of lateral epicondylitis in a working population. *American Journal of Industrial Medicine*, 52(6), 479-490. https://doi.org/10.1002/ajim.20700
- Farina, S., Valeriani, M., Rosso, T., Aglioti, S., Tamburin, S., Fiaschi, A., & Tinazzi, M. (2001). Transient inhibition of the human motor cortex by capsaicin-induced pain. A study with transcranial magnetic stimulation. *Neuroscience Letters*, *314*(1), 97-101. <u>https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/S0304-3940(01)02297-2</u>

Fedorczyk, J. M. (2006). Tennis Elbow: Blending Basic Science with Clinical Practice. Journal of Hand Therapy, 19(2), 146-153. <u>https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1197/j.jht.2006.02.016</u>

Fenton, B. W., Palmieri, P. A., Boggio, P., Fanning, J., & Fregni, F. (2009). A preliminary study of transcranial direct current stimulation for the treatment of refractory chronic pelvic pain. *Brain Stimuationl*, 2(2), 103-107.

https://doi.org/10.1016/j.brs.2008.09.009

- Ferbert, A., Priori, A., Rothwell, J. C., Day, B. L., Colebatch, J. G., & Marsden, C. D. (1992). Interhemispheric inhibition of the human motor cortex. *The Journal of Physiology*, 453(1), 525-546. <u>http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC1175572/</u>
- Fernández-Carnero, J., Fernández-de-las-Peñas, C., de la Llave-Rincón, A. I., Ge, H.-Y., & Arendt-Nielsen, L. (2009a). Widespread Mechanical Pain Hypersensitivity as Sign of Central Sensitization in Unilateral Epicondylalgia: A Blinded, Controlled Study. *The Clinical Journal of Pain*, 25(7), 555-561.

https://journals.lww.com/clinicalpain/Fulltext/2009/09000/Widespread_Mechanical_P ain Hypersensitivity as.1.aspx

Fernández-Carnero, J., Fernandez-de-las-Penas, C., de la Llave-Rincon, A. I., Ge, H. Y., & Arendt-Nielsen, L. (2008). Bilateral myofascial trigger points in the forearm muscles in patients with chronic unilateral lateral epicondylalgia: a blinded, controlled study. *The Clinical journal of Pain*, 24(9), 802-807.

https://doi.org/10.1097/AJP.0b013e31817bcb79

Fernández-Carnero, J., Fernández-de-Las-Peñas, C., Sterling, M., Souvlis, T., Arendt-Nielsen, L., & Vicenzino, B. (2009b). Exploration of the Extent of Somato-Sensory Impairment in Patients with Unilateral Lateral Epicondylalgia. *Journal of Pain*, *10*(11), 1179-1185. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jpain.2009.04.015</u>

- Fernández-de-las-Peñas, C., de la Llave-Rincon, A. I., Fernandez-Carnero, J., Cuadrado, M. L., Arendt-Nielsen, L., & Pareja, J. A. (2009). Bilateral widespread mechanical pain sensitivity in carpal tunnel syndrome: evidence of central processing in unilateral neuropathy. *Brain*, 132(6), 1472-1479. https://doi.org/10.1093/brain/awp050
- Fernández-de-las-Peñas, C., Ortega-Santiago, R., Ambite-Quesada, S., Jiménez-Garcí, A. R., Arroyo-Morales, M., & Cleland, J. A. (2010). Specific mechanical pain hypersensitivity over peripheral nerve trunks in women with either unilateral epicondylalgia or carpal tunnel syndrome. *Journal of Orthopaedic & sports physical therapy*, 40(11), 751-760. <u>https://doi.org/10.2519/jospt.2010.3331</u>
- Fernandez-de-Las-Penas, C., Perez-de-Heredia-Torres, M., Martinez-Piedrola, R., de la Llave-Rincon, A. I., & Cleland, J. A. (2009). Bilateral deficits in fine motor control and pinch grip force in patients with unilateral carpal tunnel syndrome. *Experimental Brain Research*, 194(1), 29-37. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s00221-008-1666-4</u>
- Fleming, M. K., & Newham, D. J. (2017). Reliability of transcallosal inhibition in healthy adults. *Frontiers in human neuroscience*, *10*, 681.
- Fling, B. W., Benson, B. L., & Seidler, R. D. (2013). Transcallosal sensorimotor fiber tract structure-function relationships. *Human Brain Mapping*, 34(2), 384-395. <u>https://doi.org/10.1002/hbm.21437</u>
- Flor, H., Braun, C., Elbert, T., & Birbaumer, N. (1997). Extensive reorganization of primary somatosensory cortex in chronic back pain patients. *Neuroscience Letters*, 224(1), 5-8. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/s0304-3940(97)13441-3</u>
- Fredberg, U., & Stengaard-Pedersen, K. (2008). Chronic tendinopathy tissue pathology, pain mechanisms, and etiology with a special focus on inflammation. *Scandinavian Journal of Medicine & Science in Sports*, 18(1), 3-15. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1600-0838.2007.00746.x</u>

- Freedman, R., Adler, L. E., Gerhardt, G. A., Waldo, M., Baker, N., Rose, G. M., Drebing, C., Nagamoto, H., Bickford-Wimer, P., & Franks, R. (1987). Neurobiological Studies of Sensory Gating in Schizophrenia. *Schizophrenia Bulletin*, 13(4), 669-678. <u>https://doi.org/10.1093/schbul/13.4.669</u>
- Fregni, F., Boggio, P. S., Mansur, C. G., Wagner, T., Ferreira, M. J., Lima, M. C., Rigonatti,
 S. P., Marcolin, M. A., Freedman, S. D., Nitsche, M. A., & Pascual-Leone, A. (2005).
 Transcranial direct current stimulation of the unaffected hemisphere in stroke patients. *NeuroReport*, *16*(14), 1551-1555.
- Fregni, F., Gimenes, R., Valle, A. C., Ferreira, M. J. L., Rocha, R. R., Natalle, L., Bravo, R., Rigonatti, S. P., Freedman, S. D., Nitsche, M. A., Pascual-Leone, A., & Boggio, P. S. (2006). A randomized, sham-controlled, proof of principle study of transcranial direct current stimulation for the treatment of pain in fibromyalgia. *Arthritis & Rheumatism*, 54(12), 3988-3998. <u>https://doi.org/10.1002/art.22195</u>
- Frost, S., Barbay, S., Friel, K., Plautz, E., & Nudo, R. (2003). Reorganization of remote cortical regions after ischemic brain injury: a potential substrate for stroke recovery. *Journal of Neurophysiology*, 89(6), 3205-3214.

https://journals.physiology.org/doi/pdf/10.1152/jn.01143.2002

- Frot, M., & Mauguière, F. (1999). Timing and Spatial Distribution of Somatosensory
 Responses Recorded in the Upper Bank of the Sylvian Fissure (SII Area) in Humans.
 Cerebral cortex, 9(8), 854-863. <u>https://doi.org/10.1093/cercor/9.8.854</u>
- Gangadharan, V., & Kuner, R. (2013). Pain hypersensitivity mechanisms at a glance. *Disease* models & mechanisms, 6(4), 889-895. <u>https://doi.org/10.1242/dmm.011502</u>
- García-Larrea, L., Bastuji, H., & Mauguière, F. (1991). Mapping study of somatosensory evoked potentials during selective spatial attention. *Electroencephalography and*

Clinical Neurophysiology/Evoked Potentials Section, 80(3), 201-214. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/0168-5597(91)90122-E

- García-Larrea, L., Lukaszewicz, A. C., & Mauguière, F. (1995). Somatosensory responses during selective spatial attention: The N120-to-N140 transition. *Psychophysiology*, 32(6), 526-537. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1469-8986.1995.tb01229.x</u>
- Garcia-Larrea, L., & Peyron, R. (2007). Motor cortex stimulation for neuropathic pain: From phenomenology to mechanisms. *NeuroImage*, *37 Suppl 1*, S71-79. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neuroimage.2007.05.062</u>
- Garcia-Larrea, L., Peyron, R., Mertens, P., Gregoire, M. C., Lavenne, F., Le Bars, D.,
 Convers, P., Mauguiere, F., Sindou, M., & Laurent, B. (1999). Electrical stimulation of motor cortex for pain control: a combined PET-scan and electrophysiological study. *Pain*, 83(2), 259-273.
- Gavalas, J. R., & Sperry, R. W. (1969). Central integration of visual half-fields in split-brain monkeys. *Brain Research*, 15(1), 97-106. <u>https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/0006-</u> 8993(69)90312-6
- Gazzaniga, M. S. (1966a). Interhemispheric communication of visual learning. *Neuropsychologia*, 4(2), 183-189. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/0028-3932(66)90047-9</u>
- Gazzaniga, M. S. (1966b). Interhemispheric cuing systems remaining after section of neocortical commissures in monkeys. *Experimental Neurology*, *16*(1), 28-35.
- Gazzaniga, M. S. (1967). The Split Brain in Man. *Scientific American*, 217(2), 24-29. http://www.jstor.org/stable/24926082
- Gazzaniga, M. S., Bogen, J. E., & Sperry, R. W. (1963). Laterality effects in somesthesis following cerebral commissurotomy in man. *Neuropsychologia*, *1*(3), 209-215.

- Gazzaniga, M. S., & Sperry, R. W. (1966). Simultaneous double discrimination response following brain bisection. *Psychonomic Science*, 4(7), 261-262. <u>https://doi.org/10.3758/BF03342286</u>
- Gazzaniga, M. S., & Sperry, R. W. (1967). Language after section of the cerebral commissures. *Brain*, 90(1), 131-148.
- Geffen, G. M., Jones, D. L., & Geffen, L. B. (1994). Interhemispheric control of manual motor activity. *Behavioural Brain Research*, 64(1), 131-140. <u>https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/0166-4328(94)90125-2</u>
- Geneen, L. J., Moore, R. A., Clarke, C., Martin, D., Colvin, L. A., & Smith, B. H. (2017).Physical activity and exercise for chronic pain in adults: an overview of CochraneReviews. *Cochrane Database of Systematic Reviews*(4).
- Gerloff, C., & Andres, F. G. (2002). Bimanual coordination and interhemispheric interaction. *Acta Psychologica*, *110*(2), 161-186. <u>https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/S0001-</u> 6918(02)00032-X
- Gerloff, C., Cohen, L. G., Floeter, M. K., Chen, R., Corwell, B., & Hallett, M. (1998).
 Inhibitory influence of the ipsilateral motor cortex on responses to stimulation of the human cortex and pyramidal tract. *The Journal of Physiology*, *510*(1), 249-259.
 https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1469-7793.1998.249bz.x
- Gevins, A., & Smith, M. E. (2006) electroenecephalography (EEG) in neuroergonomics.
- Gibson, W., Arendt-Nielsen, L., & Graven-Nielsen, T. (2006). Referred pain and hyperalgesia in human tendon and muscle belly tissue. *Pain*, *120*(1), 113-123. <u>https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/j.pain.2005.10.023</u>
- Gibson, W., Arendt-Nielsen, L., Sessle, B. J., & Graven-Nielsen, T. (2009). Glutamate and capsaicin-induced pain, hyperalgesia and modulatory interactions in human tendon

tissue. Experimental brain research, 194(2), 173-182.

https://link.springer.com/article/10.1007/s00221-008-1683-3

- Giesler, G. J. J., Yezierski, R. P., Gerhart, K. D., & Willis, W. D. (1981). Spinothalamic tract neurons that project to medial and/or lateral thalamic nuclei: evidence for a physiologically novel population of spinal cord neurons. *Journal of Neurophysiology*, 46(6), 1285-1308. <u>https://doi.org/10.1152/jn.1981.46.6.1285</u>
- Glickstein, M., & Sperry, R. W. (1960). Intermanual somesthetic transfer in split-brain
 Rhesus monkeys. *Journal of Comparative and Physiological Psychology*, *53(4)*, 322-327. https://doi.org/10.1037/h0046386
- Gooijers, J., & Swinnen, S. P. (2014). Interactions between brain structure and behavior: The corpus callosum and bimanual coordination. *Neuroscience & Biobehavioral Reviews*, 43, 1-19. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neubiorev.2014.03.008
- Graven-Nielsen, T., & Arendt-Nielsen, L. (2003). Induction and assessment of muscle pain, referred pain, and muscular hyperalgesia. *Current Pain and Headache Reports*, 7(6), 443-451. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s11916-003-0060-y</u>
- Graven-Nielsen, T., & Arendt-Nielsen, L. (2010). Assessment of mechanisms in localized and widespread musculoskeletal pain. *Nature Reviews Rheumatology*, 6(10), 599-606. <u>https://www.nature.com/articles/nrrheum.2010.107</u>
- Graven-Nielsen, T., Arendt-Nielsen, L., Svensson, P., & Jensen, T. S. (1997). Experimental Muscle Pain: A Quantitative Study of Local and Referred Pain in Humans Following Injection of Hypertonic Saline. *Journal of Musculoskeletal Pain*, 5(1), 49-69. https://doi.org/10.1300/J094v05n01_04
- Grefkes, C., Nowak, D. A., Eickhoff, S. B., Dafotakis, M., Küst, J., Karbe, H., & Fink, G. R. (2008). Cortical connectivity after subcortical stroke assessed with functional

magnetic resonance imaging. *Annals of neurology*, *63*(2), 236-246. https://onlinelibrary.wiley.com/doi/abs/10.1002/ana.21228

- Groppa, S., Oliviero, A., Eisen, A., Quartarone, A., Cohen, L. G., Mall, V., Kaelin-Lang, A., Mima, T., Rossi, S., Thickbroom, G. W., Rossini, P. M., Ziemann, U., Valls-Solé, J., & Siebner, H. R. (2012). A practical guide to diagnostic transcranial magnetic stimulation: report of an IFCN committee. *Clinical Neurophysiology*, *123*(5), 858-882. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.clinph.2012.01.010
- Gruchow, H. W., & Pelletier, D. (1979). An epidemiologic study of tennis elbow: incidence, recurrence, and effectiveness of prevention strategies. *The American Journal of Sports Medicine*, 7(4), 234-238.
- Gruener, G., & Dyck, P. J. (1994). Quantitative sensory testing: methodology, applications, and future directions. *Journal of Clinical Neurophysiology*, *11*(6), 568-583.
- Grundmann, L., Rolke, R., Nitsche, M. A., Pavlakovic, G., Happe, S., Treede, R.-D., Paulus, W., & Bachmann, C. G. (2011). Effects of transcranial direct current stimulation of the primary sensory cortex on somatosensory perception. *Brain Stimulation*, 4(4), 253-260. <u>https://www.brainstimjrnl.com/article/S1935-861X(10)00170-1/fulltext</u>
- Gueugneau, N., Bove, M., Avanzino, L., Jacquin, A., Pozzo, T., & Papaxanthis, C. (2013).
 Interhemispheric inhibition during mental actions of different complexity. *PLoS One*, 8(2), e56973.
- Gueugneau, N., Grosprêtre, S., Stapley, P., & Lepers, R. (2017). High-frequency neuromuscular electrical stimulation modulates interhemispheric inhibition in healthy humans. *Journal of Neurophysiology*, *117*(1), 467-475. https://doi.org/10.1152/jn.00355.2016
- Guyatt, G. H., Oxman, A. D., Vist, G., Kunz, R., Brozek, J., Alonso-Coello, P., Montori, V., Akl, E. A., Djulbegovic, B., Falck-Ytter, Y., Norris, S. L., Williams, J. W., Atkins,

D., Meerpohl, J., & Schünemann, H. J. (2011). GRADE guidelines: 4. Rating the quality of evidence—study limitations (risk of bias). *Journal of Clinical Epidemiology*, *64*(4), 407-415.

https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jclinepi.2010.07.017

- Haker, E., Theodorsson, E., & Lundeberg, T. (1998). An Experimental Model of Tennis
 Elbow in Rats: A Study of the Contribution of the Nervous System. *Inflammation*, 22(4), 435-444. <u>https://doi.org/10.1023/A:1022377001084</u>
- Hallett, M., Di Iorio, R., Rossini, P. M., Park, J. E., Chen, R., Celnik, P., Strafella, A. P.,
 Matsumoto, H., & Ugawa, Y. (2017). Contribution of transcranial magnetic
 stimulation to assessment of brain connectivity and networks. *Clinical Neurophysiology*, *128*(11), 2125-2139. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.clinph.2017.08.007</u>
- Hamada, Y., Otsuka, S., Okamoto, T., & Suzuki, R. (2002). The profile of the recovery cycle in human primary and secondary somatosensory cortex: a magnetoencephalography study. *Clinical Neurophysiology*, *113*(11), 1787-1793.
 https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/S1388-2457(02)00258-4
- Han, S. H., Kim, H. K., Jang, Y., Lee, H. H., Rhie, J., Han, D., Oh, J., & Lee, S. (2021). The expression of substance P and calcitonin gene-related peptide is associated with the severity of tendon degeneration in lateral epicondylitis. *BMC Musculoskeletal Disorders*, 22(1), 1-10. <u>https://doi.org/10.1186/s12891-021-04067-1</u>
- Hanajima, R., Ugawa, Y., Machii, K., Mochizuki, H., Terao, Y., Enomoto, H., Furubayashi, T., Shiio, Y., Uesugi, H., & Kanazawa, I. (2001). Interhemispheric facilitation of the hand motor area in humans. *The Journal of Physiology*, *531*(3), 849-859.
 https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1469-7793.2001.0849h.x

- Hansson, P., Backonja, M., & Bouhassira, D. (2007). Usefulness and limitations of quantitative sensory testing: clinical and research application in neuropathic pain states. *Pain*, *129*(3), 256-259. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.pain.2007.03.030</u>
- Harris-Love, M. L., Perez, M. A., Chen, R., & Cohen, L. G. (2007). Interhemispheric inhibition in distal and proximal arm representations in the primary motor cortex. *Journal of Neurophysiology*, 97(3), 2511-2515. <u>https://doi.org/10.1152/jn.01331.2006</u>
- Hausmann, M., Tegenthoff, M., Sänger, J., Janssen, F., Güntürkün, O., & Schwenkreis, P.
 (2006). Transcallosal inhibition across the menstrual cycle: a TMS study. *Clinical Neurophysiology*, *117*(1), 26-32.
- Hay, S. I., Abajobir, A.A., Abate, K.H., Abbafati, C., Abbas, K. M., Abd-Allah, F., ...& Ciobanu, L. G. (2017). Global, regional, and national disability-adjusted life-years (DALYs) for 333 diseases and injuries and healthy life expectancy (HALE) for 195 countries and territories, 1990-2016: a systematic analysis for the Global Burden of Disease Study 2016. *Lancet (London, England), 390*(10100), 1260-1344. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/S0140-6736(17)32130-X</u>
- Hayashi, K., Shiozawa, S., Ozaki, N., Mizumura, K., & Graven-Nielsen, T. (2013). Repeated intramuscular injections of nerve growth factor induced progressive muscle hyperalgesia, facilitated temporal summation, and expanded pain areas. *Pain*, *154*(11), 2344-2352. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.pain.2013.07.007</u>
- He, X. F., Lan, Y., Zhang, Q., Liang, F. Y., Luo, C. M., Xu, G. Q., & Pei, Z. (2015). GABAergic interneurons involved in transcallosal inhibition of the visual cortices in vivo in mice. *Physiology and Behaviour*, 151, 502-508. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.physbeh.2015.08.026

- Heales, L. J., Bergin, M. J., Vicenzino, B., & Hodges, P. W. (2016). Forearm muscle activity in lateral epicondylalgia: a systematic review with quantitative analysis. *Sports Medicine*, 46(12), 1833-1845.
- Heales, L. J., Bout, N., Dines, B., Parker, T., Reddiex, K., Kean, C. O., & Obst, S. J. (2021).
 An Investigation of Maximal Strength of the Upper Limb Bilaterally in Individuals
 With Lateral Elbow Tendinopathy: A Systematic Review With Meta-Analysis. *Physical Therapy*, *101*(12), pzab230. https://doi.org/10.1093/ptj/pzab230
- Heales, L. J., Lim, E. C., Hodges, P. W., & Vicenzino, B. (2014). Sensory and motor deficits exist on the non-injured side of patients with unilateral tendon pain and disability-implications for central nervous system involvement: a systematic review with metaanalysis. *British journal of sports medicine*, 48(19), 1400-1406.

https://doi.org/10.1136/bjsports-2013-092535

- Heales, L. J., Vincenzino, B., MacDonald, D. A., & Hodges, P. W. (2016). Forearm muscle activity is modified bilaterally in unilateral lateral epicondylalgia: a case control study. *Sca*ndinavian journal of medicine & science in sports, 26(12), 1382–1390. https://doi.org/10.1111/sms.12584
- Australian Institute of Health and Welfare. (2019). *Disease expenditure in Australia*. <u>https://www.aihw.gov.au/reports/health-welfare-expenditure/disease-expenditure-australia</u>
- Australian Institute of Health and Welfare. (2020a). Arthritis.

https://www.aihw.gov.au/reports/chronic-musculoskeletal-conditions/arthritis

Australian Institute of Health and Welfare. (2020b). Bone and joint health.

https://www.aihw.gov.au/reports/australias-health/bone-and-joint-health

Heinen, F., Glocker, F.-X., Fietzek, U., Meyer, B.-U., Lücking, C.-H., & Korinthenberg, R. (1998). Absence of transcallosal inhibition following focal mangnetic stimulation in

preschool children. Annals of Neurology, 43(5), 608-612.

https://doi.org/10.1002/ana.410430508

- Herquelot, E., Bodin, J., Roquelaure, Y., Ha, C., Leclerc, A., Goldberg, M., Zins, M., & Descatha, A. (2013). Work-related risk factors for lateral epicondylitis and other cause of elbow pain in the working population. *American journal of industrial medicine*, 56(4), 400-409. <u>https://www.hal.inserm.fr/inserm-00806183/document</u>
- Hidalgo-Lozano, A., Fernandez-de-las-Penas, C., Alonso-Blanco, C., Ge, H. Y., Arendt-Nielsen, L., & Arroyo-Morales, M. (2010). Muscle trigger points and pressure pain hyperalgesia in the shoulder muscles in patients with unilateral shoulder impingement: a blinded, controlled study. *Experimental Brain Research*, 202(4), 915-925. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00221-010-2196-4
- Higgins, J. P. T., Altman, D. G., Gøtzsche, P. C., Jüni, P., Moher, D., Oxman, A. D., Savović, J., Schulz, K. F., Weeks, L., & Sterne, J. A. C. (2011). The Cochrane Collaboration's tool for assessing risk of bias in randomised trials. *Bmj*, *343*, d5928.
 https://doi.org/10.1136/bmj.d5928
- Hinder, M. R., Schmidt, M. W., Garry, M. I., & Summers, J. J. (2010). Unilateral contractions modulate interhemispheric inhibition most strongly and most adaptively in the homologous muscle of the contralateral limb. *Experimental brain research*, 205(3), 423-433.
- Hlushchuk, Y., & Hari, R. (2006). Transient Suppression of Ipsilateral Primary
 Somatosensory Cortex during Tactile Finger Stimulation. *The Journal of Neuroscience*, 26(21), 5819-5824. <u>https://doi.org/10.1523/jneurosci.5536-05.2006</u>
- Hodges, P., & Falla, D. (2015). Interaction between pain and sensorimotor control. Grieve's Modern Musculoskeletal Physiotherapy. United Kingdom: Elsevier, 53-67.

- Hodges, P. W., Moseley, G. L., Gabrielsson, A., & Gandevia, S. C. (2003). Experimental muscle pain changes feedforward postural responses of the trunk muscles. *Experimental brain research*, 151(2), 262-271.
- Hodges, P. W., & Tucker, K. (2011). Moving differently in pain: a new theory to explain the adaptation to pain. *Pain*, *152*, S90-98. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.pain.2010.10.020
- Hoechstetter, K., Rupp, A., Stancak, A., Meinck, H. M., Stippich, C., Berg, P., & Scherg, M. (2001). Interaction of tactile input in the human primary and secondary somatosensory cortex--a magnetoencephalographic study. *NeuroImage*, *14*(3), 759-767. <u>https://doi.org/10.1006/nimg.2001.0855</u>
- Höffken, O., Tannwitz, J., Lenz, M., Sczesny-Kaiser, M., Tegenthoff, M., & Schwenkreis, P. (2013). Influence of parameter settings on paired-pulse-suppression in somatosensory evoked potentials: a systematic analysis. Clinical neurophysiology : official journal of the International Federation of Clinical Neurophysiology, 124(3), 574–580. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.clinph.2012.08.012
- Holden, L., Scuffham, P. A., Hilton, M. F., Ware, R. S., Vecchio, N., & Whiteford, H. A.
 (2011). Health-related productivity losses increase when the health condition is comorbid with psychological distress: findings from a large cross-sectional sample of working Australians. *BMC Public Health*, *11*(1), 417. <u>https://doi.org/10.1186/1471-</u> 2458-11-417
- Homan, R. W., Herman, J., & Purdy, P. (1987). Cerebral location of international 10–20 system electrode placement. *Electroencephalography and Clinical Neurophysiology*, 66(4), 376-382. <u>https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/0013-4694(87)90206-9</u>
- Hopkins, C., Fu, S.-C., Chua, E., Hu, X., Rolf, C., Mattila, V. M., Qin, L., Yung, P. S.-H., & Chan, K.-M. (2016). Critical review on the socio-economic impact of tendinopathy.

Asia-Pacific Journal of Sports Medicine, Arthroscopy, Rehabilitation and Technology, 4, 9-20. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/j.asmart.2016.01.002

- Huge, V., Lauchart, M., Förderreuther, S., Kaufhold, W., Valet, M., Azad, S. C., Beyer, A., & Magerl, W. (2008). Interaction of Hyperalgesia and Sensory Loss in Complex
 Regional Pain Syndrome Type I (CRPS I). *PLoS One*, *3*(7), e2742.
 https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0002742
- Hulley, S. B., Cummings, S. R., Newman, T. B., Browner, W., & Grady, D. (2013).Designing cross-sectional and cohort studies. *Designing clinical research*, *4*, 85-96.
- Hummel, F., Celnik, P., Giraux, P., Floel, A., Wu, W. H., Gerloff, C., & Cohen, L. G. (2005). Effects of non-invasive cortical stimulation on skilled motor function in chronic stroke. *Brain*, 128(3), 490-499. https://doi.org/10.1093/brain/awh369
- Ibey, R. J., Bolton, D. A., Buick, A. R., Staines, W. R., & Carson, R. G. (2015). Interhemispheric inhibition of corticospinal projections to forearm muscles. *Clinical Neurophysiology*, *126*(10), 1934-1940. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.clinph.2014.12.006</u>
- International Association for the Study of Pain. (2011). *IASP Terminology*. Retrieved 25 May 2022 from https://www.iasp-pain.org/resources/terminology/
- Irlbacher, K., Brocke, J., Mechow, J. v., & Brandt, S. A. (2007). Effects of GABAA and GABAB agonists on interhemispheric inhibition in man. *Clinical Neurophysiology*, *118*(2), 308-316. <u>https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/j.clinph.2006.09.023</u>
- Islam, S., & Frey, N. (2020). Psychotherapy for the Treatment of Acute Musculoskeletal Pain: A Review of Clinical Effectiveness and Guidelines.
- Iwamura, Y. (2000). Bilateral receptive field neurons and callosal connections in the somatosensory cortex. *Philosophical transactions of the Royal Society of London*. *Series B, Biological sciences*, 355(1394), 267-273. https://doi.org/10.1098/rstb.2000.0563

- Iwamura, Y., Taoka, M., & Iriki, A. (2001). Bilateral activity and callosal connections in the somatosensory cortex. *Neuroscientist*, 7(5), 419-429. <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/107385840100700511</u>
- Jacobs, K. M. (2011). Somatosensory System. In J. S. Kreutzer, J. DeLuca, & B. Caplan (Eds.), *Encyclopedia of Clinical Neuropsychology* (pp. 2320-2324). Springer New York. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/978-0-387-79948-3_359</u>
- Jaén-Díaz, J. I., Cerezo-López, E., López-de Castro, F., Mata-Castrillo, M., Barceló-Galíndez, J. P., De la Fuente, J., & Balius-Mata, R. (2010). Sonographic Findings for the Common Extensor Tendon of the Elbow in the General Population. *Journal of Ultrasound in Medicine*, 29(12), 1717-1724.

https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.7863/jum.2010.29.12.1717

- Jasper, H. H. (1958). The ten-twenty electrode system of the International Federation. *Electroencephalogr. Clinical. Neurophysiology.*, *10*, 370-375.
- Jenny, A. B. (1979). Commissural projections of the cortical hand motor area in monkeys. Journal of Comparative Neurology, 188(1), 137-145.

https://doi.org/10.1002/cne.901880111

- Jensen, K., & Norup, M. (1992). Experimental pain in human temporal muscle induced by hypertonic saline, potassium and acidity. *Cephalalgia*, 12(2), 101-106. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1046/j.1468-2982.1992.1202101.x
- Jespersen, A., Amris, K., Graven-Nielsen, T., Arendt-Nielsen, L., Bartels, E. M., Torp-Pedersen, S., Bliddal, H., & Danneskiold-Samsoe, B. (2013). Assessment of pressurepain thresholds and central sensitization of pain in lateral epicondylalgia. *Pain Medicine*, 14(2), 297-304. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/pme.12021</u>
- Jones, A. P., Brown, W., Friston, K. J., Qi, L., & Frackowiak, R. (1991). Cortical and subcortical localization of response to pain in man using positron emission

tomography. *Proceedings of the Royal Society of London. Series B: Biological Sciences*, 244(1309), 39-44.

- Jones, E., & Powell, T. (1969). Connexions of the somatic sensory cortex of the rhesus monkey: I.—Ipsilateral cortical connexions. *Brain*, 92(3), 477-502.
- Jones, E. G. (2000). Cortical and Subcortical Contributions to Activity-Dependent Plasticity in Primate Somatosensory Cortex. *Annual review of neruoscience*, *23*(1), 1-37. <u>https://doi.org/10.1146/annurev.neuro.23.1.1</u>
- Jones, S., Carley, S., & Harrison, M. (2003). An introduction to power and sample size estimation. *Emergency medicine journal: EMJ*, 20(5), 453.
- Jung, P., Klein, J. C., Wibral, M., Hoechstetter, K., Bliem, B., Lu, M. K., Wahl, M., & Ziemann, U. (2012). Spatiotemporal Dynamics of Bimanual Integration in Human Somatosensory Cortex and Their Relevance to Bimanual Object Manipulation. *The Journal of Neuroscience*, 32(16), 5667-5677.
- Juul-Kristensen, B., Lund, H., Hansen, K., Christensen, H., Danneskiold-Samsøe, B., & Bliddal, H. (2008). Poorer elbow proprioception in patients with lateral epicondylitis than in healthy controls: a cross-sectional study. *Journal of shoulder and elbow surgery*, 17(1), S72-S81.
- Kaas, J. H. (1993). The functional organization of somatosensory cortex in primates. Annals of Anatomy - Anatomischer Anzeiger, 175(6), 509-518. <u>https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/S0940-9602(11)80212-8</u>
- Kandić, M., Moliadze, V., Andoh, J., Flor, H., & Nees, F. (2021). Brain circuits involved in the development of chronic musculoskeletal pain: Evidence from non-invasive brain stimulation. *Frontiers in neurology*, *12*, 732034.
- Kanovsky, P., Bares, M., & Rektor, I. (2003). The selective gating of the N30 cortical component of the somatosensory evoked potentials of median nerve is different in the

mesial and dorsolateral frontal cortex: evidence from intracerebral recordings. *Clinical Neurophysiology*, *114*(6), 981-991. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/s1388-</u> <u>2457(03)00068-3</u>

- Kastrup, A., Baudewig, J., Schnaudigel, S., Huonker, R., Becker, L., Sohns, J. M., Dechent,
 P., Klingner, C., & Witte, O. W. (2008). Behavioral correlates of negative BOLD signal changes in the primary somatosensory cortex. *NeuroImage*, *41*(4), 1364-1371.
 https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neuroimage.2008.03.049
- Kauranen, K., & Vanharanta, H. (1996). Influences of aging, gender, and handedness on motor performance of upper and lower extremities. *Perceptual and motor skills*, 82(2), 515-525.
- Kawaguchi, Y., & Kubota, Y. (1997). GABAergic cell subtypes and their synaptic connections in rat frontal cortex. *Cerebral cortex*, 7(6), 476-486. <u>https://doi.org/10.1093/cercor/7.6.476</u>
- Keel, J. C., Smith, M. J., & Wassermann, E. M. (2001). A safety screening questionnaire for transcranial magnetic stimulation. *Clinical Neurophysiology*, *112*(4), 720.
- Kelley, J. D., Lombardo, S. J., Pink, M., Perry, J., & Giangarra, C. E. (1994).
 Electromyographic and cinematographic analysis of elbow function in tennis players with lateral epicondylitis. *The American Journal of Sports Medicine*, 22(3), 359-363.
- Kellgran, J. (1938). Observation on referred pain arising from muscle. Clin Sci, 3, 175-190.
- Kent, M. L., Tighe, P. J., Belfer, I., Brennan, T. J., Bruehl, S., Brummett, C. M.,
 Buckenmaier, C. C., 3rd, Buvanendran, A., Cohen, R. I., Desjardins, P., Edwards, D.,
 Fillingim, R., Gewandter, J., Gordon, D. B., Hurley, R. W., Kehlet, H., Loeser, J. D.,
 Mackey, S., McLean, S. A., Polomano, R., Rahman, S., Raja, S., Rowbotham, M.,
 Suresh, S., Schachtel, B., Schreiber, K., Schumacher, M., Stacey, B., Stanos, S.,
 Todd, K., Turk, D. C., Weisman, S. J., Wu, C., Carr, D. B., Dworkin, R. H., &

Terman, G. (2017). The ACTTION-APS-AAPM Pain Taxonomy (AAAPT)
Multidimensional Approach to Classifying Acute Pain Conditions. *Pain Medicine*, *18*(5), 947-958. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jpain.2017.02.421</u>

- Killackey, H., Gould Iii, H., Cusick, C., Pons, T., & Kaas, J. (1983). The relation of corpus callosum connections to architectonic fields and body surface maps in sensorimotor cortex of new and old world monkeys. *Journal of Comparative Neurology*, 219(4), 384-419.
- Kinsbourne, M. (1975). The mechanism of hemispheric control of the lateral gradient of attention. *Attention and performance V*, 81-97.
- Kjaer, M. (2004). Role of extracellular matrix in adaptation of tendon and skeletal muscle to mechanical loading. *Physiological Reviews*, *84*(2), 649-698.
- Klomjai, W., Katz, R., & Lackmy-Vallée, A. (2015). Basic principles of transcranial magnetic stimulation (TMS) and repetitive TMS (rTMS). Annals of Physical and Rehabilitation Medicine, 58(4), 208-213.

https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/j.rehab.2015.05.005

- Kobayashi, M., & Pascual-Leone, A. (2003). Transcranial magnetic stimulation in neurology. *The Lancet Neurology*, 2(3), 145-156.
- Koerte, I., Heinen, F., Fuchs, T., Laubender, R. P., Pomschar, A., Stahl, R., Berweck, S.,
 Winkler, P., Hufschmidt, A., & Reiser, M. F. (2009). Anisotropy of callosal motor
 fibers in combination with transcranial magnetic stimulation in the course of motor
 development. *Investigative radiology*, 44(5), 279-284.
- Kokinovic, B., & Medini, P. (2018). Loss of GABAB -mediated interhemispheric synaptic inhibition in stroke periphery. *The Journal of physiology*, *596*(10), 1949-1964.
 https://doi.org/10.1113/jp275690

- Krakauer, J. W. (2005). Arm function after stroke: from physiology to recovery. *Seminars in Neurology*, 25(4), 384-395. <u>https://doi.org/10.1055/s-2005-923533</u>
- Kraushaar, B. S., & Nirschl, R. P. (1999). Tendinosis of the elbow (tennis elbow): clinical features and findings of histological, immunohistochemical, and electron microscopy studies. *Journal of Bone and Joint Surgery*, 81(2), 259.
- Krubitzer, L., Clarey, J. C., Tweedale and, R., & Calford, M. B. (1998). Interhemispheric connections of somatosensory cortex in the flying fox. *Journal of Comparative Neurology*, 402(4), 538-559.
- Kukaswadia, S., Wagle-Shukla, A., Morgante, F., Gunraj, C., & Chen, R. (2005). Interactions between long latency afferent inhibition and interhemispheric inhibitions in the human motor cortex. *The Journal of Physiology*, *563*(3), 915-924.
 https://doi.org/10.1113/jphysiol.2004.080010
- Kulin, J., & Reaston, M. (2011). Musculoskeletal disorders early diagnosis: A retrospective study in the occupational medicine setting. *Journal of occupational Medicine and Toxicology*, 6(1), 1-6.
- Kumazawa, T., & Mizumura, K. (1977). Thin-fibre receptors responding to mechanical, chemical, and thermal stimulation in the skeletal muscle of the dog. *The Journal of Physiology*, *273*(1), 179-194.

https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1113/jphysiol.1977.sp012088

- Kuner, R., & Flor, H. (2016). Structural plasticity and reorganisation in chronic pain [Review Article]. *Nature Reviews Neuroscience*, 18(1), 20-30. https://doi.org/10.1038/nrn.2016.162
- Kuo, Y. L., Dubuc, T., Boufadel, D. F., & Fisher, B. E. (2017). Measuring ipsilateral silent period: Effects of muscle contraction levels and quantification methods. *Brain research*, 1674, 77–83. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.brainres.2017.08.015

- Kurppa, K., Viikari-Juntura, E., Kuosma, E., Huuskonen, M., & Kivi, P. (1991). Incidence of tenosynovitis or peritendinitis and epicondylitis in a meat-processing factory. *Scandinavian journal of work, environment & health*, *17*(1), 32-37. https://doi.org/10.5271/sjweh.1737
- Kwon, H. G., Son, S. M., & Jang, S. H. (2014). Development of the transcallosal motor fiber from the corticospinal tract in the human brain: diffusion tensor imaging study.
 Frontiers in human neuroscience, 8, 153. <u>https://doi.org/10.3389/fnhum.2014.00153</u>
- Langberg, H., Ellingsgaard, H., Madsen, T., Jansson, J., Magnusson, S., Aagaard, P., & Kjær, M. (2007). Eccentric rehabilitation exercise increases peritendinous type I collagen synthesis in humans with Achilles tendinosis. *Scandinavian Journal of Medicine & Science in Sports*, 17(1), 61-66.
- Latremoliere, A., & Woolf, C. J. (2009). Central sensitization: a generator of pain hypersensitivity by central neural plasticity. *The Journal of pain*, *10*(9), 895-926. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jpain.2009.06.012
- Lau, T. M., Gwin, J. T., & Ferris, D. P. (2012). How Many Electrodes Are Really Needed for EEG-Based Mobile Brain Imaging? *Journal of Behavioral and Brain Science*, 2012. https://doi.org/10.4236/jbbs.2012.23044
- Le Pera, D., Graven-Nielsen, T., Valeriani, M., Oliviero, A., Di Lazzaro, V., Tonali, P. A., & Arendt-Nielsen, L. (2001). Inhibition of motor system excitability at cortical and spinal level by tonic muscle pain. *Clinical Neurophysiology*, *112*(9), 1633-1641.
- Lee, E. K., & Seyal, M. (1998). Generators of Short Latency Human Somatosensory-Evoked Potentials Recorded Over the Spine and Scalp. *Journal of Clinical Neurophysiology*, 15(3), 227-234.
- Lee, H. S., Park, H. Y., Yoon, J. O., Kim, J. S., Chun, J. M., Aminata, I. W., Cho, W. J., & Jeon, I. H. (2013). Musicians' medicine: musculoskeletal problems in string players.

Clinics in orthopedic surgery, 5(3), 155-160.

https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC3758983/pdf/cios-5-155.pdf

Lee, H., Gunraj, C., & Chen, R. (2007). The effects of inhibitory and facilitatory intracortical circuits on interhemispheric inhibition in the human motor cortex. *The Journal of Physiology*, 580(3), 1021-1032.

https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1113/jphysiol.2006.126011

- Leeuw, M., Goossens, M. E., Linton, S. J., Crombez, G., Boersma, K., & Vlaeyen, J. W. (2007). The Fear-Avoidance Model of Musculoskeletal Pain: Current State of Scientific Evidence. *Journal of Behavioral Medicine*, *30*(1), 77-94.
 https://doi.org/10.1007/s10865-006-9085-0
- Lefaucheur, J. P., Drouot, X., Menard-Lefaucheur, I., Keravel, Y., & Nguyen, J. P. (2006). Motor cortex rTMS restores defective intracortical inhibition in chronic neuropathic pain. *Neurology*, 67(9), 1568-1574.

https://doi.org/10.1212/01.wnl.0000242731.10074.3c

- Leffler, A. S., Kosek, E., & Hansson, P. (2000a). The influence of pain intensity on somatosensory perception in patients suffering from subacute/chronic lateral epicondylalgia. *European Journal of Pain*, 4(1), 57-71. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1053/eujp.1999.0159
- Leffler, A. S., Kosek, E., & Hansson, P. (2000b). Injection of hypertonic saline into musculus infraspinatus resulted in referred pain and sensory disturbances in the ipsilateral upper arm. *European Journal of Pain*, *4*(1), 73-82.

https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/abs/pii/S109038019990160X?via%3Di hub

- Lei, Y., & Perez, M. A. (2017). Cortical contributions to sensory gating in the ipsilateral somatosensory cortex during voluntary activity. *The Journal of physiology*, 595(18), 6203-6217. <u>https://doi.org/10.1113/jp274504</u>
- Levin, D., Nazarian, L. N., Miller, T. T., O'Kane, P. L., Feld, R. I., Parker, L., & McShane, J.
 M. (2005). Lateral epicondylitis of the elbow: US findings. *Radiology*, 237(1), 230-234.
- Levy, L. M., & Hallett, M. (2002). Impaired brain GABA in focal dystonia. Annals of Neurology: Official Journal of the American Neurological Association and the Child Neurology Society, 51(1), 93-101.
- Liepert, J., Hamzei, F., & Weiller, C. (2000). Motor cortex disinhibition of the unaffected hemisphere after acute stroke. *Muscle & Nerve: Official Journal of the American Association of Electrodiagnostic Medicine*, 23(11), 1761-1763.
- Lim, E. C. W., Sterling, M., Pedler, A., Coombes, B. K., & Vicenzino, B. (2012). Evidence of spinal cord hyperexcitability as measured with nociceptive flexion reflex (NFR) threshold in chronic lateral epicondylalgia with or without a positive neurodynamic test. *The Journal of Pain*, *13*(7), 676-684.
- Lim, E. C. W., Sterling, M., & Vicenzino, B. (2017). Chronic Lateral Epicondylalgia Does Not Exhibit Mechanical Pain Modulation in Response to Noxious Conditioning Heat Stimulus. The *Clinical journal of pain 33*(10), 932-938. <u>https://doi.org/10.1097/AJP.00000000000475</u>
- Lin, I., Wiles, L., Waller, R., Goucke, R., Nagree, Y., Gibberd, M., Straker, L., Maher, C. G., & O'Sullivan, P. P. (2020). What does best practice care for musculoskeletal pain look like? Eleven consistent recommendations from high-quality clinical practice guidelines: systematic review. *British journal of sports medicine*, *54*(2), 79-86. <u>https://doi.org/10.1136/bjsports-2018-099878</u>
- Linaker, C. H., Walker-Bone, K., Palmer, K., & Cooper, C. (1999). Frequency and impact of regional musculoskeletal disorders. *Best practice & research Clinical rheumatology*, *13*(2), 197-215. <u>https://doi.org/10.1053/berh.1999.0016</u>
- Lipman, K., Wang, C., Ting, K., Soo, C., & Zheng, Z. (2018). Tendinopathy: injury, repair, and current exploration. *Drug design, development and therapy*, *12*, 591-603. <u>https://doi.org/10.2147/DDDT.S154660</u>
- Lipton, M. L., Fu, K.-M. G., Branch, C. A., & Schroeder, C. E. (2006). Ipsilateral hand input to area 3b revealed by converging hemodynamic and electrophysiological analyses in macaque monkeys. *Journal of Neuroscience*, 26(1), 180-185.
- Littlejohn, G., & Guymer, E. (2018). Neurogenic inflammation in fibromyalgia. *Seminars in Immunopathology*, 40(3), 291-300. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00281-018-0672-2
- Liuzzi, G., Hörniß, V., Zimerman, M., Gerloff, C., & Hummel, F. C. (2011). Coordination of Uncoupled Bimanual Movements by Strictly Timed Interhemispheric Connectivity. *The Journal of Neuroscience*, *31*(25), 9111-9117. https://doi.org/10.1523/jneurosci.0046-11.2011
- Ljung, B. O., Alfredson, H., & Forsgren, S. (2004). Neurokinin 1-receptors and sensory neuropeptides in tendon insertions at the medial and lateral epicondyles of the humerus Studies on tennis elbow and medial epicondylalgia. *Journal of Orthopaedic Research*, 22(2), 321-327.
- Ljung, B. O., Forsgren, S., & Fridén, J. (1999). Substance P and calcitonin gene-related peptide expression at the extensor carpi radialis brevis muscle origin: implications for the etiology of tennis elbow. *Journal of Orthopaedic Research*, 17(4), 554-559. https://onlinelibrary.wiley.com/doi/pdfdirect/10.1002/jor.1100170414?download=true
- Loggia, M. L., Edwards, R. R., Kim, J., Vangel, M. G., Wasan, A. D., Gollub, R. L., Harris, R. E., Park, K., & Napadow, V. (2012). Disentangling linear and nonlinear brain

responses to evoked deep tissue pain. PAIN®, 153(10), 2140-2151.

https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/j.pain.2012.07.014

- Lucado, A. M., Kolber, M. J., Cheng, M. S., & Echternach Sr, J. L. (2012). Upper extremity strength characteristics in female recreational tennis players with and without lateral epicondylalgia. *Journal of orthopaedic & sports physical therapy*, *42*(12), 1025-1031.
- Lucas, J. M., Ji, Y., & Masri, R. (2011). Motor cortex stimulation reduces hyperalgesia in an animal model of central pain. *Pain*, 152(6), 1398-1407. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.pain.2011.02.025
- Lund, J. P., Donga, R., Widmer, C. G., & Stohler, C. S. (1991). The pain-adaptation model: a discussion of the relationship between chronic musculoskeletal pain and motor activity. *Canadian Journal of Physiology and Pharmacology*, 69(5), 683-694.
- Luomajoki, H., & Moseley, G. L. (2011). Tactile acuity and lumbopelvic motor control in patients with back pain and healthy controls. *British journal of sports medicine*, 45(5), 437-440. <u>https://doi.org/10.1136/bjsm.2009.060731</u>
- Maffulli, N., Longo, U. G., Loppini, M., Spiezia, F., & Denaro, V. (2010). New options in the management of tendinopathy. *Open access journal of sports medicine*, 1, 29-37. https://doi.org/10.2147/oajsm.s7751
- Maganaris, C. N., Narici, M. V., Almekinders, L. C., & Maffulli, N. (2004). Biomechanics and Pathophysiology of Overuse Tendon Injuries. *Sports Medicine*, 34(14), 1005-1017. <u>https://doi.org/10.2165/00007256-200434140-00005</u>
- Maihöfner, C., Handwerker, H. O., Neundörfer, B., & Birklein, F. (2003). Patterns of cortical reorganization in complex regional pain syndrome. *Neurology*, 61(12), 1707-1715. <u>https://doi.org/10.1212/01.wnl.0000098939.02752.8e</u>
- Maihöfner, C., Herzner, B., & Otto Handwerker, H. (2006). Secondary somatosensory cortex is important for the sensory-discriminative dimension of pain: a functional MRI study.

European Journal of Neuroscience, 23(5), 1377-1383.

https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1460-9568.2006.04632.x

- Manickaraj, N., Bisset, L. M., & Kavanagh, J. J. (2018). Lateral epicondylalgia exhibits adaptive muscle activation strategies based on wrist posture and levels of grip force: a case-control study. *Journal of Musculoskeletal & Neuronal Interactions*, 18(3), 323-332.
- Manzoni, T., Barbaresi, P., Bellardinelli, E., & Caminiti, R. (1980). Callosal projections from the two body midlines. *Experimental brain research*, *39*(1), 1-9.
- Manzoni, T., Barbaresi, P., Conti, F., & Fabri, M. (1989). The callosal connections of the primary somatosensory cortex and the neural bases of midline fusion. *Experimental brain research*, *76*(2), 251-266.
- Manzoni, T., Conti, F., & Fabri, M. (1986). Callosal projections from area SII to SI in monkeys: anatomical organization and comparison with association projections. *Journal of Comparative Neurology*, 252(2), 245-263.
- Mariano, T. Y., Urman, R. D., Hutchison, C. A., Jamison, R. N., & Edwards, R. R. (2018).
 Cognitive Behavioral Therapy (CBT) for Subacute Low Back Pain: a Systematic
 Review. *Current pain and headache reports*, 22(3), 1-7.
 https://doi.org/10.1007/s11916-018-0669-5
- Matsuda, M., Huh, Y., & Ji, R. R. (2019). Roles of inflammation, neurogenic inflammation, and neuroinflammation in pain. *Journal of Anesthesia*, 33(1), 131-139. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00540-018-2579-4

Mauguiere, F. (2005). Somatosensory evoked potentials: normal responses, abnormal waveforms, and clinical applications in neurological disease. *Electroencephalography. Basic Principles, Clinical Applications, and Related Fields*, 1067-1119.

Mauguière, F., Allison, T., Babiloni, C., Buchner, H., Eisen, A. A., Goodin, D. S., Jones, S. J., Kakigi, R., Matsuoka, S., Nuwer, M., Rossini, P. M., & Shibasaki, H. (1999).
Somatosensory evoked potentials. The International Federation of Clinical Neurophysiology. *Electroencephalography and clinical neurophysiology*. *Supplement*, *52*, 79-90.

- McCormack Jr, R., Inman, R., Wells, A., Berntsen, C., & Imbus, H. (1990). Prevalence of tendinitis and related disorders of the upper extremity in a manufacturing workforce. *The Journal of rheumatology*, 17(7), 958-964.
- McDonnell, M. N., Orekhov, Y., & Ziemann, U. (2006). The role of GABA B receptors in intracortical inhibition in the human motor cortex. *Experimental brain research*, 173, 86-93.
- McDonnell, M. N., & Stinear, C. M. (2017). TMS measures of motor cortex function after stroke: A meta-analysis. *Brain Stimulation*, 10(4), 721-734. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/j.brs.2017.03.008
- Melzack, R. (1987). The short-form McGill pain questionnaire. *Pain*, *30*(2), 191-197. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/0304-3959(87)91074-8
- Merello, M., Carpintiero, S., Cammarota, A., Meli, F., & Leiguarda, R. (2006). Bilateral mirror writing movements (mirror dystonia) in a patient with writer's cramp: functional correlates. *Movement disorders: Official journal of the movement disorder society*, 21(5), 683-689. <u>https://doi.org/10.1002/mds.20736</u>
- Meyer, B. U., Röricht, S., von Einsiedel, H. G., Kruggel, F., & Weindl, A. (1995). Inhibitory and excitatory interhemispheric transfers between motor cortical areas in normal humans and patients with abnormalities of the corpus callosum. *Brain*, 118(2), 429-440. <u>https://doi.org/10.1093/brain/118.2.429</u>

- Meyer, B. U., Roricht, S., & Woiciechowsky, C. (1998). Topography of fibers in the human corpus callosum mediating interhemispheric inhibition between the motor cortices. *Annals of Neurology*, 43(3), 360-369. <u>https://doi.org/10.1002/ana.410430314</u>
- Middlebrook, N., Heneghan, N. R., Evans, D. W., Rushton, A., & Falla, D. (2020).Reliability of temporal summation, thermal and pressure pain thresholds in a healthy cohort and musculoskeletal trauma population. PLoS One, 15(5), e0233521
- Milz, S., Tischer, T., Buettner, A., Schieker, M., Maier, M., Redman, S., Emery, P.,
 McGonagle, D., & Benjamin, M. (2004). Molecular composition and pathology of entheses on the medial and lateral epicondyles of the humerus: a structural basis for epicondylitis. *Annals of the Rheumatic Diseases*, *63*(9), 1015-1021.
 https://doi.org/10.1136/ard.2003.016378
- Morishita, T., & Inoue, T. (2016). Brain Stimulation Therapy for Central Post-Stroke Pain from a Perspective of Interhemispheric Neural Network Remodeling. *Frontiers in human neuroscience*, 10, 166. <u>https://doi.org/10.3389/fnhum.2016.00166</u>
- Morishita, T., Kubota, S., Hirano, M., & Funase, K. (2014). Different modulation of shortand long-latency interhemispheric inhibition from active to resting primary motor cortex during a fine-motor manipulation task. *Physiological Reports*, 2(10), e12170. <u>https://doi.org/10.14814/phy2.12170</u>
- Morishita, T., Timmermann, J. E., Schulz, R., & Hummel, F. C. (2022). Impact of interhemispheric inhibition on bimanual movement control in young and old. *Experimental brain research*, 240(2), 687-701. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s00221-021-06258-7</u>
- Morishita, T., Uehara, K., & Funase, K. (2012). Changes in interhemispheric inhibition from active to resting primary motor cortex during a fine-motor manipulation task. *Journal*

of Neurophysiology, 107(11), 3086-3094.

https://journals.physiology.org/doi/pdf/10.1152/jn.00888.2011

Moseley, G. L. (2008). I can't find it! Distorted body image and tactile dysfunction in patients with chronic back pain. *Pain*, *140*(1), 239-243.

https://doi.org/10.1016/j.pain.2008.08.001

Moseley, G. L., Gallace, A., & Iannetti, G. D. (2012). Spatially defined modulation of skin temperature and hand ownership of both hands in patients with unilateral complex regional pain syndrome. *Brain*, *135*(12), 3676-3686.

https://doi.org/10.1093/brain/aws297

- Müller, K., Kass-Iliyya, F., & Reitz, M. (1997). Ontogeny of ipsilateral corticospinal projections: A developmental study with transcranial magnetic stimulation. *Annals of Neurology*, 42(5), 705-711. <u>https://doi.org/10.1002/ana.410420506</u>
- Murase, N., Duque, J., Mazzocchio, R., & Cohen, L. G. (2004). Influence of interhemispheric interactions on motor function in chronic stroke. *Annals of Neurology*, 55(3), 400-409. <u>https://doi.org/10.1002/ana.10848</u>
- Murase, N., Duque, J., Mazzocchio, R., & Cohen, L. G. (2007). Influence of interhemispheric interactions on paretic hand movement in chronic subcortical stroke. In *Complex Medical Engineering* (pp. 289-296). Springer, Tokyo.
- Myers, R. E. (1956). Function of corpus callosum in interocular transfer. *Brain : a journal of neurology*, 79(2), 358-363.
- Myers, R. E., & Sperry, R. W. (1953). Interocular transfer of a visual form discrimination habit in cats after section of the optic chiasma and corpus-callosum. In *Anatomical Record*, (Vol. 115, No. 2, pp. 351-352). DIV JOHN WILEY & SONS INC, 605 THIRD AVE, NEW YORK, NY, 10158-0012:WILEY-LISS

- Myers, R. E., & Sperry, R. W. (1958). Interhemispheric communication through the corpus callosum: mnemonic carry-over between the hemispheres. AMA Archives of Neurology & Psychiatry, 80(3), 298-303.
- Namiki, J., Takase, M., Ohira, T., Goto, K., Ishikawa, M., Ajimi, Y., & Toya, S. (1996). The neural origin generating early cortical components of SEP: topographical analysis using temporal-second-order-differentiation of cortical SEPs. *Brain Topography*, 8(3), 229-232.
- Nash, P. G., Macefield, V. G., Klineberg, I. J., Gustin, S. M., Murray, G. M., & Henderson,
 L. A. (2010a). Bilateral activation of the trigeminothalamic tract by acute orofacial cutaneous and muscle pain in humans. *PAIN*®, *151*(2), 384-393.
- Nash, P. G., Macefield, V. G., Klineberg, Y. J., Gustin, S. M., Murray, G. M., & Henderson,
 L. A. (2010b). Changes in human primary motor cortex activity during acute
 cutaneous and muscle orofacial pain. *Journal of orofacial pain*, 24(4), 379-390.
- National Health Service. (2019). *Stroke*. Retrieved 5 July 2022 from https://www.nhs.uk/conditions/stroke/
- Nelson, A. J., Hoque, T., Gunraj, C., Ni, Z., & Chen, R. (2009). Bi-directional interhemispheric inhibition during unimanual sustained contractions. *BMC Neuroscience*, 10(1), 1-13. <u>https://doi.org/10.1186/1471-2202-10-31</u>
- Nelson, A. J., Hoque, T., Gunraj, C., Ni, Z., & Chen, R. (2010). Impaired interhemispheric inhibition in writer's cramp. *Neurology*, 75(5), 441-447.

https://doi.org/10.1212/WNL.0b013e3181ebdda0

Netz, J., Ziemann, U., & Hömberg, V. (1995). Hemispheric asymmetry of transcallosal inhibition in man. *Experinental Brain Research*, 104(3), 527-533. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/bf00231987</u>

- Ni, Z., Gunraj, C., Nelson, A. J., Yeh, I. J., Castillo, G., Hoque, T., & Chen, R. (2009). Two Phases of Interhemispheric Inhibition between Motor Related Cortical Areas and the Primary Motor Cortex in Human. *Cerebral cortex*, 19(7), 1654-1665. <u>https://doi.org/10.1093/cercor/bhn201</u>
- Niddam, D. M., Yeh, T. C., Wu, Y. T., Lee, P. L., Ho, L. T., Arendt-Nielsen, L., Chen, A. C., & Hsieh, J. C. (2002). Event-related functional MRI study on central representation of acute muscle pain induced by electrical stimulation. *NeuroImage*, *17*(3), 1437-1450.
- Niehaus, L., Bajbouj, M., & Meyer, B. U. (2003). Impact of interhemispheric inhibition on excitability of the non-lesioned motor cortex after acute stroke. In *Supplements to Clinical Neurophysiology* (Vol. 56, pp. 181-186). Elsevier. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/S1567-424X(09)70220-X
- Niehaus, L., von Alt-Stutterheim, K., Röricht, S., & Meyer, B. U. (2001). Abnormal postexcitatory and interhemispheric motor cortex inhibition in writer's cramp. *Journal* of Neurology, 248(1), 51-56. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s004150170269</u>
- Nihashi, T., Naganawa, S., Sato, C., Kawai, H., Nakamura, T., Fukatsu, H., Ishigaki, T., & Aoki, I. (2005). Contralateral and ipsilateral responses in primary somatosensory cortex following electrical median nerve stimulation--an fMRI study. *Clinical Neurophysiology*, *116*(4), 842-848. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.clinph.2004.10.011</u>
- Nijs, J., Daenen, L., Cras, P., Struyf, F., Roussel, N., & Oostendorp, R. A. B. (2012).
 Nociception Affects Motor Output: A Review on Sensory-motor Interaction With Focus on Clinical Implications. *The Clinical Journal of Pain*, 28(2), 175-181.
- Nijs, J., George, S. Z., Clauw, D. J., Fernández-de-las-Peñas, C., Kosek, E., Ickmans, K., Fernández-Carnero, J., Polli, A., Kapreli, E., & Huysmans, E. (2021). Central sensitisation in chronic pain conditions: latest discoveries and their potential for precision medicine. *The Lancet Rheumatology*, 3(5), e383-e392.

- Nijs, J., Leysen, L., Vanlauwe, J., Logghe, T., Ickmans, K., Polli, A., Malfliet, A., Coppieters, I., & Huysmans, E. (2019). Treatment of central sensitization in patients with chronic pain: time for change? *Expert Opinion on Pharmacotherapy*, 20(16), 1961-1970.
- Nirschl, R. P. (1992). Elbow tendinosis/tennis elbow. *Clinics in sports medicine*, *11*(4), 851-870. <u>http://europepmc.org/abstract/MED/1423702</u>
- Noël, P., Ozaki, I., & Desmedt, J. E. (1996). Origin of N18 and P14 far-fields of median nerve somatosensory evoked potentials studied in patients with a brain-stem lesion. *Electroencephalography and Clinical Neurophysiology*, 98(2), 167-170.
- Oldfield, R. C. (1971). The assessment and analysis of handedness: The Edinburgh inventory. *Neuropsychologia*, *9*(1), 97-113. <u>https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/0028-3932(71)90067-4</u>
- International Organisation of Societies for Electrophysiological Technology (OSET). (1999). Guidelines for Performing EEG and Evoked Potential Monitoring During Surgery. American Journal of Electroneurodiagnostic Technology, 39(4), 257-77.
- Owen, D. G., Clarke, C. F., Ganapathy, S., Prato, F. S., & Lawrence, K. S. S. (2010). Using perfusion MRI to measure the dynamic changes in neural activation associated with tonic muscular pain. *PAIN*®, *148*(3), 375-386.
- Palaniswamy, V., Ng, S. K., Manickaraj, N., Ryan, M., Yelland, M., Rabago, D., & Bisset, L. (2018). Relationship between ultrasound detected tendon abnormalities, and sensory and clinical characteristics in people with chronic lateral epicondylalgia. *PLoS One*, *13*(10), e0205171-e0205171. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0205171
- Palmer, L. M., Schulz, J. M., & Larkum, M. E. (2013). Layer-specific regulation of cortical neurons by interhemispheric inhibition. *Communicative & Integrative Biology*, 6(3), 989-993. <u>https://doi.org/10.4161/cib.23545</u>

Palmer, L. M., Schulz, J. M., Murphy, S. C., Ledergerber, D., Murayama, M., & Larkum, M.
E. (2012). The cellular basis of GABA(B)-mediated interhemispheric inhibition. *Science*, 335(6071), 989-993. <u>https://doi.org/10.1126/science.1217276</u>

Palmieri, R. M., Ingersoll, C. D., & Hoffman, M. A. (2004). The hoffmann reflex: methodologic considerations and applications for use in sports medicine and athletic training research. *Journal of athletic training*, *39*(3), 268-277. https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/16558683

Parker, R. S., Lewis, G. N., Rice, D. A., & McNair, P. J. (2016). Is Motor Cortical Excitability Altered in People with Chronic Pain? A Systematic Review and Meta-Analysis. *Brain Stimulation*, 9(4), 488-500.

https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/j.brs.2016.03.020

- Passard, A., Attal, N., Benadhira, R., Brasseur, L., Saba, G., Sichere, P., Perrot, S., Januel, D., & Bouhassira, D. (2007). Effects of unilateral repetitive transcranial magnetic stimulation of the motor cortex on chronic widespread pain in fibromyalgia. *Brain*, *130*(10), 2661-2670. <u>https://doi.org/10.1093/brain/awm189</u>
- Passera, B., Chauvin, A., Raffin, E., Bougerol, T., David, O., & Harquel, S. (2022).
 Exploring the spatial resolution of TMS-EEG coupling on the sensorimotor region. *NeuroImage*, 259, 119419.
- Passmore, S. R., Murphy, B., & Lee, T. D. (2014). The origin, and application of somatosensory evoked potentials as a neurophysiological technique to investigate neuroplasticity. *The Journal of the Canadian Chiropractic Association*, 58(2), 170-183. <u>http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC4025087/</u>
- Paus, T. (2005). Inferring causality in brain images: a perturbation approach. *Philosophical Transactions of the Royal Society B: Biological Sciences*, 360(1457), 1109-1114.

- Pavlaković, G., & Petzke, F. (2010). The role of quantitative sensory testing in the evaluation of musculoskeletal pain conditions. *Current rheumatology reports*, *12*(6), 455-461.
- Pearce, J. M. S. (2019). The "split brain" and Roger Wolcott Sperry (1913–1994). *Revue Neurologique*, 175(4), 217-220.

https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neurol.2018.07.007

- Pedersen-Bjergaard, U., Nielsen, L.B., Jensen, K., Edvinsson, L., Jansen, I., & Olsen, J. (1991). Calcitonin gene-related peptide, neurokinin A and substance P: Effects on nociception and neurogenic inflammation in human skin and temporal muscle. *Peptides*, *12*(2), 333-337.
- Pelletier, R., Higgins, J., & Bourbonnais, D. (2017). The relationship of corticospinal excitability with pain, motor performance and disability in subjects with chronic wrist/hand pain. *Journal of electromyography and Kinesiology*, *34*, 65-71.
 https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jelekin.2017.04.002
- Penfield, W., & Boldrey, E. (1937). Somatic motor and sensory representation in the cerebral cortex of man as studied by electrical stimulation. *Brain: A Journal of Neurology*, 60, 389-443. <u>https://doi.org/10.1093/brain/60.4.389</u>
- Perez, M. A., Butler, J. E., & Taylor, J. L. (2014). Modulation of transcallosal inhibition by bilateral activation of agonist and antagonist proximal arm muscles. *Journal of Neurophysiology*, 111(2), 405-414.
- Perez, M. A., & Cohen, L. G. (2008). Mechanisms underlying functional changes in the primary motor cortex ipsilateral to an active hand. *Journal of Neuroscience*, 28(22), 5631-5640. <u>https://doi.org/10.1523/jneurosci.0093-08.2008</u>
- Perez, M. A., & Cohen, L. G. (2009). Interhemispheric inhibition between primary motor cortices: what have we learned? *The Journal of Physiology*, 587(4), 725-726. <u>https://doi.org/10.1113/jphysiol.2008.166926</u>

Perez, M. A., Tanaka, S., Wise, S. P., Sadato, N., Tanabe, H. C., Willingham, D. T., & Cohen, L. G. (2007). Neural substrates of intermanual transfer of a newly acquired motor skill. *Current Biology*, 17(21), 1896-1902. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cub.2007.09.058

- Perrot, S., Cohen, M., Barke, A., Korwisi, B., Rief, W., Treede, R. D. (2019). The IASP classification of chronic pain for ICD-11: chronic secondary musculoskeletal pain. *Pain*, 160(1), 77-82. <u>https://doi.org/10.1097/j.pain.000000000001389</u>
- Perruchoud, D., Murray, M. M., Lefebvre, J., & Ionta, S. (2014). Focal dystonia and the Sensory-Motor Integrative Loop for Enacting (SMILE). *Frontiers in human neuroscience*, 8(458). <u>https://doi.org/10.3389/fnhum.2014.00458</u>
- Peyron, R., Faillenot, I., Mertens, P., Laurent, B., & Garcia-Larrea, L. (2007). Motor cortex stimulation in neuropathic pain. Correlations between analgesic effect and hemodynamic changes in the brain. A PET study. *NeuroImage*, 34(1), 310-321. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neuroimage.2006.08.037</u>
- Peyron, R., García-Larrea, L., Grégoire, M. C., Costes, N., Convers, P., Lavenne, F., Mauguière, F., Michel, D., & Laurent, B. (1999). Haemodynamic brain responses to acute pain in humans: sensory and attentional networks. *Brain*, 122(9), 1765-1780.
- Peyron, R., Laurent, B., & García-Larrea, L. (2000). Functional imaging of brain responses to pain. A review and meta-analysis (2000). *Neurophysiologie Clinique/Clinical Neurophysiology*, 30(5), 263-288. <u>https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/S0987-</u> <u>7053(00)00227-6</u>
- Pfurtscheller, G. (1997). EEG event-related desynchronization (ERD) and synchronization (ERS). *Electroencephalography and Clinical Neurophysiology*, *1*(103), 26.

- Picard, N., Lepore, F., Ptito, M., & Guillemot, J. P. (1990). Bilateral interaction in the second somatosensory area (SII) of the cat and contribution of the corpus callosum. *Brain Research*, 536(1-2), 97-104. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/0006-8993(90)90013-2</u>
- Pienimäki, T., Siira, P., & Vanharanta, H. (2011). Widespread pain in chronic epicondylitis. *European Journal of Pain*, 15(9), 921-927.

https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ejpain.2011.04.002

- Pienimäki, T., Tarvainen, T., Siira, P., Malmivaara, A., & Vanharanta, H. (2002).
 Associations Between Pain, Grip Strength, and Manual Tests in the Treatment
 Evaluation of Chronic Tennis Elbow. *The Clinical Journal of Pain*, 18(3), 164-170.
- Pienimaki, T. T., Kauranen, K., & Vanharanta, H. (1997). Bilaterally decreased motor performance of arms in patients with chronic tennis elbow. *Archives of physical medicine and rehabilitation*, 78(10), 1092-1095.
- Pienimäki, T. T., Tarvainen, T. K., Siira, P. T., & Vanharanta, H. (1996). Progressive strengthening and stretching exercises and ultrasound for chronic lateral epicondylitis. *Physiotherapy*, 82(9), 522-530.
- Pinault, D. (2004). The thalamic reticular nucleus: structure, function and concept. *Brain research reviews*, *46*(1), 1-31.
- Pleger, B., Tegenthoff, M., Schwenkreis, P., Janssen, F., Ragert, P., Dinse, H. R., Völker, B., Zenz, M., & Maier, C. (2004). Mean sustained pain levels are linked to hemispherical side-to-side differences of primary somatosensory cortex in the complex regional pain syndrome I. *Experimental brain research*, 155(1), 115-119.

https://doi.org/10.1007/s00221-003-1738-4

Poffenberger, A. T. (1912). *Reaction time to retinal stimulation: with special reference to the time lost in conduction through nerve centers*. (No. 23). Science Press.

- Post, A., & Keck, M. E. (2001). Transcranial magnetic stimulation as a therapeutic tool in psychiatry: what do we know about the neurobiological mechanisms? *Journal of psychiatric research*, 35(4), 193-215.
- Potter, H. G., Hannafin, J. A., Morwessel, R. M., DiCarlo, E. F., O'Brien, S. J., & Altchek, D.
 W. (1995). Lateral epicondylitis: correlation of MR imaging, surgical, and histopathologic findings. *Radiology*, *196*(1), 43-46.
- Proske, U., & Gandevia, S. C. (2012). The Proprioceptive Senses: Their Roles in Signaling Body Shape, Body Position and Movement, and Muscle Force. *Physiological Reviews*, 92(4), 1651-1697. <u>https://doi.org/10.1152/physrev.00048.2011</u>
- Puljak, L., & Arienti, C. (2019). Can Physical Activity and Exercise Alleviate Chronic Pain in Adults?: A Cochrane Review Summary With Commentary. *American Journal of Physical Medicine & Rehabilitation*, 98(6), 526-527.
 <u>https://journals.lww.com/ajpmr/Fulltext/2019/06000/Can Physical Activity and Exe</u> <u>rcise_Alleviate.14.aspx</u>
- Ragert, P., Nierhaus, T., Cohen, L. G., & Villringer, A. (2011). Interhemispheric interactions between the human primary somatosensory cortices. *PLoS One*, 6(2), e16150-e16150. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0016150
- Raja, S. N., Carr, D. B., Cohen, M., Finnerup, N. B., Flor, H., Gibson, S., Keefe, F. J., Mogil, J. S., Ringkamp, M., Sluka, K. A., Song, X. J., Stevens, B., Sullivan, M. D., Tutelman, P. R., Ushida, T., & Vader, K. (2020). The revised International Association for the Study of Pain definition of pain: concepts, challenges, and compromises. *Pain*, *161*(9), 1976-1982.

https://doi.org/10.1097/j.pain.000000000001939

Raju, H., & Tadi, P. (2021). Neuroanatomy, somatosensory cortex. In *StatPearls [Internet]*.StatPearls Publishing.

- Ranney, D., Wells, R., & Moore, A. (1995). Upper limb musculoskeletal disorders in highly repetitive industries: precise anatomical physical findings. *Ergonomics*, 38(7), 1408-1423. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/00140139508925198</u>
- Rao, N., Chen, Y. T., Ramirez, R., Tran, J., Li, S., & Parikh, P. J. (2020). Time-course of pain threshold after continuous theta burst stimulation of primary somatosensory cortex in pain-free subjects. *Neuroscience Letters*, 722, 134760.
 https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neulet.2020.134760
- Reddy, K. S. K., Naidu, M. U. R., Rani, P. U., & Rao, T. R. K. (2012). Human experimental pain models: A review of standardized methods in drug development. *Journal of research in medical sciences : the official journal of Isfahan University of Medical Sciences*, 17(6), 587-595.
- Rees, J. D., Maffulli, N., & Cook, J. (2009). Management of Tendinopathy. *The American Journal of Sports Medicine*, 37(9), 1855-1867. https://doi.org/10.1177/0363546508324283
- Reis, J., Swayne, O. B., Vandermeeren, Y., Camus, M., Dimyan, M. A., Harris-Love, M., Perez, M. A., Ragert, P., Rothwell, J. C., & Cohen, L. G. (2008). Contribution of transcranial magnetic stimulation to the understanding of cortical mechanisms involved in motor control. *The Journal of Physiology*, 586(2), 325-351. https://doi.org/10.1113/jphysiol.2007.144824
- Reis, P. M., Hebenstreit, F., Gabsteiger, F., von Tscharner, V., & Lochmann, M. (2014).
 Methodological aspects of EEG and body dynamics measurements during motion.
 Frontiers in human neuroscience, 8, 156. <u>https://doi.org/10.3389/fnhum.2014.00156</u>
- Rietschel, J. C., Miller, M. W., Gentili, R. J., Goodman, R. N., McDonald, C. G., & Hatfield,
 B. D. (2012). Cerebral-cortical networking and activation increase as a function of cognitive-motor task difficulty. *Biological psychology*, *90*(2), 127-133.

- Ringo, J. L., Doty, R. W., Demeter, S., & Simard, P. Y. (1994). Time is of the essence: a conjecture that hemispheric specialization arises from interhemispheric conduction delay. *Cerebral cortex*, 4(4), 331-343.
- Rio, E., Kidgell, D., Moseley, G. L., Gaida, J., Docking, S., Purdam, C., & Cook, J. (2016).
 Tendon neuroplastic training: changing the way we think about tendon rehabilitation: a narrative review. *British journal of sports medicine*, *50*(4), 209-215.
 https://doi.org/10.1136/bjsports-2015-095215
- Rio, E., Moseley, L., Purdam, C., Samiric, T., Kidgell, D., Pearce, A. J., Jaberzadeh, S., & Cook, J. (2014). The Pain of Tendinopathy: Physiological or Pathophysiological?
 Sports Medicine, 44(1), 9-23. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s40279-013-0096-z</u>
- Rissén, D., Melin, B., Sandsjö, L., Dohns, I., & Lundberg, U. (2000). Surface EMG and psychophysiological stress reactions in women during repetitive work. *European journal of applied physiology*, *83*(2), 215-222.
- Rocco-Donovan, M., Ramos, R. L., Giraldo, S., & Brumberg, J. C. (2011). Characteristics of synaptic connections between rodent primary somatosensory and motor cortices. *Somatosensory & Motor Research*, 28(3-4), 63-72.

https://doi.org/10.3109/08990220.2011.606660

- Roland, J. L., Snyder, A. Z., Hacker, C. D., Mitra, A., Shimony, J. S., Limbrick, D. D.,
 Raichle, M. E., Smyth, M. D., & Leuthardt, E. C. (2017). On the role of the corpus callosum in interhemispheric functional connectivity in humans. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America*, *114*(50), 13278-13283. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.1707050114
- Rolke, R., Magerl, W., Campbell, K. A., Schalber, C., Caspari, S., Birklein, F., & Treede, R.D. (2006). Quantitative sensory testing: a comprehensive protocol for clinical trials.

European Journal of Pain, 10(1), 77-77.

https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ejpain.2005.02.003

Rossi, A., Decchi, B., Groccia, V., Volpe, R. D., & Spidalieri, R. (1998). Interactions between nociceptive and non-nociceptive afferent projections to cerebral cortex in humans. *Neuroscience Letters*, 248(3), 155-158.

https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/S0304-3940(98)00354-1

- Rossi, S., Antal, A., Bestmann, S., Bikson, M., Brewer, C., Brockmöller, J., Carpenter, L. L., Cincotta, M., Chen, R., Daskalakis, J. D., Di Lazzaro, V., Fox, M. D., George, M. S., Gilbert, D., Kimiskidis, V. K., Koch, G., Ilmoniemi, R. J., Lefaucheur, J. P., Leocani, L., Lisanby, S. H., Miniussi, C., Padberg, F., Pascual-Leone, A., Paulus, W., Peterchev, A. V., Quartarone, A., Rotenberg, A., Rothwell, J., Rossini, P. M., Santarnecchi, E., Shafi, M. M., Siebner, H. R., Ugawa, Y., Wassermann, E. M., Zangen, A., Ziemann, U., & Hallett, M. (2021). Safety and recommendations for TMS use in healthy subjects and patient populations, with updates on training, ethical and regulatory issues: Expert Guidelines. *Clinical Neurophysiology*, *132*(1), 269-306. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/j.clinph.2020.10.003
- Rossi, S., Hallett, M., Rossini, P. M., & Pascual-Leone, A. (2009). Safety, ethical considerations, and application guidelines for the use of transcranial magnetic stimulation in clinical practice and research. *Clinical Neurophysiology*, *120*(12), 2008-2039. <u>https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/j.clinph.2009.08.016</u>
- Rossini, P. M., Burke, D., Chen, R., Cohen, L. G., Daskalakis, Z., Di Iorio, R., Di Lazzaro,
 V., Ferreri, F., Fitzgerald, P. B., George, M. S., Hallett, M., Lefaucheur, J. P.,
 Langguth, B., Matsumoto, H., Miniussi, C., Nitsche, M. A., Pascual-Leone, A.,
 Paulus, W., Rossi, S., Rothwell, J. C., Siebner, H. R., Ugawa, Y., Walsh, V., &
 Ziemann, U. (2015). Non-invasive electrical and magnetic stimulation of the brain,

spinal cord, roots and peripheral nerves: Basic principles and procedures for routine clinical and research application. An updated report from an I.F.C.N. Committee. *Clinical Neurophysiology*, *126*(6), 1071-1107.

https://doi.org/10.1016/j.clinph.2015.02.001

Rossini, P. M., Paradiso, C., Zarola, F., Mariorenzi, R., Traversa, R., Martino, G., & Caramia, M. D. (1990). Bit-mapped somatosensory evoked potentials and muscular reflex responses in man: comparative analysis in different experimental protocols. *Electroencephalogr Clinical Neurophysiology*, 77(4), 266-275.

https://doi.org/10.1016/0168-5597(90)90065-1

- Ruiz-Ruiz, B., Fernández-de-las-Peñas, C., Ortega-Santiago, R., Arendt-Nielsen, L., & Madeleine, P. (2011). Topographical pressure and thermal pain sensitivity mapping in patients with unilateral lateral epicondylalgia. *The Journal of Pain*, *12*(10), 1040-1048. <u>https://www.jpain.org/article/S1526-5900(11)00536-0/fulltext</u>
- Runge, F. (1873). Zur genese und behandlung des schreibekrampfes. *Berl Klin Wochenschr*, *10*(1), 245-248.
- Sakai, K., Ugawa, Y., Terao, Y., Hanajima, R., Furubayashi, T., & Kanazawa, I. (1997).
 Preferential activation of different I waves by transcranial magnetic stimulation with a figure-of-eight-shaped coil. *Experimental Brain Research*, *113*(1), 24-32.
 https://doi.org/10.1007/bf02454139
- Salerno, D. F., Werner, R. A., Albers, J. W., Becker, M. P., Armstrong, T. J., & Franzblau, A. (1999). Reliability of nerve conduction studies among active workers. *Muscle Nerve*, 22(10), 1372-1379. <u>https://doi.org/10.1002/(sici)1097-4598(199910)22:10</u>
- Sanders, T. L., Maradit Kremers, H., Bryan, A. J., Ransom, J. E., & Morrey, B. F. (2016). Health Care Utilization and Direct Medical Costs of Tennis Elbow: A Population-

Based Study. Sports Health, 8(4), 355-358.

https://doi.org/10.1177/1941738116650389

- Sanes, J. N., & Donoghue, J. P. (2000). Plasticity and primary motor cortex. Annual review of neuroscience, 23(1), 393-415. https://doi.org/10.1146/annurev.neuro.23.1.393
- Sattler, V., Dickler, M., Michaud, M., Meunier, S., & Simonetta-Moreau, M. (2014). Does abnormal interhemispheric inhibition play a role in mirror dystonia? *Movement Disorders*, 29(6), 787-796. <u>https://doi.org/10.1002/mds.25768</u>
- Sattler, V., Dickler, M., Michaud, M., & Simonetta-Moreau, M. (2012). Interhemispheric inhibition in human wrist muscles. *Experimental brain research*, 221(4), 449-458. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s00221-012-3187-4</u>
- Schabrun, S. M., Burns, E., & Hodges, P. W. (2015b). New Insight into the Time-Course of Motor and Sensory System Changes in Pain. *PLoS One*, 10(11), e0142857. <u>https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0142857</u>
- Schabrun, S. M., Christensen, S. W., Mrachacz-Kersting, N., & Graven-Nielsen, T. (2016).
 Motor Cortex Reorganization and Impaired Function in the Transition to Sustained
 Muscle Pain. *Cerebral cortex 26*(5), 1878-1890.

https://doi.org/10.1093/cercor/bhu319

- Schabrun, S. M., Elgueta-Cancino, E. L., & Hodges, P. W. (2017a). Smudging of the Motor Cortex Is Related to the Severity of Low Back Pain. *Spine*, 42(15), 1172-1178. <u>https://doi.org/10.1097/brs.00000000000938</u>
- Schabrun, S. M., & Hodges, P. W. (2012). Muscle pain differentially modulates short interval intracortical inhibition and intracortical facilitation in primary motor cortex. *The Journal of Pain*, *13*(2), 187-194. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jpain.2011.10.013</u>
- Schabrun, S. M., Hodges, P. W., Vicenzino, B., Jones, E., & Chipchase, L. S. (2015a). Novel adaptations in motor cortical maps: the relation to persistent elbow pain. *Medicine* &

Science in Sports & Excercise, 47(4), 681-690.

https://doi.org/10.1249/mss.000000000000469

Schabrun, S. M., Jones, E., Kloster, J., & Hodges, P. W. (2013). Temporal association between changes in primary sensory cortex and corticomotor output during muscle pain. *Neuroscience*, 235(3), 159-164.

https://doi.org/http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.neuroscience.2012.12.072

- Schabrun, S. M., Palsson, T. S., Thapa, T., & Graven-Nielsen, T. (2017b). Movement Does Not Promote Recovery of Motor Output Following Acute Experimental Muscle Pain. *Pain Medicine*, 19(3), 608-614. <u>https://doi.org/10.1093/pm/pnx099</u>
- Schaible, H. G. (2007). Peripheral and central mechanisms of pain generation. In *Analgesia* (pp. 3-28). Springer, Berlin, Heidelberg.
- Schnitzler, A., & Ploner, M. (2000). Neurophysiology and Functional Neuroanatomy of Pain Perception. *Journal of Clinical Neurophysiology*, 17(6), 592-603.
- Schomer, D. L., & Da Silva, F. L. (2012). *Niedermeyer's electroencephalography: basic principles, clinical applications, and related fields*. Lippincott Williams & Wilkins.
- Schubert, R., Ritter, P., Wüstenberg, T., Preuschhof, C., Curio, G., Sommer, W., &
 Villringer, A. (2008). Spatial Attention Related SEP Amplitude Modulations Covary
 with BOLD Signal in S1—A Simultaneous EEG—fMRI Study. *Cerebral cortex*, 18(11), 2686-2700. https://doi.org/10.1093/cercor/bhn029
- Schug, S. A. (2011). 2011- the global year against acute pain. *Anaesthesia and intensive care*, 39(1), 11-14.
- Seki, K., & Fetz, E. E. (2012). Gating of sensory input at spinal and cortical levels during preparation and execution of voluntary movement. *The Journal of neuroscience : the official journal of the Society for Neuroscience*, 32(3), 890-902. https://doi.org/10.1523/JNEUROSCI.4958-11.2012

Sevel, L. S., Letzen, J. E., Staud, R., & Robinson, M. E. (2016). Interhemispheric
 Dorsolateral Prefrontal Cortex Connectivity is Associated with Individual Differences
 in Pain Sensitivity in Healthy Controls. *Brain Connect*, 6(5), 357-364.
 https://doi.org/10.1089/brain.2015.0405

- Sharma, A., Kudesia, P., Shi, Q., & Gandhi, R. (2016). Anxiety and depression in patients with osteoarthritis: impact and management challenges. *Open access rheumatology : research and reviews*, 8, 103-113. <u>https://doi.org/10.2147/OARRR.S93516</u>
- Shimizu, T., Hosaki, A., Hino, T., Sato, M., Komori, T., Hirai, S., & Rossini, P. M. (2002). Motor cortical disinhibition in the unaffected hemisphere after unilateral cortical stroke. *Brain*, 125(8), 1896-1907.
- Shiri, R., & Viikari-Juntura, E. (2011). Lateral and medial epicondylitis: role of occupational factors. *Best practice & research Clinical rheumatology*, 25(1), 43-57.
- Shiri, R., Viikari-Juntura, E., Varonen, H., & Heliovaara, M. (2006). Prevalence and determinants of lateral and medial epicondylitis: a population study. *American journal* of epidemiology, 164(11), 1065-1074. <u>https://doi.org/10.1093/aje/kwj325</u>
- Singer, B. J., Vallence, A.-M., Cleary, S., Cooper, I., & Loftus, A. M. (2013). The effect of EMG triggered electrical stimulation plus task practice on arm function in chronic stroke patients with moderate-severe arm deficits. *Restorative Neurology and Neuroscience*, 31(6), 681-691.
- Sitburana, O., & Jankovic, J. (2008). Focal hand dystonia, mirror dystonia and motor overflow. *Journal of the Neurological Sciences*, *266*(1-2), 31-33.
- Skinner, D. K., & Curwin, S. L. (2007). Assessment of fine motor control in patients with occupation-related lateral epicondylitis. *Manual Therapy*, 12(3), 249-255. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.math.2006.06.018</u>

- Slater, H., Arendt- Nielsen, L., Wright, A., & Graven-Nielsen, T. (2003). Experimental deep tissue pain in wrist extensors—a model of lateral epicondylalgia. *European Journal of Pain*, 7(3), 277-288. <u>https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/S1090-3801(02)00141-6</u>
- Slater, H., Arendt-Nielsen, L., Wright, A., & Graven-Nielsen, T. (2005b). Sensory and motor effects of experimental muscle pain in patients with lateral epicondylalgia and controls with delayed onset muscle soreness. *Pain*, *114*(1), 118-130. <u>https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/j.pain.2004.12.003</u>
- Smeulders, M. J., Kreulen, M., Hage, J. J., Ritt, M. J., & Mulder, T. (2002). Motor control impairment of the contralateral wrist in patients with unilateral chronic wrist pain.
 American journal of physical medicine and rehabilitation, 81(3), 177-181.
 https://doi.org/10.1097/00002060-200203000-00004
- Smidt, N., Van Der Windt, D. A., Assendelft, W. J., Devillé, W. L., Korthals-de Bos, I. B., & Bouter, L. M. (2002). Corticosteroid injections, physiotherapy, or a wait-and-see policy for lateral epicondylitis: a randomised controlled trial. *The lancet*, 359(9307), 657-662.
- Smith, J., & Wright, A. (1993). The effect of selective blockade of myelinated afferent neurons on mechanical hyperalgesia in lateral epicondylalgia. *Pain clinic*, *6*(1), 9-16.
- Snodgrass, S. J., Heneghan, N. R., Tsao, H., Stanwell, P. T., Rivett, D. A., & Van Vliet, P.
 M. (2014). Recognising neuroplasticity in musculoskeletal rehabilitation: a basis for greater collaboration between musculoskeletal and neurological physiotherapists.
 Manual Therapy, *19*(6), 614-617. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.math.2014.01.006</u>
- Sohn, Y. H., Jung, H. Y., Kaelin-Lang, A., & Hallett, M. (2003). Excitability of the ipsilateral motor cortex during phasic voluntary hand movement. *Experimental brain research*, 148(2), 176-185.

- Somogyi, P., Tamas, G., Lujan, R., & Buhl, E. H. (1998). Salient features of synaptic organisation in the cerebral cortex. *Brain research reviews*, *26*(2-3), 113-135.
- Sostres, C., Gargallo, C. J., Arroyo, M. T., & Lanas, A. (2010). Adverse effects of nonsteroidal anti-inflammatory drugs (NSAIDs, aspirin and coxibs) on upper gastrointestinal tract. *Best practice & research Clinical gastroenterology*, 24(2), 121-132.
- Spalletti, C., Alia, C., Lai, S., Panarese, A., Conti, S., Micera, S., & Caleo, M. (2017).
 Combining robotic training and inactivation of the healthy hemisphere restores prestroke motor patterns in mice. *eLife*, *6*, e28662. <u>https://doi.org/10.7554/eLife.28662</u>
- Sperry, R. W. (1961). Cerebral Organization and Behavior. *Science*, *133*(3466), 1749-1757. www.jstor.org/stable/1708026
- Sperry, R. W., & Gazzaniga, M. S. (1967). Language following surgical disconnection of the hemispheres. In *Brain mechanisms underlying speech and language*, 108-121.
- Sperry, R. W., Gazzaniga, M. S., & Bogen, J. E. (1969). Interhemispheric relationships: the neocortical commissures; syndromes of hemisphere disconnection. *Handbook of clinical neurology*, 4(273-290).
- Sran, M., Souvlis, T., Vicenzino, B., & Wright, A. (2001). Characterisation of chronic lateral epicondylalgia using the McGill pain questionnaire, visual analog scales, and quantitative sensory tests. *The Pain Clinic*, *13*(3), 251-259. <u>https://doi.org/10.1163/156856901753702429</u>
- Srinivasan, R. (1999). Methods to improve the spatial resolution of EEG. *International journal of bioelectromagnetism*, *I*(1), 102-111.
- Staines, W. R., Black, S. E., Graham, S. J., & McIlroy, W. E. (2002). Somatosensory gating and recovery from stroke involving the thalamus. *Stroke*, 33(11), 2642-2651.

- Stamm, J. S., & Sperry, R. W. (1957). Function of corpus callosum in contralateral transfer of somesthetic discrimination in cats. *Journal of comparative and physiological psychology*, 50(2), 138-143.
- Stancak, A., Hoechstetter, K., Tintera, J., Vrana, J., Rachmanova, R., Kralik, J., & Scherg, M. (2002). Source activity in the human secondary somatosensory cortex depends on the size of corpus callosum. *Brain Research*, 936(1), 47-57. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/S0006-8993(02)02502-7
- Steinborn, M., Heuck, A., Jessel, C., Bonel, H., & Reiser, M. (1999). Magnetic resonance imaging of lateral epicondylitis of the elbow with a 0.2-T dedicated system. *European Radiology*, 9(7), 1376-1380. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s003300050851</u>
- Sterling, M., Jull, G., & Wright, A. (2001). The effect of musculoskeletal pain on motor activity and control. *The Journal of Pain*, 2(3), 135-145.
- Stohler, C. S., & Kowalski, C. J. (1999). Spatial and temporal summation of sensory and affective dimensions of deep somatic pain. *Pain*, 79(2), 165-173. <u>https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/S0304-3959(98)00171-7</u>
- Stratford, P. (1987). Extensor carpi radialis tendonitis: a validation of selected outcome measures. *Physiotherapy Canada*, *39*, 250-255.
- Stratford, P. W., & Balsor, B. E. (1994). A comparison of make and break tests using a handheld dynamometer and the Kin-Com. Journal of orthopaedic & sports physical therapy, 19(1), 28-32.
- Struijs, P. A., Korthals-de Bos, I. B., van Tulder, M. W., Van Dijk, C., Bouter, L. M., & Assendelft, W. J. (2006). Cost effectiveness of brace, physiotherapy, or both for treatment of tennis elbow. *British journal of sports medicine*, 40(7), 637-643.
- Svendsen, O., Edwards, C. N., Lauritzen, B., & Rasmussen, A. D. (2005). Intramuscular injection of hypertonic saline: in vitro and in vivo muscle tissue toxicity and spinal

neurone c-fos expression. *Basic & amp; clinical pharmacology & amp; toxicology*, 97(1), 52-57. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1742-7843.2005.pto_97108.x</u>

- Svensson, P., & Arendt-Nielsen, L. (1995). Induction and assessment of experimental muscle pain. *Journal of Electromyography and Kinesiology*, 5(3), 131-140. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/1050-6411(95)00019-V
- Svensson, P., Miles, T. S., McKay, D., & Ridding, M. C. (2003). Suppression of motor evoked potentials in a hand muscle following prolonged painful stimulation. *European journal of pain*, 7(1), 55-62.

https://onlinelibrary.wiley.com/doi/pdf/10.1016/S1090-3801%2802%2900050-2

- Swayne, O., Rothwell, J., & Rosenkranz, K. (2006). Transcallosal sensorimotor integration: effects of sensory input on cortical projections to the contralateral hand. *Clinical Neurophysiology*, *117*(4), 855-863. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.clinph.2005.12.012</u>
- Takechi, U., Matsunaga, K., Nakanishi, R., Yamanaga, H., Murayama, N., Mafune, K., & Tsuji, S. (2014). Longitudinal changes of motor cortical excitability and transcallosal inhibition after subcortical stroke. *Clinical Neurophysiology*, *125*(10), 2055-2069. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.clinph.2014.01.034
- Takeuchi, N., & Izumi, S. (2012). Noninvasive brain stimulation for motor recovery after stroke: mechanisms and future views. *Stroke research and treatment*, 2012. https://doi.org/10.1155/2012/584727
- Takeuchi, N., Tada, T., Toshima, M., & Ikoma, K. (2010). Correlation of motor function with transcallosal and intracortical inhibition after stroke. *Journal of Rehabilitation Medicine*, 42(10), 962-966.
- Talbot, J. D., Marrett, S., Evans, A. C., Meyer, E., Bushnell, M. C., & Duncan, G. H. (1991).
 Multiple representations of pain in human cerebral cortex. *Science*, 251(4999), 1355-1358.

Tallgren, P., Vanhatalo, S., Kaila, K., & Voipio, J. (2005). Evaluation of commercially available electrodes and gels for recording of slow EEG potentials. *Clinical Neurophysiology*, 116(4), 799-806.

https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/j.clinph.2004.10.001

- Tamè, L., & Longo, M. R. (2015). Inter-hemispheric integration of tactile-motor responses across body parts. 9, 345. <u>https://doi.org/10.3389/fnhum.2015.00345</u>
- Tan, G., Jensen, M. P., Thornby, J. I., & Shanti, B. F. (2004). Validation of the Brief Pain Inventory for chronic nonmalignant pain. *The Journal of Pain*, 5(2), 133-137. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jpain.2003.12.005</u>
- Tazoe, T., Sasada, S., Sakamoto, M., & Komiyama, T. (2013). Modulation of interhemispheric interactions across symmetric and asymmetric bimanual force regulations. *European Journal of Neuroscience*, *37*(1), 96-104.
 <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/ejn.12026</u>
- Te, M., Baptista, A. F., Chipchase, L. S., & Schabrun, S. M. (2017). Primary motor cortex organization is altered in persistent patellofemoral pain. *Pain Medicine*, 18(11), 2224-2234.
- Teplan, M. (2002). Fundamentals of EEG measurement. *Measurement science review*, 2(2), 1-11.
- Timmermann, L., Ploner, M., Haucke, K., Schmitz, F., Baltissen, R., & Schnitzler, A. (2001).
 Differential coding of pain intensity in the human primary and secondary somatosensory cortex. *Journal of Neurophysiology*, 86(3), 1499-1503.
 https://doi.org/10.1152/jn.2001.86.3.1499
- Toleikis, J. R. (2005). Intraoperative Monitoring Using Somatosensory Evoked Potentials. *Journal of Clinical Monitoring and Computing*, *19*(3), 241-258. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10877-005-4397-0

- Tong, S., & Thakor, N. V. (2009). *Quantitative EEG analysis methods and clinical applications*. Artech House.
- Tosti, R., Jennings, J., & Sewards, J. M. (2013). Lateral Epicondylitis of the Elbow. *The American Journal of Medicine*, *126*(4), 357.e1.

https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/j.amjmed.2012.09.018

- Traversa, R., Cicinelli, P., Pasqualetti, P., Filippi, M., & Rossini, P. M. (1998). Follow-up of interhemispheric differences of motor evoked potentials from the `affected' and `unaffected' hemispheres in human stroke. *Brain Research*, 803(1), 1-8.
 https://doi.org/10.1016/S0006-8993(98)00505-8
- Treede, R. D., & Kunde, V. (1995). Middle-latency somatosensory evoked potentials after stimulation of the radial and median nerves: component structure and scalp topography. Journal of clinical neurophysiology : official publication of the American Electroencephalographic Society, 12(3), 291–301. https://doi.org/10.1097/00004691-199505010-00007
- Treede, R. D., Rief, W., Barke, A., Aziz, Q., Bennett, M. I., Benoliel, R., Cohen, M., Evers, S., Finnerup, N. B., & First, M. B. (2015). A classification of chronic pain for ICD-11. Pain, 156(6), 1003.
- Tremblay, S., Rogasch, N. C., Premoli, I., Blumberger, D. M., Casarotto, S., Chen, R., Di Lazzaro, V., Farzan, F., Ferrarelli, F., Fitzgerald, P. B., Hui, J., Ilmoniemi, R. J., Kimiskidis, V. K., Kugiumtzis, D., Lioumis, P., Pascual-Leone, A., Pellicciari, M. C., Rajji, T., Thut, G., Zomorrodi, R., Ziemann, U., & Daskalakis, Z. J. (2019). Clinical utility and prospective of TMS–EEG. *Clinical Neurophysiology*, *130*(5), 802-844. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/j.clinph.2019.01.001
- Trevarthen, C. B. (1960). Simultaneous learning of 2 conflicting problems by split-brain monkeys. In *American Psychologist*, 15(7), 485-485.

Trevarthen, C. B. (1962). Double Visual Learning in Split-Brain Monkeys. *Science*, *136*(3512), 258-259. https://doi.org/10.1126/science.136.3512.258

- Triggs, W. J., Cros, D., Macdonell, R. A. L., Chiappa, K. H., Fang, J., & Day, B. J. (1993). Cortical and spinal motor excitability during the transcranial magnetic stimulation silent period in humans. *Brain Research*, 628(1), 39-48. <u>https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/0006-8993(93)90935-G</u>
- Tsao, H., Danneels, L. A., & Hodges, P. W. (2011). ISSLS prize winner: Smudging the motor brain in young adults with recurrent low back pain. *Spine*, *36*(21), 1721-1727. <u>https://doi.org/10.1097/BRS.0b013e31821c4267</u>
- Tsao, H., Galea, M. P., & Hodges, P. W. (2008). Reorganization of the motor cortex is associated with postural control deficits in recurrent low back pain. *Brain*, 131(8), 2161-2171. <u>https://doi.org/10.1093/brain/awn154</u>
- Tsao, H., Tucker, K. J., Coppieters, M.W., & Hodges, P. W. (2010). Experimentall induced low back pain from hypertonic saline injections into lumbar interspinous ligament and erector spinae muscles. *Pain*, 150(1), 167-172.
- Ucurum, S. G., Karabay, D., Ozturk, B. B., & Kaya, D. O. (2019). Comparison of scapular position and upper extremity muscle strength in patients with and without lateral epicondylalgia: a case-control study. *Journal of shoulder and elbow surgery*, 28(6), 1111-1119. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jse.2018.12.010
- Uddin, Z., & MacDermid, J. C. (2016). Quantitative Sensory Testing in Chronic Musculoskeletal Pain. *Pain medicine*, 17(9), 1694-1703. https://doi.org/10.1093/pm/pnv105
- Uehara, K., Morishita, T., Kubota, S., & Funase, K. (2013). Neural mechanisms underlying the changes in ipsilateral primary motor cortex excitability during unilateral rhythmic

muscle contraction. Behavioural Brain Research, 240, 33-45.

https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/j.bbr.2012.10.053

Uehara, K., Morishita, T., Kubota, S., Hirano, M., & Funase, K. (2013). Functional difference in short- and long-latency interhemispheric inhibitions from active to resting hemisphere during a unilateral muscle contraction. *Journal of Neurophysiology*,

111(1), 17-25. <u>https://doi.org/10.1152/jn.00494.2013</u>

- Umeda, T., Isa, T., & Nishimura, Y. (2019). The somatosensory cortex receives information about motor output. *Science advances*, *5*(7), eaaw5388.
- Valls-Solé, J., Pascual-Leone, A., Wassermann, E. M., & Hallett, M. (1992). Human motor evoked responses to paired transcranial magnetic stimuli. *Electroencephalography* and clinical neurophysiology/evoked potentials section, 85(6), 355-364.

https://doi.org/10.1016/0168-5597(92)90048-g

- van der Kamp, W., Zwinderman, A. H., Ferrari, M. D., & van Dijk, J. G. (1996). Cortical excitability and response variability of transcranial magnetic stimulation. *Journal of clinical neurophysiology*, *13*(2), 164-171. <u>https://doi.org/10.1097/00004691-</u> <u>199603000-00007</u>
- van der Knaap, L. J., & van der Ham, I. J. (2011). How does the corpus callosum mediate interhemispheric transfer? A review. *Behavioural brain research*, 223(1), 211-221. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.bbr.2011.04.018
- van Wijk, G., & Veldhuijzen, D. S. (2010). Perspective on diffuse noxious inhibitory controls as a model of endogenous pain modulation in clinical pain syndromes. *The Journal of pain*, 11(5), 408-419. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jpain.2009.10.009</u>
- Vaquero-Picado, A., Barco, R., & Antuña, S. A. (2016). Lateral epicondylitis of the elbow. *EFORT Open Reviews*, 1(11), 391-397. <u>https://doi.org/10.1302/2058-5241.1.000049</u>

Vartiainen, N., Kirveskari, E., Kallio-Laine, K., Kalso, E., & Forss, N. (2009). Cortical reorganization in primary somatosensory cortex in patients with unilateral chronic pain. *The Journal of pain*, 10(8), 854-859. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jpain.2009.02.006</u>

- Vecchio, F., Lacidogna, G., Miraglia, F., Bramanti, P., Ferreri, F., & Rossini, P. M. (2014).
 Prestimulus Interhemispheric Coupling of Brain Rhythms Predicts Cognitive–Motor
 Performance in Healthy Humans. *Journal of Cognitive Neuroscience*, 26(9), 1883-1890. https://doi.org/10.1162/jocn_a_00615
- Vercauteren, K., Pleysier, T., Van Belle, L., Swinnen, S. P., & Wenderoth, N. (2008). Unimanual muscle activation increases interhemispheric inhibition from the active to the resting hemisphere. *Neuroscience Letters*, 445(3), 209-213.
- Vicenzino, B. (2003). Lateral epicondylalgia: a musculoskeletal physiotherapy perspective. Manual Therapy, 8(2), 66-79. <u>https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/S1356-</u> 689X(02)00157-1
- Vicenzino, B., Brooksbank, J., Minto, J., Offord, S., & Paungmali, A. (2003). Initial effects of elbow taping on pain-free grip strength and pressure pain threshold. *Journal of orthopaedic & sports physical therapy*, *33*(7), 400-407.

https://doi.org/10.2519/jospt.2003.33.7.400

- Vicenzino, B., & Wright, A. (1996). Lateral epicondylalgia I: epidemiology, pathophysiology, aetiology and natural history. *Physical Therapy Reviews*, 1(1), 23-34. <u>https://doi.org/10.1179/ptr.1996.1.1.23</u>
- Vines, B. W., Cerruti, C., & Schlaug, G. (2008). Dual-hemisphere tDCS facilitates greater improvements for healthy subjects' non-dominant hand compared to uni-hemisphere stimulation. *BMC Neuroscience*, 9, 103. <u>https://doi.org/10.1186/1471-2202-9-103</u>
- Vlaeyen, J. W., & Linton, S. J. (2000). Fear-avoidance and its consequences in chronic musculoskeletal pain: a state of the art. *Pain*, 85(3), 317-332.

- Wagner, T., Valero-Cabre, A., & Pascual-Leone, A. (2007). Noninvasive human brain stimulation. *Annual review of biomedical engineering*, *9*, 527-565.
- Wahl, M., Lauterbach-Soon, B., Hattingen, E., Hübers, A., & Ziemann, U. (2016). Callosal anatomical and effective connectivity between primary motor cortices predicts visually cued bimanual temporal coordination performance. *Brain Structure and Function*, 221(7), 3427-3443. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s00429-015-1110-z</u>
- Walker-Bone, K., Palmer, K. T., Reading, I., Coggon, D., & Cooper, C. (2012). Occupation and epicondylitis: a population-based study. *Rheumatology*, 51(2), 305-310.
- Wall, P. D., & Woolf, C. J. (1984). Muscle but not cutaneous C-afferent input produces prolonged increases in the excitability of the flexion reflex in the rat. *The Journal of Physiology*, 356(1), 443-458.
- Wang, J. H. C. (2006). Mechanobiology of tendon. *Journal of biomechanics*, 39(9), 1563-1582.
- Wassermann, E. M., Samii, A., Mercuri, B., Ikoma, K., Oddo, D., Grill, S. E., & Hallett, M. (1996). Responses to paired transcranial magnetic stimuli in resting, active, and recently activated muscles. *Experimental Brain Research*, 109(1), 158-163. https://doi.org/10.1007/bf00228638
- Waugh, E. J. (2005). Lateral epicondylalgia or epicondylitis: what's in a name?. Journal of orthopaedic & sports physical therapy, 35(4), 200-202
- Weinreb, J. H., Sheth, C., Apostolakos, J., McCarthy, M. B., Barden, B., Cote, M. P., & Mazzocca, A. D. (2014). Tendon structure, disease, and imaging. *Muscles, ligaments* and tendons journal, 4(1), 66-73.
- Weis, S., & Hausmann, M. (2010). Sex hormones: modulators of interhemispheric inhibition in the human brain. *Neuroscientist*, 16(2), 132-138. https://doi.org/10.1177/1073858409341481

- Weis, S., Hausmann, M., Stoffers, B., Vohn, R., Kellermann, T., & Sturm, W. (2008).
 Estradiol modulates functional brain organization during the menstrual cycle: an analysis of interhemispheric inhibition. *Journal of Neuroscience*, 28(50), 13401-13410.
- Werhahn, K. J., Fong, J. K., Meyer, B. U., Priori, A., Rothwell, J. C., Day, B. L., & Thompson, P. D. (1994). The effect of magnetic coil orientation on the latency of surface EMG and single motor unit responses in the first dorsal interosseous muscle. *Electroencephalography and clinical neurophysiology/evoked potentials section*, 93(2), 138-146. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/0168-5597(94)90077-9</u>
- Werhahn, K. J., Kunesch, E., Noachtar, S., Benecke, R., & Classen, J. (1999). Differential effects on motor cortical inhibition induced by blockade of GABA uptake in humans. *The Journal of physiology*, 517(2), 591-597.
- Werhahn, K. J., Mortensen, J., Van Boven, R. W., Zeuner, K. E., & Cohen, L. G. (2002).
 Enhanced tactile spatial acuity and cortical processing during acute hand
 deafferentation. *Nature Neuroscience*, 5(10), 936-938. <u>https://doi.org/10.1038/nn917</u>
- Werhahn, K. J., Mortensen, J., Kaelin-Lang, A., Boroojerdi, B., & Cohen, L. G. (2002).
 Cortical excitability changes induced by deafferentation of the contralateral hemisphere. *Brain*, *125*(6), 1402-1413. <u>https://doi.org/10.1093/brain/awf140</u>
- Williams, J. A., Pascual-Leone, A., & Fregni, F. (2010). Interhemispheric modulation induced by cortical stimulation and motor training. *Physical therapy*, 90(3), 398-410. https://doi.org/10.2522/ptj.20090075
- Wilson, S., Day, B., Thickbroom, G., & Mastaglia, F. (1996). Spatial differences in the sites of direct and indirect activation of corticospinal neurones by magnetic stimulation. *Electroencephalography and Clinical Neurophysiology/Electromyography and Motor Control*, 101(3), 255-261.

- Woolf, C. J. (1989). Recent advances in the pathophysiology of acute pain. *BJA: British Journal of Anaesthesia*, 63(2), 139-146. <u>https://doi.org/10.1093/bja/63.2.139</u>
- Woolf, C. J. (2011). Central sensitization: Implications for the diagnosis and treatment of pain. *Pain*, 152(3, Supplement), S2-S15.

https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/j.pain.2010.09.030

- Workcover Queensland. (2013). *Workcover Queensland annual report 2013-2014*. Retrieved from https://www.worksafe.qld.gov.au/resources/publications/annual-reports
- Wright, A. (1999). Recent concepts in the neurophysiology of pain. *Manual Therapy*, 4(4), 196-202. <u>https://doi.org/10.1054/math.1999.0207</u>
- Wright, A., Thurnwald, P., O'Callaghan, J., Smith, J., & Vicenzino, B. (1994). Hyperalgesia in Tennis Elbow Patients. *Journal of Musculoskeletal Pain*, 2(4), 83-97. <u>https://doi.org/10.1300/J094v02n04_07</u>
- Wright, A., Thurnwald, P., & Smith, J. (1992). An evaluation of mechanical and thermal hyperalgesia in patients with lateral epicondylalgia. *Pain clinic*, *5*(4), 221-227.
- Wyn Lim, E. C. (2013). Pain Free Grip Strength test. *Journal of Physiotherapy*, 59(1), 59. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/S1836-9553(13)70152-8
- Xu, X., Fukuyama, H., Yazawa, S., Mima, T., Hanakawa, T., Magata, Y., Kanda, M.,
 Fujiwara, N., Shindo, K., Nagamine, T., & Shibasaki, H. (1997). Functional
 localization of pain perception in the human brain studied by PET. *NeuroReport*, 8(2), 555-559.
- Yarnitsky, D., & Granot, M. (2006). Chapter 27 Quantitative sensory testing. In F. Cervero & T. S. Jensen (Eds.), *Handbook of Clinical Neurology* (Vol. 81, pp. 397-409). Elsevier. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/S0072-9752(06)80031-X

Zagha, E., Casale, A. E., Sachdev, R. N., McGinley, M. J., & McCormick, D. A. (2013). Motor cortex feedback influences sensory processing by modulating network state. *Neuron*, 79(3), 567-578.

Zapallow, C. M., Jacobs, M. F., Lee, K. G., Asmussen, M. J., Tsang, P., & Nelson, A. J. (2013). Continuous theta-burst stimulation over the primary somatosensory cortex modulates interhemispheric inhibition. *NeuroReport*, 24(7), 394-398.
 <u>https://journals.lww.com/neuroreport/Fulltext/2013/05080/Continuous_theta_burst_st_imulation_over_the.9.aspx</u>

- Zaslansky, R., & Yarnitsky, D. (1998). Clinical applications of quantitative sensory testing (QST). Journal of the Neurological Sciences, 153(2), 215-238. <u>https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/S0022-510X(97)00293-1</u>
- Zhou, S. (2000). Chronic neural adaptations to unilateral exercise: mechanisms of cross education. *Exercise and Sport Sciences Reviews*, 28(4), 177-184.
- Ziemann, U., Chen, R., Cohen, L. G., & Hallett, M. (1998). Dextromethorphan decreases the excitability of the human motor cortex. *Neurology*, *51*(5), 1320-1324.

APPENDIX A

Publication from Chapter 2, Study 1: Interhemispheric inhibition between primary motor cortices in response to acute muscle pain





EDUCATION TREATMENT ADVOCACY ELSEVIER

RESEARCH

The Journal of Pain, Vol 00, No 00 (), 2019: pp 1–9 Available online at www.jpain.org and www.sciencedirect.com

Original Reports

Interhemispheric Inhibition Is Reduced in Response to Acute Muscle Pain: A Cross-Sectional Study Using Transcranial Magnetic Stimulation

PUBLISHED BY

Ghufran Alhassani,* Matthew B. Liston, ** and Siobhan M Schabrun[†]

*School of Science and Health, Western Sydney University, Sydney, Australia, **Centre for Human and Applied Physiological Sciences, Kings College London, London, United Kingdom, [†]Neuroscience Research Australia, Sydney, NSW, Australia

Abstract: Bilateral deficits in sensorimotor function have been observed in unilateral musculoskeletal pain conditions. Evidence suggests a reduction in interhemispheric inhibition (IHI) from the "affected" (contralateral to the side of pain) to the "unaffected" primary motor cortex (M1) could contribute. However, the effect of short-lasting acute muscle pain on IHI, and whether any changes are related to early sensorimotor changes in the unaffected limb, is unknown. Using a cross-sectional study design, IHI was investigated in 20 healthy individuals before, immediately after, and 30 minutes after the induction of acute muscle pain in the right first dorsal interosseous muscle via a bolus injection of hypertonic saline. Transcranial magnetic stimulation was used to assess corticomotor excitability and short and long latency IHI. Pain intensity and guality were recorded using an 11-point numerical rating scale and the McGill Pain Questionnaire. Pressure pain thresholds were assessed in the affected and unaffected first dorsal interosseous and both tibialis anterior muscles. Participants reported an average pain intensity of 4.8 points (standard deviation = 1.3 points). Compared with baseline, corticomotor excitability was decreased at all time points in the affected but not the unaffected M1. IHI was decreased at all time points from the affected to the unaffected M1. Pressure pain thresholds were decreased over both first dorsal interosseous muscles at 30 minutes of follow-up. These findings suggest a decrease in IHI from the affected to the unaffected M1 that occurs rapidly after the onset of acute pain and could contribute to the development of bilateral symptoms. Perspective: The affected M1 (contralateral to the side of pain) releases inhibition over the unaf-

fected M1 within minutes after the onset of acute muscle pain. This finding could have relevance for the development of bilateral sensorimotor symptoms in unilateral pain conditions.

© 2019 by the American Pain Society

Key words: Interhemispheric inhibition, primary motor cortex, transcranial magnetic stimulation, hypertonic saline, musculoskeletal pain.

Musculoskeletal pain is known to alter the sensorimotor function of the affected body part. For example, individuals with chronic lateral elbow pain (chronic lateral epicondylalgia or "tennis elbow") display increased sensitivity to mechanical stimuli,³² decreased maximal wrist extensor force, and decreased grip force^{6,57} on the painful side. Interestingly, bilateral deficits in sensorimotor function are also observed in these individuals, despite the presence of pain in only one limb.^{6,12,18} For example, a recent systematic review demonstrated flexed wrist postures, increased upper limb reaction times, decreased speed of movement, and decreased pressure and thermal pain thresholds in the unaffected limb of people with chronic lateral elbow pain.^{6,27,49} This observation suggests the involvement of the central nervous system in the

© 2019 by the American Pain Society

https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jpain.2019.03.007

Received October 5, 2018; Revised February 7, 2019; Accepted March 18, 2019.

^{2019.} S.M. Schabrun receives salary support from The National Health and Medical Research Council of Australia (1105040). G. Alhassani is supported by an Australian Post Graduate Award. There are no conflicts to declare.

Address reprint requests to Siobhan Schabrun, Western Sydney University, School of Science and Health, Neuroscience Research

Australia, Locked Bag 1797 Penrith, Sydney, NSW 2034, Australia. E-mail: s.schabrun@neura.edu.au 1526-5900/\$36.00

ARTICLE IN PRESS

2 The Journal of Pain

development of bilateral sensorimotor dysfunction, yet the mechanisms that mediate this effect are unknown.

Interhemispheric inhibition (IHI) is a neurophysiological mechanism where the primary motor cortex (M1) of one hemisphere inhibits the M1 of the opposite hemisphere via projections in the corpus callosum. IHI is involved in the control of skilled movements, as well as in the acquisition and transfer of motor skills.⁵⁰ Normal modulation of IHI enables individuals to perform unimanual tasks without the coactivation of contralateral muscles. However, in childhood, pathological conditions such as mirror dystonia, and in the elderly, mirror movements can be observed in the opposite limb when a task is complex or fatiguing, and this movement overflow is negatively correlated with the degree of IHI exerted over the inactive limb.⁴ Further, there is evidence of a relationship between altered IHI and impaired motor recovery in stroke survivors. Specifically, the unaffected M1 has been shown to exert "too much" inhibitory control over the stroke-affected M1, interfering with adaptive neuroplasticity in the lesioned area and motor recovery of the paretic limb.2,15,43 The relationship between IHI and sensorimotor function observed in previous studies could also be relevant to the development of bilateral sensorimotor dysfunction in unilateral musculoskeletal pain conditions.

Only one study has examined IHI in musculoskeletal pain. That study reported a decrease in IHI from the affected M1 (corresponding with the painful muscle) to the unaffected M1 4 days after repeated injection of nerve growth factor into the elbow extensor muscles to induce progressively developing, sustained muscle pain. The decrease in IHI was associated with the development of sensorimotor dysfunction (increased sensitivity to mechanical stimuli) in the unaffected limb.⁵⁴ These data suggest a relationship between IHI and the development of bilateral sensorimotor dysfunction after several days of musculoskeletal pain. However, it is unknown how soon after pain onset IHI is altered and whether this is related to early sensorimotor changes in the unaffected limb.

Here we aimed to investigate i) whether IHI is altered in response to rapid onset, short-lasting acute muscle pain and ii) the relationship between altered IHI and changes in sensorimotor function in the unaffected limb. Based on previous work,⁵⁴ we hypothesized that IHI would be decreased from the affected to the unaffected M1 in response to acute muscle pain and this would be associated with an increased sensitivity to mechanical stimuli in the unaffected limb.

Methods

Participants

Twenty healthy individuals (8 males, 12 females; mean \pm standard deviation age = 26 \pm 7 years) participated. Participants were recruited through the university and social media from May 2017 to September 2017. All participants were right handed according to the Edinburgh handedness inventory (Oldfield 1971) and had no

Interhemispheric Inhibition

history of upper limb pain or injury; no neurological, respiratory, orthopedic, or circulatory disorders; and no contraindications to transcranial magnetic stimulation.³³ All procedures were approved by the institutional human research ethics committee (H11873). Participants provided written informed consent. The study was performed in accordance with the Declaration of Helsinki.

The sample size calculation was based on effect sizes from the only study to have examined IHI in musculoskeletal pain.⁵⁴ Based on these data (difference in means between days 0 and 4 of .91 mV, standard deviation = .90), a sample size of 10 participants was required to observe a statistically significant difference (80% power; α = .05) should one exist. However, because these effects have not been examined in acute pain and the size of the effect is therefore unclear, we conservatively doubled the sample size, ensuring sufficient power to the allow detection of a smaller effect size if needed.

Experimental Protocol

Participants were seated with their head and neck supported and both arms resting in a supinated position on a pillow. Pressure pain thresholds were recorded bilaterally from the first dorsal interosseous (FDI) and tibialis anterior muscles at baseline and at 30 minutes follow-up. Fifteen motor evoked potentials to single pulse transcranial magnetic stimulation were elicited from the affected and unaffected M1 (order randomized between participants), followed by an assessment of IHI, at 3 time-points: i) before pain, ii) immediately after the resolution of pain (once pain had returned to zero on an 11-point numerical rating scale), and iii) 30 minutes after the resolution of pain. Muscle pain was induced by intramuscular injection of hypertonic saline into the right FDI muscle. Pain was rated on an 11-point numerical rating scale anchored at 0 (no pain) and 10 (worst pain imaginable), every 30 seconds immediately after hypertonic saline injection until each participant reported a pain score of 0. At the conclusion of the experiment, participants rated the intensity, location, and quality of muscle pain using the short-form McGill Pain Questionnaire³⁸ and a body chart. The experimental protocol is outlined in Fig 1.

Pressure Pain Thresholds

Pressure pain thresholds were assessed at baseline and at 30 minutes follow-up. A hand-held pressure algometer (Wagner Instrument, Greenwich, Connecticut) was applied perpendicular to the skin at a rate of 1 kg/sec. Participants were instructed to vocalize the moment the sensation of pressure first turned to pain. Pressure pain thresholds were assessed at 4 sites: 1) affected FDI, 2) unaffected FDI, 3) right tibialis anterior, and 4) left tibialis anterior. For each site, the muscle belly was located and marked to ensure consistent positioning of the algometer over time. The average of the 3 trials at each site, with a 1-minute rest between each trial, was used for statistical analysis.


Figure 1. Experimental protocol. Measures of corticomotor excitability (motor evoked potential amplitude; MEP) and IHI were made at (i) baseline, (ii) immediately after pain, and (iii) 30 minutes follow-up. Pressure pain threshold (PPT) measurements were taken at baseline and at 30 minutes follow-up. Pain was induced by injection of hypertonic saline into the right FDI muscle and pain intensity monitored every 30 seconds on the numerical rating scale (NRS). The McGill Pain Questionnaire was completed at the conclusion of the experiment.

Electromyography

Electromyographic activity was recorded from the affected and unaffected FDI muscles. Disposable dual silver/silver chloride surface electrodes (Noraxon USA Inc, Scottsdale, Arizona) were positioned over each muscle belly. Ground electrodes were positioned over the right and left olecranons. Data were amplified $1,000 \times$, filtered between 20 and 1000 Hz, and sampled at 2,000 Hz using Signal software and a Micro 1401 data acquisition system (Cambridge Electronic Design, Cambridge UK).

Transcranial Magnetic Stimulation

Corticomotor Excitability

Single-pulse transcranial magnetic stimulation stimuli were delivered to the M1 hand areas using a figure-of-8 coil connected to a Magstim 200 stimulator (Magstim Co. Ltd, Dyfed, UK). Transcranial magnetic stimulation was performed over both the affected and unaffected M1 in all participants. The coil was oriented at a 45° angle to produce a posterior to anterior current flow and positioned over the optimal cortical site to evoke a response in each FDI muscle. The optimal cortical site to elicit motor evoked potentials in the affected and unaffected FDI muscles was determined as the site where the lowest stimulus intensity evoked the largest response. These sites were marked with a pen to ensure accurate coil placement for the duration of the experiment. Resting motor threshold was defined as the lowest intensity of stimulation required to evoke a motor evoked potential of >50 μ V peak-to-peak amplitude in \geq 3 of 5 consecutive trials.⁵¹ Fifteen motor evoked potentials (rate of 1 every 6 seconds) were recorded from the affected and unaffected FDI at 120% of resting motor threshold. The hemisphere recording order was randomized between participants. The average peak-to-peak motor evoked potential amplitude (mV) was calculated at each timepoint for the affected and unaffected M1 and this value used for analysis.

IHI

IHI was probed using a conditioning test paradigm. A conditioning pulse applied to the affected M1 preceded a

test stimulus applied to the unaffected M1. To investigate short and long latency IHI, 10 and 40 ms interstimulus intervals were selected, respectively.^{17,52,53} In pseudorandom order, 10 trials were recorded at each interstimulus interval and a further 10 trials were recorded using the test stimulus alone (30 trials in total) with 5 seconds between each trial. Transcranial magnetic stimulation was delivered using 2 Magstim 200 magnetic stimulators (Magstim Co. Ltd), each connected to a figure-of-eight coil with external wing diameters of 70 mm (unaffected M1) and 50 mm (affected M1). The coil delivering the test stimulus was positioned tangentially over the scalp perpendicular to the midsagittal line with the coil handle pointing backward at a 45° angle, inducing a posterior to anterior current direction. The conditioning stimulus coil was oriented 90° relative to the midsagittal line to avoid overlapping the coils.^{11,44} It has been previously reported that the current direction of the conditioning stimulus does not affect the degree of IHI.^{11,44} To investigate our hypothesis, IHI was recorded from affected to unaffected M1. The test stimulus intensity was adjusted to produce a peak-to-peak motor evoked potential amplitude of 1.0 to 1.5 $\,mV^{42}$ in relaxed FDI and the conditioning stimulus intensity was set at 120% of the resting motor threshold and adjusted if required, to elicit inhibition of approximately 50% at baseline in each participant.^{24,42,46} Motor evoked potential responses were measured as peak-topeak amplitudes and conditioned responses expressed as a proportion of the unconditioned test response for analysis.

Experimental Muscle Pain

A single bolus of .5 mL of hypertonic saline (5.8%) was injected into the muscle belly of the right FDI after the skin was cleaned with alcohol. Injections were performed using a .5-mL syringe with a disposable needle (31G).

Statistical Analysis

Pressure pain thresholds were compared using a 2way repeated measures analysis of variance with the factors time (baseline, 30-minute follow-up) and side (affected, unaffected) for the FDI and tibialis anterior

4 The Journal of Pain

muscles, respectively. Cohen's d effect sizes were calculated and are presented in the text.

Corticomotor excitability for each hemisphere and short and long latency IHI were assessed for normality and sphericity. Corticomotor excitability was compared between time points (baseline, immediately after pain, 30-minute follow-up) using a 1-way repeated measures analysis of variance. To account for any influence of sex on IHI, short and long latency IHI were compared between time points (baseline, immediately after pain, 30-minute follow-up) and sex (male, female) using a 2-way repeated measures analysis of variance. Pearson's correlation coefficients were calculated to assess the relationship between the change in short and long latency IHI over time (baseline to 30 minutes follow-up) and peak pain, pain duration, and the change in pressure pain thresholds over time from affected and unaffected FDI. Where appropriate, post hoc analyses were performed using Holm-Sidak tests corrected for multiple comparisons. Statistical significance was set at a P value of <.05. Data in text are presented as mean + standard deviation.

Results

Pain Characteristics

Injection of hypertonic saline produced a peak pain intensity of 7.9 \pm 1.8 points on the numerical rating scale and an average pain intensity over time of 4.8 \pm 1.3 points. The average pain duration was 9.9 \pm 3.4 minutes. The most frequent words used to describe the pain were sharp (90%), aching (85%), and throbbing (80%). The majority of participants reported pain localized to the site of the injection on the dorsal surface of the hand. Six participants reported pain that radiated toward the palmar surface of the hand, 5 participants reported pain that extended into the proximal forearm, and 1 participant reported pain extending into the upper arm.

Interhemispheric Inhibition

Neurophysiological Measures

Group data (mean \pm standard deviation) for pressure pain sensitivity, corticomotor excitability, short and long latency IHI and stimulator output at each time point are presented in Table 1.

Pressure Pain Sensitivity

Relative to baseline, pressure pain thresholds were decreased, ($F_{1,19} = 22.56$, P < .001), in both the affected (P < .001; Cohen's d = .57; Fig 2A) and unaffected (P = .005; Cohen's d = .46; Fig 2B) FDI muscles 30 minutes after the induction of acute muscle pain. There were no differences between sides, ($F_{1,19} = .31$, P = .86). Pressure pain thresholds recorded from the bilateral tibialis anterior muscles were unchanged over time, ($F_{1,19} = .002$, P = .96).

Corticomotor Excitability

The induction of pain in the right FDI led to suppression of motor evoked potentials from the affected M1, ($F_{2,38} = 6.60$, P = .003). Corticomotor excitability was reduced immediately after the resolution of pain (P = .007) and at 30-minutes follow-up (P = .01; Fig 3A) relative to baseline. Motor evoked potentials from the unaffected M1 were unchanged over time, ($F_{2,38} = .25$, P = .77; Fig 3B).

IHI

Unconditioned motor evoked potential test amplitudes were stable over time, ($F_{2,38} = .58$, P = .56; Fig 4A). The induction of acute muscle pain affected the degree of IHI from the affected to the unaffected M1 at both short, ($F_{2,36} = 9.07$, P < .001; Fig 4B) and long latencies, ($F_{2,36} = 12.83$, P < .001; Fig 4C). Relative to baseline, short and long latency IHI were reduced immediately after the resolution of pain (short: t = 3.72, P = .002; long: t = 4.48, P < .001) and remained reduced at 30-

Table 1. Group Data for Corticomotor Excitability, IHI and Pressure Pain Threshold Measures at Baseline, Immediately After Pain and at 30 Minutes Follow-Up

	BASELINE	Immediately After Pain	30 MINUTES FOLLOW-UP
Corticomotor excitability (mV)			
Affected M1	.93 ± .83	.68 ± .86*	.66±.64*
Unaffected M1	.97 ± .81	$1.04 \pm .72$	$1.10 \pm .72$
IHI for affected to unaffected M1 (mV)			
Unconditioned test response	$1.30 \pm .37$	$1.23 \pm .23$	$1.24 \pm .35$
IHI 10 ms (proportion of test)	.69 ± .22	1.07 ± .38*	1.05 ± .41*
IHI 40 ms (proportion of test)	.61 ± .22	$1.03 \pm .49^{*}$	1.06 ± .35*
Stimulator output (%)	56 ± 11	56 ± 9	55 ± 12
Pressure pain thresholds (kPa)			
Affected FDI	435 ± 190	_	329 ± 185*
Unaffected FDI	420 ± 181	_	339 ± 162 *
Right tibialis anterior	878 ± 468	2.000	857 ± 522
Left tibialis anterior	897 ± 656		835 ± 553

Values are mean \pm standard deviation (N = 20). *P < .05 from baseline.



Figure 2. Group data (mean \pm standard deviation) for pressure pain thresholds recorded from the affected (A) and unaffected FDI (B) at each time point (baseline and 30 min follow-up). The asterisk denotes a significant (P < .05) difference from baseline. Pressure pain thresholds were reduced at follow-up in both FDI muscles.

minute follow-up (short: t = 3.65, P = .002; long: t = 4.28, P < .001). Sex did not influence the IHI response, (short: $F_{1,36}$ = 3.5, P = .078; long: $F_{1,36}$ = .42, P = .52).

Discussion

 $F_{1,36} = 3.5, P = .078; long: <math>F_{1,36} = .42, P = .52$. A greater reduction in short (r = .-51; P = .02) and long latency (r = .-60; P = .005) IHI at the 30-minute follow-up was associated with a greater reduction in pressure pain thresholds in the affected FDI. There was no relationship between the change in IHI over time at either short (r = -.19; P = .94) or long (r = .06; P = .80) latency and pressure pain thresholds in the unaffected FDI. There was no relationship between short and long latency IHI and peak pain or pain duration.

This study is the first to investigate IHI in response to acute onset muscle pain. The key finding was a decrease in IHI from the affected to the unaffected M1 at both short and long latencies that was present immediately after pain resolved and persisted at 30 minutes follow-up. A unique observation was an increase in sensitivity to mechanical stimuli in the unaffected hand, despite the absence of pain on that side. These findings suggest a release of IHI over the unaffected M1 that occurs rapidly in response to pain and could relate to the development of sensorimotor symptoms in the unaffected hand.







Figure 4. Group data (mean \pm standard deviation) for the unconditioned (test) response (A), short IHI (B) and long IHI (C) obtained at each time point. There was no difference in the amplitude of the unconditioned test motor evoked potential over time. Short and long latency IHI were reduced at both time points after the resolution of pain. Asterisks denote a significant (P < .05) difference from baseline.

A large body of evidence has shown decreased corticomotor excitability in the hemisphere contralateral to the painful side in response to acute muscle pain, an effect that persists in the immediate postpain period and is not influenced by resumption of normal motor activity. $^{\rm 8,56}$ The present data support these findings. The effect of pain on the contralateral M1 has been further characterized by studies demonstrating increased intracortical inhibition, decreased intracortical facilitation, and a decreased integration of sensory information with motor output in response to acute pain.^{9,55} Taken together, these data have been interpreted as evidence of a protective strategy that serves to limit the movement of the painful part and decrease the risk of further tissue damage.²⁸ However, despite evidence of changes occurring in the contralateral M1, interaction between the two M1 hand areas in acute pain has not been investigated.

IHI can be assessed in humans using paired pulse transcranial magnetic stimulation with a stimulating coil positioned over each M1, and pulses delivered at interstimulus intervals in the range of 6 to 50 ms.^{14,17,44} The application of a conditioning stimulus in one hemisphere activates excitatory transcallosal projections that synapse with inhibitory interneuronal networks in the opposite hemisphere, altering the excitability of pyramidal output neurons.^{14,17,25} Indeed, primate studies demonstrate the existence of transcallosal projections between the two M1 hand areas³¹ and further animal and human work has shown these projections convey information between the two motor cortices.^{1,25} Evidence from patient studies demonstrates that IHI is mediated via these transcallosal pathways^{7,39,40} and both short and long latency IHI are thought to be dependent on gamma-amino-butyric acid type B-mediated neurotransmission.^{13,30,34} These data, in conjunction with previous studies demonstrating no inhibition of the H-reflex during IHI recording, suggest IHI is of cortical origin.^{17,23,26}

Only one previous study has examined IHI in musculoskeletal pain. Using a clinically relevant model of progressively developing sustained muscle pain, that study showed a decrease in IHI from the affected to the unaffected M1 4 days after the onset of pain that was associated with an increase in mechanical sensitivity in the unaffected arm.⁵⁴ The present data extend these findings and show that IHI is decreased in response to rapid onset, short-lasting pain of high intensity (peak pain intensity of 7.9 ± 1.8 points). Although we were unable to measure IHI during pain owing to its short-lasting nature, a decrease in IHI was observed in the immediate postpain period and this effect persisted for ≥ 30 minutes after pain resolution. Consistent with data

Alhassani et al

from the sustained pain model, and patients with chronic lateral elbow pain, mechanical sensitivity was increased in the unaffected hand.^{5,12,54} However, in contrast with previous studies, we did not find a linear correlation between the degree of IHI and mechanical sensitivity in the unaffected hand. This discrepancy could be explained by the different pain durations (minutes vs days), pain intensities or differences in the presence of pain at the time of testing across studies. For instance, in the sustained pain model, IHI was tested when participants were experiencing pain, whereas in the current study, IHI was tested only once pain had resolved. Alternatively, a nonlinear relationship may exist between these parameters in the acute stage of pain. Longitudinal studies that encompass both the early (pain lasting minutes to hours) and later (pain lasting days to weeks) acute stages of pain are required to further elucidate the temporal profile of altered IHI and how this relates to the development of sensorimotor dysfunction in the unaffected hand.

The precise mechanism through which decreased IHI could influence sensorimotor function on the unaffected side is unknown. In the current study, corticomotor excitability in the ipsilateral M1 was unaltered. However, because corticomotor excitability and IHI are known to reflect different neuronal populations this finding is unsurprising.^{7,35,58} One possibility is that a release of inhibition over the unaffected M1 led to reduced inhibition of thalamic neurons that, in turn, influenced mechanical sensitivity on the unaffected side. Evidence for this hypothesis is drawn from studies demonstrating a decrease in pain with M1 stimulation. This decrease is thought to be mediated by corticothalamic projections that suppress sensory information being relayed in the spinothalamic tract.^{36,37} Further, imaging studies suggest effects of M1 stimulation on other painprocessing regions including the anterior cingulate cortex, orbitofrontal cortex, insula, secondary sensory cor-tex, and periaqueductal gray matter.^{21,22,48} A release of IHI over the unaffected M1 could, therefore, decrease the downstream inhibition of thalamic neurons, the periaqueductal gray, and/or other pain-processing regions, increasing sensitivity to pressure stimuli. Alternatively, IHI is known to play a key role in interlimb transfer of motor skills and "cross-education" of the uninvolved limb after strength training. For example, repeated unimanual practice of a motor task results in transfer of implicit knowledge, as well as speed and accuracy, to the untrained hand and the degree of transfer is associated with the magnitude of the reduction in IHI from the "active" to the "inactive" M1.10 Similarly, studies have shown interhemispheric transfer of sensory stimuli such that proprioceptive input to a hand muscle decreases corticomotor excitability and increases IHI from the affected to unaffected hemisphere of the contralateral homologous muscle.55 salient stimulus such as pain could similarly result in information transfer to the unaffected M1. Interestingly, the direction of change in IHI differed in the presence of non-noxious proprioceptive stimuli (increased

The Journal of Pain 7

IHI) compared with the pain stimulus (decreased IHI) provided here. This discrepancy likely reflects the salience and processing of non-noxious versus noxious stimuli in the cortex. However, further research is needed to compare the effects of different types of sensory, motor, and pain stimuli on IHI.

Although altered IHI in the acute stage of pain is likely to be a protective strategy that resolves with time, a disturbance in the inhibitory balance between the affected and the unaffected hemispheres that persists when pain fails to resolve could contribute to the development of bilateral symptoms and provide a target for therapeutic modulation. Indeed, a number of studies have sought to target the imbalance in IHI in stroke patients to improve functional recovery.^{19,29,60,61} For example, bilateral application of transcranial direct current stimulation has been used to downregulate activity in the unaffected M1 and upregulate activity in the affected M1, and it has been shown to improve function in the paretic limb.4 Although studies have applied noninvasive brain stimulation techniques over a single hemisphere in pain conditions (eg, ^{3,16,20,45}), no study has attempted to target the imbalance in IHI through bilateral hemispheric stimulation.

Several limitations should be considered. Based on previous studies in pain, IHI was assessed only in 1 direction, from the affected to the unaffected hemisphere, and it was not possible to assess IHI during pain owing to the short-lasting nature of the pain model. Future studies should assess IHI in both directions, consider longer lasting pain models such as infusion of hypertonic saline, and use a longer follow-up in the postpain period to further elucidate the temporal profile of altered IHI in response to acute pain. An isotonic saline control condition was not used in this study. Although our findings argue against temporal effects on our measures (pressure pain thresholds and corticomotor excitability were stable over time in the tibialis muscles and unaffected M1, respectively), future work should seek to determine the reliability of the IHI response within an individual over time in the absence of pain. Outcome assessors in this preliminary study were not blinded. To minimize the risk of bias, future studies in this area should use stringent blinding procedures. Finally, future studies should include a more comprehensive assessment of sensorimotor function to determine which aspects may be related to altered IHI in the presence of pain and investigate IHI in chronic pain conditions.

Conclusions

This study is the first to demonstrate decreased IHI from the affected to the unaffected hemisphere after acute muscle pain. This information may have relevance for the investigation of bilateral symptoms in unilateral pain conditions and potentially, for the development of therapeutic protocols that aim to restore the inhibitory imbalance in musculoskeletal pain.

8 The Journal of Pain References

1. A. CS, Ichi MK: GABA-B-related activity in processing of transcallosal response in cat motor cortex. J Neurosci Res 68:489-495, 2002

2. Alia C, Spalletti C, Lai S, Panarese A, Lamola G, Bertolucci F, Vallone F, Di Garbo A, Chisari C, Micera S, Caleo M: Neuroplastic changes following brain ischemia and their contribution to stroke recovery: Novel approaches in neurorehabilitation. Front Cell Neurosci 11:76, 2017

3. Antal A, Terney D, Kühnl S, Paulus W: Anodal transcranial direct current stimulation of the motor cortex ameliorates chronic pain and reduces short intracortical inhibition. J Pain Symptom Manage 39:890-903, 2010

4. Beaule V, Tremblay S, Theoret H: Interhemispheric control of unilateral movement. Neural Plast 2012, 2012:627816

5. Bisset L, Carty M, Smith A: Unilateral lateral epicondylalgia demonstrates a pro-nociceptive pain profile: A case control observational study. Clin J Pain 34:954-959, 2018

6. Bisset LM, Russell T, Bradley S, Ha B, Vicenzino BT: Bilateral sensorimotor abnormalities in unilateral lateral epicondylalgia. Arch Phys Med Rehabil 87:490-495, 2006

7. Boroojerdi B, Diefenbach K, Ferbert A: Transcallosal inhibition in cortical and subcortical cerebral vascular lesions. J Neurol Sci 144:160-170, 1996

 Burns E, Chipchase LS, Schabrun SM: Primary sensory and motor cortex function in response to acute muscle pain: A systematic review and meta-analysis. Eur J Pain 20:1203-1213, 2016

9. Burns E, Chipchase LS, Schabrun SM: Reduced short- and long-latency afferent inhibition following acute muscle pain: A potential role in the recovery of motor output. Pain Med 17:1343-1352, 2016

10. Camus M, Ragert P, Vandermeeren Y, Cohen LG: Mechanisms controlling motor output to a transfer hand after learning a sequential pinch force skill with the opposite hand. Clin Neurophysiol 120:1859-1865, 2009

11. Chen R, Yung D, Li J-Y: Organization of ipsilateral excitatory and inhibitory pathways in the human motor cortex. J Neurophysiol 89:1256-1264, 2003

12. Coombes BK, Bisset L, Vicenzino B: Thermal hyperalgesia distinguishes those with severe pain and disability in unilateral lateral epicondylalgia. Clin J Pain 28:595-601, 2012

13. Daskalakis ZJ, Christensen BK, Fitzgerald PB, Roshan L, Chen R: The mechanisms of interhemispheric inhibition in the human motor cortex. J Physiol 543:317-326, 2002

14. Di Lazzaro V, Oliviero A, Profice P, Insola A, Mazzone P, Tonali P, Rothwell JC: Direct demonstration of interhemispheric inhibition of the human motor cortex produced by transcranial magnetic stimulation. Exp Brain Res 124:520-524, 1999

15. Duque J, Hummel F, Celnik P, Murase N, Mazzocchio R, Cohen LG: Transcallosal inhibition in chronic subcortical stroke. Neuroimage 28:940-946, 2005

16. Fenton BW, Palmieri PA, Boggio P, Fanning J, Fregni F: A preliminary study of transcranial direct current stimulation for the treatment of refractory chronic pelvic pain. Brain Stimul 2:103-107, 2009 Interhemispheric Inhibition

17. Ferbert A, Priori A, Rothwell JC, Day BL, Colebatch JG, Marsden CD: Interhemispheric inhibition of the human motor cortex. J Physiol 453:525-546, 1992

18. Fernandez-Carnero J, Fernandez-de-las-Penas C, de la Llave-Rincon AI, Ge HY, Arendt-Nielsen L: Bilateral myofascial trigger points in the forearm muscles in patients with chronic unilateral lateral epicondylalgia: A blinded, controlled study. Clin J Pain 24:802-807, 2008

19. Fregni F, Boggio PS, Mansur CG, Wagner T, Ferreira MJ, Lima MC, Rigonatti SP, Marcolin MA, Freedman SD, Nitsche MA, Pascual-Leone A: Transcranial direct current stimulation of the unaffected hemisphere in stroke patients. Neuroreport 16:1551-1555, 2005

20. Fregni F, Gimenes R, Valle AC, Ferreira MJL, Rocha RR, Natalle L, Bravo R, Rigonatti SP, Freedman SD, Nitsche MA, Pascual-Leone A, Boggio PS: A randomized, sham-controlled, proof of principle study of transcranial direct current stimulation for the treatment of pain in fibromyalgia. Arthritis Rheum 54:3988-3998, 2006

21. Garcia-Larrea L, Peyron R: Motor cortex stimulation for neuropathic pain: From phenomenology to mechanisms. Neuroimage 37(Suppl 1)):S71-S79, 2007

22. Garcia-Larrea L, Peyron R, Mertens P, Gregoire MC, Lavenne F, Le Bars D, Convers P, Mauguiere F, Sindou M, Laurent B: Electrical stimulation of motor cortex for pain control: A combined PET-scan and electrophysiological study. Pain 83:259-273, 1999

23. Gerloff C, Cohen LG, Floeter MK, Chen R, Corwell B, Hallett M: Inhibitory influence of the ipsilateral motor cortex on responses to stimulation of the human cortex and pyramidal tract. J Physiol 510:249-259, 1998

24. Gueugneau N, Grosprêtre S, Stapley P, Lepers R: Highfrequency neuromuscular electrical stimulation modulates interhemispheric inhibition in healthy humans. J Neurophysiol 117:467-475, 2017

25. Hanajima R, Ugawa Y, Machii K, Mochizuki H, Terao Y, Enomoto H, Furubayashi T, Shiio Y, Uesugi H, Kanazawa I: Interhemispheric facilitation of the hand motor area in humans. J Physiol 531:849-859, 2001

 Harris-Love ML, Perez MA, Chen R, Cohen LG: Interhemispheric inhibition in distal and proximal arm representations in the primary motor cortex. J Neurophysiol 97:2511-2515, 2007

27. Heales LJ, Lim EC, Hodges PW, Vicenzino B: Sensory and motor deficits exist on the non-injured side of patients with unilateral tendon pain and disability-implications for central nervous system involvement: A systematic review with meta-analysis. Br J Sports Med 48:1400-1406, 2014

28. Hodges PW, Tucker K: Moving differently in pain: A new theory to explain the adaptation to pain. Pain 152: S90-S98, 2011

 Hummel F, Celnik P, Giraux P, Floel A, Wu WH, Gerloff C, Cohen LG: Effects of non-invasive cortical stimulation on skilled motor function in chronic stroke. Brain 128:490-499, 2005

30. Irlbacher K, Brocke J, Mechow Jv, Brandt SA: Effects of GABAA and GABAB agonists on interhemispheric inhibition in man. Clin Neurophysiol 118:308-316, 2007

31. Jenny AB: Commissural projections of the cortical hand motor area in monkeys. J Comp Neurol 188:137-145, 1979

Alhassani et al

32. Jespersen A, Amris K, Graven-Nielsen T, Arendt-Nielsen L, Bartels EM, Torp-Pedersen S, Bliddal H, Danneskiold-Samsoe B: Assessment of pressure-pain thresholds and central sensitization of pain in lateral epicondylalgia. Pain Med 14:297-304, 2013

33. Keel JC, Smith MJ, Wassermann EM: A safety screening questionnaire for transcranial magnetic stimulation. Clin Neurophysiol 112:720, 2001

34. Kukaswadia S, Wagle-Shukla A, Morgante F, Gunraj C, Chen R: Interactions between long latency afferent inhibition and interhemispheric inhibitions in the human motor cortex. J Physiol 563:915-924, 2005

35. Le Pera D, Graven-Nielsen T, Valeriani M, Oliviero A, Di Lazzaro V, Tonali PA, Arendt-Nielsen L: Inhibition of motor system excitability at cortical and spinal level by tonic muscle pain. Clin Neurophysiol 112:1633-1641, 2001

 Lefaucheur JP, Drouot X, Menard-Lefaucheur I, Keravel Y, Nguyen JP: Motor cortex rTMS restores defective intracortical inhibition in chronic neuropathic pain. Neurology 67:1568-1574, 2006

37. Lucas JM, Ji Y, Masri R: Motor cortex stimulation reduces hyperalgesia in an animal model of central pain. Pain 152:1398-1407, 2011

38. Melzack R: The Short-Form McGill Pain Questionnaire. Pain 30:191-197, 1987

39. Meyer B-U, Röricht S, von Einsiedel HG, Kruggel F, Weindl A: Inhibitory and excitatory interhemispheric transfers between motor cortical areas in normal humans and patients with abnormalities of the corpus callosum. Brain 118:429-440, 1995

40. Meyer BU, Roricht S, Woiciechowsky C: Topography of fibers in the human corpus callosum mediating interhemispheric inhibition between the motor cortices. Ann Neurol 43:360-369, 1998

 Morishita T, Inoue T: Brain stimulation therapy for central post-stroke pain from a perspective of interhemispheric neural network remodeling. Front Hum Neurosci 10:166, 2016

42. Morishita T, Kubota S, Hirano M, Funase K: Different modulation of short– and long–latency interhemispheric inhibition from active to resting primary motor cortex during a fine–motor manipulation task. Physiol Rep 2:e12170, 2014

43. Murase N, Duque J, Mazzocchio R, Cohen LG: Influence of interhemispheric interactions on motor function in chronic stroke. Ann Neurol 55:400-409, 2004

44. Ni Z, Gunraj C, Nelson AJ, Yeh I-J, Castillo G, Hoque T, Chen R: Two phases of interhemispheric inhibition between motor related cortical areas and the primary motor cortex in human. Cereb Cortex 19:1654-1665, 2009

45. Passard A, Attal N, Benadhira R, Brasseur L, Saba G, Sichere P, Perrot S, Januel D, Bouhassira D: Effects of unilateral repetitive transcranial magnetic stimulation of the motor cortex on chronic widespread pain in fibromyalgia. Brain 130:2661-2670, 2007

46. Perez MA, Cohen LG: Mechanisms underlying functional changes in the primary motor cortex ipsilateral to an active hand. J Neurosci 28:5631-5640, 2008

The Journal of Pain 9

 Perez MA, Tanaka S, Wise SP, Sadato N, Tanabe HC, Willingham DT, Cohen LG: Neural substrates of intermanual transfer of a newly acquired motor skill. Curr Biol 17:1896-1902. 2007

48. Peyron R, Faillenot I, Mertens P, Laurent B, Garcia-Larrea L: Motor cortex stimulation in neuropathic pain. Correlations between analgesic effect and hemodynamic changes in the brain. A PET study. Neuroimage 34:310-321, 2007

 Pienimaki TT, Kauranen K, Vanharanta H: Bilaterally decreased motor performance of arms in patients with chronic tennis elbow. Arch Phys Med Rehabil 78:1092-1095, 1997

50. Reis J, Swayne OB, Vandermeeren Y, Camus M, Dimyan MA, Harris-Love M, Perez MA, Ragert P, Rothwell JC, Cohen LG: Contribution of transcranial magnetic stimulation to the understanding of cortical mechanisms involved in motor control. J Physiol 586:325-351, 2008

 Rossi S, Hallett M, Rossini PM, Pascual-Leone A: Safety, ethical considerations, and application guidelines for the use of transcranial magnetic stimulation in clinical practice and research. Clin Neurophysiol 120:2008-2039, 2009

52. Sattler V, Dickler M, Michaud M, Meunier S, Simonetta-Moreau M: Does abnormal interhemispheric inhibition play a role in mirror dystonia? Mov Disord 29:787-796, 2014

53. Sattler V, Dickler M, Michaud M, Simonetta-Moreau M: Interhemispheric inhibition in human wrist muscles. Exp Brain Res 221:449-458, 2012

54. Schabrun SM, Christensen SW, Mrachacz-Kersting N, Graven-Nielsen T: Motor cortex reorganization and impaired function in the transition to sustained muscle pain. Cereb Cortex 26:1878-1890, 2016

55. Schabrun SM, Hodges PW: Muscle pain differentially modulates short interval intracortical inhibition and intracortical facilitation in primary motor cortex. J Pain 13:187-194, 2012

56. Schabrun SM, Palsson TS, Thapa T, Graven-Nielsen T: Movement does not promote recovery of motor output following acute experimental muscle pain. Pain Med 19:608-614, 2017

57. Slater H, Arendt-Nielsen L, Wright A, Graven-Nielsen T: Sensory and motor effects of experimental muscle pain in patients with lateral epicondylalgia and controls with delayed onset muscle soreness. Pain 114:118-130, 2005

58. Svensson P, Miles TS, McKay D, Ridding MC: Suppression of motor evoked potentials in a hand muscle following prolonged painful stimulation. Eur J Pain 7:55-62, 2003

 Swayne O, Rothwell J, Rosenkranz K: Transcallosal sensorimotor integration: Effects of sensory input on cortical projections to the contralateral hand. Clin Neurophysiol 117:855-863, 2006

60. Vines BW, Cerruti C, Schlaug G: Dual-hemisphere tDCS facilitates greater improvements for healthy subjects' nondominant hand compared to uni-hemisphere stimulation. BMC Neurosci 9:103, 2008

61. Williams JA, Pascual-Leone A, Fregni F: Interhemispheric modulation induced by cortical stimulation and motor training. Phys Ther 90:398-410, 2010

APPENDIX B

Supplementary Figure 1 for Study 2 (Chapter 3)



Supplementary Figure 1: Individual SEP raw traces with superimposed grand averages for the 0 ms ISI (top row) and 25 ms ISI (bottom row) stimulation conditions at i) baseline (left panels), ii) immediately after the resolution of pain (middle panels) and iii) 30-min after pain resolution (right panels). Traces have been offset to 0 μ V from -300 ms to allow comparisons across time points. The dotted lines represent the time of stimulus onset.